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FO-302.1REV. 3-8-771 

( FEDERAL BUREAU OF INVESTIGATION 
_ 1 -

Data of Wringer.pi.on_ 
9/28/84 

1 x 

STEPHANIE DAWN HOSKINSON (age 11), 1920 W. Hadley, Tucson, 
Arizona, was advised as to the identities of the interviewing 
agents and the purpose for the interview, at which time she provided 
the following informations 

On Monday, September 17, 1984, she left Flowing Wells 
Junior High School around 3:35 p.m. and arrived at her home about 
3140 p.m. She advised she walks to and from the Junior High School. 
When she arrived at home she went into her room to do homework. 

When she eame out of her room, she asked 
VICKI was and her mora told her that VICKI had gone 
to mail a letter. At approximately 3i50 p.m. she 
she would go look for VICKI. She got on her bike 
Hadley to J Avenue and then J Avenue to La Osa Str 
turned west to La Cholla preceeding north on La Ch 
and turning east on Amy Drive to J Avenue which le 
then she turned east on Wetmore to the Circle K wh 
have mailed a letter. She did not see VICKI at th 
mail box, so then she rode south on Romero from th 
she passed the Church of Religious Psychology wher 
the Church property onto a trail which leads to Po 

her room where 
to the Circle K 
told her mora that 
and rode south on 
eet and then 
oils to Amy drive 
ad to Wetmore, 
ere VICKI was to 
e Circle K or the 
e Circle K where 
e she cut through 
cito Place. 

When she got to Pooito Plac 
©f the street on the south end of Poo 
was in the middle of the street (Poci 
house, eastside of the street north o 
Place and Root Lane. She went to' the 
At this time, a lady came out of the 
located on the eastside of the street 
Pocito Place and Root Lane. The name 
The lady asked her if she knew who th 
the lady it was her sister's bike and 
description and asked if she had seen 
told STEPHANIE she had been home appr 
bike was in the road at the time she 
the bike to her front yardt after whi 
tell her mother. She rode dovm Root 
took a bike trail to Hadley, arriving 

e, she saw a bike in the middle 
ito Place at Root Lane. The bike 
to) lying in front of the second 
f the intersection of Pocito 
bike and noticed it waa VICKI's. 
first house on Pocito Place 
north Qf the intersection of 
of this lady is unknown to her. 
e bike belonged to. She told 
'she gave the lady VICKI's 
VICKI. The lady said no and 
©ximately 30 minutes and the 
got home. The lady let her move 
oh tirae STEPHANIE rode home to 
Lane to Paseo Reforma and then 
home at H :05 p.m. 

She told her mother about the bike and her mom told her 
to stay at home and that she would g© look for VICKI. 

Invest igat ion o n . 3UXXIM. 

by. 

SA PETER M. ZOBENICA 
SA EDWARD R. HALL/seb 

,i T i i_aon. t _.Ari^ona. . -F... . j_ji___mixyi-=xi&x 

_o»ti dicuud 9 /26 /8 *1 

^ t o s u r e s ^ NOV O I I W I 
This document contains neither recommendations nor conclusions o f the F B I . Bt Is the proper ty of t h * ^©* sn<* ' s S° f i f t ed to v o u r s ^ t n c ^ j 

it end H$ contents sre not to i>« dist r ibuted outside your tQency. 

18-F JA036538 

Case: 22-70084, 05/04/2022, ID: 12438984, DktEntry: 1-4, Page 7 of 498



Ft>302af3-8-63) 

PX 7-1196 
BRH/seb 

CorXinoationot interview of STEPHABIE DAMN BOSRIBSOM P a „ a - 2 -

STKPHAMIB adrlead that VICKI would usually go CJOMB. the 
dirt alley or bik© path to faseo Boforaa then to Moot Lane whloh 
load to Boner© and to Boner Daiio School® Sha advised that VICKI 
would not take the ailny if ufa© war* by baraalf. If she wara by 
herself, aha would go to the next door neighbor's, DOMMB'S, and 
TfiACY DOBAMB and VICKI would go out tha DOMIlMB»» baok gat© to 
Paaao Beforaa to loot L&n« than to toner© and to Boner Davl* Sohool. 

Sho ad»i»©tf that when fiCfi was riding h«r bile© she 
would go through tho alloy to fmamo fieforaa then to Root Laos and 
that aha also believes this is the way VICKI probably want whan hor 
•other sent her to nail tbe latter. She also believes VICKI would 
have returned to their homo ria P©oiU. Pltoe to Root Lane to Pasco 
EeforBa then down the dirt alley to Hadley and tbao baok to thair 
hOHO# 

Sha advised that within the past waek sha has not noticed 
any strangers or people acting in strange ways that would have 
brought eomcarn to hor. Sha alao advised that VICKI, In tho last 
waak, had navar aantlonad anything about stranger* or any Incidents 
or ooourrenoaa happening with atrangaro. 

( 

( 

EtKfosures isdfc NOV 0 1 1934 | 

18 -FJA036539 

Case: 22-70084, 05/04/2022, ID: 12438984, DktEntry: 1-4, Page 8 of 498



 

 

 

 

 

Exhibit 2 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Case: 22-70084, 05/04/2022, ID: 12438984, DktEntry: 1-4, Page 9 of 498



Tucson Citizen (Tucson, Arizona) ·  21 Mar 1985, Thu ·  Page 1
Downloaded on Mar 28, 2021

Clipped By:
silverman_mitigation
Sun, Mar 28, 2021

Copyright © 2021 Newspapers.com. All Rights Reserved.

Case: 22-70084, 05/04/2022, ID: 12438984, DktEntry: 1-4, Page 10 of 498



Tucson Citizen (Tucson, Arizona) ·  Thu, Mar 21, 1985 ·  Page 7

https://www.newspapers.com/image/578515384 Downloaded on Mar 28, 2021

Copyright © 2021 Newspapers.com. All Rights Reserved.

Case: 22-70084, 05/04/2022, ID: 12438984, DktEntry: 1-4, Page 11 of 498



 

 

 

 

 

Exhibit 3 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Case: 22-70084, 05/04/2022, ID: 12438984, DktEntry: 1-4, Page 12 of 498



.PIMA C O U N r / SHERIFF'S DEPARTMENT 
P.O. s o x I 0, T U C S O N . ARIZONA 35702 

[tv 1(1.jni I T' al't ri 
1 7'!00 Block V. Fn.-i '-load 

Class iOiit (.i«at 

ContBCt-Up Heoon N!jmt>er 

TypBd By 
R .L. V a n Skiver 

[RepoMing OKicer 

! D iDaio Typed 
4-15-R5 

Time 
0700 

Dste 

ISIorago Code 

Time 
1500 

A 
... J L P ' . f ' . 

RoviewBO By 

Ô fic-ription of Pfopartv 

On 4--12-F15 at approximately 1100 hrs, thia officer arrived at 7301 \K Tna Rond. 
Ther*! 1 contacted Detective Cary Dhaemers liU2(^. I auk Dhaemers if T could be of any 
aiislstance. advised that I cou.Ld. Dhaeners and ))oC. i'-at. \)ouy^ K'iCte 'l^ill requestet! 
that 1 Interview the sisbject who had reportedly found what appeared to a huî mn skull . 
thoy further reciuested that I contact all of the other rosldents at 73̂ 1 \-\ Tna Road. 

At apnrnx. 1105 hrs. I was led hv Det. Ohaeuers and f̂ r.t Ultte to where c!ie .'jkun 
waR located. T sav what appeared to he a himian skiiJl. 

At: approK. 1110 hrs, 1 r.ict vjltli a f:al>icct vjto It'entlfied hlniself as 

V/>f ]~.11-'>1 
VS'A S57-B6-2275 

Hary Michael Wonmiack 
7:i01 i'C W J)ia Rd, 
Tucson, .\rJ:̂ ona 857̂ i3 
I'hone: lh(\-hUll 

Hnpjoyed hv : Arizona Chlldrens lloitie, rPiOO fi. P-th Ave. , i'lionp Ull-K-^ \ 

T:orks at tho " Vilson HoKe " 
7.'32f> N. Pa!;f>o DF*! ::orte 
I'honc: 20 7-r>3A0 

IS tfeen f.-ntployed a.s a " (;itild care worker " for .^leven ( 7 ) years. 

?lr. V.'oriMack advl.'̂ ftd me that he was in fact the person v7ho found the human Kkiill. 
I'e gave the I ol lowing account tliat led to his dlscoverv. 

On A-il-85 at about " Mid day " l.'onmack'rt dog turned up misslrtfr. ilie doj; was dlKcrih-^ 
fd a s a medium sized, brown and white Springer J!".paniel iiilx. 'i'he dof, ĵ oes by the n;ii:io ; 
of " Aup,l« " which in short for " Any;uat". Kommack advi.spd that he searched for the do}; 
for a while before he went to work, as he works from lAHO to 2200 hrs. on thurnthnvs. 
Pe cam© hor.ie at approx. 2100 hrs. and 'ajjaln '>P!',an to search for his dog. He was out | 
t i l l approx. 2300 !irs. then quit lookLnf.. T!tat night around 2̂ 00 hrs. lie h(>ard iioveral 
coyotes, and this made hini even more upset. 

On 4-12-85 M r . V/on-imack î ot up at approx. 0?j30 lirs. and was out lookinĵ  for his do« 
hy 0600. He advised that searched tlie area to the sout!i of his residence, as thl>; 
is vdierc he normally r;oes hikinj^. I'e later rode up and down Tna 'load to U'ade !!.oad and 
around to Picture Ilocks Koad on fiis bicycle. AH of this was with nepative contact r:o 
he returned home around OP,00 to O'HO hr;?.. 

Upon hts return to Iils residence, '.•.•oririnack :int down In hack ( thi? vest side ) of his 
residence, lio sat there for a fev? i::inut(s tht-.n ht* r̂ ineinbered ;!*̂ eln(; a riJttlesnake itp.ir 
a tree tn hlrs back yard, jn.'it tin* dn' botme. i'e tlioup.lit t.o hliisell" that possiHlv his 
dor» had been snake bitter and m.iy Ii-'iv.'̂  -.j.uiderpd across a fenced aioa tn the west. i'e 
advised that he ( IJonmack ) docs not \"\\'-. or In'lâ  in tlils ar-=.'a as it is private propertv 
and be has alwayn respected tfiis. .\fc:er crossiin' a harbi-d vlrv-; ft̂ nre and walklnp. for 
a very short distance, wUhln t ircf- rnlr.nt -R. l-.'oiniiinck round wh.it he ;.aid he recnv-uiTied 
as a " liuf.ian -Skuil ". l.Vjivuack a.ivi.rer ttiat lie conthiuei' to look around the ar*-.;] for 
another 10 to I.'i minutes, i'r aiivis.̂ d that he s.'iw lomo other si;;.ill ĥ .o** fra;;inent;;. how--
ever» there wafj nothing tfiat be rei-c-.ni ;:ed as belnr. human bi-snlcR. • i" Inter walk*-!' rhrii 

^ C n r* n̂-» K / I JO", 

08-FJA021616 
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.PIMA COUNTY SHERIFFS DEPARTMENT - , 
P.O. BOX 910, 7UCSOM, A R i Z O N A 85702 

necmrt NufTiMi '•-•'ct.'rf't Lo-. .-itun * iC'ass jllist Ul̂sat "I'r.'̂  , 

Connect-Up fteporl H\ii'<t/u' •it.}po''tfig Ofhcti' nndri ' {Dale 
1. A.J-..Vau.Skiver ,. i _̂ '̂f'.._ .J ̂ -l^-^!^ L 1.500 .J 

Typed By (D. u.̂ to iype-J 
I'.A.. Van .•;i-iv'.'ir L..4̂ '̂ ' ,J^^'rllrfil 

0700 
.,,.;,**^.\.,-mr:.'-).kly. —— î -J--——r..—<~— ' ^ . . j - j . ^ - ^ ^ „,„j.^_; „ , — 

tvfi* I fT̂ 'ft̂ f-9*.y- f f'̂ 'O'' Satis! Numbof... . j 0»s.t;HpliDn of Prcp-irty 
the desert area with !tf. tv'ommack, however, hr was niit ahJo to reloc:ate t!ie " Hones " 
that he had seen. 

V'ominack advised that he returned to his property. Tf̂ ffre he tolci the other re.sidents 
about what he had found. He then led the following people back to look at the skuU. 

Taul Landrura ( Identiiiad as helnj; the " bandlord '' ) 
.'•like l!?rrnett 

'.•lyrna Harnett 

After looking at the skull, Uommack advised that no ono touched it, they returned 
to their property and Pnul called the Sheriff's department to report wiat hnd been 
found. 

Mr. V-'omack advised Chat and his f.irlfrisnO have resided In this residenre since 
Mardi 23rd 10K5. fie advised tbat they liave nc'ver ventured onto t;ic propertv to the 
west, were the skuil was found . '..'ommack. ident if ied hi .i ^-.ii'l fri und as fol 1 ovs 

TJnda Kay Denrsriori^ U'/i'" n-2-5" f 26 yr.~.) 

v.'orVs av: I'rof essioni'.?!. Tool w;ire 
ll'nl'.aowr'. addrcsr. 

At npproxlnnt e ly IIJ'S hrs, '.U . i.'m.n.i.u'k and 1 v.il!-Lfd i.ito t!ie ilfscrt aren x/here !:e 
pointed out the skuil that ho foimd. He advised fhat r.hls "as In (:!io same location th-it 
he had found it in. Vfe contiiiuRd to ua\i: thru t ie area iookiMR for the other " ISones ' 
that he \iad seen. VJe were not al-lî  to locatr- an-̂  an'', teturiunl no the area v/!iore tb.c 
skull vms found. 

t 
There 1 spoke to a subject who idenc I f iod blitself as 

Michael Robert Rarnett i'/M 2-6~/.7 ( 3S yrs.) 
7301 U. Ina itd. H SSN 527-3̂ .-7071 
Tucson, Aciaona 
No phone 
f?elf employed aa a " Watchmaker-repaimmn " 

Mr, FiarneCt advised that his wife was not there nt this time. HP idGntlf.!ed her as 

Myrna C. Uarnett 32 yrs. 

Mr. Uarnett advised that he door-; not vjalk in t!ie area -̂ .-here the skull wa.s found, 
lie advised that he does not p,o into the area beciuso it Is fenced off and knows Jt to 
be private property, He advised that hr and his wifo !Iyrna liavo only lived there for 
a short time. He was not sure of the d.ite statlnj- tliat .it was four or five months af.o. 
he thouf'ht that it was September or October nf lOJi.'.. He could recall chat the first 
week they were there they had searchers in the. area, ri'ference t!;e Vicki Hoskinson caso. 

08-FJA021617 
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.PIMA COUNTY SHERIFF'S DEPARTMENT 
P.O. BOX 910, T U C S O N , ARIZONA 85702 

Report Numbor jClass 
S/85-0A-12-O30 i 7300 lllock h' . Ina Hoad i 5?. .03 r. 1 A 

Conrtect-Uo Report Number iRaoortinn OMic.or Badge bale Time 
1 R,I.. Vnn Slaver A 66 A-12-35 1500 

TypotJ By l.D. D̂ ie Typed Time Sloraqp Coilfl 
K.L. Van Skiver 1 466 4-1I-n5 0700 

, OpfiCfjplioO 0' Proparty 

Mr. Barnett advised me that he. and his V7ife live alone. Tt should also be noted that 
Mr. Womniack and his nlrlfriend live alone. 

I then spoke to a subject uho identified him sel f ar; 
I 

Paul Warren Landrum IVH 5-13-53 ( 37. yrs.) 
"7301 W. Ina I'-d. IK" 

Tlicson , Ari sona i 
?hone: 7AA-0S61 | 

I Uneinployed- works as ' Caretaker of tiie property " at 7301 K'. Ina Kd. I 
j d07np, pinintence work and collection of the rent. j 
i i 
; Mr. Lt̂ ndruni advised that ho lives alone with his wile 
1 ! 
; Marfiaret C. Mason V/'-' A2 yrs. j 
' î 'iployod l-jy ; First Investers - iinknovrn ;i(idre.'ii, ( near liroadway ^ Kolb ) ! 
' Student at Fniversity of Arizona : 
I 
I I 

Mr, bandrun advlsf.d that his wife hiia lived on the propert'/ since October 1'>7A. Ik-
has lived Chere aluce March 19nri, as hn jnst moved dnv;n from (̂ re.'.nn. Landrum advised 

I that they have hiknd in this area { V-'est of their residence ) hut not tills specific ' 
spot. {;e advised that, he wâ  auro-Jhe.. woujd haye Been_ tjie^skuLl if he wot.'Id have been 

.̂ bx-JLt-—Ue advised that in January or February 19B5 his v.'ife buried tlieir don at the • 
base of the mountain» south-west of their property. Uc pointed to the mountain and 
advised chat it was a mile or more away. Landrum wancatl the Sheriff's Oept. and the ' 
searchers to he aware of this in ttie event someone found the dons grave. i 

I was Chen directed to the only other resident who wns presently at hone. I made j 
contact with a subiect who identified herself as j 

! 

Sandra Lynn Graban L'/F 12-27-A8 ( 36 yrs.) 
7301 W. Ina Kd. /̂ K or U 
Tucson, Arizona 
Phone: 7AA-n5f{A 
Lmployed as a " Seasonal worker " for the National Park Service 

Ms. CIraban ndviaed that she has lived th^re since about February She advii>ed thnt 
in 198A she was out of town in September and returned on or about October 6th., She 
Advised that she was not aware of any searches belr,;̂  conducted in the area. '•Is. Graban 
advised tliaC she does not ualk iu the area to the south or west of her rt-.sidonce. She ' 
advised that she does not r.o in V.iis direction L-t:cause it hi fenced olf, She saii' that 

• she did not j»o with the others to looi; at the skull. i 

The only other residents of 7Vil V!. Tna Road, \:ho \.'ere net present were ide:itit'ied i 
as I 

Larhara Furer U/F FarJy 30'3 , ! 
7301 Ina IM. I'M 

08-FJA021619 
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Rsporl NumbUf 
S/85-06-12-Q20 

Cofin»cl*Up Roport Numbur 

.PiMA COUNTY SHERIFF'S DEPARTMENT 
P.O. B O X 910, T U G S O N . A R i Z O N A 85702 

llnr.irio'̂ I Loc.-itifin ClHSM Tbisl fOoal 

t y p « d By 

R.L. Van Skiver 

I _ 2300 lUock W.̂ tna^Rd-
rRenorting Olticai BaO(.ie 
I n.L. Van Skiver 46f̂  

1.6. Daio Typed . f innj 
I Af>fi 0700 

i 52.03 
Date 

2-B5 
storage Coda 

1500 

Ol A 
Reviewed By 

and a subiect identified as her boyfriend 

Carl { Last nanie unknown ) 

Ms. Fure^ was said to work ot; a University of Arizona pl'nnt hioJoRlst at ' Arid Lands " 
at the air port. 

After conipletinj; the above intervicaf! ;incl Dhra Liiir.;-. n;i(-ies of those residents, I 
•̂>riefed Det. Dhaemers and S;;t l-'iLtc of the in for ilat I cu . t apurexinate 1 y 1315 hrs . I 

left tho property to ret:urn to rpĤ ii'"''̂  artivitie --, 

p.cs.n. soa B/i/aa 

08-FJA021618 
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SUPPLEMENT TO SEARCH REPQRT 
LARGE SCALE SEARCH EFFORT OF 
SATURDAY, OCTOBER 29, 1984 

BY 
SGT. L. F. SELIGMAN 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY SECTION 

New or modified search assumptions j u s t i f i e d an 
a d d i t i o n a l search e f f o r t on Saturday, September 29, 1984, The 
search centered on areas north of the p r i o r weeks* search and on 
areas that are further from roadway than were covered e a r l i e r . 

No clues or relevant information can be reported from 
t h i s search e f f o r t . 

Search e f f o r t s by SAR were terminated at dusk of 
Septembert 29, 1984 by permission of Major D. Douglas. Additional " 
search e f f o r t s are pending new assumptions or leads in the case. 

RESOURCE SECTION 

Arizona Army Guard h e l i c o p t e r 
Tucson Police h e l i c o p t e r 
SAR volunteers 
S p e c i a l Operations/SAR s t a f f 
U n i versity of Arizona Math professors 
S h e r i f f ' s Posse 
S h e r i f f ' s 4 x 4 o f f i c e r s 

SEARCH THEORY SECTION 

1. Victim i s assumed to be c a r e f u l l y hidden from view. 

2. Victim i s assumed north of p r i o r search area because 
of i n v e s t i g a t i v e leads i n d i c a t i n g s i g h t i n g of suspect on Ina Road. 

3. Victim i s assumed up to 1/4 mile from roadway access 
point. 

SEARCH AREA DESCRIPTION SECTION 

1. S i l v e r b e l l Road (NE; Pima Farms Road (S); 
Scenic Drive (W). 

2. Pima Farms Road (N); Artesiano Road (E); 
Ina Road (S); mountains (W). 

3. Pima Farms Road (NE); Wade Road (E); Ina 
Road (S)j Artesiano Road (W). 

4. S i l v e r b e l l Road (NE); Cortaro Road (£), Ina 
Road (S); Wade Road {W). 

ISKtDsyras mt JUL 5 1985 1 

08-F JA021660 
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5. S i l v e r b e l l Road JNE); Ina Road.CS); Cortaro 
Road (NW). 

6. Area (N) of Cortaro Road and accessible 
from S i l v e r b e l l Road. 

7. (S) of Ina Road between Interstate Ten and 
Santa Cruz Wash. 

8. Area adjacent west end of Camino Del Cerro, 

9. Area adjacent west end of Sweetwater Road. 

10, Area of Picture Rocks Road and Wade Road, 

08-F JA021661 
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) 

psy£\jy 

gAP^1 1 
DISCLOSED 

FEDERAL BUREAU OF INVESTIGATION 

OaE® of frjf iscrlpfton. 10/10/84 

SAM HALL, Physical Education Instructor, Homer Davis 
Elementary School, telephone 887-1100, extension 341, was interviewed 
in the gymnasium office at that location. 

Also present during the interview with SA GOSTING was 
Detective RICHARD MC KINLEY, Pima County Sheriffs Office. Detective 
MC KINLEY took a tape recorded statement of th'e interview wi ̂ h 
SAM HALL. The comments of SAM HALL listed below were recorded 
on notes taken by SA GOSTING during the recording of his statement 
These comments by HALL are in no way inclusive of his total statement 
but is asynopsized version of the comments he made regarding observation 
of a vehicle and an indiviudal near the school ground. 

HALL stated during the interview that he exited the gym 
on Monday, September 17, 1984, at approximately 3:15 p.m. He was 
accompanied at that time by a student, BOBBY DE CI1ESKE As he 
was locking the gate to the school yard, a car proceeded in a westerly 
direction down the alley behind him and pulled up almost directly 
behind him. He turned around momentarily and observed a black 
or dark blue Datsun 280Z car with California license plates This 
car was driven by a white, male, adult, long black hair, beard, 
moustache, m his late twenties or early thirties. HALL stated 
he observed this indiviudal from the side and slightly to the back 
and did not observe him full face. He stated the driver was actinq 
strange and was gesturing with his head like he was a crazy person 
or high on drugs. Also, the driver seemed to be having trouble 
with the gearshift in the car. HALL stated due to the strange 
actions and the out of state plate on this car, he went to his 
truck, which was parked nearby, and wrote down the license number 
he had observed on the Datsun 280Z. 

HALL stated the driver had backed up and turned around 
by this time and was proceeding in an easterly direction down the 
alley,south of the school, and headed towards the Flying H Trailer 
Park He observed that the back of the car was loaded with thinqs 
which appeared to be a suitcase, clothing, etc. He stated his ' 
observations of the car and the driver were as close as 20 feet 
and at times up to 50 feet distance. ' 

HALL stated that the license he copied on the black 280Z 
car, was California 1KEZ608. 

9/19/84 Tucson, Arizona px 7-1196 
f<wi_?Ht90tioft on &i 

„f*i6e # . 

SA CARL A. GOSTING/slc 9/27/84 

_0_)e dictated. 

9. Tin , document conu.ns neither recommenda.ions nor conclusions of the r i l l . It is the proocrty of «he Fi l l and is loaned to you, a.ency 
i l and its contents are not to oa distributed outside your agency. agency, 

10-FJA024212 
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A 

^ - SAM HAHf . ________ Pao._21 

HALL stated that the student, BOBBY DE CHESKE, told him 

?eXtrf?Lr v 6 ^ c "I 6 " t M S S a m G C a r P a r k e d ^ P ^ e fence 
K I e L P ? r k ° n S u n d ay- °E CHESKE had walked by the car 

ne trailer park. 

ALL 
:ra 

The above was taken from notes prepared during the interview 
and the totality of the interview can be obJiS2d from 

ascription of the recorded statement. 

10-FJA024213 
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PIMA C O U N T Y S H E R I F F ' S D E P A R T M E N T 
P.O. BOX 910. T U C S O N . ARIZONA 85702 

iRopof l Number 

840917040 
Incident Location -

POCITO AND ROOT LANE 
Class Dist. Beal Page 

1 o( 1 
-'".onriect-Up Reporl Number Reporting OU.cer Badge 

R. CLARK 1 639 R 

Dale Time Reviewed By 

Typ>ed By I.D. Date Typed Time Storage Code 

RITA G. UZUETA 1 1607 09/20/84 
; Serial Number j Description oJ Property .:;,:;:;:;::;Valu«::v::. 

1000 hours, 20 September 1984 

Interview: John Ort iz 
j / Flying H Tra i le r Park, Space 26 

Ort iz stated that his s i s t e r , Sy lv ia Egger, and her husband, Michael Egger, had 
encountered the suspect veh ic le , a black 280-Z, in the a l l ey south of Homer Davis School. 
Arranged appointment for around 1600. 

1600 hours,, 20 September 1984 (Accompanied by Dep. T. Maroney, PCSD 393) 

Interview': Michael Egger, 01/13/55 
/ Sylv ia Egger, 12/11/55 " ' 

. / 4082 N. Reno 
•S-5185 

Michael stated that at approximately 1500 hours, 17 September 1984, he along with 
Sylv ia Egger, his son Br ian , and an in fan t , was dr iv ing north on a road from the Fly ing H 
T ra i l e r Park to the a l ley along the south perimeter of Homer Davis School. As Egger's car 
entered the' a l l e y , he saw a black 280-Z eastbound in the a l l ey at high speed. Both cars 
stopped abruptly with the front ends of both vehicles close together. Egger shouted at 
the dr iver of the 280-Z, to t e l l him that he had no reverse gear, and was unable to back up 
Driver of the 280-Z apparently could not hear Egger, and opened the door of his ca r , and 
stood just outside car saying, "what did you say?" Egger noted that the subject was of 
medium-build, and had dark, shoulder-length ha i r . Subject had a "gruff" voice and seemed 
to be laughing. 

The vehicle driven by above subject was described as a black 280-Z with blue/gold 
Ca l i fo rn ia l icense plate. Car had t inted windows, and possibly had objects in rear of 
passenger compartment. 7 W C 

Driver of the 280-Z got back into car and backed up to clear way for Egger's car . 
Egger reported that the 280-Z struck a wooden telephone pole, approximately at the center 
of the rear bumper. Examination of a pole, in the locat ion described, at approximately 
1700 hours, 20 September 1934, showed a s l i gh t indentation with a black scuffmark. 
(See I.D. Supplement for d e t a i l s ) . Eggers reported that the dr iver of the 280-Z appeared 
to be laughing a f ter s t r i k ing the pole. They observed no other person in the"Z". 

During the interview, Egger's son, Brian (age 6) , stated that he had seen the black 
car parked "under the trees at Tommy's house" e a r l i e r on Monday. "Tommy" is approximately 
age 4-5 years, and l i ves in the Flying H T ra i l e r Park ( las t name, and locat ion unknown). 

OUciosures Made 
NOV 0 11984 1 

P.C.S.D. 503 INCIDENT R E P O R T — D.D.S. NARRATIVE 5/1/82 
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&-79> 

Washington, D. C. 20537 

EPon 
of the 

YOUR FILE NO. Case #840917040 . December 20, 1984 ; 
FBI FILE NO. 7-lQ4fif^ •• 
LATENT CASE NO. ' ^ ' T Q , 

Mr. Clarence W. Dupnik 
Sheriff of Pima County t 
Sheriff»s Department '̂' 
Post O f f i c e Box 910' 
Tucson, Arizona 85702 

i 
Attention: Captain David L, Bosman 

Commander • 
Management Services D i v i s i o n /./ 

UNKNOWN SUBJECT (S) ; 
TUCSON, ARIZONA 
LATENT PRINT EXAMINATION 

REFERENCE' 
EXAMINATION REQUESxfeê .̂ ?̂  September 24,. 1984 
SPECIMENS: Addressee 

Numerous miscellaneous items, 01 through Q17 and Q24 
B i c y c l e , Q20 
(part of Q6, processed p r i o r to receipt) 
(Q numbers 7, 10, 14,. 15, 16,, 17 and 20, processed 

p r i o r to receipt) 
Footprint card of Debra Hoskinson, KB 
Five l i f t s 
E l imination f i n g e r p r i n t s and palm p r i n t s of L o r i Suzanne 

Myers and s i x other i n d i v i d u a l s • 

The Q specimens w i l l be further described i n a separate 
Laboratory report. 

Inasmuch as no la t e n t p r i n t s remain u n i d e n t i f i e d from 
the 1975 Datsun 280Z, VIN 30208184, and i t s contents, only the 
b i c y c l e , Q20 and the l i f t s from t h i s item were examined. 

one l a t e n t palm p r i n t and one lat e n t impre'ssion, which 
i s e i t h e r a f i n g e r p r i n t or palm p r i n t of value are present on 
two l i f t s from the handle bars of the b i c y c l e . No other latent 
p r i n t s of value are present on the remaining l i f t s or .tjia. JsriS^dJte, 

on next page) 
1 - FBI, San Antonio (7-1196)(P) (with copy of incoming) 
2 - Phoenix (with copy of incoming) IflH i W S g l ' ; 

THIS REPORT IS FOHNISIIED FOR OFFICIAL l/SC O N J P ^ ^ . ' Wm>A 

22-FJA043669 
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Mr. Clarence W.. Dupnik December 20, 1984 

The l a t e n t palm p r i n t i s not a palm p r i n t of Myers; 
L i l a and Rick James Trimmer; Stephanie Dawn Hoskinson; George 
Glenn and Deborah Jane Carlson; Annette P. P r i e s ; or 
Frank J a r v i s Atwood, FBI #4,014161311. 

The l a t e n t impression was compared with the a v a i l a b l e 
f i n g e r p r i n t s and palm p r i n t s of the aforementioned i n d i v i d u a l s 
and the f i n g e r p r i n t s of James Doyal McDonald, FBI #277281Cri, 
but no i d e n t i f i c a t i o n was effected. No palm p r i n t s were located 
here for McDonald, 

Photographs of the l a t e n t p r i n t s have been prepared 
for our f i l e s and w i l l be availabl,e f o r any other comparisons 
desired. ' 

The r e s u l t of the laboratory examination and the 
di s p o s i t i o n of a l l the specimens, w i l l be the subjects of a 
separate report. 

22-FJA043670 
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REPORT 
of the 

TO; SAC, San Antonio (7-1196) January 16, 1985 

Re: FRANK JARVIS ATWOOD; 
V I C K I HOSKINSON - V I C T I M ; 
KIDNAPPING 

0 0 Phoenix 

FBIFILENO. 7-19466 

LAB. NO. 40927012 
40927013 
40928044 
41001021 
41018020 

S QQ VI VR VM 
S QQ VI 
S QQ VI 
S QQ VI 
S VI 

Examination requesied by: 

Reference; 

Examination requested: 

Specimens received 

San Antonio 

Communications dated September 25, 1984, 
September 26, 1984, September 27, 198.4 and 
September 25, 1984 

Microscopic Analyses - Chemical Analyses -
Instrumental Analyses - S o i l - Fingerprint 

Specimens received October 17, 1984, under cover of communication 
dated October 12, 1984 (41018020 S VI ) : 

Q170 Sheet 

Q171 Sheet 

2 - Phoenix (7-1196) 
2 - Mr. Clarence W, DupnDc 

Sh e r i f f of Pima County 
Post O f f i c e Box 910 
Tucson, Arizona 85702 

Attent i o n : Captain David L. Bosman 
Commander 
Management Services D i v i s i o n 

Page 1 (over) 

P B I / D O J i. 

22-FJA043671 
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FRrn 11£ OCSK [f JIMI Fax :404-302-8504 lilg 14 '96 15:Q.ll e 
l 

2 

e 

3 
State of Georgia 

4 County of fulton 

AFnDA VIT OF DR. KIOS LEE SPlbY 

) 
)ss. 
) 

5 Dr. Kris Lee Sperry. being first duly sworo upon his oathp deposes and says: 

P.01103 

6 l. 1 am a medical doctor and a forensic pUbologist. l am presently employed as a fufefl.Sic 

1 
patboJogi.st in the Fulton County Medical Examiners office in Atlanta. Georgia. 1 spent 4 years 

8 

9 
at the University of New Mexico patboiQSY department and ! am familiar with clm~Wteristic:~ of 

human bodies which have been buried or left exposed in desert environments. 
10 

11 2. I have n:vicwed the interview of Dr. froede. his lestimony at trial and the trial testimony of 

12 Dr. Birkby. I have also reviewed the post-mortem examinations rcpons of Drs. Froede. Birkby. 

13 Chiltoo and Keen. 

l4 3. The presence of adipocere on the remains of Vicki Lynn Hoskimoo proves thatherbOOy 

15 
oould oot have been dumped in the desert. Adipocere, or "gravc::~wax", is the product of soft 

16 
tissue decomposition in a moin, nna.erooic cmriroomem. Adipocere will fmm on tbe bones only 

17 

18 
if the body bad been kept i~ mad in a moist .maerobic; environment for at least twO mooths. 

19 4. Under the weather oonditiom that ex.isted IUooM September 17, l984 IQ mid-0::\ober, 1984, 

20 a body dumped in t~ ~sen near tucson would be skeletonized by ~ camiiVOR3, rapttm 

21 or/and scavengers in two to four vveeks. 

22 
5. Sk:eletonization vvouJd prevent the c.reation of adipocere on the bones, by removing the 

23 

24 
oeoossary soft tissue. 

6. The de~ is oot the moist environment required for the production of adipocere. A bod.y 25 ;[ 

26 dt!myMln the desert wm mummify, if it is oor scavenged. That mummification would al~ 

27 

28 

-----,.,.....,-;r-· ~ . . 

29-F JA045863 
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F"RCl1 TJ-£ OCSK £F JIM! Fax :404-302-8504 e 
fi.J.g 14 '96 15:04 e P.02103 

l 
~luck the production of adipocde; ~ it rtqui~ moist soft tissue. 

· Sit\Ce adipocere requires an amaerobic eaviroo.mcnt, tbe body must have been kept ina place 

hich excluded oot ooly i~ ~~ mprors and :scavengers but also oxygen . 

. Tn order fur the reported adipocere to develop. it would be nee~ tha! Vicki Lynn 

kinron be buried in the ground to a depdt of M less thM ooe foot and most probebJy two 

'vo.re tooth markings on the lOOill prove that the skull was oot moved a ~tial distaooe 

fter it \vas disinterred and that it was not carried a substantial distance after the soft ti~s 

0. The soft tissues covering are most frequently the first tissues in the OOdy to decompose. 

16 
11. The failure of the forensic anthtopologists and the search reams to find amy grave in the area 

11 

19 
12. The physical evid£m(;e referred to-m the post-mortem examinatioos and in the testimony of 

rn. froedt:l and Birkby and in Dr. froede'$ iu;tc;rvic;w suppott the hy~Q$i$ that the body of 

21 idd Lyon Hoskinson was buried in a grave for no less tb.!m two months; that portions of her 

22 e:mains were then disinterred by a human and moved and scattered a.round the site where those 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

s were found. That explanation accounts for the presence of the adipocere, the absence of 

grave near the boDes and the fact tlW none of Ms. Hoskinson's bones ha\le before or since 

2 

o·'I . ..VO 
t._)_~_(l 

29-FJA045864 
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1 
3. The allemative hypo~ that the body was dwn~ in the desen or haphazardly covered 

2 

8 

9 

lO 

ll 

12 

13 

14 

15 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

·th dirt or that there is a grave in the area whete the boiles were fowd, .ll.m 001 s!JflPOrtfld by the 

ysical e\'idence. If dJC body bad hem dumped or haphu.m'dl) buried, there wooJd be oo 

FURTHER AFFIANT SA YETH NAUGHT 

3 

----

29-F JA045865 
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AFFIDAVIT 

I, Luis Garcia, do solemnly swear that the following statement is true and accurate. 

I, Luis Garcia, a landscape and maintenance professional for approximately three (3) and a half 
years, do affirm, having constructed a number of similar holes in the area of 7 600 West Ina Road, 
that the construction of a hole two (2) feet deep, four (4) feet long, and two (2) feet wide, would 
entail a period of time of no less than two (2) hours of continuous labor. This is in consideration 
of the hole being constructed in the area of the 7600 West block of Ina Road, in dry soil 
conditions using a standard spade shovel, and by a man of fair physical condition. 

Date 
... 

~4!/r 
Luis 6 bo.cc10.. 

Affiant 

'3lf/b w ~Bh62-0 A---co 
Address 

--:Ga:tHl Ac 8'-6105 
City, State, Zip 

~?2)0?/~~ 
Witness 7 

SUBSCRIBED AND SWORN TO before me this </tH day 

My Commission Expires: 

C(-,,:J~ - c; l:, 
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/ PIMA C 0 U 5 T Y SHERIFF'S DEP/~)TMENT-
P.O. BOX 910, T U C S O N , ARIZONA 85702 Kj: .. '. 

Report Number 

•^0917040 

Incident Location Class 

1920 West Hadley 26.04 
Dist. Beat 

C 20 
Page 

1 of 8 
^ P r i e c t - U p Report Number Reporting Officer —-

Barkman, W.J. 
Badge 

175 
Date 

20 Sept. 1984 
Time Reviewed By 

Typed By I.D. | Date Typed 

Rodriguez, A d e l l a 1 1503 1 9/20/84 
Time Storage Code 

SYNOPSIS: T h i s r e p o r t d e a l s v / i t h an i n t e r v i e w o f KONNIE D. KOGER 
on 17 and 18 S e p t e m b e r 1984. 

* 

DETAILS: On Monday, 17 S e p t e m b e r 1984, a t a p p r o x i m a t e l y 2320 h o u r s , 
I had o c c a s i o n t o i n t e r v i e w , i n t h e p a r k i n g l o t o f t h e s h o p p i n g 
c e n t e r l o c a t e d on t h e n o r t h e a s t q u a d r a n t o f M i s s i o n and A j o , an 
i n d i v i d u a l who i d e n t i f i e d h e r s e l f t o me a s ; 

KOGER, K o n n i e Dee; 
W h i t e F e m a l e ; 20 y e a r s ; 
28 J u l y 1964; 
7100 West Bopp Road; 
883-3647 ( F a t h e r s t e l e p h o n e number) 
E m p l o y e d : C a r t o o n J u n c t i o n ; 
4500 N o r t h O r a c l e #618; 
887-9306 ( e m p l o y e d 1800 t h r o u g h 2100 h o u r s ) 

P r e s e n t d u r i n g t h e c o u r s e o f t h e i n t e r v i e w , was S e r g e a n t P a u l A. 
P e d e r s e n a s w e l l as t h e w i t n e s s ' h u s b a n d who p e r i o d i c a l l y was w i t h i n 
e a r s h o t o f t h e i n t e r v i e w , t h e h u s b a n d i d e n t i f y i n g h i m s e l f t o me a s ; 

K o g e r , D e n n i s L e e ; 
W h i t e M a l e ; 20 y e a r s ; 
10 J u n e 1964; 
7100 West Bopp Road; 
883-3647 ( F a t h e r - i n - l a w s phone) 
E m p l o y e d : S e a r s Roebuck 
4500 N o r t h O r a c l e ; 
629-2041 ( R e c e i v i n g D e p a r t m e n t ) 

CO 
-a 

P 

b 

The i n t e r v i e w o f K o g e r t o o k p l a c e s u b s e q u e n t t o h e r ( K o g e r ) p l a c i n g 
a t e l e p h o n e c a l l t o t h e "Command P o s t " e s t a b l i s h e d a t Homer D a v i s 
E l e m e n t a r y S c h o o l a d j a c e n t t o t h e s c e n e o f t h i s i n c i d e n t . 
G e n e r a l l y , K o g e r i n f o r m e d i n v e s t i g a t o r s she had s e e n t h e p h o t o g r a p h 
o f V i c k i H o s k i n s o n d u r i n g t h e c o u r s e o f a n e w s c a s t , K o g e r 
r e c o g n i z i n g t h e c h i l d a s h a v i n g been a t h e r p l a c e o f employment 
e a r l i e r i n t h e e v e n i n g . I n v e s t i g a t o r s a t t h e Command P o s t i n f o r m e d 
P e d e r s e n o f t h e t e l e p h o n e c a l l , P e d e r s e n a r r a n g i n g t o meet and 
i n t e r v i e w K o g e r a t t h e s h o p p i n g c e n t e r . 

Upon a r r i v a l a t t h e s h o p p i n g c e n t e r , P e d e r s e n and I i n t r o d u c e d 
o u r s e l v e s b o t h v e r b a l l y and by s h o w i n g K o g e r o u r c r e d e n t i a l s . 
D u r i n g t h e c o u r s e o f t h e i n t e r v i e w ( w h i c h l a s t e d u n t i l a p p r o x i m a t e l y 
0155 h o u r s ) I n o t e d K o g e r t o be a c a u c a s i o n f e m a l e a p p e a r i n g h e r 
s t a t e d age o f t w e n t y y e a r s . W e l l o r i e n t e d t o t i m e and p l a c e , 
K o g e r ' s a n s w e r s were r e s p o n s i v e and a p p r o p r i a t e , t h e r e was no 
e v i d e n c e o f any d r u g o r a l c o h o l i n t o x i c a t i o n , K o g e r ' s demeanor b e i n g 
t h a t o f s i j i c e r i t y and conce'rn. D u r i n g t h e c o u r s e o f t h e i n t e r v i e w , 
K o g e r ' s s t a t e m e n t s and d e s c r i p t i o n s were n o t e d t o r e m a i n c o n s i s t e n t , 
K o g e r ( a n d h e r h u s b a n d ) s e e m i n g t o be s i n c e r e l y i n t e r e s t e d i n t h e /. 
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w e l f a r e o f t h e m i s s i n g c h i l d . 

A t t h e o u t s e t o f t h e i n t e r v i e w , P e d e r s e n f u r n i s h e d K o g e r a c o l o r 8 x 
10 p h o t o g r a p h d e p i c t i n g a s m i l i n g V i c k i L ynn H o s k i n s o n . P r i o r t o 
t h e w i t n e s s b e i n g g i v e n t h e p h o t o g r a p h , she was t o l d t h a t we w i s h e d 
h e r t o v i e w a p h o t o g r a p h , P e d e r s e n s a y i n g words s i m i l a r t o " I s t h i s 
t h e c h i l d y o u saw t o n i g h t ? " o r words v e r y s i m i l a r t o t h a t . Upon 
t a k i n g t h e p h o t o g r a p h , K o g e r l o o k e d a t t h e p h o t o g r a p h f o r p e r h a p s 
f i v e t o t e n s e c o n d s a t w h i c h t i m e she s a i d "Oh c h e e s h , " t h e n s a y i n g 
" T h a t l o o k s l i k e h e r " . ( A t t h e c o n c l u s i o n o f t h e i n t e r v i e w , t h e 
p h o t o g r a p h was m a r k e d as e v i d e n c e by m y s e l f and K o g e r ) . 

A s k e d t o d e s c r i b e t h e e v e n t s i n a " n a r r a t i v e f o r m " and t h e n b e i n g 
a s k e d s p e c i f i c i s s u e q u e s t i o n s , K o g e r d e s c r i b e d g e n e r a l l y t h a t she 
was on d u t y a t t h e " C a r t o o n J u n c t i o n " s t o r e i n t h e T u c s o n M a l l a t 
" a b o u t 7:00 o r 7:10 t o n i g h t " when she n o t e d a c h i l d e n t e r t h e s t o r e 
i n t h e company o f a woman. K o g e r , who was on d u t y a l o n e i n t h e 
s t o r e , n o t e d t h a t t h e c h i l d was c r y i n g and h e r f i r s t i m p r e s s i o n was 
" I t s a m o t h e r whose gonna buy a t o y f o r h e r k i d t o s h u t h e r up" o r 
v/ords v e r y s i m i l a r t o t h a t . As s h e n o t e d t h e movements o f t h e p a i r , 
K o g e r i n f o r m e d me s h e h e a r d t h e c h i l d s a y " I want t o go home". The 
woman r e s p o n d i n g , " W e ' l l go home" o r words v e r y s i m i l a r t o t h a t . 

G e n e r a l l y , K o g e r d e s c r i b e d how t h e p a i r f i r s t a p p r o a c h e d t h e d i s p l a y 
o f "Cabbage P a t c h " f i g u r i n e s , l a t e r t h e p a i r a p p r o a c h i n g v a r i o u s 
o t h e r a r e a s i n t h e s t o r e , K o g e r n o t i n g t h a t t h e woman "had t h e 
l i t t l e g i r l by t h e hand and w o u l d n ' t l e t h e r go" o r words v e r y 
s i m i l a r t o t h a t . K o g e r r e c a l l s t h a t as she a p p r o a c h e d t h e p a i r , t h e 
l i t t l e g i r l "hung o n " t o h e r ( K o g e r ' s ) l e g , t h e g i r l c o n t i n u a l l y 
s a y i n g " I want t o go home, t a k e me home" o r w o r d s s i m i l a r t o t h a t . 
When a s k e d t o d e s c r i b e t h e f r e q u e n c y o f t h e s e w o r d s , K o g e r s t a t e d 
"she s a i d i t o v e r and o v e r " . 

R e c a l l i n g t h e c h i l d s a i d "Your n o t g o i n g t o t a k e me home" ( s p e a k i n g 
t h e words t o t h e woman) K o g e r r e c a l l e d t h e woman s a i d " W e ' l l go 
home" o r words s i m i l a r t o t h a t . 

K o g e r i n f o r m e d me t h a t u l t i m a t e l y t h e p a i r p u r c h a s e d a " G a r f i e l d 
d o l l " , p a y i n g f o r t h e d o l l w i t h a " t w e n t y d o l l a r b i l l " . K o g e r 
r e c a l l e d t h a t t h e woman " l o o k e d a t T - s h i r t s f o r t h e g i r l " t h e 
T - s h i r t s b e i n g on d i s p l a y n e a r t h e d o o r w ay o f t h e s t o r e . 

I n r e s p o n s e t o a n a r r a t i v e / s p e c i f i c i n t e r v i e w , K o g e r i n f o r m e d me 
t h a t she p l a c e d t h e t i m e o f t h e i n c i d e n t a t "^about 7:00 o r 7:10" by 
r e l a t i n g t h e i n c i d e n t w i t h a s a l e she had j u s t made. K o g e r i n f o r m e d 
me t h a t " j u s t b e f o r e " t h e p a i r e n t e r e d t h e s t o r e , s h e had s o l d a 
" M i c k e y Mouse c l o c k " . T h i s c l o c k , on d i s p l a y , had been p u r c h a s e d 
f o r " $39.95", K o g e r s a y i n g - " M i c k e y h a d n ' t s t r u c k y e t " a t t h e t i m e o f 
t h e s a l e . K o g e r e x p l a i n e d t h a t t h e c l o c k , w h i c h was " p l u g g e d i n " 
" s i n g s s o n g s e v e r h o u r " . I n t h i s r e g a r d , K o g e r i n f o r m e d me, " M i c k e y 
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s a y s i t s t i m e t o b r u s h y o u r t e e t h , o r s o m e t h i n g l i k e t h a t " , and 
K o g e r r e c a l l e d t h a t as she was r e m o v i n g t h e c l o c k f r o m t h e w a l l f o r 
s a l e she n o t e d i t was " j u s t b e f o r e ' 7 : 0 0 and M i c k e y h a d n ' t s t r u c k 
y e t " , o r words v e r y s i m i l a r t o t h a t . 

R e c a l l i n g t h e r e may have been " t h r e e o t h e r p e o p l e i n t h e s t o r e " , 
K o g e r i n f o r m e d me t h a t she was t h e o n l y e m p l o y e e i n t h e s t o r e . I n 
t h i s r e g a r d , K o g e r s t a t e d a f e l l o w e m p l o y e e had l e f t t h e s t o r e 
m o m e n t a r i l y and was n o t p r e s e n t d u r i n g t h e c o u r s e o f t h e woman and 
c h i l d b e i n g i n t h e s t o r e . 

When a s k e d t o d e s c r i b e t h e woman, K o g e r d e s c r i b e d t h e woman a s ; 

"V7hite o r S p a n i s h " ( e x p l a i n i n g t h a t t h e woman was " d a r k " 
as i f she were " S p a n i s h o r W h i t e b u t had " l a i d i n t h e 
sun a l o t " ) ; " T h i r t y t o t h i r t y - f i v e y e a r s o l d " ; "5'5 o r 
5'6" ( K o g e r g e s t u r i n g as she d e s c r i b e d t h e woman's 
h e i g h t ) ; "Not t h i n and n o t r e a l f a t b u t s t u r d y " ; H a i r 
" b l a c k t o w h i t e o r w h i t e t o d a r k e r " ( K o g e r e x p l a i n i n g 
t h e woman's h a i r had " O b v i o u s l y been c o l o r e d , and t h e 
r o o t s were s t a r t i n g t o s h o w " ) ; The v/oman's h a i r was 
d e s c r i b e d by K o g e r a s "permed and g r o w i n g o u t " , t h e h a i r 
n o t b e i n g " r e a l wavy b u t n o t s t r a i g h t " o r words v e r y 
s i m i l i a r t o t h a t ; E y e s , no r e c o l l e c t i o n . 

When a s k e d t o d e s c r i b e how t h e woman c o u l d be " p i c k e d o u t o f a 
c r o w d " , K o g e r i n f o r m e d me t h e woman h a d a p r o m i n e n t n o s e , d e s c r i b i n g 
t h e nose a s " l a r g e and i t had a hump i n i t " , t h e t e r m "Roman n o s e " 
b e i n g o f f e r e d , K o g e r a g r e e i n g w i t h t h e d e s c r i p t i o n . F u r t h e r , K o g e r 
s t a t e d t h e woman " l o o k e d l i k e she nee d e d a b a t h " , s t a t i n g t h e woman 
was n o t " f i l t h y b u t she w a s n ' t c l e a n " o r words v e r y s i m i l a r t o t h a t . 

When a s k e d t o d e s c r i b e t h e woman's c l o t h i n g , K o g e r i n f o r m e d me she 
c o u l d n o t r e c a l l any c l o t h i n g w o r n by t h e woman w i t h t h e e x c e p t i o n 
o f t h e f o l l o w i n g i t e m s : 

1. A l a r g e brown l e a t h e r c l a s p t o p t y p e p u r s e . T h i s p u r s e 
was n o t e d t o have a s h o u l d e r s t r a p a t t a c h e d t h e r e t o , t h e 
s h o u l d e r s t r a p h a v i n g on i t a d e v i c e u s e d t o pad t h e 
w e a r e r ' s s h o u l d e r f r o m t h e s t r a p . K o g e r r e c a l l s t h e 
woman c a r r i e d t h e p u r s e u s i n g t h e s h o u l d e r s t r a p , t h e 
pad o r " p a t c h " s i t u a t e d on t h e woman's s h o u l d e r . K o g e r 
r e c a l l s t h a t t h e p u r s e , m e a s u r i n g by g e s t u r e 
a p p r o x i m a t e l y 18" x 12" x 8", h a d b u i l t i n t o i t , on i t ' s 
e x t e r i o r , two c i g a r e t t e p o u c h e s . K o g e r r e c a l l s t h a t t h e 
p o u c h e s c o n t a i n e d c i g a r e t t e s , K o g e r u n a b l e t o r e c a l l i f 
i t v/as one o r b o t h o f t h e p o u c h e s h a v i n g c i g a r e t t e s 
t h e r e i n . 

2. A brown h a t . T h i s h a t d e s c r i b e d as " u g l y " and " w e i r d 
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l o o k i n g " was d e s c r i b e d by K o g e r as h a v i n g a r o u n d b r i m , 
a r o u n d c r o w n , and was c o n s t r u c t e d o u t o f " n o t s t r a w b u t 
a woven t y p e m a t e r i a l " . ' K o g e r r e c a l l s a d a r k h a t band 
t o be i n p l a c e , t h e band m e a s u r i n g a p p r o x i m a t e l y one 
i n c h by g e s t u r e , K o g e r r e c a l l s t h e woman t o be w e a r i n g 
t h e h a t when s h e e n t e r e d t h e s t o r e , K o g e r n o t i c i n g t h e 
p r e v i o u s l y d e s c r i b e d h a i r when t h e woman removed t h e h a t 
upon e n t e r i n g t h e s t o r e . 

K o g e r i n f o r m e d me t h e woman was n o t w e a r i n g a w e d d i n g band. K o g e r , 
by h a b i t , l o o k s t o s e e i f p e o p l e a r e m a r r i e d , K o g e r h a v i n g a 
s p e c i f i c r e c o l l e c t i o n t h a t t h e woman was n o t w e a r i n g a w e d d i n g band. 
K o g e r r e c a l l e d t h a t t h e woman was w e a r i n g e a r r i n g s , d e s c r i b i n g them 
as " l i k e t u r q u o i s e e a r r i n g s " . O r i g i n a l l y u n a b l e t o r e c a l l i f t h e 
e a r r i n g s were b e i n g worn by t h e woman o r t h e c h i l d , K o g e r r e c a l l e d 
t h a t t h e woman was w e a r i n g e a r r i n g s s a y i n g " I t h i n k i t was t h e 
woman. Y e a h , " I t was t h e woman", K o g e r r e c a l l i n g she m e n t i o n e d 
s o m e t h i n g t o t h e woman r e g a r d i n g how p r e t t y t h e e a r r i n g s were. She 
d e s c r i b e d t h e e a r r i n g s a s " d a n g l i n g on a c h a i n o r s o m e t h i n g " , Koger 
h a v i n g no r e c o l l e c t i o n o f any o t h e r " i t e m s o f j e w e l r y b e i n g worn by 
th e woman. 

When q u e s t i o n e d , K o g e r d e s c r i b e d t h e woman's v o i c e as " k i n d o f 
d e e p " , f u r t h e r d e s c r i b i n g i t a s " s c r u f f y " . K o g e r r e c a l l e d t h e 
woman's s t a t e m e n t s were s h o r t and c u r t , K o g e r u n a b l e t o d e t e c t any 
a c c e n t o r s p e e c h i m p e d i m e n t s . 

K o g e r r e c a l l e d t h e woman was c a r r y i n g a "bag f r o m M e r v y n s " , K o g e r 
r e c a l l e d t h e M e r v y n s bag was " k i n d o f brown " , f u r t h e r r e c a l l i n g t h e 
bag was l a r g e r t h a n t h e bag g i v e n t h e woman a t " C a r t o o n J u n c t i o n " . 
K o g e r o r i g i n a l l y s t a t e d s h e ( K o g e r ) t h o u g h t t h e M e r v y n s bag 
c o n t a i n e d a " c o m f o r t e r o r t o w e l s " , e x p l a i n i n g she has no 
r e c o l l e c t i o n o f s e e i n g t h e c o n t e n t . K o g e r i n f o r m e d me she b a s e d 
h e r o p i n i o n on t h e t o u c h and f e e l o f t h e ba g ' s c o n t e n t s , K o g e r 
d e s c r i b i n g t h e bag's c o n t e n t s as b e i n g " s o f t a n d b u l k y , l i k e a bunch 
o f t o w e l s o r a c o m f o r t e r " . 

When q u e s t i o n e d , K o g e r i n f o r m e d me t h a t she had no s p e c i f i c 
r e c o l l e c t i o n o f how t h e woman was d r e s s e d , e x p l a i n i n g s h e was 
" p a y i n g more a t t e n t i o n t o t h e l i t t l e g i r l t h a n t o t h e woman". When 
a s k e d i f s h e w o u l d r e c o g n i z e t h e woman s h o u l d she s e e h e r a g a i n , 
K o g e r s a i d " I t h i n k s o . I t h i n k I w o u l d " , n o d d i n g h e r hea d i n an 
a f f i r m a t i v e f a s h i o n . 

When a s k e d t o d e s c r i b e t h e c h i l d i n t h e company o f t h e woman, K o g e r 
d e s c r i b e d t h e c h i l d a s : 

"A w h i t e f e m a l e " ; "Between f i v e a n d n i n e y e a r s o l d " ; 
a p p r o x i m a t e l y "3'10" t a l l ( t h i s h e i g h t was a r r i v e d by Koger 
e s t i m a t i n g t h e h e i g h t w i t h h e r hand , t h e l e v e l o f h e r hand 
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b e i n g l e v e l e d w i t h t h e i n f e r i o r a s p e c t o f my s t e r n u m , a 
d i s t a n c e o f 3'10" f r o m t h e g r o u n d ) ; d e s c r i b e d as " t h i n " ; h a i r 
" d a r k e r i n t h e p i c t u r e " ( a r e f e r e n c e t o t h e p r e v i o u s l y 
d e s c r i b e d 8 x 10 p h o t o g r a p h ) , " s t i l l s h o r t " , b e i n g d e s c r i b e d 
a s " l i k e l a y e r e d i n t h e b a c k t h e n s t r a i g h t a c r o s s " ( K o g e r 
g e s t u r i n g t o w a r d t h e m i d l i n e o f t h e n e c k ) , K o g e r , when 
v i e w i n g t h e p h o t o g r a p h d e s c r i b e d h e r r e c o l l e c t i o n o f t h e h a i r 
a s b e i n g "a l i t t l e d a r k e r " d e s c r i b i n g t o P e d e r s e n how t h e 
h a i r , i n t h e b a c k , had " j u s t a l i t t l e c u r l " as i f i t "had 
grown o u t " , 

A f t e r v i e w i n g t h e p h o t o g r a p h , K o g e r s t a t e d " I remember h e r t e e t h . 
L i k e i n t h e p i c t u r e . T h e r e were no t e e t h on t h e s i d e s " , o r words 
v e r y s i m i l a r t o t h a t , K o g e r p o i n t i n g t o t h e p h o t o g r a p h s a y i n g "There 
were s p a c e s on t h e s i d e s where t h e t e e t h h a d n ' t come i n " , K o g e r 
f u r t h e r r e c a l l i n g t h e c h i l d had a s o f t v o i c e , a l s o r e c a l l i n g t h e 
c h i l d ' s e a r s were p i e r c e d and h a d " r i n g s i n them", K o g e r u n a b l e t o 
r e c a l l t h e s i z e , s h a p e , o r s t y l e o f e a r r i n g . 

I t s h o u l d be n o t e d a t t h e o u t s e t o f "the i n t e r v i e w i m m e d i a t e l y a f t e r 
K o g e r had been g i v e n a p h o t o g r a p h o f V i c k i H o s k i n s o n , I a s k e d h e r 
"How was t h e k i d d r e s s e d ? " , o r w o r d s v e r y s i m i l a r t o t h a t . A t t h a t 
t i m e , K o g e r , a f t e r r e f l e c t i n g f o r p e r h a p s t h r e e o r f o u r s e c o n d s , 
s a i d "She was d r e s s e d p a t r i o t i c " , s i m u l t a n e o u s l y m a k i n g "up and down 
g e s t u r e s " as i f she were d e s c r i b i n g v e r t i c a l s t r i p e s . When a s k e d 
t h e s p e c i f i c i s s u e q u e s t i o n "What do y o u r e c a l l a b o u t h e r d r e s s " , 
K o g e r s a i d " T h e r e were s t r i p e s t h a t went up and down on h e r " , o r 
w o r d s v e r y s i m i l a r t o t h a t . A t t h a t t i m e , I s u p p l i e d K o g e r w i t h a 
pen and p a p e r , r e q u e s t i n g K o g e r t o draw, as b e s t she c o u l d , t h e 
d r e s s she r e c a l l e d t h e c h i l d t o have been w e a r i n g . The d r a w i n g was 
s u b m i t t e d and made p a r t o f t h i s c a s e f i l e . N o t e s made on t h e s i d e 
o f t h e d r a w i n g by K o g e r i n c l u d e "had f u l l c o l l a r " , as w e l l as 
" e l a s t i c w a i s t l i n e " , a l o n g w i t h " s h o r t s l e e v e d " , K o g e r n o t i n g " t i e 
s h o e s " ; r e l a t i v e l y new, b u t "worn". I n t h i s r e g a r d , K o g e r i n f o r m e d 
me s h e has a r e c o l l e c t i o n t h a t one o f t h e c h i l d ' s s h o e s was u n t i e d . 
K o g e r i n f o r m e d me t h e l e n g t h o f t h e d r e s s was " l i k e t o t h e k n e e " , 
K o g e r a g a i n m e n t i o n i n g h e r i m p r e s s i o n o f " t h e d r e s s was p a t r i o t i c " . 
When q u e s t i o n e d , K o g e r c l a i m s no r e c o l l e c t i o n o f e v i d e n c e o f i n j u r y 
o r a b u s e on t h e c h i l d . 

K o g e r i n f o r m e d me she r e c a l l s t h e c h i l d was " c r y i n g " . S t a t i n g she 
c o u l d s e e " t e a r s " , K o g e r s t a t e d i t was h e r i m p r e s s i o n t h e c h i l d had 
"been c r y i n g f o r a w h i l e " , K o g e r e x p l a i n i n g how t h e c h i l d was 
" w h i m p e r i n g " o r " t r y i n g t o s t o p f r o m c r y i n g " ; - O r i g i n a l l y h a v i n g t h e 
i m p r e s s i o n t h a t " t h i s was a k i d t h a t was mad a t h e r m o t h e r " , K o g e r 
i n f o r m e d me s h e now f e e l s t h a t t h e woman was h o l d i n g u n t o t h e c h i l d 
b e c a u s e "She was a f r a i d t h e c h i l d w o u l d r u n away". I n t h i s r e g a r d , 
K o g e r i n f o r m e d me t h a t t h e "woman " h e l d on t o t h e l i t t l e g i r l a l l t h e 
t i m e " K o g e r r e c a l l i n g t h e woman g r a s p e d t h e c h i l d by t h e w r i s t . 
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As m e n t i o n e d , K o g e r re.c-aXlg__the_ p a i r o r i g i n a l l y a p p r o a c h e d a d i s p l a y 
o f "Cabbage P a t c h " f i q u r i n e s T a t whl£li_time_ t h e woman s a i d t o t h e 
^ g h i l d , "Do y o i i want t h i s t h e c h i l d s a y i n g "No". A t t h a t time/" 
K o g e r r e c a l l s t h e woman " p u l l e d h e r a r o u n d t h e c o u n t e r " , and t h e 
p a i r began w a l k i n g t o w a r d t h e d i s p l a y o f " s t u f f e d a n i m a l s " . K o g e r 
r e c a l l s t h a t a t t h i s t i m e she a p p r o a c h e d t h e c o u p l e , g r e e t e d t h e 
woman, t h e woman n o t a c k n o w l e d g i n g n o r r e s p o n d i n g t o K o g e r ' s 
g r e e t i n g e v e n t h o u g h s h e ( t h e woman) saw K o g e r p u t h e r ( K o g e r ' s ) arm 
a r o u n d t h e c h i l d . 

R e c a l l i n g t h a t i t was a t t h i s p o i n t and t i m e t h a t t h e " l i t t l e g i r l 
s o r t o f p u t h e r arm a r o u n d my l e g " , K o g e r r e c a l l e d t h a t t h e woman 
" k e p t h o l d i n g on t o t h e l i t t l e g i r l " . K o g e r r e c a l l e d t h a t t h e c h i l d 
s h y e d away f r o m t h e woman's t o u c h , t h e c h i l d c o n t i n u i n g t o "hang on" 
as t h e t r i o e x a m i n e d t h e s t u f f e d a n i m a l d i s p l a y . 

L e a v i n g t h e s t u f f a n i m a l d i s p l a y , t h e g r o u p w a l k e d t o t h e d i s p l a y o f 
" G a r f i e l d s " . A t t h a t t i m e , a " h a l l o w e e n G a r f i e l d " was p u r c h a s e d , 
t h i s t o y b e i n g a f i g u r e o f t h e c a r t o o n c h a r a c t e r c a t " G a r f i e l d " c l a d 
i n a " r e d cape and c a r r y i n g a p i t c h f o r k " . 

W a l k i n g t o w a r d t h e c h e c k o u t c o u n t e r , K o g e r w a t c h e d as t h e woman 
o p e n e d t h e p r e v i o u s l y d e s c r i b e d p u r s e . K o g e r r e c a l l e d t h e woman 
p r o d u c e d a " w h i t e bank e n v e l o p e " f r o m where she p r o d u c e d a t w e n t y 
d o l l a r b i l l . K o g e r r e c a l l s t h e r e were o t h e r b i l l s i n t h e e n v e l o p e , 
K o g e r u n a b l e t o r e c a l l t h e q u a n t i t y o r d e n o m i n a t i o n o f t h e r e m a i n i n g 
b i l l s . 

K o g e r r e c a l l e d t h a t t h e G a r f i e l d was p l a c e d i n t o a b l u e p a p e r s a c k 
a l o n g w i t h a r e c e i p t , a t w h i c h t i m e t h e woman " p u l l e d t h e l i t t l e 
g i r l o u t o f t h e s t o r e " . D u p l i c a t e " G a r f i e l d s " , b l u e s a c k s and 
" C a r t o o n J u n c t i o n " r e c e i p t s a r e a v a i l a b l e . 

As m e n t i o n e d , t h e c h i l d " o v e r and o v e r " s a i d " I want t o go home", as 
w e l l as " t a k e me home", and s i m i l a r s t a t e m e n t s . I t was d u r i n g t h i s 
t i m e t h a t t h e woman l o o k e d a t K o g e r and s a i d , " I have v i s i t a t i o n 
t o n i g h t " , o r words v e r y s i m i l a r t o t h a t , t h e woman t e l l i n g t h e c h i l d 
" W e ' l l go home". 

K o g e r r e c a l l e d t h a t w h i l e s t a n d i n g a t t h e G a r f i e l d d i s p l a y she h e a r d 
t h e c h i l d ' s " s t o m a c h g r o w l " . A t t h a t t i m e , K o g e r a s k e d t h e c h i l d i f 
she had had s u p p e r , t h e c h i l d s a y i n g "No". 

A f t e r t h e woman and c h i l d l e f t t h e s t o r e , Kog'er r e c a l l s she w a i t e d 
^ on two more c u s t o m e r s . The f i n a l c u s t o m e r s h a v i n g l e f t t h e s t o r e , 
m K o g e r w a l k e d o u t o f t h e s t o r e t o t h e b a l c o n y . A t t h a t t i m e K o g er 

n o t e d t h e woman and c h i l d t o have e x i t e d an e l e v a t o r i n t h e m a l l , 
- K o g e r w a t c h i n g t h e p a i r . K o g e r r e c a l l s t h e p a i r t h e n went t o t h e 

"bench by t h e w a t e r t h i n g " ( a p p a r e n t l y a r e f e r e n c e t o a f o u n t a i n ) a t 
w h i c h t i m e she n o t e d a c o n v e r s a t i o n t o t a k e p l a c e b e tween t h e woman 
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and a m a l e . 

E s t i m a t i n g t h e d i s t a n c e by f i x e d o b j e c t s i n t h e p a r k i n g l o t , K o g e r 
d e s c r i b e d t h e d i s t a n c e as b e i n g a p p r o x i m a t e l y 175 y a r d s . D e s c r i b i n g 
h e r v i s i o n a s " n e a r s i g h t e d " , K o g e r d e s c r i b e d t h e male s e a t e d on t h e 
b e n c h a s : 

"Wh i t e m a l e " ; "Had a b e a r d , brown h a i r " and was " w e a r i n g b l u e 
j e a n s " . 

When q u e s t i o n e d s p e c i f i c a l l y a s t o t h e r a c e o r a g e , K o g e r was u n a b l e 
t o s t a t e an a g e , s a y i n g " I t h i n k he was w h i t e " . 

K o g e r r e c a l l e d t h a t t h e woman and c h i l d a p p r o a c h e d t h e man, t h e 
c h i l d s t i l l b e i n g h e l d by t h e woman. K o g e r r e c a l l e d t h e f e m a l e 
s t o o d d i r e c t l y i n - f r o n t o f t h e man, and a p p a r e n t l y " s a i d s o m e t h i n g " . 
She n o t e d t h e man "nodded" a t w h i c h t i m e t h e woman " l e f t " . 

O b v i o u s l y u n a b l e t o o v e r h e a r t h e c o n v e r s a t i o n , K o g e r s t a t e d h e r 
i m p r e s s i o n was t h a t t h e man and woman knew e a c h o t h e r , r e c a l l i n g 
t h a t t h e woman c o n t i n u e d w a l k i n g w i t h t h e c h i l d i n tow a f t e r 
c o n c l u d i n g t h e c o n v e r s a t i o n . 

K o g e r s t a t e d t h a t upon r e t u r n i n g t o h e r r e s i d e n c e , s h e was w a t c h i n g 
t h e "back h a l f " o f t h e C h a n n e l 13 t e l e v i s i o n news. K o g e r r e c a l l e d 
t h a t she saw a " p i c t u r e f l a s h e d on t h e s c r e e n " , K o g e r t h i n k i n g t o 
h e r s e l f , "My God, I ' v e s e e n t h a t k i d " . S t a t i n g she had t o "Stop and 
t h i n k " , K o g e r s t a t e d she t h o u g h t t o h e r s e l f " I know I ' v e s e e n t h a t 
f a c e , where d i d I s e e i t ? " A f t e r a p p r o x i m a t e l y " f i v e m i n u t e s " , 
K o g e r s t a t e s she a p p r o a c h e d h e r h u s b a n d and s a i d " T h i s i s w e i r d , 
I ' v e known I ' v e s e e n t h a t k i d somewhere", a t w h i c h t i m e i t "dawned 
on me", K o g e r m a k i n g t h e p r e v i o u s l y d e s c r i b e d t e l e p h o n e c a l l t o 
i n v e s t i g a t o r s . 

A t 0020 h o u r s , I a s k e d t h e s p e c i f i c i s s u e q u e s t i o n "Do y o u t h i n k 
t h a t t h e l i t t l e g i r l i n t h i s p h o t o g r a p h i s t h e same l i t t l e g i r l you 
saw i n t h e s t o r e t o n i g h t " , t o w h i c h K o g e r r e p l i e d , " Y e s , I do." 

A t a p p r o x i m a t e l y 0140 h o u r s . D e p u t y Lee Ann D o b b e r t i n , #598, a r r i v e d 
a t t h e s c e n e . A t t h a t t i m e , D o b b e r t i n had i n h e r p o s s e s s i o n a d r e s s 
t h a t i s p r o p e r t y o f V i c k i H o s k i n s o n . T h i s d r e s s i s p u r p o r t e d l y 
i d e n t i c a l t o t h e d r e s s H o s k i n s o n was w e a r i n g a t t h e t i m e o f h e r 
d i s a p p e a r a n c e w i t h t h e e x c e p t i o n o f a c o l o r v a r i a t i o n „ T h i s d r e s s 
c a n be d e s c r i b e d a s : 

Red, w h i t e , and p u r p l e , s t r i p e d " K i n g K o l i " s i z e 14 d r e s s . 
T h i s d r e s s h as a r e d w a i s t s a s h , and was m a r k e d by m y s e l f and 
D o u b b e r t i n . 

G i v i n g t h e d r e s s t o P e d e r s e n , P e d e r s e n e x p l a i n e d t o t h e w i t n e s s t h a t 
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t h e d r e s s we were g o i n g t o show h e r was s i m i l i a r e x c e p t t h e c o l o r s 
were d i f f e r e n t on t h e c o l l a r and l o w e r b o r d e r . Upon b e i n g shown t h e 
d r e s s , K o g e r s a i d "Oh, God, t h a t ' s c r e e p y " . K o g e r a s k e d t h a t t h e 
c h i l d ' s 8 X 10 p h o t o g r a p h be p l a c e d i n t o t h e neck o p e n i n g o f t h e 
d r e s s , a t w h i c h t i m e , a f t e r v i e w i n g t h e d r e s s f o r 10 s e c o n d s o r s o , 
K o g e r s a i d " That s u r e l o o k s l i k e i t , b u t t h e c o l o r s a r e d i f f e r e n t . 
T h i s i s r e d and t h i s i s r e d " , p o i n t i n g t o t h e c o l l a r and l o w e r 
b o r d e r . K o g e r t h e n s a i d , "Yeah, i t s u r e l o o k s l i k e i t " . 

A t 0155 h o u r s on T u e s d a y , 18 S e p t e m b e r 1984, I a s k e d K o g e r i f t h e r e 
was a n y t h i n g i m p o r t a n t t h a t I h a d n ' t m e n t i o n e d , o r i f t h e r e was 
a n y t h i n g she w a n t e d t o a d d , K o g e r r e p l y i n g i n t h e n e g a t i v e . A t t h a t 
t i m e , K o g e r a g r e e d t o o c c u p a n y i n g I d e n t i f i c a t i o n O f f i c e r B r i g h t i n 
o r d e r t o o b t a i n an a r t i s t r e n d e r i n g o f t h e woman s e e n w i t h t h e 
c h i l d . 

I t s h o u l d be n o t e d t h a t b e t w e e n t h e t i m e s o f t h e i n t e r v i e w s 
b e g i n n i n g (2320 h o u r s ) and i t s t e r m i n a t i o n a t ( 0 1 5 5 ) , s e v e r a l 
i n t e r r u p t i o n s o c c u r r e d i n v o l v i n g t e l e p h o n e c a l l s r e c e i v e d and made 
by i n v e s t i g a t o r s , r a d i o t r a f f i c a n d ' o t h e r m a t t e r s . 

No f u r t h e r i n f o r m a t i o n a t t h i s t i m e . 

W. James Barkman, #175 
D e p u t y S h e r i f f 
I n t e l l i g e n c e U n i t 
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R.L. Van Skiver 1 466 10-17-8/4 0730 
. Ser ia lNumber Oescnption of Proporty 1 Value :•; 

On 9-18-84 thi s o f f i c e r and Dep. M. Lepird ?;'276, along with several other S h e r i f f ' s 

Deputies and F.B.I, agents, were assigned to go to the Tucson Mall, at 4500 N. Oracle 

Rd., and interview merchants. V/e showed pictures of V i c k i Hoskinson and suspect drax-zing. 

At approx. 1550 hrs. we went to the store of; and contacted the following: 

Peck & Peck K e l l y Kempton = At store t i l l 1800 hrs.. Did not see or 

2302 E. Ft. Lowell recognize. 

Tucson, Arizona 

Phone: 881-6465 

Kim Ziegler = At work from 1000 t i l l 1800 hrs.. Did not 

4971 M. Kain see. Drawing of woman " Looks l i k e the 

Tucson, Az. manager of the VJherehouse records store " 

phone: 888-7234 

Janet English = Didn't works 9-17-84. 

3737 N. Country Cluh//302 recognize 

south 

Tucson, Az. 

Do not 

Marco • -

Scanda Down 

T r i c i a Hartinjack 

2A60 E. M i t c h e l l 

Tucson, Az. 

Phone: 881-3907 

Debbie Ault 

715 W. Burton 

Tucson,' Az. 

Phone: 297-5154 

Louane Schaefer " = Store Mgr.. 

4225 N. 1st. Ave.#2203 

Tucson, Az. 

Phone: 888-7505 

= VJorked i n store t i l l 1800 hrs. then 

shopped in Mall t i l l 1845 hrs.. Don't 

recognize. 

= Did not work 9-17-84 

Did not work 9-17-84. Do 

not recognize. 

S e v i l l e Jewelers 

I 

Daniel Esposito 

1901 N. Wilmot ' 

Tucson, Az. 

Phone: 296-7420 

Gustavo Rodriguez 

4507 S. 15th Ave 

Tucson, Az. 

Phone: 294-9027 

( Continued ) 

= Worked 1330 to 2100 hrs.. Do not 

recognize. 

= Worked 1200 t i l l 1800 hrs.. Do not 

recognize. 

- » > * — M . 51085 f 
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PIMA C O U N T Y S H E R I F F ' S D E P A R T M E N T 
P.O. BOX 910, TUCSON, ARIZONA 85702 

Report Numbor 

S/84-09-17-040 

Incident Location 

Root Ln & Pocito 

Class 

51.01 

Dist. 

C 
Beat 

19 

Page 

2 of 5 

".onnect-Up Report Number Reporting Oll icer 

R.L. Van Skiver 

Badge 

466 

Date 

10-17-84 

Time 

0730 

Reviewed By 

Typed By I D 

R.L. Van Skiver | A66 

Date Typed 

10-17-84 

Time 

0730 

Storage Code 

Typ^: ham Qty. | Ot^P- j Soriai Number Description of Property 
j ValuG • 

S e v i l l e Jewelers -continued 

Diana L y t l e 

7645 E. Hampton P l . 

Tucson, Az. 

Phone: 298-8732 

F i r s t Federal Savings David Kanto 
613 W. Limberlost 
Tucson, Az. 
Phone: 887-7536 

Shirley Danner 

5000 N. La Cholla //27 recognize. 

Tucosn, Az. 

Phone:' 293-5451 

Worked 9-17-84 from 0900 t i l l 1430 

hrs.. Do not recognize. 

Worked t i l l 1800 hrs.. Don't r e c a l l 

seeing. Subject in drawing looks 

farailure, possibly from downtown Br 

= Worked t i l l 1830 hrs.. Do not 

Brighton Station 

Today's Kids 

J e f f Makiri 

P.O. Box 42073 

Tucson, Az. 

Tania Hoyt 

424 E. Suffolk Dr. 

Tucson, Az. 

Phone: 297-3622 

Heather Searle 

= Worked t i l l 1830 hrs.. Do not 

recognize. 

Did not work 9-17-84. Do not 

recognize. 

= Worked from 1700 t i l l 2400 hrs.. 

2401 E. Glenn apt.#59 Do not recognize. Was a slow day 
Tucson, Az. 
Phone: 325-0713 

would have noticed kids. 

Burger Express 

L i s a Duffy = Worked. Do not recognizee 

4225 E. Frankfort 

Tucson, Az. 

Phone: 574-0443 

/ 
Merry Kay Milam / = Subject ( drawing ) looks 

3985 N. Stone Ave. apt.#1876 familure. Thinks she saw 

Tucson, Az \ / her i n the " Picnic " area 

Phone: 838-1978 ^ in the Mall at approx. 1330 

/-^ to 1430 hrs. 9-17-84. 

\ 
Kimberly Ann Hilb e r t W/F 1-4-69 ( 15 yrs.) 

3868 E. Glenn 
Tucson, Arizona Works part time. Student Catalina H.S 
Phone: 881-4281 

Ms. H i l b e r t advised that she had seen and heard the report on t e l e v i s i o n that 

V i c k i Hoskinson had been seen in the Mall on Monday, 9-17-84.. She further advised that 

P.C.S.D. 503 INCIDENT REPORT - D.D.S. NARRATIVE 5/1/82 

Case: 22-70084, 05/04/2022, ID: 12438984, DktEntry: 1-4, Page 56 of 498



PIMA C O U N T Y S H E R I F F ' S D E P A R T M E N T 
P.O. BOX 910, T U C S O N , ARIZONA 85702 

Report Number 

S/84-09-17-040 

Incident Location Class 

Root Ln. & Pocito 51.01 

Dist. 

C 

Beat 

19 

Page 

3 of 5 
"onnect-Up Report Numbor Reporting Officer 

R.L. Van Skiver 

Badge 

466 

Date 

10-17-84 

Time 

0730 

Reviewed By 

Typed By I.D. 

R.L. Van Skiver A66 

Date Typed 

10-17-84 

Time 

07 30 

Storage Code 

she was sure that she had seen the same lady with the Missing g i r l . I showed Ms. H i l b e r t 
a photograph of V i c k i Lynn Hoskinson and the composit drawing of the female subject that 
was reportedly seen with V i c k i at the H a l l . Hs. H i l b e r t stated that she was sure that 
she had seen both subjects going past the " Burger Express " on Monday ( 9-17-84 ) at 
approx. 1645 to 1700 hrs.. She described the female subject as follox^s: 

Female/ ( Possibly a l i g h t complected Mexican ) approx. 32 yrs. old 

5-7 or 5-8, " Hedium b u i l d " 

Shoulder length " Dark brown " hair with " Gray in front " 

wearing: Streight leg " Levis " with a " \^mice Polo T - s h i r t " 

" Sunglasses on top of her head 

Only jewelry noted was a " Neckleace " as a " Gold chain " 

Carrying: a " Large brown leather purse " 

Ms. H i l b e r t advised that she was sure that i t was the same l i t t l e g i r l as she was 

wearing the sarae s t r i p e d dress that she had seen on t e l e v i s i o n . 

She did not hear any conversation between the lady and c h i l d . She advised that they 

were going past ( West to East ) and that the lady was kind of " P u l l i n g the g i r l along ", 

or words to that e f f e c t . The woman was not " Dragging the g i r l along " but Hs. H i l b e r t 

said that now that she has heard about the missing g i r l she was sure that the g i r l was 

putting up a resistence. 

Ms. H i l b e r t advised that she was sure that she would be able to recognize the g i r l 

and the lady i f she saw either again. 

Another employee at the Burger Express that was i d e n t i f i e d as working on the evening 

of Monday 9-17-84 i s 

Jeannie Hartinez . * 

146 E. Kelso apt.F 

Tucson, Arizona 

Parents Phone: 889-0700 

Later I contacted Ms. Martinez on 9-19-84. She advised that she was " Working the 

Front " and didn't r e c a l l seeing either the g i r l or the lady. She advised that she 

worked from 1600 to 2130 hrs.. 

After I spoke to Hs. H i l b e r t , I was directed to another subject who v;orks i n the 

" P i c n i c " area that was advising that she too had possibly seen the raissing g i r l and 

the feraale subject. The subject works at and i d e n t i f i e d herself as follows 

/' 

Hot Dog on a Stick T e r i Pongratz N 

Ms. Pongratz advised, a f t e r lookinp, at the photo of V i c k i and the drawing of the ' 

female subject, that she had seen the two i n the M a l l on Monday evening. She advised 

XM^suL&UAsM JUL 54985 1! 
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PIMA C O U N T Y S H E R I F F ' S D E P A R T M E N T , 
P.O. BOX 9 10, T U C S O N . ARIZONA 85702 ' 

Report Number 

S/8A-09-17-040 

Incident Location 

Root Ln & Pocito 

Class 

51.01 

Dist 

C 

Beat 

19 

Page 

A ol 5 
onnect-Up Report Number Reporling Olticer 

R.L. Van Skiver 

Badge 

A66 

Date 

10-17-8A 

Time 

0730 

Reviewod By 

Typed By I D. 

R.L. Van Skiver 1 A66 

Date Typed 

10-17-8A 

Time 

0730 

Slorage Code 

Type iiom Qty . 1 Dlap. { Serial Number- Description ot Property --.Value-: 

that she could r e c a l l the two because they had stopped at the " Hot Dog on a Stick " 

and that the c h i l d was complaining and the woman was being r e a l strange. She v;ent on 

to say that she r e c a l l e d that the woman " Ordered only one hot dog " and " T\;o lemon­

ades " or " Two hot dogs and one lemonade ". She advised that she ( Pongratz ) f e l t 

that the woman was being very harsh with the g i r l . I ask about some more d e t a i l s and 

Pomgratz refered me to a subject who works with her. She i d e n t i f i e d herself as 

Sylvia Graham ' 

'-1800 W. Linden // 

Tucson, Arizona 

Phone: 882-8356 

Ms. Graham advised that she could r e c a l l the same couple. She advised that she had 

just gotten o f f work, so advised that the time was approx. 1830 hrs,. She advised that 

she too f e l t that the woman was acting harshly to the g i r l . After I had shown both Ms. 

Pongratz and Ms. Graham the picture of V i c k i and the drawing of the female they both said 

they f e l t that i t was the same lady. They both advised that they f e l t that they have 

seen the female subject i n the Mall on other occasions. The woman was described as 

V;hite/ Female early 30's with " Light complexion " 

with " Curly brown " hair 

It should be noted that the " Hot Dog on a Stick " is located i n a very close prox­
imity to the " Burger Express " food stand. 

After completing the above interviews I continued contacting other merchants in the 

Mall . Those contacted were as follows 

Ki t ' s Cameras Doris Robinson 

6365 N. Pomona 

Tucson, Az. 

Phone: 7A2-A326 

= Advised that she didn't work on 

9-17-8A. Does not recognize g i r l 

or the woman. 

Jerry Robinson 

same as above 

./ = Contacted on 9-19-8A. Advised that 

he f e l t that he has seen the woman 

before.. Does not remember seeing 

the g i r l . 

Wild West T-shi r t s Carol Barleycorn 

3A5 N. Park 

Tucson, Arizona 

Phone: 88A-51A2 

= Contacted on a follow up v i s i t to 

the Mall 9-19-8A. Worked on 9-17-

8A. Thinks she has seen woman i n 

the drawing around the laundennat 

near her residence / on 6th str e e t 

c 
Valet Parking 

ser v i c e 

J e f f Barr 

& 

Nicholas Godbold 

Both shown the pic t u r e of V i c k i 

and the drawing of the woman. Do 

not r e c a l l seeing e i t h e r . * 
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PIMA C O U N T Y S H E R I F F ' S D E P A R T M E N T 
P.O. BOX 910, T U C S O N . ARIZONA 85702 

Report Number 

S/8A-09-17-040 

Incident Local ion 

Root Ln & Pocito 

Class 

51.01 

Dist. 

c 
Beat 

19 

Page 

5 o( 5 
Connect-Up Report Number Reporting Oll icer 

R.L. Van Skiver 

Badge 

466 

Dale 

10-17-84 

Time 

0730 

Reviewed By 

Typed By 

R.L. Van Skiver 

ID. 

466 
Type j t?^m | Qly. Serial Number: 

Dale Typed 

10-17-84 

Time 

0730 

storage Code 

D 8 s c r ipt i ort o< Pro party i ..Valua: 

Tucson Mall merchants continued 

Cutlery World 

Foot Locker 

Zarfas 

Learners 

Kay Bee Toy Store 

Zach Hesel 

3985 N. Stone //122 

Tucson, Arizona 

Phone: 888-9240 

Robert Barton 

Veronica Reyna 

6141 E. 27th 

Tucson, Arizona 

Phone: 747-7051 

Kathy Johnson 

Worked from 1500 to 2100 hrs. on 

9-17-84. Do not r e c a l l seeing the 

g i r l . Womans face i s familure. 

= Worked 9-17-84. Don't recognize 

e i t h e r . 

= Worked from 1000 to 1800 hrs. don't 

recognize either 

= Contacted 9-19-84. Worked 9-17-84. 

1701 S. Burning Tre^ / Do not remember seeing e i t h e r . The 

Tucson, Arizona 

Phone: 298-7724 

Michelle Johnson 

same as above 

Justine Jurek 

2656 W. Milton if9 

Tucson, Arizona 

Phone: 883-0676 

Judy Mullen 

340 E. Cambridge 

Tucson, Arizona 

Phone: 297-5612 

Tim Derrig 

3730 N. Oracle RD. 

Tucson, Arizona 

Judi Mc Cormick 

Lot // 71 

Oracle Junction, Az. 

Karen Marble 

Phone: 745-5834 

Manuel Amado 

Phone: 293-8249 

Mo further contacts made at the Tucson M a l l . 

woman in the drawing looks familure. 

= contacted 9-19-84. Worked 9-17-84. 

Don't recognize. 

= Didn't work 9-17-84. Do not recog­

nize e i t h e r . 

= Did not work 9-17-84. Woman i n the 

drawing looks familure. 

= Worked t i l l 1800 hrs.. tCnows he did 

^ not see the g i r l . Possibly has seen 

the woman before. 

= Worked t i l l 2130 hrs.. Does not 

recognize e i t h e r . 

= VJorked. & would have made a sale i f 

anything was purchased. Don't recog­

nize . 

" Worked 9-17-84. Can't remember 

either subject. a 

I'esmaa JUL 5 1985 1' 
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On September 18, 1984, S p e c i a l Agent (SA) SPIERREE 
E. DOYLE of the F e d e r a l Bureau o f I n v e s t i g a t i o n (FBI) , c o n t a c t e d 
the f o l l o w i n g p e o p l e i n the Tucson M a l l , O r a c l e Road, Tucson, 
A r i z o n a , t o see i f they had seen the v i c t i m , VICKI LYNN 
HOSKINSON or an unknown female s u b j e c t on Monday e v e n i n g , 
September 17, 1984. Each person was shov/n a c o l o r photograph 
o f HOSKINSON and a b l a c k and w h i t e composite s k e t c h o f 
th e unknov; female s u b j e c t : ... . , . ,̂  

1) R a d i o Shack: 

A) ANDY JONES, n e g a t i v e i d e n t i f i c a t i o n . 

B) MILES, 297-6300, n e g a t i v e i d e n t i f i c a t i o n . 

C) DAVID CRUIZE, p o s s i b l e i d e n t i f i c a t i o n o f woman 
as ESTELLA V7ILLIAI>1S who had v / r i t t e n bad checks i n the R a d i o 
Shack s t o r e . 

2) R i c o s : 

A) PAULA KEPPEL, n e g a t i v e i d e n t i f i c a t i o n . 

B) LESLIE HUNTER, n e g a t i v e i d e n t i f i c a t i o n . 

3) Crepe K i o s k : 

A) PHILLIP STEARNS, n e g a t i v e i d e n t i f i c a t i o n . 

B) RICK NORIEGA, unable t o c o n t a c t , 795-2398. 

4) E r i c ' s I c e Cream: .-v. ; . • —̂  

A) JANIE KRAMER, n e g a t i v e i d e n t i f i c a t i o n . . ; 

5) P a p p o u l e ' s : . • • . 

A) JOHN COTSONES, unable t o c o n t a c t . 

B) CAROL KRA^-IER, n e g a t i v e i d e n t i f i c a t i o n . 

C) ANGIE COTSONES, n e g a t i v e i d e n t i f i c a t i o n . 

6) W i l d West T - S h i r t s : 

A) LESLIE ENTERS, n e g a t i v e i d e n t i f i c a t i o n . 

B) LISA FUELL, unable t o c o n t a c t . 

- ..r 

IV >(•• 
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C) TOM FUTRELL, n e g a t i v e i d e n t i f i c a t i o n . 

7) Smoker's Tav e r n : 

A) CARL CURTIS, n e g a t i v e i d e n t i f i c a t i o n . 

B) ROSEMARY CURTIS, n e g a t i v e i d e n t i f i c a t i o n . 

8) M o n t r e a l R o t i s s i e r i e : 

A) FRANCIS AKINS, n e g a t i v e i d e n t i f i c a t i o n . 

B) SHERRI STRONG, n e g a t i v e i d e n t i f i c a t i o n . 

C) ED r^SSEY, n e g a t i v e i d e n t i f i c a t i o n . 

9) La Rocca's P i z z a : . 

A) SUSAN ROSSI, around 6:30 p.m., September HU,, 
1984, ROSSI b e l i e v e d t h a t she sav/ unknown feraale subj«c«tt 
and v i c t i m . They bought p i z z a at her s t a n d . ROSSI rmembvsim^d^ 
the v i c t i m s ' 3 d r e s s and t e e t h . ROSSI a l s o r e c a l l e d vxtijnar5i 
had rough v o i c e , p o s s i b l y was v/earing red c l o t h i n g . .M ÎT ŜIJ 
s t a t e d t h a t the c h i l d d i d not seem u p s e t . , — 

B) THOMAS WITHERS, unable t o c o n t a c t . 

10) C h i n a E x p r e s s : 

A) CINDY VTHITEJ-IAN, unable t o c o n t a c t . 

B) JOSEPH L I U , n e g a t i v e i d e n t i f i c a t i o n . 

11) Orange J u l i u s : 

A) J I L L SCHLir^ME, unable t o l o c a t e . 

B) JOHN CRISTIANA, n e g a t i v e i d e n t i f i c a t i o n . 

12) L e t t u c e P a t c h : 

A) GEORGE, unable t o l o c a t e . 

13) The C o l a n d e r : 

A) KAREN DENNY, n e g a t i v e i d e n t i f i c a t i o n . 

14) G r e a t E a r t h V i t a m i n s : 

A) JIM.GARCIA, n e g a t i v e i n f o r m a t i o n . 

DteKOfos Made WW'--

r 
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15) Diamonds's Beauty S t o r e : 

A) SANDE FERGUSON, n e g a t i v e i d e n t i f i c a t i o n . 

B) ANDY FE L I X , unable t o l o c a t e . 
I 
j C) GEORGE VEGA, unable t o l o c a t e . 

• 16) B u r g e r E x p r e s s : •' • 

A) JEANNE MARTINEZ, b e i n g l o c a t e d by Tucson's S h e r i f f ' s 
O f f i c e . • 

• • .• '., • 

•• • • 

• • • • - •• • 
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DECLARTION OF KIMBERLY ANN SAMPSON 

I declare under penalty of petjury of the laws of the United States and Arizona the 

following to be true to the best of my information and belief: 

1. My maiden name is Kimberly Ann Hilbert. I testified at Frank 

Atwood's 1987 trial. 

2. I was 18 years old, and a senior in high school, when I testified. I did 

not want to testify. It was a scary, traumatic experience for me, and I still get 

emotional remembering it. However, I have always been a devoted advocate for 

children, and have always done anything I could to protect children. I know I did 

the right thing by coming forward to say what I'd witnessed. I would do the same 

thing today. 

3. I testified that I saw Vicki Lynn Hoskinson with a woman at the 

Tucson Mall on Sept. 17, 1984, at approximately 6:30p.m. or 7 p.m. 

4. I am positive that the young girl I saw at the Tucson Mall was Vicki 

Lynn Hoskinson. I remain convinced to this day that I saw her on that date and 

around that time. 

5. On the evening I saw Vicki Lynn with the woman, I was 15 years old 

and working at an establishment called Burger Express, which was located in the 

food court of the Tucson Mall. 

Initials: ~ 
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6. I testified that I saw Vicki Lynn being led past the Burger Express by 

a woman with dark, scraggly hair. The woman was clutching Vicki Lynn's arm, 

and Vicki Lynn was following in her wake, not actively resisting but clearly being 

pulled along by the woman. 

7. I vividly recall seeing fear in Vicki Lynn's eyes. We made brief eye 

contact, and I saw in her eyes that she needed help. Even today, it makes my cry to 

remember what I witnessed. 

8. That night after I got home from work, I saw a TV news report that 

stated Vicki Lynn was missing. I saw a photograph of Vicki Lynn during the TV 

report, and immediately told my parents, who were also watching the news, that I 

had seen Vicki Lynn that evening at the Tucson Mall. 

9. I believe my father notified the authorities of what I had witnessed. I 

was interviewed several times by law enforcement. The officers who interviewed 

me made me feel as though I was the one on trial. They acted as though they 

believed I had fabricated my account of seeing Vicki Lynn with the woman at the 

mall. It felt as though the officers who interviewed me didn't believe me, and I 

was being punished for doing the right thing, coming forward to tell the truth about 

what I had seen. I remember telling my parents I wished I hadn't said a word about 

what I had witnessed. But then I'd remember the look on Vicki Lynn's face, and I 

knew I had to do what I could to help her. 

I 0 "al ~~ rutt s: __ 
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10. Even when I testified in 1987, I felt as though I was the one in 

trouble. My parents assured me I was doing the right thing. 

11. A detective named Van Skiver interviewed me twice. Both of his 

written narratives misstated the time I reported seeing Vicki Lynn at the mall. Van 

Skiver's reports indicated I reported seeing Vicki Lynn around 1630 or 1700 in 

military time, which is 4:30 p.m. and 5 p.m. in common time. When I testified, the 

prosecutor asked whether Van Skiver had made a mistake in reporting the time I 

had seen Vicki Lynn. I testified that the detective had in fact been mistaken, and 

that I was certain I had seen Vicki Lynn around 6:30 p.m. or 7 p.m., not around 

4:30p.m. or 5 p.m. 

12. Since the trial, nobody had ever contacted me to discuss my role until 

June 2021. If they had, I would have provided the information contained in this 

declaration. 

I declare under penalty of perjury under the laws of Arizona and the 

United States of America that the foregoing is true and accurate to the 

best of my information and belief. Signed this 27th day of August, 2021, 

at Pima County, Arizona. 

Kimberly Ann Sampson 

Initials: ~ 
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1 

PX 7-1196 
liBAiwle 

The f o l l o w i n g i n v e s t i g a t i o n was conducted at 
Tucson, Arizona, on the dates indicated by SA L, BRUCK ATKI^3S; 

On September 18, 1984, SA ATKINS was assigned to conduct 
a canvass in the Tucson M a l l to a number of shops on the upper 
l e v e l of the mall. I n q u i r i e s were made to a l l shop employees 
as to t h e i r whereabouts on September 17, 1984, and p a r t i c u l a r l y 
i f they had observed VICKIE HOSKINSON being l e d by a white female, 
possibly Hispanic, described as approximately 30 to 35 years 
of age, 5'5" to 5'6" i n height, sturdy b u i l d , dark h a i r , as 
i f i t had been colored, and p o s s i b l y of I t a l i a n descent. A 
canvass of the shops included SPENCER GIFTS, phone number 
293-0150, JEAN NICOLK, phone 293-5B64, THE LIMITED STORE, phone 
293-7788, MANY GOATS, phone 887-0814, THE SPORT SCENE, phone 
888-6328, FANFARE SHOES, phone 293-8147, and BEATONS, no phone 
indicated, A l i s t of the employees and t h e i r comments are as 
follows: 

SPENCER GIFTS employees: 

1. JESSE BERNARD JACKSON, 
residence 4044 North Reno 
Tucson, Arizona 
phone 293-8049 

JACKSON stated that he observed on Monday, September 17, 
1984, a lady smacking a small kid around and j e r k i n g the c h i l d 
by her arm. He estimated t h i s was between 5:00 and 5:15 p.m., and 
considered the woman to be very stocky i n b u i l d . He considered 
her to be obnoxious i n the way she was t r e a t i n g her c h i l d , and 
was not dressed very w e l l . He described her as being d i r t y 
and dressed l i k e i n rags. He believed the subject was wearing 
a bandanna or a hat, and heard the c h i l d c r y i n g and screaming, 
attempting to get away from the woman. JACKSON stated he saw 
the woman leave, pushing what appeared to be a children's s t r o l l e r , 
and j e r k i n g the c h i l d down the a i s l e s . The subject l e f t to 
the r i g h t of SPENCER GIFTS e x i t , and went on down the h a l l . 
JACKSON advised the s t r o l l e r he observed was much l i k e the type 
s t r o l l e r checked out at the information booths in the Tucson 
M a l l , At f i r s t he believed the c h i l d was throwing a temper 
tantrum but, on second thought, he considered the c h i l d to be 
f i g h t i n g the lady and t r y i n g to get away. He stated that he 
simply thought to himself that he was glad that that lady was 
not h i s own mother, JACKSON could not remember the p h y s i c a l 
d e s c r i p t i o n of the c h i l d , but simply considered the sketch shown 
to him by t h i s agent to be s i m i l a r in nature to the woman he 
saw on Monday night. 
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PK 7-1196 
LBA:wle 

2, LINDA ANN STOWE 
4509 East Pima 
Tucson, Arizona 
Home phone 881-4737 

Miss STOWE responded with negative response to i n q u i r i e s 
by t h i s agent. 

3. TINA MARIE REIDEL 
3401 Wilds Road 
Tucson, A r i zona 
Home phone 825-9 205 

REIDEL stated that approximately 5:00 p.m. to 6:00 
p.m. on Monday, September 17, 1984, she heard screaming from 
a c h i l d at the same time that JESSE JACKSON was observing h i s 
previously reported s i g h t i n g . REIDEL stated she did not observe 
the c h i l d or the subject; however, due to the screaming, she 
stated, "My gosh, what i s she doing to that g i r l . " REIDEL could 
share no other p o s i t i v e information regard ing t h i s i n cident 
to t h i s agent. 

JEAN NICOLE employees' 

1. LUCY ANN VELEZ 
157 West President 
Tucson, Arizona 
Home phone 746-9494 

VELEZ gave no p o s i t i v e information to t h i s agent. 

2. JENNIFER LYNN SCHOOLEY 
6402 Camino de Michael 
Tucson, Ar izona 
Phone 297-3698 

A l l e f f o r t s to contact SCHOOLEY at her residence met 
with negative r e s u l t s . 
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AGDISC 005178

PIMA CO NTY SHERIFF'S DE .. \RTMENT DISCLOSED 
P.O. BOX 910, TUCSON, ARIZONA 85702 

Incident Location 

POCITO AND ROOT LANE 
Number 

0917040 Pagi 2 
of 

Reporting Officer 
R. CLARK 

Report Number Reviewed By 

Typed By 

RITA G. UZUETA 

1100 hours, 18 September 1984: 

In response to telephone lead, interviewed Rosa Togias at her place of employment: 
Rosa Togias, 06/13/32 
Home: 888-5410 - 1507 W. Windsor 
Work: 792-5981 - Valley National Bank, Prince and Flowing Wells 

Ms. Togias stated that when she saw the composite drawing of suspect, which had been 
distributed to her office, she immediately recognized suspect as a person who has been in 
the Valley Bank (Prince and Flowing Wells) on numerous occasions in the past four to five 
years, and has often caused disturbances in the bank. She reported that the physical des­
cription and facial characteristics appeared to be Anne or Annette Fries, also known to 
bank personnel as Farida Burns. 

Ms. Togias reported that the subject's appearance is like a "wild gypsy"-- that she is 
extremely unkempt, and usually wears large dangling or loop~type earrings. Reportee did no 
recall her last visit to the bank, but stated that the subject became irritated at one of 
the tellers for no apparent reason and became extremely loud and verbally abusive, 

Subject is reported to live in a trailer in the area of the K-Mart Store, Miracle Mile 
and Flowing Wells." Repartee has not seen a vehicle associated with her. Ms. Togias stated 
that the subject has, over two-three years, placed hand-lettered s1gns on the front of the 
bank building, advertising for rental of a room in her trailer. 

Ms. Togias continued her description of the female subject stating that she has ''high 
cheekbones .. · and obviously dyed black hair with light or gray roots. In describing the 
subject's general demeanor, Ms. Togias stated "she's a mean bitth 11 -~her outbursts In the 
bank have indicated that she "hates cops." Subject reportedly was convicted of arson in the 
city of Tucson within the past one-two years, and came into the Valley National Bank, branch 
at Prince and Flowing Wells, to obtain a cashier's check for payment of restitution. 

Ms. Togias then referred me to her daughter, Kathy Togias, and a friend, Kathy ril ipell , 
both employees of Tucson Pol ice Depal"tment, At approximately 1200 hours, 18 September 1934, 
accQRJpanted oy Det. Brennan, PCSD 11506, r met with Ms. Filipelli and Sgt. Ron Penning at 
TPD Headquarters Building. At that time, we obtained background information, photo, and 
current address of 3152 N. Shawnee, for subject Annette Parida Pries (072640). 

Interviewed Manger of Circle K Store, Romero and Wetmore, (see Det. Brennan's supplemen 
manager identified photo of Annette. Fries_ as that of a person who comes 1n to Circle K 
Store frequently, makes small purchases (gum, sodas) and occasionally talks to school child n. 

Returned to Valley National Bank, Prince and Flowing Wells, where Rosa Togias i~ntifie 
photo of Annette Pries. 
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AGDISC 005179

PIMA CC NTY SHERIFF'S DE .. ~RTMENT 
P.O. BOX 910, TUCSON, ARIZONA 85702 

Incident Location 

At approximately 1530 hours, 18 September 1984, I, along with Det. Brennan and Det. 
Dhaemers, went to Fries' residence, a double-wide trailer, located at 3152 N. Shawnee. 
Ms. Fries admitted us to the trailer, and was cooperative in responding to questions by 
Det. Dhaemers. We requested permission to walk through the trailer, and Ms. Fries stated 
that she 11 had nothing to hide 11 and stated that we could look through the entire property. 
A walk-through examination of the trailer and outside area was made by Det. Brennan and 
myself, with negative results. 

1820 hours, 18 September 1984: 

2 

Visited Annette Fries• residence and requested that she stand outside trailer. for 
viewing by witness from 11 Cartoon Junction 11 store (Tucson Mall). Ms. Fries willingly com­
plied, and witness was driven by in Sgt. P. Pedersen's vehicle. Results reported as 
inconclusive. 
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PIMA COUNTY SHERIFF 'S DEPARTMENT 
P . O . B O X 9 1 0 , T U C S O N , A R I Z O N A 8 5 7 0 2 

Report Number Incident Loca ion Class Dist. 

C-
Beat 

> 
Page 

/ of lo 
"Connect-Up Report Number Reporting Off'icer Badge Date , Time 

/ S r t b C i 

Reviewed By 

Narrative Instruct ions: The narrative portion of tfie incident report sfiould 
include a property description of items stolen or destroyed witfi serial-
numbered property listed first, followed by a cfironological synopsis of 
wtiat occurred. 

Property Typo: ST—Stolen / REC—Recovered / D—Damaged / L—Lost / 
F—Found. Property D ispos i t ion : (only in cases of found & recovered property) 
PH—Pfiotograpfied & returned to owner / RTO—Returned to owner, no 
Pfiotographs / PE—Placed in Property and Evidence 

Type j ltetn j Qty. [ Oisp. Seriat Number;^ Description of Property - Value 

f O d S . 

, _ 6 6 ^ ; & ^ N ) - £ ^ F f e ^ ^ ^ n - ^ f ^ f ^ ^ T R i ^ ^ ^ ^ c . . 

—-^'^H-^ X : ) ( ^ \ } ^ ~ T v V ^ o n r ( e f v \ u S i Z . - P f ^ R . ^ ^ 1^:^ 

r 

^ E S T S ^ C T I D T O I V ^ ^ ^ ^ " Y ^ V ^ Pf)^Y: 
y'P^EiibytA A N D 
2^3. A G E N C I E S \ l L v \ U ' N ^ ^ - r y ^ ^ ^ t^*^ DIS3!£Mlrf l .ATIONi j 

"mifNtlBS I S 
A C Y & S E C , 

p. C . S . D . 7 

v"^^^ uo. uo^^^w^^^ i ^ t ^ . F ^ v o ^ 

LO. a^r<rr ^^^^ , 

<Nf 

I.J-J ^ • 

o 

U y r ^ ^ ^ ^ e ^ v . 
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PIMA COUNTY SHERIFF 'S DEPARTMENT 

Report Number Incident Location Class Dist. Beat 

i7. ̂) 
Page 

of 6» 
: iype. r i t em Qty. Disp Serial Number Description of Property; Value 

^ ^ - v - D b B t ) 
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5/1/82 
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PIMA C O U N T Y S H E R I F F ' S D E P A R T M E N T 
P.O. BOX 910, TUCSON, ARIZONA 85702 

0! 
Report Number 

8 4 0 9 1 7 0 4 0 

Incident Location 

P o c i t o P l a c e / R o o t Lane 
Class 

26.04 C 

Dist. Beat 

-211 

Page 

1 o« 1 
Connect-Up Report Number 

Typed By 

L. Woodruff 

Reporting Officer 

S g t . P.A. Pe d e r s e n 
I.D. 

I l 5 2 2 

Date Typed 

Q3/06/85 1330 

Badge 

302 
Time 

Date 

03/01/85 
Storage Code 

Time Reviewed By 

?yi>ei Homf -Qly ̂Dl̂ p̂. Serial Mombef Descript ion of Property 

On 18 September 1984, Deputy Don Chavez and I met w i t h Konnie Koger 
a t h e r r e s i d e n c e on West Bopp Road. D e t e c t i v e W.J. Barkman had met 
w i t h Koger t h e p r e v i o u s n i g h t r e g a r d i n g a p o s s i b l e s i g h t i n g o f t h e 
v i c t i m , V i c k i Lynn H o s k i n s o n , i n t h i s c a s e . Upon a r r i v a l a t Koger's 
r e s i d e n c e , I went o v e r t h e d e s c r i p t i o n she had g i v e n Barkman and I 
on t h e , p r e v i o u s n i g h t . The d e s c r i p t i o n was t h a t o f a woman who 
Koger s a i d she saw i n t h e Tucson M a l l w i t h a g i r l who l o o k e d v e r y 
much l i k e V i c k i Lynn H o s k i n s o n . 

I asked Koger i f she would be a b l e t o r e c o g n i z e a photo o f the woman 
she saw w i t h t h e g i r l who l o o k e d l i k e H o s k i n s o n . Koger responded " I 
t h i n k s o , " 

I s u b s e q u e n t l y shewed h e r a photo o f Ann F r i e s , t h a t had been 
p r o v i d e d t o me by o t h e r d e t e c t i v e s . Upon s e e i n g t h e p h o t o , Koger 
s a i d t h e photo " s o r t o f l o o k s l i k e h e r " , r e f e r i n g t o the woman she 
had seen a t Tucson M a l l t h e n i g h t b e f o r e , Koger added t h a t the nose 
and eyes i n t h e photo l o o k e d l i k e t h e woman she saw bu t the h a i r 
does not l o o k e x a c t l y l i k e t h a t o f t h e woman she saw i n Tucson M a l l , 
Upon f u r t h e r e x a m i n a t i o n , Koger s a i d , " i t l o o k s l i k e h e r , " 

P r i o r t o l e a v i n g Koger's r e s i d e n c e we d i s c u s s e d the com p o s i t e photo 
she had d e s c r i b e d t h e p r e v i o u s n i g h t , Koger s a i d she was s t i l l 
s a t i s f i e d w i t h the d r a w i n g . 

At a p p r o x i m a t e l y ^ J j O O on 18 September, I p i c k e d up Koger a t her 
p l a c e o f work a t t h e Tucson M a l l , ^ e s u b s e q u e n t l y d r o ve t o a 
r e s i d e n c e a t 3152 N, Shawnee where o t h e r o f f i c e r s were s t a n d i n g 
o u t s i d e the r e s i d e n c e t a l k i n g t o Ann F r i e s , We drove by the 
r e s i d e n c e a p p r o x i m a t e l y t h r e e t i m e s , Koger t o l d me " i t l o o k s l i k e 
h e r " and added t h a t t h e " f a c e l o o k s l i k e h e r . " She f u r t h e r saicT 
tha^t^'lETieMfTomarr^ " b u i l d i s an a w f u l l o t l i k e h e r . " However, d u r i n g 
b o t h o f t h e s e i n t e r v i e w s she d i d not p o s i t i v e l y i d e n t i f y t h e woman 
as b e i n g t h a t o f t h e same p e r s o n she saw a t Tucson M a l l on t h e n i g h t 

N,F,I, 

S O 
Co • 

^ cn 
CO b 

» 
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, 

20-4176 
®fficc nf tl1c Qilerh nf fl1t~ ~upcrior Oiour± 

JAMES N. CORBETT 
CLERK OF SUP ERIOR COURT 

ANNETTE FRIES 
5722 North Trisha Lane 
Tucson, Arizona 85704 

Wima illount~ . 
Pima County Courts Building9?. St P '2 A 9 ~ Z S 

(602) 792-8351 . 

Tucson, Arizona 85701 

August 20, 1982 

SHERRY KENNEDY 
CHIEF OEPUTV 

Re: .ANN FRIES vs. GEORGE MUNN & DIANE FULLER 
Justice Court No. 81-4-12539 204176 

Gentlemen: 

This is to advise you that we are this date. August 20, 1982 • 
in receipt of the papers on appeal from Justice Court in the above­
entitled action. 

Pursuant to A.R.S. Sections 22-265 and 22-283. the Appellant must 
pay a fee of $45.00 within fifteen (15) days from the date of this 
notice. Upon payment of the $45.00 fee. the action will be filed 
in Superior Court. and the Appellee has twenty (20) days after this 
filing in which to pay his appearance fee of $30.00. (Note: The 
Appel-lee's 20 day period starts ' to run immediately upon payment of 
the Appellant's $45.00 fee. whi~h may not necessarily be the . full 
fifteen (15) days allowed the Appellant.) 

Very . truly yours. 

JAMES N. CORBETT 
Clerk of Superior Court 
Pima County, Arizona 

De utyiiClerk I 

JNC:mr 
CC: Michael A. Blum 

JP-1 

3311 West Croxen 
Tucson, Arizona 85741 204176 
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THIS IS DETECTIVE DHAEMERS, BADGE ^426. TODAY'S DATE IS 09-19-84. 
TIHE NOW IS 1035 HOURS. THIS WILL BE REFERENCE CASE? 84-09-17-040, 
INTERVIEW WILL BE TAKING PLACE AT THE PIMA COUNTY SHERIFF'S DEPARTMENT 
1801 SOUTH MISSION ROAD. 
LEGEND: Q. " DETECTIVE DHAEMERS A. " ANN FRIES 

Q. Ka'ia c o u l d you p l e a e e s t a t e your f u l l name? 
A. Hmmmm? 

Q, Could you p l e a s e s t a t e your f u l l name? 
A. Annette F r i e s . 

Q. Do you have a m i d d l e name? 
A. F r i e d a . 

Q. What I s your date of b i r t h ? 
A. J u l y 26, 1940. 

Q. What I s your home address? 
A. 3152 North C h a r l e n e . ( p h ) . 

Q. Your telephone number? 
A. 293-4370, 

Q. Your s o c i a l s e c u r i t y number? 
A. 573-52-7994, 

Q, Are you employed? 
A. Uh, y e s . 

Q. And what Is your j o b ? 
A. Uh, I have a c o u p l e , take care of an e l d e r l y l a d y d u r i n g the day, 

and I have a border t h a t l i v e s at tay house and uh goes to s c h o o l . 
And 1 p r o v i d e the meals and do the wash and uh I*m a l a n d l a d y * I 
need one good j o b t h a t ' s vhat i t b o l l s down t o , and t h a t ' s , 

Q. Ma'm, we stopped by your house, y e s t e r d a y and spoke to you I n 
r e g a r d s to a m i s s i n g person by the name of V i c k l Hoskinson. Do 
you r e c a l l t h a t ? 

A, Y e a h , u h - h u h ( y e s ) . 

Q. And today we asked you to come down to the S h e r i f f ' s O f f i c e , so 
t h a t we c o u l d t a l k a g a i n . We had a d v i s e d t h a t you some 
i n f o r m a t i o n t h a t p o s s i b l y l i n k e d you to uh her d i s s a p e a r a n c e . 
I*d l i k e to ask you i f you c o u l d t e l l me what, you d i d on 
9-17-1984 which was on Monday, t h i s l a s t Monday. 

A, W e l l 1 get up I n the morning and the f i r s t t h i n g I do, Monday?. 
Is uhm, go up to uh take care of Sharon, o f f of T h o j g j ^ d a ^ ^ S i s ^ 

Q. A n d w h o i s Sharon? 

27-FJA045624 
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STATEMENT OF ANN FRIES PAGE 2 CASEtf 84-09-17-0*© 

A. And th e n , Sharon's the e l d e r l y l a d y t h a t 1 take care &f» 

Q, What*s her f u l l name do you know? 
A. Uh Sharon Moon. 

Q, And what's her hotae a d d r e s s ? 
A. I'm not s u r e . 

Q. I t ' s o f f of R u t h r a u f f ? 
A. No, I t ' s o f f of Thornydale and Massengale I t ' s on Sontlb A i r 

P l a c e , r i g h t near Old F a t h e r . 

Q. Okay, a l r i g h t so tn the morning you went up to her re*id«oce, to 
take care of her? 

A. Yeah. 

Q. Okay, and how l o n g were you t h e r e ? 
A, Oh, p r o b a b l y a c o u p l e of h o u r s , j u s t to get her persitaaS k j g i e n e 

taken of* And uh, then l e a v e the house p r e s e n t a b l e a'oi'. and then 
I t h i n k I went back to my house, I t h l , no then 1 went t o nh 
a p p l y f o r a b e t t e r j ob up at Nennlna (ph) and Ina. Aai mhm, Ina 
and La C h o l l a , then I stopped i n at the Casa Adobes rhnirch, v i t h 
uh, which I s , you know my c h u r c h . Southern B a p t i s t Cfcmrch, and 
stopped I n and t a l k e d to a l a d y t h e r e , because my b o y f r l e n i i i s 
h a v i n g you know, problems as u s u a l and uh, 

Q. How l o n g d i d you speak to t h i s l a d y at the church? 
A. Uhm about ten minutes. 

Q. And do you remember what time t h a t was? 

A. Uhm, might have been about 10:00, 10:30, 11:00 arouniS ivu t)here. 

Q. And what d i d you do a f t e r t h a t ? 

A. Uh I went to my house 1 t h i n k . I always have a l o t lc» &o» 

Q. And do you remember what you d i d at your house? 

A. A l l I know i s , the s e v e r a l t h i n g s , had l u n c h , my son stt>]F>ped i n , 
gave him l u n c h , he ate my l u n c h . That k i n d of t i c k e d mc o f f , 

Q. What I s your son's name? 
A, Todd. 
Q. And where does he l i v e a t ? 
A. And he l i v e s on P r i n c e uh, uh,,Pastime now. 

Q. And h i s phone number Is what? 
A. He doesn't have one. 

Q* T h i s phone number that you had g i v e n ? 
A. No t h a t ' s my number. 

Q* That's your number? 
A. Yeah, everybody uses my number. 
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Q. Okay, and where does uh Todd work at? 
A. Uh, up u n t i l today he was w o r k i n g at Emissions C o n t r o l and uh he 

does photography. 

Q, Okay, so around noon t h e n , you had l u n c h w i t h your son? 
A. Yeah, or a l i t t l e a f t e r , 

Q. Okay, and then what d i d you do? 
A, P r o b a b l y two l o a d s of wash and uh making, Monday, i t ' s hard f o r 

me to t h i n k , Monday because of uh you know, o n l y a day away, my 
days are are f u l l and uh I always f i n d something to do. because 
o f , I don't know work i s t h e r a p y f o r me. 

Q. Okay, do you r e c a l l what you d i d at a l l i n the a f t e r n o o n ? 
A. P r o b a b l y some wash Monday. 

Q, Did you go anywhere then, i n the a f t e r n o o n ? 
A. Not on Monday no, Sunday I went to the m a l l s , to S e a r s , because 

my d a u g h t e r - i n - l a w got t h i s l i t t l e t h i n g , I thought i t was 
p r e t t y , f o r f i l l i n g out an a p p l i c a t i o n at Sears. 

Q. So you went to Sears on Sunday? 
A, Yeah, 

Q. And, and p i c k e d up t h a t ? 
A. yeah and 

Q, For f i l l i n g out an a p p l i c a t i o n ? 
A. f o r f i l l i n g out an a p p l i c a t i o n , yeah. 

Q. Okay, so Monday you say t h a t you were home? 
A, Uhm-hmmra(ycB). 

Q. In the a f t e r n o o n ? 
A, Uhm-hmmm(yes). 

Q, U n t i l what time? 

A. P r o b a b l y J t i r a e , but 
I don't, I can't remember t h a t w e l l but I guess i t was about t i l l 
uh Mike comes and p i c k s up h i s mom at uh 4:15, he p i c k s her up. 

Q. Okay, a f t e r 4:15 what d i d you do? 
A, Monday? ' 

Q. Yes. 
A. I don't remember what I d i d Monday, a f t e r 4:15. I t h i n k t h a t was 

the day t h a t uh Henry moved I n , I helped him put away h i s t h i n g s . 
Oh I mowed the g r a s s , 

Q« Do you have t h a t , 
A. I t h i n k I mowed the f r o n t g r a s s , Monday, or was i t y^K.t«d:diy, the 

g r a s s i n the f r o n t . 

1 
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Q. do you have r e c o r d of when Henry 
A. I . 

Q. moved i n ? 
A. Yeah I have i t on the c a l e n d a r . 

Q. Okay d i d you g i v e him a r e c e i p t , d i d he pay you money? 
A. ^ Yeah he p a i d me some money. 

Q. And d i d he pay you i n cash or d i d he w r i t e you a check? 
A. He p a i d me i n c a s h , $60.00* 

Q. Did y, d i d you d e p o s i t t h a t money? 
A. No, no. 

Q. Did you g i v e him a r e c e i p t ? 
A. Yeah, and 

Q. For the $60.00? 
A. 1 t h i n k 1 d i d , yeah. 

Q. And what I s Henry's l a s t name? 
A, Romero, 

Q, And he l i v e s at your house, he r e n t s , • 
A. Now he does. He used to l i v e at t h a t Monterey M o t e l , He has a 

w i f e i n Phoenix, he's g o i n g to the V of A. He's an ex, he's an 
e x - m i n i s t e r and he r e t i r e d from I don't know where, I t h i n k the 
navy. 

Q. so he J u s t moved i n on Monday then? 

A. Uhm-hmmmCyes). W e l l I've known him, I've known him b e f o r e uhm, 

Q. And who e l s e l i v e s aat your house w i t h you? 

A. Another s t u d e n t by the name of Juan , the r e a s o n why I 
have these s t u d e n t s l i v i n g w i t h me, i s 1 went through a d i v o r c e 
and my a t t o r n e y hae not g i v e n me any support money* A l l he does 
i s c o l l e c t and s i t back* H i s name I s Harry B o x s t e l n . 

Q* Okay, can Juan or uhm Henry v e r i f y your s t o r y , as to your 
whereabouts on Monday? 

A* Maybe, I don't know, 1 don't t h i n k so. Haybe, maybe, m, maybe 
Juan can i f he was home, I don't know. When d i d t h i s happen, d i d 
t h i s happen on Monday? 

Q. Uh, yes I t d i d , 
A. Oh, uhm, 

Q* Okay, so uh a f t e r 4:00 you s a i d t h a t you were home a l l day on 
Monday I n the a f t e r n o o n ? And uh 

A, I t h i n k I was. 
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Q, a f t e r 4:00 what d i d you do? 
A, Uhmmmmnrarammmmm, I w r i t e e v e r y t h i n g down, u s u a l l y what I do, 

everyday, and I don't have the p i e c e of paper w i t h roe, 

Q. Don't remeniber what you d i d ? 
A, Uh, t h i s i s Sunday, I don't know, everyday i s J u s t another day to 

me, I'm alwaye d o i n g eomething, I'm always busy. 

Q. You remember g o i n g a n y p l a c e , d i d you go to the m a l l on Honday 
n i g h t ? 

A. No, I wouldn't go to the m a l l on Monday. 

Q. Did you uh go a n y p l a c e t h a t you can r e c a l l ? Or d i d you st a y home? 
A, Monday, I t h i n k I went to Gemco and I exchanged a d r e s s , I t h i n k , 

Q. Would th a t have been i n the evening? 
A, 1 went to K-Mart, I t h i n k I went to K-Mart, I t h i n k , I don't 

know I f t h a t was on Sunday or Monday, t h a t I went to K-Mart's. 
I t might have been on Sunday, t h a t was a f t e r n o o n , not e v e n i n g , 1 
don't make i t a p r a c t i c e to go out l a t e i n the evening, 

Q, What time are you g e n e r a l l y home by? 
A. Oh, i f I don't go see my b o y f r i e n d , where he's s t a y i n g a t , I'm, 

I'm u s u a l l l y home about 7:30, somewhere i n t h e r e , I don't know, I 
d i d n ' t , my days are d i f f e r e n t , 

Q. Who's your b o y f r e i n d ? 
A. Uh, Jim Bonjour. 

Q, And where does he l i v e at? 
A. Some, oh he l i v e e at my house most of the time, a n d h e goes o v e r 

i f he's the t w i n , uhm, we11 he can't get s e t t l e d he, he doesn't 
have, he c l a i m s he doesn't have money enough to get h i s own 
p l a c e , so I s a i d he c o u l d s t a y w i t h me. J u s t i f he p a i d the water 
b i l l and he'd h e l p me f i n i s h my c a r . His 3 2 - y e a r - o l d daughter i s 
g i v i n g him a l o t of s t a t i c , I guess, f o r b e i n g w i t h me, because 
her husband's r e a l l a z y and he has enough money to l i k e pay t h e i r 
r e n t and k i n d of support them, so she wants to d i s c o , d i s c o u r a g e 
our r e l a t i o n s h i p and l i k e we've been t o g e t h e r f o r f o u r y e a r s . He 
r e a l l y chased me and, 

Q. Okay so where e l s e does he l i v e a t ? 
A. Uh, on l 4 ' t h Avenue r i g h t a c r o f s the cemetary, I don't know the 

name of the s t r e e t , but i t ' e r i g h t near 
motel back there In the low ren t 

Q, Does he have a phone number? 
A, d i s t r i c t . He has a beeper number? 

Q. What's t h a t ? 
A. Uh, 792 uh, I always have t o l o o k I t up, I h a v n ' t memorized, I t ' s 

h i s new beeper number, uh 791-1672, 51985 ^ 
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And h i s narae a g a i n ? 
A. M m BoQjnur . 

Q. Does he work? 

A. Yes» he works h a r d , he always works very h a r d , he titra-t-

Q. Where a t ? 

A. W e l l a c t u a l l y , a r e f r i d g e r a t i o n u n i t , he uh busim-faw ht's oh, he 
works f o r h i m s e l f now, I encouraged him to go i n 5)UOitimc«s f o r 
h i m s e l f , so he's have enough money to m a i n t a i n , yow- t*am&'m what the 
c o u r t wants him to pay, the c h i l d support and h i s ktcc p>«3ranent and 
rent payment, 

Q. So does he have a b u s i n e s s ? Name of a b u s i n e s s ? 
A. They're j u s t s t a r t i n g yeah. 

Q. Do you know where t h a t ' s l o c a t e d a t ? 
A. Yeah, 3801 East Dodge. 

Q. 3801 East Dodge? 
A, East Dodge, yeah, t h e r e ' s a shop t h e r e . 

Q. Would you have seen him on Monday then? 
A. Monday n i g h t ? 

Q. Yeah, 
A. Yeah I t h i n k I saw him Monday n i g h t . I t h i n k he ifil-ê giH. iDver 

Monday n i g h t . Wait a minute, Monday n i g h t , or Toa?*!!*;̂  m i g h t . 
Monday n i g h t he was at the Stagecoach and 1 went itip ttlhcTe about 
11:00 and 1 s t a y e d w i t h him, . 

Q. So you went t o the Stagecoach? 
A, Yeah, 

Q, Is t h a t a bar? 
A. No. 

Q. What i e t h a t ? 
A. I t ' s a motel on Benson Highway, owned by Gino, you' liunaww C l n o ' s 

Q. So you went t h e r e , on Monday n i g h t and s t a y e d outK 
A, Yeah, I went t h e r e on Monday n i g h t , and then 1 wenjj. axt Etfcc B l a c k 

Angus Tuesday morning f o r uh to keep my c r e d i t s ugD. 'n^ej''re 
h a v i n g a, they have, they have a seminar t h e r e fon D;hiir<*jp weeks t o 
get c r e d i t , r e a l e s t a t e c r e d i t . 

Q. So you s t a y e d at the Stagecoach M o t e l , Monday nigh^ti?; 
A, That n i g h t , yeah.' I don't r e a l l y l i k e s t a y i n g heotfv Sunt he went 

t h e r e cause he had a j o b to do and i t was c l o s e . Waelf.li be had a 
j o b to do on M i r a c l e M i l e and then he c a l l e d ne. I' Hwâ fi w i l t e d 
around and w a i t e d around u n t i l he d i d n ' t show up ao U J}m«t got i n 
my c a r and l e f t f o r a r i d e , and then X came back asiilt ISenry t o l d 

g a r a g e . 
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me he c a l l e d and t h a t he was gonna s t a y at the Stagecoach, 
because I wasn't h, wasn't at the house* So he should of came to 
the house. 

Q. So you went down to the S t agecoach and s t a y e d w i t h him 
A. So I went down and s t a y e d w i t h him t h e r e , yeah. 

Q. t h a t n i g h t ? Do you know the l i t t l e g i r l by the name of uh V i c k l 
A. No, 

Q. Hoskinson? 
A. uh-uh(no). No, I've, 

Q. At any time d i d you 

Q. p i c k up V l c k l Hopklnson? 

A. no, no 1 wouldn't p i c k up c h i l d r e n anyway, unlees I knew them. 

Q. Did you go to the uh Tucson M a l l w i t h her? 

A. No, no. 1 wouldn't do t h a t w i t h o u t the p a r e n t ' s p e r m i s s i o n 
anyway. 

Q. I f , i f someone had t o l d us t h a t you had i n f a c t been over t h e r e , 
A. Been over where? 

Q. w i t h uh, to the Tucson M a l l , w i t h t h i s l i t t l e c h i l d , 
A. Uh, 

Q. what would your r e a c t i o n be to t h a t ? 
A, w e l l of c o u r s e , I wasn't. And I , my r e a c t i o n would be of course 

I wasn't. 

Q. If 1 were to t e l l you t h a t more than one person had s a i d t h a t you 
were over t h e r e , what would you say to t h a t ? 

A. Oh p r o b a b l y t h e y ' r e m i s t a k e n . 

Q. Did you p i c k up t h i s s l i t t l e g i r l ? 
A. No. 

Q. I f you had would you t e l l me? 
A. I f I had? Of course I would t e l l you. I have n o t h i n g to h i d e . 

I don * t know the l i t t l e g i r l , I'm s o r r y t h a t somebody doee have 
her. I hope you f i n d her. In f a c t , I f I'm out r i d i n g and i f I 
see the l i t t l e g i r l , not t h a t I know what she l o o k s l i k e , g i v e me 
your pager number and I ' l l beep you, I ' l l page you, whatever. I 
r e a l l y would, I'm a r o u , I'm out and about. 

Q. My number's the S h e r i f f ' s Department number so, 
A. No, 

Q. t h a t ' s how, 
A. no. 322-3362, r i g h t ? CZTlr:-" I' "' ^ '̂ '̂ 
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Q, t h a t ' s how, how y o u c a n r e a c h me a t any t i m e . 
A . What I s i t , 6 2 3 - 3 2 . 

Q. 6 2 2 - 3 3 6 6 . 
A . 3 3 6 6 . 1 l o s t my a d d r e s s b o o k , I d o n ' t know what h a p p e n e d t o i t . 

I had t h e S h e r i f f ' e number i n t h e r e . 

Q. I s p o k e t o y o u r r e n t e r , J u a n . 
A . U h m - h m m m ( y e s ) . 

Q. He t o l d me on Monday a f t e r n o o n , y o u w e r e n ' t home a t a l l . 
A . Uhm-hmmmCyes) . I wae a t t h e S h a r o n ' e h o u s e . 

Q. So now y o u ' r e s a y i n g yu were up a t S h a r o n ' s h o u s e ? 
A . And t h e n , I d o n ' t know, I d o n ' t remember where I w a s . I u s u a l l y 

go t h e r e i n t h e m o r n i n g , I 'm t h e r e , I 'm s e l d o m h o m e . I wae up a t 
N a n n i n i ' s i n t e r v i e w i n g f o r a J o b . You c o u l d c h e c k t h e r e . T h e y 
have t h e wrong a d d r e s s i n t h e p a p e r . 

Q. O k a y , t h a t was i n t h e m o r n i n g , c o r r e c t ? Is t h e r e a n y b o d y t h a t 1 
c a n c h e c k w i t h i n t h e a f t e r n o o n , t o v e r i f y where y o u w e r e ? 

A . W h a t , uh how, what t i m e i n t h e a f t e r n o o n ? 

Q. U h , s t a r t a t 1 2 : 0 0 o n . 
A , U h m - h m m m ( y e s ) . At 1 2 : 0 0 ? 

Q. At 1 2 : 0 0 y o u were w i t h y o u r s o n . Now I can c a l l y o u s o n a n d he 
c a n v e r i f y t h a t , c o r r e c t ? 

A . Y e a h , I t h i n k s o . 

Q. O k a y , a l r i g h t . 
A . I f he r e m e m b e r s . 

Q. O k a y , 
A . Now j u s t a m i n u t e , y o u ' r e g o i n g t o f a s t . 

Q. a l r i g h t , ; 
A , c a u s e l i k e I s a i d , I have a l o t o f t h i n g s I u s u a l l y d o . A s k my 

n e i g h b o r s , my n e i g h b o r s a r e p r e t t y n o s e y . I mean w h i c h i s g o o d . 
I f e e l s a f e t h a t t h e y ' r e y o u k n o w , 

Q. r i g h t , 

A . l o o k i n g a t me, y o u know? 

Q. r i g h t . 

A . B e c a u s e I do h a v e p e o p l e cora ing a n d g o i n g l i k e you know, 

Q. Uhm-hmmmCyes) . 

A . l i k e I s a i d i f "my a t t o r n e y w o u l d n ' t s c r e w u p , my l i f e w o u l d be 

a l o t b e t t e r . 
Q« You * d h a v e eome money? 
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A. But, w i t h t h i e a l t e r , r i g h t , w e l l not o n l y money, I have a l i t t l e 
money, but j u s t I , I need the Income. Not o n l y t h a t , i f my 
b o y f r i e n d would move I n , you know? 

Q. And h e l p out w i t h t h e , 
A. W e l l he would be, he would be t h e r e and he, and he's a, he's a 

r e a l l y a a good pereon, b a s i c a l l y a good person. He's v e r y , v e r y 
a f f e c t i o n a t e t h a t ' s about i t . That can get the best of em 
sometime, but you know, o t h e r than t h a t , and he, 

Q. okay, l e t ' s see i f we can t r y to f i g u r e out, eomebody t h a t can 
t e l l us where you were, 

A. on the a f t e r n o o n ? 

Q. on Monday, 
A. T h i s l a d y Is s e n i l e , I was w i t h h e r , she's w i t h me a l l the t i m e , 

every s i n g l e day. W e l l my n e i g h b o r knows I'm t h e r e . They may 
not say a n y t h i n g . I've asked them to h e l p me once when my t i r e s 
were f l a t , and 

Q. What time d i d you go to the motel? I t wae l a t e at n i g h t ? 
A. Yeah, I t was about 11:00. 

Q. Okay, b e f o r e t h a t were you home the whole time? 
A, Yeah, 

Q. You s a i d t h a t when you 
A. 1 was home, I was home 

Q. came home, 
A. Romero, Romero, Henry Romero was home. 

Q. okay but you s a i d t h a t he had c a l l e d . Your b o y f r i e n d had c a l l e d 
and Henry t o l d you t h a t he was down at the Stagecoach, 

A, Yeah, but I was home a l l e v e n i n g , j u s t missed him, f i v e m i n u t e s , 
as u s u a l , j u s t m i s s e d , 

Q. Where d i d you go then? 
A. Jim's c a l l . 

Q. Where were you? 
A, I drove to F o u r t e e n t h Avenue to see i f he was t h e r e , then I drove 

to uh 3120, which i s h i s e x - w l f e ' s house and then back home. I t 
j u s t g i v e s me p i e c e of mind I f I know i f he's there or t h e r e , i f 
he's you know, and I w a s g e t t i n g t i r e d of J u s t s i t t i n g and 
w a i t i n g and w a i t i n g . I wish he wouldn't of g o t t e n me i n t h i s 
s i t u a t i o n , cause i t h u r t s , I d o n ' t , I I was going w i t h him f o r a 
l o n g time and uh and uh, 

Q. Okay, BO t h e r e ' s nobody I can check w i t h ? 
A. Yeah Henry. 

Q. Where your whereabouts are? ^ 5.1985 1 
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A. Henry Roroero. 

Q, Henry was there? 
A. He was there a l l e v e n i n g , yeah he was t h e r e . 

Q. He wouldn't t a l k to us y e s t e r d a y ? 
A. W e l l , 

Q, Does he have, 
A. he doesn't t h i n k t h a t people have a r i g h t to walk In the house, 

w i t h s t u f f l i k e . He says w e l l I have n o t h i n g to h i d e . I brought 
em through the houeei^ Everybody e l s e i s mad, even t h i s l a d y ' s 
uhm t h i s l a d y has a whole, t h i s l a d y ' s son has a whole d i f f e r e n t 
view. What the h e l l are they d o i n g here? T e l l em to get l o s t . 
You know, people people don't want to c o o p e r a t e , you know because 
the reason I t ' s a h a s s l e * I can't even uh remember e v e r y t h i n g , 
you know? 

Q. oh,, t h a t ' s why I'm t r y i n g to v e r i f y i t , I mean, to v e r i f y i t 
where you're a t ? 

A. -

Q. You know o b v i o u s l y i f we can v e r i f y t h a t then 
A. Yeah. 

Q. t h a t ' s good f o r you. 
A. W e l l , 

Q. That's why I'm t r y i n g to do 
A. Henr, 

Q* t h a t . 
A. w e l l Henry w i l l p r o b a b l , Henry^ I ' l l t e l l Henry, say you have to 

know where she was i n the a f t e r n o o n . He wasn't t h e r e , I don't 
t h i n k he was t h e r e In the a f t e r n o o n , but he was t h e r e a l i t t l e 
b i t l a t e r . I was w i t h the l a d y i n the a f t e r n o o n . I can't v e r y 
w e l l go to many p l a c e s w i t h a l a d y who can h a r d l y walk. I don't 
make i t a h a b i t of r u n n i n g a r o u n d , p i c k i n g up c h i l d r e n , u n l e s s I 
of course i f I , i f I have a f r i e n d o r something, I might. Donna 
wants me to go p i c k Joshua up or something, I go out t h e r e , and 
t r y t o , 

Q. You're j u s t t a l k i n g about r e l a t i v e s , then? 
A. yeah, yeah, b a s i c a l l y r e l a t i v e s . 

Q* And have you ever been a r r e s t e d f o r a n y t h i n g ? 
A. Yeah. 

Q» W e l l what have you been a r r e s t e d f o r ? 
A. I was a r r e s t e d f o r uh eomething t h a t uh I'd r a t h e r not t a l k 

about I t . 

W e l l l e t ' s j u s t coyer i t eo 
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I'd p r e f e r to n o t , 

<J. t h a t we got I t over w i t h . 
A. Uh, a c t u a l l y I can't r e a l l y p i n p o i n t i t b u t , uh I r e n t e d my roora 

out t o uh, to uhm, what do you c a l l i t ? What do you c a l l those 
guys, s e c u r i t y guard? 

Q. Uh-huh(yes). 
A. And uhm, he's m a r r i e d and he uh he wanted to take me to bed and 

I k i n d o f , I r e f u s e d and and uh t h i s was coming out of uh, out of 
8 d i v o r c e . I'm an a l c o h o l i c and 1 s t a r t e d to t e l l my p e r s o n a l 
a f f a i r s , and he used a g a i n s t me and what i t a l l b o i l e d down to 
i s , t o make a l o n g e t o r y s h o r t , i s I got mixed, not n i x e d b u t , he 
got s t o r i e s and e v e r y t h i n g t u r n e d around and and I was supposed 
to be an a r s o n i s t and i t was r e a l l y ny husband, and i t d e s t r o y e d 
my Income p r o p e r t y t h a t 1 was g e t t i n g $350,00 a month f o r , which 
I owned be f o r e I m a r r i e d him. 

Q. So you were a r r e s t e d f o r an a r s o n ? 
A. And, 

Q. And what happened to t h a t case? 
A. uh i t ' e supposed to be dropped. I t hasn't been dropped y e t , 

Susan K i d d l e w i l l take f o r e v e r , 

Q. Oh i t , 
A. t h i s , 

Q. okay, t h i s i s 
A. has been s i n c e 1981, 

Q. okay, okay what, when d i d t h i s , 
A. or 82. 

Q. happen? When d i d you get a r r e s t e d ? 
A. I don't even remember. I t h i n k i t was 82. 

Q. A l r i g h t , so you haven't gone to c o u r t on I t ? 
A. Or 83 or soraething. No, she's supposed to drop I t . 

Q. A l r i g h t , have you been 
A. That's why I've been c a l l i n g her e v e r y d a y . 

Q. a r r e s t , 
A. No, no. 

Q, okay, have you been a r r e s t e d f o r a n y t h i n g e l s e ? 
A . No. 

Q. Okay, 
A. No, t h a t ' s vhat I ' m s a y i n g . JUL 519B5 

I 
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Q . h a v e y o u , 

A . t h e p e o p l e a r e j u s t g o n n a , u h y o u k n o w , d r i v e me c r a z y . 

Q . h o w m e n y c h i l d r e n d o y o u h a v e ? 

A . I h a v e o n e . 

Q . Y o u h a v e a d a u g h t e r ? ? 

A . N o , a s o n . 

Q . O k a y , a s o n ? 

A . A s o n . 

Q . O k a y a n d h o w a b o u t y o u r u h m , e x - h u s b a n d , w h e r e i e l o c a t e d a t ? 

A . He l i v e e o n T u c s o n M o u n t a i n ' s . I d o n ' t k n o w t h e e x a c t a d d r e s s 
a n d I ' m n o t g o n n a g i v e it to M r . B o x s t e l n . T h a t ' s h i s j o b , h e ' e 

g e t t i n g p a i d f o r i t . 

Q . W h a t , w h a t i s h i s n a m e ? 

A . M r . B o x s t e l n ? H a r r y B o x e t e i n , 

Q . N o , y o u r , 

A . c r o o k e d J r ? 

Q . n o , n o , y o u r e x - h u s b a n d ' e n a m e ? 
A . F r a n c i s X . F r i e s , h e l i k e s t o b e c a l l e d F r a n k , 

Q . A n d h e l i v e s I n T u c e o n M o u n t a i n s ? W h a t , w h a t a b o u t , I ' v e g o t t o 

a s k y o u t h i s a g a i n . W h a t a b o u t J u a n t e l l i n g UB t h a t y o u w e r e n ' t 

h o m e I n t h e a f t e r n o o n . I n f a c t , y o u d i d n ' t g e t h o m e u n t i l l a t e 

a t n i g h t , a r o u n d 8 : 0 0 o n M o n d a y ? 

A . H e d o e s n ' t k n o w w h e t h e r 1 g o t h o m e l a t e a t n i g h t , 8 : 0 0 o n M o n d a y . 

Q . He s a i d h e w a s h o m e a l l d a y . 

A . Oh h e d i d ? 

Q . Y e s , a n d t h a t y o u w e r e n ' t , w e r e n ' t a t y o u r h o m e , u n t i l 8 : 0 0 a t 
n i g h t ? ; 

A . I d o n ' t k n o w I f h e * e r i g h t , I c a n ' t r e m e m b e r , b u t u h m I d o n ' t 

k n o w 1 s t o p I n a n d o u t u s u a l l y . I n f a c t I , I ' m o u t u s u a l l y s o , I 

d o n ' t k n o w a b o u t t h a t . Y o u k n o w , 1 h a v e g r o c e r i e s t o g e t . I ' m 

t h e o n e t h a t ' s r u n n i n g t h e s h o w d o w n t h e r e . I h a v e t o b u y t h e 

f o o d , p a y t h e b i l l s , c l e a n t h e y a r d u p a n d e v e r y t h i n g . B u t I 

h a v e o t h e r t h i n g s t o d o . 

Q , S o , y o u r a n s w e r t o t h a t q u e s t i o n i s y o u j u s t d o n , y o u ' r e n o t s u r e 

w h e r e y o u w e r e ? 

A . 1 d o n ' t k n o w e x a c t l y , I d o n ' t r e m e m b e r , 6 : 0 0 I w a s h o m e b e f o r e 
8 : 0 0 . 

Q . H e e a y s y o u w e r e n ' t h o m e . 

A , i t h e r e o n T u e s d a y s ? 

Q. Y o u w e r e n ' t h o m e a l l a f t e r n o o n , i s t h a t w h a t h e , t h a t ' s w h a t h e 

W^a«,Mnl« NOV 011384 I 
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t o l d us , 
A. No, 

Q. on Ho nday. 
A. oh w e l l b i g d e a l . He's not home 'sometimes e i t h e r . 

Q. Well what I'm concerned about i s t r y i n g to to be a b l e to 
A. P i n p o i n t where I was? 

Q. p i n p o i n t where you were. 
A. That's what I'm t r y i n g to f i g u r e o u t . Maybe at home I have i t 

w r i t t e n down. L i k e I u s u a l l y w r i t e e v e r y t h i n g down, t h a t I'm, of 
my agenda, what I'm going to do. 

Q. Okay I want you to check f o r t h a t . And I'm gonna g i v e you my 
card and ask you to g i v e me a c a l l back okay? I f you have t h a t , 
I f you have notes on what you d i d on Monday. This not o n l y h e l p s 
me, i t h e l p s you too. You know t h a t Ann. 

A. Oh I'm t r y i n g t o t h i n k , my goodness, who keeps t r a c k of every 
s i n g l e t h i n g . And someb, uh my address book i s m i s s i n g . My 
appointment book i s m i s s i n g , o t h e r w i s e I'd have something you 
know, th a t I can r e l a t e t o . You know, I mean t h i e i s t e r r i b l e . 

Q. Anna do you, 
A. Ann. 

Q. Ann, 
A, Whet, what date was i t on Monday? 

Q. do you uh, i t was the 17'th. Monday was the 17'th. 
A. The 17'th? 

Q. Yes. 
A. Oh, I d i d n ' t go to the bank. Monday, 

Q. Let me ask you, do you, do you have p i e r c e d ears? Do you 
r e g u l a r l y wear e a r r i n g s ? 

A. S o m e t i m e s , l i t t l e ones. 

Q. What type of e a r r i n g s ? 
A. J u s t l i t t l e , l i t t l e w hite t h i n g s . 

Q. L i t t l e white ones? 
A. I j u s t took em out l a s t n i g h t , ' c a u s e I t was h u r t i n g my ear on 

t h i s s i d e . 

Q. Uh-huh(yes). Do you have any uh o t h e r types of e a r r i n g s , t h a t 
you, 

A. Yeah, I have some o t h e r t y p e s , but I've been wearing t h e s e l i t t l e 
w h ite ones f o r a l o n g time, because t h e y ' r e s i m p l e , they match 
e v e r y t h i n g . 

Q« Do you have any s t a r e a r r i n g s ? 
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A . Any who? 

Q. S t a r e a r r i n g s ? 
A . N o , I d o n ' t h a v e any s t a r e a r r i n g e , no l i t t l e s t a r e a r r i n g s , n o . 

No b i g s t a r e a r r i n g s e i t h e r . 

Q. Do y o u l i k e t o wear j u s t t h e s m a l l - t y p e e a r r i n g s t h a t j u s t f i t on 
y o u r e a r o r 

A . D o n ' t make any d i f f e r e n c e , 

Q. the l o n g t y p e s ? 
A . d e p e n d s on w h e r e I g o . 

Q, D e p e n d s on w h e r e y o u go? 
A . And what I 'm d o i n g . 

Q . O k a y , 
A , You know I f I go o u t , and i t m a t c h e s . I f I 'm w e a r i n g an I n d i a n 

o u t f i t , I l i k e t h e b e a d e d s t u f f , b u t uh as 1 e a i d , f o r t h e p a s t 
c o u p l e o f w e e k s , I ' v e j u s t b e e n w e a r i n g t h o s e l i t t l e , 

Q. l i t t l e o n e s ? L i k e t h e s t u d s ? 
A . l i t t l e p e a r l s , l i t t l e p e a r l s , 

Q. S t u d t y p e s ? 

A , and I g o t t h i s t h i n g , y e a h . 

Q. O k a y , 
A . And s o m e t i m e s I wear ray h a i r down and n o t u p . 

Q. Anna do you h a v e any 
A . A n n . 

Q. A n n , e x c u s e me, 
A . T h a t ' s o k a y . 

Q . do y o u h a v e i n v o l v e m e n t i n t h e m i s s , d i s s a p e a r a n c e o f t h i s l i t t l e 
g i r l V i c k i e H o s k i n s o n a t a l l ? 

A . N o . 

Q. Would y o u be w i l l i n g t o t a k e a l i e d e t e c t o r t e s t ? 
A . Y e s . 

Q. Uh w o u l d y o u be w i l l i n g to g i v e us s a m p l e s of y o u r h a i r ? 
A . Y e s . 

Q. Would y o u be w i l l i n g t o g i v e us f i n g e r p r i n t s ? 
A . You have my f i n g e r p r i n t s . I 'm a r e a l e s t a t e a g e n t , t h e y h a v e em 

on r e c o r d . 

Q . O k a y , w o u l d y o u be w i l l i n g i f we n e e d e d t o do I t a g a i n ? 
A . ^ . y e a h . 

MOV 011984 1 
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Q. Would you be w i l l i n g to be photographed? 
A. Yeah, I guees uh» 

Q. A l r i g h t , Ann ah, has t h i s been a t r u e and f a c t u a l etatement? 
A. Yes I t has. 

Q. Given of your own f r e e w i l l and v o l i t i o n , w i t h o u t t h r e a t , duress 
or promise of reward? 

A. I f e e l d u r e s s . I f e e l t h r e a t e n e d because sometimes I know people 
l i e . 1 know people make m i s t a k e s . I know a l o t of people. 

Q. A l r i g h t , 
A. I know a l o t of young p e o p l e . 

Q. what I'm a s k i n g i s 
A. I don't have f a i t h In p e o p l e , 

Q. okay, what I'm a s k i n g you, have I , 
A. they l i e . 

Q. have I t h r e a t e n e d you? 
A. You've been very n i c e Gary. 

Q. Okay, uh have I 
A. Except t h a t my memory i s n ' t the 

Q. t r i e d to put 
A. g r e a t e s t . 

Q. r i g h t , have I put you under d u r e s s , I've been t r y i n g t o be 
c o m f o r t a b l e w i t h you. I'm a s k i n g you i f I d i d t h a t to you. Did 
I do any of those t h i n g s to you? 

A. W e l l when you, when you asked mc about Monday, I don't know 
e x a c t i y every p l a c e I've been. I have good c h a r a c t e r . 

Q. R i g h t , a l l I'm a s k i n g you at t h a t p o i n t i s , 
A. I t ' s these o t h e r crumbums, 

Q. J u s t , i f we would t r y t o , 
A. o t h e r crumbums, 

Q. r i g h t , 
A. t h a t I f I c o u l d J u s t get out of t h i s whole damn w o r l d . Away from 

l i a r s , away from people that t h r i v e on the so r e s of humanity, I'd 
j u s t be f i n e . 

Q. okay. So a g a i n , I j u e t want to ask you. J u s t f o r , f o r t h i s 
s t a t e m e n t , and j u s t f o r the way t h a t I t r e a t e d you today. Old I 
t h r e a t e n you at a l l ? 

A, I don't know how you're u s i n g the word t h r e a t b u t , 

Q. Thr e a t e n you meaning t h a t i f yoo don't, ... 1^M 
A. i f I happen to f i n d o u t , "tSSflSPras Wt̂ e 
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Q. Okay, a l r i g h c , do you have a n y t h i n g e l s e t h a t you'd l i k e to add 
to t h i s etatement? A n y t h i n g e l s e ? A n y t h i n g t h a t 1 d i d n ' t ask 
you, a n y t h i n g t h a t you t h i n k might be h e l p f u l . Is t h e r e a n y t h i n g 
e l s e t h a t you would l i k e to add? 

A. whoever those people were, t h a t s a i d I d i d I t , maybe t h e y ' r e 
g u i l t y . Maybe they ehould be q u e s t i o n e d , but I don't know uh 
where uhm, I hope you f i n d the g i r l , now th a t I know what she 
l o o k s l i k e . 

Q. Okay, we'11 c o n c l u d e , 
A. I found out t h a t much 

Q, t h i s , 
A. I'm j u e t w i t h t h a t e l d e r l y moet of the time, but when I'm uh, 

when I'm l o o k i n g f o r work, then I'm out q u i t e a b i t . 

Q, okay, w e ' l l c o n c l ude the taped statement now at 1103 hours, on 
today's d a t e , which i s 9-19-1984. 

I HAVE READ THE FOREGOING SIXTEEN PAGE 
STATEMENT AND FIND IT TO BE MINE AS GIVEN 
TO DETECTIVE GARY DHAEMERS ON SEPTEMBER 
19, 1984. 

ANNETTE FRIES DATE 

WITNESS: 

DETECTIVE GARY DHAEMERS DATE 

TRANSCRIBED BY: 

ANDREA JOVCE DENNIS . DATE 
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f1 
THIS—IS.. DETECTIVE DHAEMERS. THIS WILL BE REFERENCE CASE NUMBER 
"8409_l7_04i)'_;..- THE TIME NOW IS 1007 HOURS. THE DATE IS 9/19/84. 
I'M" AT" THE INTERSECTION OF SHAWNEE AND GRETCHEN DRIVE, TUCSON, 
ARIZONA. THIS WILL BE A STATEMENT REFERENCE THIS CASE. 
LEGEND! Q - DETECTIVE DHAEMERS; A - JOAN FLORES 

Q. Sir could you please state your full name? 
A. My name Is Juan P. Floree. 

Q. What Is your date of birth Juan? 
A. Date of birth is 1/27/64. 

Q» What's your current address? 
A. Current address 16 uh 30, 31-5, 3152 uh Shawnee Drive. 

Q. Sir the reason that uh we stopped here was to wh stop here was 
to speak to the owner of the residence that you're staying at. 
Uh how long have you been staying here? 

A. I stayed here aboutt a month. 

Q. Uh recalling the date of 9/17/84 were uh staying at this 
residence at this time? 

A. Uh, yes I was. 

And who do you rent from? 
I rent from Ann Fees. 

a 

On that date do you remember If she was home at any particular 
time? 
Uh she was home in morning but she wasn't home In the afternoon 
and she was not home in the evening. 

_Dp you know about what time she would have gotten home? 
A. She got home about eight-thirty, nine o'clock In the, in the 

evening. 

JIJL HJk_i_____j£he got home uh that evening, uh do you remember what kind 
©f vehicle she was driving? 

A. Yeah she was driving her brown stationwagon, Datsun. 

Q» Did you see anybody with her at that time? 
As Uh no there was nobody with her. 

Q* Have you seen uh any type of child with her, uh boy or a girl, 
uh since the 17th? 

A. Uh no, no, no, none at all* 

Q* Uh has she talked about any child during this time? 
A. Yeah she has kids come over and work on her, on her house once 

In a while, cut, you know mow the lawn and stuff like that* 
But not, not real young they're like eighth grade you know* 
older kids. . ^ ̂  f. iq8r> "* 

UHctosures Made NQV01B84 1 
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STATEMENT OF JUA1 FLORES CASE #840917040 

Q. So you've nev, you haven't seen any young children over then? 
A. No, not young children. 

Q. Has she said anything to you in regards to a missing child? 
A. Yeah she told me about it the first day It carae out in the 

paper and then she told me about it when uh, yesterday when you 
folks and uh wanted to uh view the house. 

Q. To your knowledge-does she have any Involvement in that 
particular case? 

A. Mot to knowledge she does not. 

Q. What Is uh your opinion about uh her character? 
A. Well her, her character, well she, she, she's not exactly a 

criminal but uh she, she's eccentric and uh she's got her uh, 
she's got, ehefs pretty much uh, she's not uh, she's not a 
psychopath but she's like uh, what would they call those 
people? Uh not, she's a* she's a little eccentric, that's ali 
Isd like to say really. 

Q® Okay* Uh, do you have anything at all that you think might be 
helpful for our, our investigation on this missing little girl 
by the name of Vicky Hopkinsson? 

A. Dh no, unfortunately not, not at all. 

Q. Uh, okay* Has this been a true and factual statement given of 
your own free will and volition without threat, duress or 
promise of reward? 

A* Uh, yes it has. 

Q* We'll conclude the taped statement at 1011 hours on today's 
date 9/19/1984. 

I HAVE READ THE FOREGOING TWO-PAGE 
STATEMENT AND FIND IT TO BE MY 
STATEMENT AS GIVEN TO DETECTIVE 
DHAEMERS ON SEPTEMBER 19, 1984. 

JUAN FLORES DATE 

WITNESS! 

DETECTIVE DHAEMERS DATE 

- JUL 5 1985 1 

mdmmt um ep zzWy I 

10-FJA024602 

Case: 22-70084, 05/04/2022, ID: 12438984, DktEntry: 1-4, Page 105 of 498



P« ' STATEMEMT OF JUAN FLORES CASE #840917040 

TRANSCRIBED BY: 

(\<JL*. (i'X,i-iLv.,-^ 9-f?AP 
CARLENE DICKERSON DATE 

\^-yf 

' - , - • : • _ 
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_-, •^^•~—^T^~axBftss__aT,a___5SS_^^ 

10-FJA024603 
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*** * IN 

* 
*** 

THE • SUPER lOR 

IN AND 

... 
Freita Annette Fries 
3152 N. Shawnee 
Tucson, Az. 85705 

• ;- ~ --
COURT OF :;THE~.:.' ·.,Sl::AT.E:·: ... . QE. 

"- . . j .. • I • l...-l• t I I ' 
[!>:Q '' C:" · -~~~-,,..,~·. , l' 

fOR THE ~.CiilJN'fy . .:.r'of! 1 "~l'M'A 

CBS NOV I 4 PM 4: 39 

*** 
ARJZONA * 

* *** 
DATE: ll/15/85 

BY: L. PECI<TOL; DE?t}f'~SE: C0219227 

************************************************************************************ 

PLEASE TAKE NOTlCE THAT THE fOLLOWING CASE HAS THIS OATE BEEN 

PLACED ON THE INACTIVE CALENDAR UNDER THE PROVISIONS OF SUB-

SECTION (D) Of RULE 5 OF THE UNIFORM RULES OF PRACTICE Of THE 

SUPERIOR COURT. 

JEFFERY F. ERSKINE 
COURT ADMJNlSTRATOR 

***************************************~******************************************** 

RECHTIN 
BONJOUR 

PLAINTiff 
JOHN 
JAMES 

vs 
FRlES 

DEFENDANT 
FRE ITA A 
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*** • * 1N THE SUPERIOR 

* IN AND 
**-* 

COURT 

FOR 

;:-, · · ~) e 
O.F. /1 ~-f~E ~~ ·siAlrE.: -OF 

~ I I '-4 ., •• •.J \..J• \\._ - ' I 

Ci.r:J\i\ ~Ui·::.R:c-;~ c~~ . i ·~ · 
THE COUNTY Of PIMA 

12E5 NOV 14 PH 4: 39 

**"' 
ARIZONA * 

"' *** 

DATE: 11/15/85 

BY:L.PECKTGL;OEPUT,ASE: C0219227 

John & Linda Rechtin and James Bonjair 
PO Dox 729 
Tucson, Az. 85702 

*************"'**"'*******************************"'**********************************~ 

PLEASE TAKE NOTICE THAT THE FOllOWiNG CASE HAS THlS DATE BEEN 

PLACED ON THE INACTIVE CALENDAR UNDER THE PROVlSIONS OF SUS-

SECTION (0) OF RULE 5 OF THE UNIFORM RULES Of PRACTICE Of THE 

SUPERIOR COURT. 

JEffERY F. ERSKINE 
COURT ADMINISTRATOR 

******************************************************************-*****************~ 

RECHTI N 
BONJOUR 

PLAINTiff 
JOHN 
JAMES 

vs 
FRIES 

DEFENDANT 
FRE ITA A 
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• IN THE superior COURT 
STATE OF ARtZONA 

pima COUNTY 

) 
JOHN, LINDA RECHTIN & JAMES BONJOUR, ) 

FILED 
JAMES N. CORBE T1. 
CLERK SUPf.RlOH CO@ f 

) 

Plaintiff( s),) 1984 SEP 20 Pl1 2: l!,6 
vs. ) 

) 
NO. 2 1 9 2 2 7 ) 

FREITA ANNETTE FRIES, ) aY: B.LEE. DEPUTY 

STATE OF ARIZONA 
COUNT\:' OF PIMA 

) 
) ss. 

) 
) 

Defendant(s).) 
AFFIDAVIT OF SERVICE OE" PROCESS 

MARK s. DICKEPS~Nbeing first duly sworn according to law, states: That affiant 
is a registered private process server, is an Officer, in good standing, of the 
Court. That affiant received the following judicial documents: co!)ies of Injunction 
Prohibiting Har~ssment; Petition for Injunction Prohibiting Harassment 

from JOHN & LINDA B.ECHTP' & JAMES BON.TOUR 

##¥ffl:#t##M4tn~ the pla:'-ntiffs • on September 14, 1984 at approximately 4:00 p .m.t• ' 
That affiant personally served, on those named below, a copy of the same, in the 
manner, on the date and at the time and place shown; that, except where noted all 
such services were made within Pima County, State of Arizona. 

NAME DATE TIME PLACE MANNER 
FREITA ANNETTEFRIES Septembe~9, 1984, 2:13 p.m. 3152 N. Shawnee, Tucson, her 

usual place of abode, in person. 

That inquiry was made of each person listed above under "Name," to whom the 
judicial document hereinbefore described with particularity was delivered, or 
with whom said judicial document was left if said person is listed above under 
"Manner." That, in any event, each said person ipse confirmed to thi affiant 
such identy or status. 

Subscribed and sworn to before me 

MAR S. DICKERSON 

LIC~ MY COMMISSION EXPIRES 
TERR DT.CKERS0N AUGUST 18, 198 

The above is covered by 41-314 & 11-
445, as amended, and Rules 4, 5, & 45, 
Arizona Rules of Civil Procedure, as 
amended. 

Handlilng & 

Charges: 
Services 
Mileage 
Fees paid 
Notary fees 

Total 

ARIZONA LOCATOR & LITENING MESSENGER SERVICE 

1 $ 7. 50 
5 6.25 

3.00 

$ 16.75 

AFFIANT 
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C\ 
j 

Q 

T (j) ' . 

• • 
PIMA COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT 

INJUNCTION PROHIBITING HARASSMENT 

Name \&hN1h~JJ4 Recbt;"' <>IJAMes &uv:Jr~Uii!. 
Address Ro. Box ?.:Z.2 rurSOIV 

A2. fS?OiJ. vs 

Name Efie it A .llAJAJeet.e E~te.s 
Addre,~s 31 5~ ~o&TH Sh AwNe.e 

N(.f(JtfJ. A~. BS?OS • 
PLAINTIFF DEFENDANT 

WARHING: THIS IS AN OFFICIAL COURT ORDER, It you disobey this order, the court may tlnd you In 

contempt of court, You may also be arrested and prosecuted for the crime of Interfering wi'th 

judicial proceedings and any other crime you may have committed In disobeying this order. 

NOTICE TO DEFENDANT: 1. This Injunction Is effective on you Immediately upon service of a copy and 

It expires six (6) months attar tho date of service unless rene.,fld. 2. You are entitled to a 

hearing on this Injunction. If you want a hearing, you must tile a written request with the Court 
named above. 

~The Court has reviewed: 
iXTho Plaintiff's petition O Other pleadings 0 Other a•Jicience offered by the Plaintiff 

Upon finding that there Is reasonable evidence of harassment of the Plaintiff by the Defendant 

and that great or lrrepa~ble hann would result to the Plaintiff If the Injunction Is not 

g~nted before tho Defendant or his attomey can be heard In opposition, 

[]After hearing and the Court finding good cause, 

IT IS ORDERED pursuant to A.R.S. S 12-1809: 
[]THAT the Defendant stop the following acts of h~~ssment against the Plaintiff: 

}i'(THAT the Defendant stay away trom the following locotlons (addrosses provided): 

iQ Ptalntltt's nome: :2 s'l_y JJ J,rt-H AVE # ;;J.) 
fi)Piolntlff's place of employment: Ooi.J.9D<J1? 1 :5 ELE.-:..t-R1'C.~qL RE:F 
0 Other person(s) or locatlon(s): 

Description: 
Date of 81 rth Hal r Color Eye Color Soc. Sec. No. 

? eR 1 

.. M• . eoo~2551 PAGr29 7 .. 
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219227 

PIMA COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT 

PETITION FOR INJUNCTION PROHIBITING HARASSMENT 

; - t ,. 

~ .. 
·'" 

' ·~ ,~ • f. : 

SEP I~ 8 so AM '8~ 

Name'ilo/rAJfJ.,AJtlaKer.'bi:,M, ANti JAmes 8oN:fOu~ Name FseitA B~e ;if;.:e .. ~i·es ~a. :J · 
Address Ro. ,80l( U' ruc50IIJ Address 31.52 /VtJ8TH ShlfwAiee-st4 _{ ; , ~( 

Az. e67o2 vs 7"uC$0/fl ~!!N8SZo5 I 
Telephone~ 3.;l.(p -2,5/3 PLAINTIFF Telephone .:22 .3 :..).j$jji);._: :: . . trDEFENDANT I :1, :· :=i 
[------------------------------=----------4fi/l4iS;. 

Plalntltt alleges that this Court has J urisdiction over this matter, pursuant to A.R.S. S 12-1809. 

I, I have been harassed by the Defendant as follows: 

Page I of 2 

Case: 22-70084, 05/04/2022, ID: 12438984, DktEntry: 1-4, Page 113 of 498



I 

I • ~ __ .... -

() 
Superior Courts Bldg. PIMA COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT Tucson 
111 W. Cnnt1r""'"' ~t- Ari'>' H'i7CU 

PETITION FOR INJUNCTION PROHIBITING HARASSMENT TCASE NO. 

Oefend~nt 1 s Description : 

'sF j~ I 011te J Bl rth 'Height l'llelght 'HalrColor 
6' s"' I:Z.t>l.&!> Be.e.w.U 

L.Ml!P._«<T 

-fEye color 

BRoc.~~ 
'soc. ?c, No, I 

Plaintiff asks that the Court Issue an Order providing: 

0 That the Defendant stop the following ~cts of harassment: 

0 Th~t the Defendant stay aw11y from the following loc11tlons (provide addresses): 

~My home: D22.:Z ~ AloB.Ttl IS~h 11!l.e - Sf:.ACE #~I 

0 My place of employment: 

Se-ther loci!ltlon<s>: Atl- T<Qb l.ac.Sr.t.Qt.l. ':/.. L~ ST Dfl C!U.t.. ll.'-'. n& 
~oe.tf7"1Q&.. 

®Other personcs>: Jt9.Me.S. D. BQ.AJJ'Dvl.. 

VfRIF I CATION 

State of Arizona ) ss. 
County of ) 

Being under o~th, I cfflnn that I am the Plaintiff In this action, I have reed this petition 

and f lnd that the statements ana true to the best of my know I edge , 

.~.£.-.~~!?.; ..... 
Pialntlff-Afflent 

SUBSCRIBED AND SWORN to before me thIs date: ~-\j -'&~ . 

JAy Commlss Inn ExpIres: ........ J~.f~i~ ...... 
_b~e*a"¥ Pt~llllc 

M-e 
Page 2 of 2 
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f^bC s^- q s » a 2. 

4 3 
^"^lO-lZ-SS 291 lab 

W ( R i S f / T - l B - T T ) 

UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE 
FWetAL fiURIAU OP INVHTtfiATION 

IDEKTIFIOATIOK OIVISIOH 
WASKINQTOH. D. 0. i m i 

/ 683 924 5 -
Ut« al lk. (alWIns FB! F .c« i MUMBER U -^ , t. REGULATED BY LA». I* U (.rajfk.<l FOR 
OFFICIAL USE OHLY and itiauld OKLY &E USED FOR PURPOSE REQUESTED. Vkaa furthar fxpiuatlM of m%\\ ckarg« er 
dltpotitiftB it naadad, cosRankott dlitelly with 'l>ot eoBtr)lMil»d tlia fta««ipr[Mt. 

C W i M M I M o r 
n t M t t f f l N T S 

PD TUCSOD AZ 

PD IViceoB AZ 

Fftridft Anette 
Burns 

/ ft57109/56477-11 

Annette 7srld& 
F r i e s 

8208247001/ 

223314-^ 

CUMI ANB NUMiBt IKWVID 

X2-13-70 to eoBtatt prost $112/10 

8-31-S2 

O U A O ! 

Attenpted 
Arson (F) 
Fraudulent 

Conspirxey (F) 
Poss U s r i J 
(H) 

08-FJA020393 
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mm THIS WILL BE A TAPED STATEHENT REFERENCE CASE NUHBER 
82 08 2h 7001. STATEHENT IS TAKEN ON AUGUST 2̂ 1, 1982 
AT U 1 5 HOURS. GIVEN TO DETECTIVE CRAIG, IN THE PRES-
CENCE OF FIRE t fiVEST I GATOR JEFF COREY. STATEHENT IS 
TAKEN FROM EDWARD COLE AT THE TUCSON POLICE DEPARTMENT. 

EDWARD, would you s t a t e your f u l l name, p lease? 
Hy f u l l name is ED...EDWARD EVERETT COLE. 

And your address and phone number? 
I 845 No rth D ra goon, te1ephone number 1s 628-1032. 

And how o l d are you^ ED? 
A S . 

How long have you been In T u c s o n , ED? 
We p u l l e d In Tucson the a f te rnoon of A p r i l 2nd. 

Of t h i s year? 
ThIs - y e a r . 

How much e d u c a t i o n do you have, ED? 
H I gh school , 

Did you graduate high school? 
ST , LOUIS HIGH SCHOOL 

OK, and you r e a d , w r i t e and understand the E n g l i s h language? 
Wlthout a doubt . 

OK, we've been t a l k i n g about an i n c i d e n t Invo lv ing a lady by 
the name of ANN FRIES, F R I E S , and you Indicated to me that 
sha has approached you with a c e r t a i n p r o p o s i t i o n . Could you 
e x p l a i n In your own words what happened? 
She had c a l l e d me over to her house , I had met her the f i r s t 
time about the,, 2Hr j of Ju ly at Stone qpd Speedway, the bank, 
to put money In the bank. And she c a l l e d me up, we "TaTtCB'd 
and e v e r y t h i n g about doIng b u i l d i n g and s t u f f and she needed 
some plans d rawn up to take ca re of some p rope r ty and t h i n g s , 
and she c a l l e d me up* and wanted me to t a l k to her about It. 
And she had a l o t of o t h e r . t h i n g s In mind, she to ld me that 
she had t a l k e d to numerous o ther f e l lows and every th ing about 
t r y i n g to get e i t h e r her p lace burned o r blown up. And ! 
found out that i t s a l ready a h a l f burned t r a i l e r loca ted 
at 1602 West P r i n c e In the back of the l o t . And she didnt 
care how It was blown up or burned down or what. She wanted 
! t comp 1 e te I y dento l l s h e d . And that she h a d . . . d r o v e with 
me around town and show me where the p lace was, you know, to 
West P r i n c e . A l s o out to an Insurance p lace by the name o f 
DROZ Insurance at 8601 P i n e . . P i n e P l a c e . 

t s that near La Canada? 
T h a t ' s r i g h t o f f of La Canada and Ina Road. 

08-FJA020364 
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CA^t 82 08 2*4 7001 

You drove her out there? 
Mo, she drove me out t h e r e . 

OK, what happened? 
i drove out ther tn my c a r . 

At her request? 
(Inaud) 

She had t r o u b l e with h e r s . 

Uas t h i s before or a f t e r she showed you where the t r a l i e r was 
loca ted? 
Sho took me out and showed me where the t r a i l e r was at f i r s t . 

Do you remember the date? 
Approx imate ly two weeks ago . 

And when you drove out t h e r e , what d id you do when you drove 
out there to where the t r a i l e r was? 
Where the t r a i l e r was? She j u s t d r o v e . . d r o v e i n , drove in 
and drove r i g h t back o u t , she d i d n ' t wanna be seen out t h e r e . 

OK, d id she po in t the t r a i l e r out? 

That somebody was going to r e c o g n i z e her r i g h t q u i c k . 

Did she po in t It out to you? 
Uh, she drove back , to the back of the t r a i l e r house Tucson 
Mobi le Homes and e v e r y t h i n g ' s back t h e r e . And went 
back to the gate back o f , back of the l o t , where you could 
see the t r a i l e r tn . the back of I t , t e l l how bad i t was burnt 
and 1 saw the back of I t . 

You saw It had a l ready been burned a l i t t l e , b i t ? 
Yeah , 

And then how much l a t e r , how much a f t e r that did you go out 
Co the Insurance company? 
I went out to the Insuranee company I t h i n k , two days a f t e r 
t h a t , the fo t lowing*day cause she found out the Insurance 
company had lapsed or they dropped her or something l i k e that . 
She was mad about that and s h e ' s gonna get hold of some other 
Insurance company ( I n a u d i b l e ) . 

Did you go into the Insurance company o f f i c e with her? 
Ho, I s tayed o u t s i d e wh i le she was tn the Insurance o f f i c e . 

And what d id she say she dtd o r what kind of Insurance d id 
she g ive when she went ins ide? 
She s a i d that she had Insurance that cost her $iQ a thousand. 
It cost her 7, f o r $70 for seven thousand d o l l a r s worth of 
Insurance . 

08-FJA020365 
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EOWARD COLE CASE 82 08 24 7001 

Okay, And do you know whether or not she got thts Insurance 
pot Icy? 
Uh, at the time and e v e r y t h i n g she s a i d that It was a l ready set u 
and she gave a check f o r the S70 to take care o f , and I asked 
f o r . • . » p I a y e d a long wi th her to see If she was gonna do t h i s 
t h i n g . I s a i d you b e t t e r wai t and t r i e d to s t a l l so that I 
d i d n ' t have to do i t and e v e r y t h i n g . To s t a l l to wait u n t i l 
she got the Insurance papers so the p o l i c y and everythIng was 
In e f f e c t . And she c a l l e d me t h i s morning and to ld me that she 
had the p o l i c y and insurance papers and It was In f o r c e . 

OK, now can we go back and t e l l us why she wants to get th is 
Insuranee money? 
W e l l , sha got a p i e c e of p roper ty loca ted on Shawnee S t r e e t , 
and she got somebody in there w i t h a real o l d beat up l i t t i e 
t r a i l e r about 20, 2h feet l o n g , and mostly a l i t t l e d^nky, a 
l l t t l e - b t t t y shor t t r a i l e r lha t these people are rent ing out to 
somebody, some f r i e n d s or something t h e r e . . . h e ' s charging so 
much r e n t . And she s a i d In two months (Inaud) a couple weeks 
ago (Insud) that her lease Is gonna (inaud) and s h e ' s gonna 
(Inaud) put t h i s (inaud) that s h e ' s got loca ted at 50, 5722 
T r i s h a Lane , (Inaud) that p i e c e of proper ty (Inaud) c l o s e r to 
town and s h e ' s gonna buy t h i s house from the government at ASARCO 

ASARCO? 
ASARCO; howeve r, you pronounce t h a t . And for $6,000 a three 
bedroom house I t ' s gonna cost her $3000 to move down here but 
pay the movers monthly so much a month. But she don ' t have to 
have a , the f u l l $3000 on t h a t , she needs $6000 to move that 
house down h e r e . And the foundat ion and every th ing In t h e r e , 
she had me over there to draw up the foundat ion and every th ing 
and a l l thet s t u f f and e v e r y t h i n g before she even mention anyth in 
about about wanting somebody to burn or blow up t h i s t r a i l e r . 
And t h a t ' s what ( w e n t up there and s t a r t e d With f i r s t . She 
d i d n ' t know I was a s e c u r i t y o f f i c e r or anyth ing e l s e . 

Yeah. 
And t h a t ' s what I want up ( Inaud) . 

Uhmm, OK. She she wanted, she wants the Insurance money to 
he lp move the house from ASARCO down to on T r i s h a Lane? 
Yeah. . 

And do you know whether s h e ' s contac ted anybody at ASARCO 
about the moving o f t h i s house, or about her buying the house? 
She s a i d something t h i s morning about she had another , I think 
another week that she had to make the p l a n s , 1 think with them. 
She 's gotta get the money down on I t , 

OK, you showed me a card from ASARCO with the name of BRUCE K. 
HALONE on I t . How d id you get that card? 
I had to d r i v e her out there because she had car troubIe and she 
asked If i would use my car to d r i v e r her out t h e r e , and t d i d n ' t 
have nothing e l s e to do so I, I drove her out there { 1 naud) . 

Case: 22-70084, 05/04/2022, ID: 12438984, DktEntry: 1-4, Page 120 of 498



3 

PAGE -k-
EDWARD COLE CASE 82 08 24 7001 

OK, and d id he, d id HR. HALONE g ive you t h i s card? 
He 's the one that gave me that c a r d , y e a h . 

And h e ' s the one that she ta lked to about buying th is house? 
R i g h t . And she t a l k e d , she the one that had a l l t h e . . s h e ' s 
doing e v e r y t h i n g and I t o l d her I says w e l l , unless we get 
something worked out i says d o n ' t f i g u r e on nie, you know on 
t h i s deal and e v e r y t h i n g ( Inaud) . 

A l r i g h t . And what d id she o f f e r you fo r S|P(fnn I ng the the t r a i l e r 
down? 
W e l l , she s t a r t e d o f f on d i f f e r e n t th ings but then she (inaud) 
go t ta have her own way and about e v e r y t h i n g , s h e ' s o f f e r e d sex 
and a bunch of o ther t h i n g s . Sut thon she sa id w e l l , i'm not 
(Inaud) wai t u n t i l we get t h i s s e t t l e d and I t ' s o f f my mind and 
e v e r y t h i n g and then I ' l l be In a good mood and w e ' l l both enjoy 
It s l o t more and e v e r y t h i n g . 

Old she mention anyth ing about goIng anywhere? 
Uh, she has mentioned that as soon as she gets the Insurance 
money that she wants to spend a week up In Las Vegas and s h e ' l l 
pay for the w h i l e t r i p . 

I nc lud ing go Ing to bed and e v e r y t h i n g . 

Do you have any Idea when she wants t h i s done? 
As soon as p o s s i b l e . 

And the o r i g i n a l Idea of burn ing the t r a i l e r , was that your Ideal 
tJo, N D way at a l l . And the reason I'm here Is to stop a n y t h i n g , 
( inaud) It ever happening . 

Oo you know. . . 
And to get r i d of her permanently out of my l i f e cause s h e ' s 
hounding me something t e r r i b l e . 

She 's g i v i n g you some problems? 
A l l k inds of prob lems, she won't leave me a l o n e . 

Do you know i f s h e ' s asked anybody e l s e to do the same thIng? 
She had mentioned a number of p e o p l e . 

And do yo u know persona11y any o f these people that s h e ' s as ked, 
by name? 
No t by name, no , 

J E F F , do you have anything? 
Yeah, how d id you f i r s t meet her again? She was working? 
Hy w i fe had moved out and she had moved out s i x 11 mes befo re , 
and threatened to f i l e fo r d i v o r c e and s h e . . h a d money In the 
sav ing accounts there at Stone and Speedway at In te rs ta te Bank. 
And i went there to put some money In the bank and then t got to 
t h i n k i n g w e l l , i f she l e f t some money In the bank, then I be t te r 

08-FJA020367 
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( C O N T ) check and see (f she l e f t some money and she 'd l e f t 
$8 .40 . So then I asked ( Inaud) , I s a i d what w i l l happen If 
(Inaud) s i g n the paper and e v e r y t h i n g , take out the (inaud) 
money, say 50 o r $100 and (Inaud) check, cou ld she do t h a t . 
They s a i d y e s . I s a i d w e l l , I 'm, I'm gonna p lay safe t h e n s o 
she d o n ' t gat to me for a l o t of money. I f she decided to do 
I t , c l o s e the whole th ing o u t , p i c k up $ 8 . 4 o . And t h a t ' s why 
i was In t h e r e , ( inaud) the church on Speedway. And i ta lked 
to him and (Inaud) and I turned around and I looked 

( inaud) her name at that time but she t o l d me her name was 
(Inaud). Tha t she had put down q u i t e a few t h i n g s , she had a , 
handful p i e c e s of paper that she had w r i t t e n down that she was 
t ry Ing to f i n d a boa rde r to rent a bed room In a th ree bed room 
mobi le home, $300 a month, a l l u t i l i t i e s , l a u n d r y , meals cooked 
and e v e r y t h i n g , he d o e s n ' t have to (Inaud) And i had totd her 
ths t I was, done c o n s t r u c t i o n work (Inaud) and she had some 
plans that ( inaud) she asked me If i would come over (Inaud) and 
e v e r y t h i n g and t a l k about It and (Inaud) and e v e r y t h i n g . She 
(Inaud) the (Insud) and It w a s n ' t , had ( inaud) that f i r s t 

( Inaud) . 

So she was a customer In the bank then? When you ran into her? 
1 d o n ' t th ink that s h e ' s a regu la r customer at that bank. She 
had Jus t gone In there ( Inaud) , 

T h a t ' s on North T r Ic Ia? \ 
Yeah, 5722 North T r i c l a . 

O K 

So have you had any o ther c o n t a c t with ber other than the time 
you met her at the bank and the time you went out to draw up 
her l o t and 
. . . W e l l , tho f i r s t , the f i r s t time when I went out there when 
she had wrote , drawn up some plans and every th ing and then there 
another time she c a l l e d up and she wanted to show her property 
over there on Shawnee and she had to get Information on gas and 
water and l i g h t s and, e v e r y t h i n g to hook up t h i s t r a i l e r and 
e v e r y t h i n g over there and ( inaud) So I went over there 
with her and e v e r t h i n g and'went to her p lace on Shawnee and 
showed me tbe p lace on Shawnee. But the day that we went 
( Inaud)see the homes out t h e r e , 35 mi les out there at the 
S i l v e r b e l l Coppermine, we had went, she had went back over to 
Shawnee P lace (Inaud) and a l s o over there to Romero and 
P r i n c e where the t r a i l e r ' s loca ted at and showed me where 
the t r a i l e r - w a s a t . And a l s o she got the (Inaud) 

OK, have you ever dated her , have you ever gone out with her? 
Uh, I c a l l e d her up and 1 says I'm a l l a lone and e v e r y t h i n g , 
t s a i d I need somebody to t a l k to snd uh would you meet me 
someplace and have a d r i n k . And she s a i d the Black Angus over 
there at R iver and O r a c l e . And 1 s a i d wel l I don ' t know where 

08-FJA020368 
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I t ' s at but ! can f i n d I t , so I t o l d her that I'd meet her 
over there and she was sbout a h a l f hour l a t e , she was supposed 
to have been there about 6:30, she showed up l i k e 7:00, 
And so we sat there and 1 th ink we had two d r i n k s , and we had 
a few dr inks and we ta lked to the g i r l s that had spoke to us 
f i r s t but then she had bumped I n ' t o , she had s t ruck up an 
aqualntance and e v e r y t h i n g wi th s i x other guys j u s t . She w i l l 
say a n y t h i n g , the guy, the guy had a s h i r t o n , had a s t r i p e 
about that wide around t h e r e , and she s a i d something to him, 
I don ' t know If t h a t ' s what i t was but something about h is 
s h i r t . But she comes up to me and she s a i d . 

Is she pre t ty wel l known In t h e r e , d id i t appear thst she 
was known by these peopIe? 
I would say s o , I d i d n ' t know nobody at a l l , but she , she 
knew, a l l the , a l l the w a i t r e s s e s down there too , s h e ' d been 
there q u i t e o f t e n . 

OK, Has e v e r y t h i n g that y o u ' v e t o l d u s , ED, been t h e ' t r u t h 
to the best of your knowlIdge wi thout any promise or reward 
or threa t or duress as f a r , as fa r as you know? 
Ho promise at a l l , even the promise that s h e ' s given and 
e v e r y t h i n g , 1 don ' t f i g u r e she was gonna fo l low through with 
any of t h a t . 

Do.you think she intends to have the t r a i l e r burned? 
By somebody, and whenever she can get somebody to do i t . 

You b e l l eve t h a t ' s her Intent? 
81ght . 

OK. STATEHENT WILL BE COHCLUDED AT 1433. 

iHTE/viEUED 8Y . 

ok a 
DET. CRAIG \ 1653 

WITNESSED BY 

JEFF COREY. TFO 

TRANSCftIBED SY 

BERTA VALENZUELA CID 6762 

ADE VOGEL CIO J 3905 
25 August ]982/1000 HOURS 

08-FJA020369 
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'I'PD 8208247001 
JP SIX IC 06043 

IN THE SC'~ ..C.:RIOR COURT OF THE STATE O:t ARIZONA 

51-GJ-119 
IN AND FOR THE COUNTY OF PIMA 

The 14th day of . SEPTEMBER 

s~.Pf\TE: OF ARIZONA, ) 
Plaintiff, ) 

vs. ) 
) 

ANNETTE FARIDA FRIES ) 
) 
) 
) 

Defendant(s) ~ 
CAUSE 

The grand jurors of the County of Pima, in 
of Arizona, and by its authority accuse 

ANNETTE FARIDA FRIES 

and charge that in Pima County: 

COUNT ONE CONSPIRACY TO COMMIT A CLASS TWO FELONY 

1982 SEP I 4 AM lOt 5 I 

On or about the 1st through the 31st day of August, 1982, ANNETTE 
FARIDA FRIES conspired with Edward Cole to commit Arson of an Occupied 
Structure and Fraudulent Scheme or Artifice, in violation of A.R.S. 
§§ 13-1003, 13-1704, 13-2310, 13-701, 13-702, 13-801 and 13-803. 

COUNT nm ( ATTEMPTED ARSON OF AN OCCUPIED STRUCTURE, A CLASS 
THREE FELONY ) 

On or about the lst through the 31st day of August, 1982, ANNETTE 
-----FARIDA FRIES attempted to commit arson by attempting to damage an 

occupied structure, to wit: a 12' x 60' V~hon moble home, model 
number D000686, serial number 12538655002 /'by knowingly causing 

I 
i 

a fire or explosion, in violation of A.R.S. §§ 13-1001, 13-1704, 
13-701, 13-702, 13-801 and 13-803. 

COUNT THREE ( ATTEMPTED FRAUDULENT SCHEME OR ARTIFICE, A CLASS 
THREE FELONY ) 

On or about the 1st through the 31st day of August, 1982, ANNETTE 
FARIDA FRIES attempted to commit a crime, to wit: Fraudulent Scheme 
and Artifice, by attempting to obtain a benefit, pursuant to a 
scheme or artifice to defraud, from AMERICAN BANKERS INSURANCE, 
by means of false or fraudulent pretenses, representations, promises 
or material omissions, in violation of A.R.S. §§ 13-1001, 13-2310, 
13-701, 13-702, 13-801 and 13-803. 

STEPHEN D. NEELY 
PIMA COUNTY ATTORNEY 

A True Bill 

Jury 
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12 

13 

LAW OFFICES 

PIMA COUNTY PUBLIC DEFENDER 
45 WEST PENNINGTON STREET, THIRD FLOOR 

TUCSON, ARIZONA 85701 
TELEPHONE: [602) 791-3300 

DAN H. COOPER #10848 
ATTORNEY FOR DEFENDANT 
DHC/dll 1-7-83 

IN THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF ARIZONA 

IN AND FOR THE COUNTY OF PIMA 

THE STATE OF ARIZONA, 

Plaintiff, 

vs. 

ANNETTE FRIES, 

Defendant. 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) _____________________________ ) 

NO. CR-09084 

MOTION FOR MENTAL CONDITION 
EXAMINATION AND STAY OF 

PROCEEDINGS 

14 The defendant, by and thFough his/her attorney, and pursuant 

15 to Ariz.R.Crim.P. 11.1, hereby respectfully moves this court 

16 to have the defendant examined to determine if dle is able to 

17 understand the proceedings against h~ or to assist in h~ own 

18 defense, and to investigate h~mental condition at the time of 

19 the offense, pursuant to Rules 11.2; 11.3(e). 

20 1. The facts upon which thi·s mental examination is sought 

21 are the following? Defendant has come in contact with numerous 
· people in this case, all of whom are of the opinion defendant 

22 is mentally ill; counsel for defendant has had several 
conversations with defendant and is unable to communicate with 

23 defendant because her train of thought is such as to indicate 
her thinking is perhaps psychotic. 

24 

25 
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2. The defendant further moves pursuant to Rule 11.4(a) that 

any statement or summary of the defendant's statements 

concerning the offense charged shall be made available only 

to the defendant. 

Furthermore, pursuant to Ariz.R.Crim.P. 8.4(a) defendant 

moves all proceedings in the instant case be stayed pending 

disposition of the mental examination and hearing. 

For purposes of the mental examination and pursuant to 

Ariz.R.Crim.P. 11.3(c) the defendant submits the names of 

Doctor ____________________________ ~------------------------------------

------------------------------------------Tucson, Arizona. 

Doctor ________________________________________________________________ __ 

---------------------------------------------Tucson, Arizona. 

RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED this 

19 ___§). 

-2-

7th day of January 

Law Offices 
PIMA COUNTY PUBLIC DEFENDER 

( ' 

By ~~ 
DAN H. COOPER 
Attorney for Defendant 
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Al1.IZONA · SUPERIOR COURT, PIMA COUNTY 

1.>'/1 

Judge-: CR-09084 THOMAS MEEHAN CASE NO. ------------
Court Reporter: none DATE October 4, 1983 

STATE OF ARIZONA 

vs. 

ANNETTE FARIDA FRIES 

EVENT SUMMARY 
Type: Result: 
Date: Time: Length: Div: Req: ··-
Type: Result: 
Date: Time: Lensth: Div: Reg: 
Type: Result: 
Date: Time: Lensth: Div: Req: 
Type: Result: ·-
Date: Time: Lensth: Div: Reg: ·-

M I N U T E E N T R Y 
-----------------------~~~~~~~~~~~~~---------------------

UNDER ADVISEMENT RULING: 

The Court having rev~ewed all medical reports filed, 

THE COURT FINDS defendant is not competent to stand trial 

or to assist counsel at the time of trial. --------------------
Based on the medical reports, 

----------------~~--~~---

THE COURT FINDS that with treatment that there is a 

reasonable probability that defendant will become competent to 

stand trial. 

IT IS ORDERED defendant be committed to the Kino Community 

Hospital for not more than ninety (90) days; Kino Community Hospital 

to advise the Court at such time that it determines defendant is 

competent to stand trial or that there is no reasonable probability 

that defendant will become competent. 

tmi\ M·o: 
Sharon CottW 

Deputy Clerk 

BOOK2432 PAGE 01 
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MINUTE ENTRY 

Pege No. -------
October 4, 1983 CR-09084 Date ------------- Case No. --------

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that defendant report to Kino 

Community Hospital on October ll, 1983, at 10:00 A. M. 

cc: County Attorney - John Dickinson 

Public Defender - Susan Kettlewell (l certified) 

Kino Community Hospital (Dr. David Stoker) - l certified 

Hon. Thomas Meehan 

Under Advisement Clerk 

Sharon Cottrell 
Deputy Clerk 

BOOK2432 PAGE 02 
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SAK:jes 
8"/15184 
F-82-2384 

IN T1IE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF ARIZONA 

IN AND FOR THE COUNTY OF PIVlA 

THE STATE OF ARIZONA, 

Plaintiff, 

VS. 

ANNETTE FRIES , 

Defendant. 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) ____________________________ ) 

NO. CR-09084 

HOTION TO DISMISS 
(Honorable G. Thomas 
Meehan, Division 16) 

COt--rES NOW the Defendant, ANNETTE FRIES, by and through her 

attorney undersigned, and moves this Court for a dismissal of 

the above-captioned matter. A Rule 11 had been filed in this 

matter and pursuant to that Rule 11, Judge Heehan ruled that 

~~~~ Ms. Fries was, in fact, incompetent and unable to stand trial. 

As a result of that finding, Judge Neehan also ordered that Ms. 

II Fries undergo treatment to determine whether or not, in fact, 

she could be competent. 

At this time, the defendant moves to have the case 

dismissed on the basis that she is not competent and cannot be 

restored to competency. 

I I 1- I 
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RESPECTFULLY SUBl·fiTTED this 16th day of August 19 84. 

Law Offices 
PIMA COUNTY PUBLIC DEFENDER 

B $, .. J ///' ~_, I I /i / 
y ! ,j ( .0-"£4 12?~--1 ..Ah 

SUSAN A. KETTLEWELL / ~ 
ATTORNEY FOR DEFENDANT 

I Copies of the foregoing . 
~ ~ maHed/ delivered this date to: 

II 
DEPUTY COUNTY ATTORNEY 

I 

I 
I 
I 
i' 

I 

II 

I 

I, 
l i 

-2- fV)-M 
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FREDERIC J . DARDIS 
PIMA COUNTY PUBLIC DEFENDER 

THOMAS G. HIPPERT 
CHIEF DEPUTY 

LAW OFFICES 

PIMA COUNTY PUBLIC DEFENDER 

THIRD FLOOR 
45 WEST PENNINGTON 

TUCSON. ARIZONA 8570 I 
TELEPHONE 16021 791 -3300 

October 9, 1984 

Honorable G. Thomas Meehan 
Pima County Superior Court 
Division 16 
111 W. Congress 
Tucson, AZ 85701 

Re: State v. Annette Fries 
No: CR-09084 

Dear Judge Meehan: 

!i7 .. 

3 i 0 __ 0=Q{~_LQ:{ 
JA!ViES N. QO~mEfT, Cl~:rk 

G~d'd_~uty 

OUR FILENO. 

F-82-2384 

Enclosed please find the report from Dr. Garland 
in connection with the above-captioned case. 

SAK:jes 
Enclosure 

Sincerely, 
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Susan Kittelwell 
Public Defenders Office 
45 West Pennington, 3rd Flex>r 
Tucson, Arizona 85701 

IP....ar Ms • Ki ttelwell: 

KINO 
COMMUNITY 
HOSPITAL 

2800 E. AJ O WAY/TUCSON . AZ 8571 3 

PHONE 294-+471 

C:Ctober 1, 1984 

As you kno;.v, I evaluated Ms. Annette Fries in November of 1983. 
Ms. Fries cane to me on your referral regarding ability to un::lerstar1d and 
assist in her defense. Mr. Fries at the time of my evaluation, was best 
diagnosed as Schizoaffective Disorder, Hypcrnanic. 'JJlis is a severe and 
chronic mental disorder, and it is my opinion that Mr. Fries is rmlikely 
to regain her corrpetence. 

I would like to- reccrrrrend Ms. Fries to outpatient psychotherapy on an 
ongoing basis with the recorrrrendation that the patient be tried on Navane 
mich she tolerated fairly well back in November of 1983 as well as a trial 
of Lithium, mich the patient at least initially expressed great disinterest 
in. 

If further information is required regarding this patients ccrrpetence 
or likelyhood to regciln ccrrpetence, please contact me at Kino Ccrnrn.mi.ty 
Hospital at the above nurrt>er, ext. 3010. 

DJG/ sc 

cc: file 
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ARIZONA SPPERIOR COURT, PIMA COUNTY 
'-'~/ · 

Judge: Wmli;(}Ll (!).Le/;olh CASE NO. ...£.£ -0 9 0 'ltf 
Court Reporter: /lei,y;lu /l2ugat/ 
&ate ycu~ < ) 

!1 ( ) 

DATE tll.flr&746e1 / ) ,19Jtf 
; 

Qo:/uJ Oti!hiuutn 

tbrvnittt icvz~ 1:aiuv ( > 

( ) 

_________________________ ( ) 

EVENT SUMMARY 
Type: Result: 
Date: T1me: Lenqth: DlV: Reg: 
Type: Result: 
Date: Time: Length: Div: Req: 
Type: Result: 
Date: Time: Length: Div: Req: 
Type: Result: --Date: Time: Length: Div: Reg: 

M I N U T E E N T R Y 

Deputy C rk 
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PIMA COUNTY SHERIFF 'S DEPARTMENT 
P.O. BOX 910. T U C S O N . ARIZONA 85702 

Repon Number 

840917040 
Incident Localion 

POCITO AND ROOT LANE 
Class Oisl. Beat Page 

1 01 1 
"onnecl-Up Report Number Reporting Ollicer Badge 

R. CLARK 1 639 R 
Date Time Reviewed By 

Typed By 

RITA G. 
I.D. 

UZUETA 1607 
Dale Typed 

09/20/84 
Time Slorage Code 

Typa j 'fom { Qty. | Uisp. j Serial Number • Descnplion ot Property Valuo 

1400 hours, 19 September 1984 - Flowing Wells Community Service Bui ld ing 

Interview: 

Rodriguez 
course of his 
person around 
Friday, he was 
100 block of N 
him, standing 
in that type o 
his impression 
of Rodriguez, 

Abraham Rodriguez, 06/22/62 
Home: 1949 W. River View - 623-3087 
Work: S t . Mary's Hospital - 622-5833. Ext . 1038 

i s employed as a mail c lerk with St . Mary's Hosp i ta l . He stated that in the 
job. he frequently carr ies cash, and as a matter of hab i t , i s very aware of 
him. Rodriguez reported that at approximately 0930 hours. 14 September 1984. 
walking in the area of the F i rs t Interstate Bank of Arizona Off ice in the 

Stone Avenue. At that time, he saw a female, who appeared to be watching 
on the sidewalk next to a brown Datsun 280-Z. He stated that he is interested 
f car , and his attent ion was directed to the car . and the fact that i t was 
that the subject "did not f i t " with the car . When the subject became aware 

she got in the car and drove away. 

Subject was described as a white female, approximately 30 years, 5 ' 6 " , 140 l b s . , 
^ wearing a flowered blouse and blue jeans with tennis shoes. She had l i gh t brown, shoulder-

length ha i r , and a brown, woven sun hat with a brim. Rodriguez stated that subject 's 
overal l appearance was " d i r t y " . 

The vehic le is described as a dark meta l l ic brown ("Root Beer Brown") Datsun 280-Z, 
with Cal i fo rn ia l icense plates 198 (gold/blue p la tes , and a plate frame, possib ly 
from a dealership, which was let tered with the word "Montebel lo". The car also had a dark 
i n te r io r , t inted windows, and spoke-type wheels. The car i s reported to be very d i r t y with 
a scratch on the rear passenger s ide. 

Rodriguez further stated that he s^w the same car and person, at approximately 1100 hrs 
14 September 1934, in the area of Hov/ell Elementary School (401 N. I rv ing) . He advised that 
the car appeared to " c ru i s ing " near the school, with the person inside watching the 
chi ldren in the playground. 

c 
Otscloauit!, fdMt wov 01 /934 

P.C.S.O. 503 INCIDENT R E P O R T - D .D.S. NARRATIVE 5/1/82 
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PIMA COUNTY SHERIFPS DEPARTMENT 
P.O. BOX 910, TUCSON, ARIZONA 85702 

4 
Report Number" ' Incident Location 

• . , 1 

Class Dist. 

e 

Beat Page 

/ 0. 
Reporting Officer Badge Date Time Reviewed By 

include a property description of items stolen or destroyed witfi serial-
numbered property listed first, followed by a chronoiogical synopsis of 
what occurred. 

F—Found. Property Disposition: (only in cases of found & recovered properfy) 
PH—Photographed & returned to owner / RTO-Retu rned to owner, no 
Photographs / PE—Placed in Property and Evidence 

Type: j: .itea>. j Qty,: ^ ' s p ^ .[:•: iSsr iaJ Number^ Description orPropertyi. VBKje 

(V 
d0 

- : A 0 D / e E 5 ^ — - * 

OB/^/2.fB CoR-tOBTT 
P.O. £o)k J4^ _/ajo 5 r / ^ e s r W o . . ^ 

V^iL , /\i^a. esth^/l 
7 9 / ' 7 6 . ^ 3 

C//?C<̂^ k - : • 

(127/ B. 7iiK)$oe y^^i)e._^D 
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466 
Date Typed 

10-15-84 
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C 

On 9-18-84 at approx. 1415 hrs. this officer made contact with the U.S.Postal 
Service letter carrier at the comer of Root Ln. and Pocito PI.. Thc subject advised 
that he is the regular Mailman for this area and advised that he was delivering in 
the area on Monday 9-17-84. The subject identified himself to me as 

/(Lorenzo Monarrezj 
10XW. Prince Rd. Apt. AA 
Tucson, Arizona 
Phone: 293-7956 

Mr. Monarrez advised that he knows Vicki Hoskinson, that her house is on his mail 
route and that he knows her by sight as she used to come up to wait outside for the 
mail last summer. He advised that he was in the area of Root & Pocito at approxiratly 
1430 hrs. on the 17th.. He did not remember seeing Vicki. I ask if he had seen a' 
280 Z " in the area. He advised that he didn't remember seeing one. 

I ask Mr. Monarrez if he had-seen the composit drawing of the possible suspect 
He advised that he has. 1 ask if he has seen any female subjects in the area that"were 
either acting strangely( as there had been a report of a woman trying to kidnap-; a 
child at the appartments at Root & Romero ) or out of place, lie advised that yesterday 
when he stopped at the Circle K store at Wetmore and Romero he saw a woman that he felt 
was a little strange. He advised that this was at approx. 1400 hrs.. she was just, 
" Eating a Drum stick " icecream bar. Monarrez advised that she was a 

White/ Female mid 30 yrs., 5-2 , " Chunky " built 
with Blondish Brown hair 

The car she was in was described as a 

Bark Brown " Root Beer " Large ( Possibly a Plymouth ) 

Monarrez advised that he thought he has seen someone that looks like the woman in 
the composit drawing before. He said he wasn't sure but thinks he may have seen them 
in the Stockman's " Bar. 
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PX 7-1196 
ERH/seb 

The f o l l o w i n g i n v e s t i g a t i o n was conducted by SA Edv/ard 
R, H a l l at Tucson, Arizona: 

Mr. Leon R i v e r a , 610 W. C a l l e Medina, 29^-1451, work 
telephone 622-6724, c a l l e d i n t o the S h e r i f f ' s H o t l i n e and advised 
he had seen a 2802, brown i n c o l o r , on Monday i n the area of 
Wetmore and Romero or Wemore and Oracle. He did not see the 
occupants of the car but he r e c a l l s the l i e e n s e as being 
C a l i f o r n i a 3EA-7^8. 

A run of the C a l i f o r n i a DMV records r e f l e c t s that the 
C a l i f o r n i a l i c e n s e 3EA-7^8 i s an i n v a l i d l i c e n s e number and that 
the 3 should be a l e t t e r not a number. A run of the l e t t e r s A 
through Z i n place of the 3 i n the l i c e n s e given was done without 
e f f e c t i n g the r e g i s t r a t i o n of a 280Z. 

Mr., Ri v e r a was contacted at which timo he advised that 
the l i c e n s e p l a t e which he c a l l e d i n t o the S h e r i f f s H o t l i n e was 
the l i c e n s e on the 2802 he observed, however, he did not w r i t e 
the l i c e n s e p l a t e down, he only r e c a l l e d i t from memory. He advised 
he did not n o t i c e the d r i v e r of the v e h i c l e and that he could 
provide no f u r t h e r i n f o r m a t i o n concerning the brown 2802 he 
observed ,on Monday. 
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Report Number 

840917040 
Connect-Up Raport Number 

Incident Location 

1920 W. Hadley/ Root Ln, & Pocito PI. 
Reporting Ollicer 

D. Aubry 
ypad By IO. 
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Badge 

329C 
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1000 
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Tim* 
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Storage Code 

Page 

1 et 
Reviewed By 

Description ot Properly Value 

At 1635 hrs.,/O^i^JkflahaTf #209C, was dispatched to a lost 
child call at 1920 W. Hadley. I also responded as a follow-up 
officer to assist in the search. I was the first unit to arri\ 
at the 1920 W. Hadley address. Lve 

I spoke with Mr. Carlson, the step-father of the missing 
child, and he stated that VICKIE HOSKINSON, age 8, white female, 
approximately 4 feet tall, weighing 50 lbs., with brown or auburn 
short-cut hair, wearing a red, white and blue dress, the predominate 
color being red, had been sent to the Circle K, Wetmore and 
Romero, to mail a letter, and had not returned. Mr. Carlson 
stated that Vickie had gone to the store on her bicycle at approx­
imately 1530 hrs., and at approximately 1550 hrs., the bike was 
found at Root Lane and Pocito Place by a lady living in that 
area. 

At this time, Dep. Kalahar, along with Dep. Walsh, #410C, 
arrived at the residence, -and Dep. Kalahar began to interview Mr. 
Carlson and DEBBIE CARLSON, mother of the child. Refer to Dep. 
Kalahar's case report. 

I asked Mr. Carlson for some current photographs of Vickie. 
Dep.oJalsh handed me two (2) photographs to use in the search. I 
then__left the home and responded to the front of Homer Davis 
Elementary School, 4250 N. Romero Road, and met with Det. Sgt. 
Witte, #411, Dep. Enfield, #328C, and Traffic Officer Creech, #424. 
wfteT giving the officers a quick run down of the events that had 
^•rafispired, Dep. Creech responded to the Circle K, Wetmore and 
.̂om&jro, Dep. Enfield began a sweep of the school ground" area, and 
Sgt.' Witte and I began checking the area of Root Lane and Pocito 
Place. Refer to said officers Supplements for further details. 

Using the intersection of Root Lane andPocito Place as my 
starting point, I began to do a sweep of the residental area, 
calling out Vickie's name over my outside speaker and telling her 
to come outside, if she was in someone's home playing. I drove a 
criss-cross pattern through the development, with negative results. 
I then returned to the intersection. 

At the intersection, I met with Sgt. Kilpatrick, #139C, 
and Sgt. Paul Pederson, #302. I advised Sgt. Kilpatrick that I was 
going to do a door-to-door search of the Park--El-Monte Apartments 
located at Root .Lane and Romero Road, street address, 4213 N. 
Romero. 
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D. Aubry 
Badge 
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Date 
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The apartment complex consists of five (5) buildings, each two (2) 
stories high. Downstairs units are numbered 101 through 118, and 
upstairs are numbered 201 through 218. The present manager lives 
in apartment 106. At the time I did door-to-door, the manager was 
not home, but her daughter was, and she had no knowledge of the child. 
At the time I did the door-to-door, several residents were not at 
home, and approximately eight (8) apartments were vacant. I did 
a window check of the vacant apartments, with negative results. 

At 1810 hrs., I returned to the Command Post, which had 
been set up at Homer Davis School. I advised Sgts. Kilpatrick 
and Pederson of the results of the apartment search. I was then 
requested by Sgt. Pederson to check the homes from Root Lane to 
Wetmore on Romero, which are directly across the street from the 
school. The first three (3) homes yielded negative results, but 
at the fourth home, which is 4259 N. Romero, I met with the following 
people, all who live at the home: LOREN D. MILLS, NORMA ATKINSON, 
TERRY ATKINSON and CHRISTINE ATKINSON, all of whom are adults, along 
with approximately 6 to 8 children. The home phone number there is 
888-2776. Mr. Mills advised me that his nephew, JOHN ATKINSON, age 
4, had told his mother a story that I might be interested in hear­
ing, and I asked if I could speak to John. John's mother, Christine, 
brought John out front, and told him to tell me what he had been 
telling her. John said that he had seen a girl hit by a car on 
Root Lane just off of Romero. He identified the two (2) streets 
by pointing to Romero and saying the car turned off of that street 
on to that street, pointing to Root Lane, and heading that direction, 
pointing West. He said the ,car was a race car, brownish-orange in 
color, and that it had hit the girl when she came on to Root Lane. 
I asked John if he saw what happened to the little girl after 
she was struck by the car, and at this point, John became confused 
and excited, and said she was picked up by the helicopter, point 
to DPS Ranger 32, which was landing in the Homer Davis schoolyard. 
I then got John's attention again, and asked him if the girl ran 
out or walked out in front of the vehicle. He said she was on a 
bicycle, and the bicycle had been left there. I then asked him 
if he could tell me what she was wearing in the way of clothing. 
He pointed to a little girl who was standing nearby, who was wear­
ing a dark blue jumper dress type outfit, and he said, "Like that, 
except red and blue". I then attempted, again, to ask him if he 
saw what happened to the little girl after she had fallen down. 
He started to say that the woman driver had put her in her car, 
but then again became distracted and said no, she rode in the 
helicopter and then again pointed to DPS Ranger 32, which .was .now ..-.:<• rro v 

from the Homer Davis schoolyard. At this 'point John '.-.N-X-1 »V-
engrossed in the helicopter for either me-pr. his mother .""v̂ L 
to say anything more. I advised Mrs. Atkinson..tb̂ piesase-'cits is-
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D. Aubry 
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stay at home and either myself or a detective would be getting back 
with her. She stated that the family was going to stay either at 
home or across the street at the school, and help out any way they 
could, and that she would keep talking to John about what he saw. 

As I started back across to 
to Sgts. Pederson and Kilpatrick, t 
complex walked up to me, and one of 
STEVE NAVEZ from apartment 211, and 
apartment complex, he and his broth 
incident with his brother-in-law's 
laundromat area at the complex appr 
reference a woman trying to abduct 
Witte across the street, and he cam 
relayed the information to him. Re 

report the above information 
wo (2) men from the apartment 
them identified himself as 
that after I had left the 

er-in-law, had remembered an 
wife that had occurred at the 
oximately one (1) week ago, 
his nephew. I called Det. Sgt. 
e to my location, and Mr.Navez 
fer to Sgt. Witte's Supplement. 

I then continued across the street and advised both Sgts. 
Pederson and Kilpatrick of the information I had received from John 
Atkinson, and what information Det. Witte was obtaining from Mr. 
Navez. I was then requested by Sgt. Kilpatrick to take the 8 x 10 
photograph of Vickie down to I.D. and have several copies run off. 
Sgt. Pederson advised me that I.D. was standing by and, once the 
photographs were completed, to return them to the Command Post. I 
left the area at 1850 hrs. and arrived at I.D. 1910 hrs., and met 
with I.D. Tech Paul Freeman, and we began to run off 30 Polaroid 
copies of the picture. At 1935 hrs., I returned to the Command 
Post with 28 photographs and the original 8 x 10. The photographs 
were turned over to Sgt. Kilpatrick. 

t-

At 1955 hrs., Sgt. Kilpatrick instructed me to assist Det. 
Barkman, #175, in doing a second door-to-door interview and 
search of the apartment complex at 4213 N. Romero.. Det. Barkman 
advised me that he would do the interviewing and my purpose was 
to be high profile because of my uniform. Det. Barkman and I began 
the door-to-door of the complex, while K-9 Unit Dep. Clark, #569C, 
with the assistance of the manager's daughter, did a search of all 
vacant apartments in the complex. The interview and search of the 
complex was completed at approximately 2135 hrs. REfer to Det. 
Barkman's Supplement for details of interviews. We then returned 
to the Command Post, at which time Det. Barkman went over the 
results of the interviews in the presence of Sheriff Dupnick, Maj. 
Douglas, Sgts. Witte, Callen, and Pederson, and myself. 

At 2145 hrs., Maj. Douglas requested that I go with him and 
the school principal, JOHN MC CARTHY, to the classr'oom."wl.ere Vickie.Vso TO 
desk was. Maj. Douglas and I did a search of the desk'i arid, all" '•jt-rs ANI* 
books and papers in the desk 
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was a circular-cut yellow piece of paper with a pencil-written phone 
number of^8B8-0236} After leaving the classroom, we returned to 
the main ofnc"e~and checked this phone number to the student information 
card in the office on Vickie. The phone number was not one of the 
ones listed. I then advised Det. Barkman and turned the slip of 
paper over to him. 

At 2210 hrs., I went back to the easement alleyway running 
north off of Root Lane, between Romero and Pocito Place, and searched 
the area. At approximately 100 yards in from Root Lane, under an 
overgrown bush, I found the remnants of a white and blue checkered 
shirt, and next to it, what appeared to be an old cap, tan in color. 
In the middle of the cap were approximately 4 to 5 newborn kittens. 
Just north of the bush was an empty bottle of beer, which appeared 
to have been dropped in the last 24 hours. The rest of the alley 
yielded negative results. 

At 2230 TITS., I returned to the Command Post, and met with 
Lt. Starr, #262C, and Dets. Popp, #630C and VanSkiver, #466C. I 
went over the information that had been relayed to me by John 
Atkinson, and was instructed by Lt. Starr to get the names of the 
family, and have John's parents speak with Dets. Popp and VanSkiver. 

At 2255 hrs., I had Mr. Terry Atkinson and his wife, Christine 
Atkinson, respond to the office of Homer Davis Elementary School, 
where I introduced them to the detectives. Refer to detectives 
Supplements and taped interviews for further details. 

At 2300 hrs., I responded to 1920 W. Hadley to see if I 
could assist Dep. Kalahar. While at the residence, Det. Popp arrived 
and advised Sgt. Kilpatrick that he had received some information 
that was developing into a strong lead, information that Vickie had 
been seen at the Tucson Mall. Sgt. Kilpatrick advised Det. Popp 
that he and I would assist the detectives in any way necessary or 
useful. At 2345 hrs., Det. Popp requested that Sgt. Kilpatrick 
and I meet with himself and Det. VanSkiver at the upper level, 
north entrance of Mervyn's Department Store in the Tucson Mall. 

_ 
At 0005 hrs., we met with Det. Popp and a Security Officer 

for Mervyn's, who let us into the department store. We began going 
through the employee time book to determine how many employees had 
been working in the store between 1600 hrs. 
Det. Popp then began calling the employees, 
completed at approximately 0100 hrs. Refer 
for details. 

JUL 

and 2100 hrs. on 9/17/84. 
Phone calls were .' •]-
to Det. Popp's Supplement 
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At 0110 hrs., I returned to 1920 W. Hadley, where I briefed 
Dep. Kalahar of the results at Mervyn's,and also advdised him, per 
instructions of Sgt. Kilpatrick, that both he and I were to clear 
the Hadley address, and after getting some rest, complete our 
paper work. After Dep. Kalahar had spoken briefly with the parents, 
he, the Crisis Unit and I, all cleared the area. Approximate time 
0130 hrs. 

This Supplement completed 9/18/84, 1230 hrs. 
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THE FOLLOWING WILL BE THE STATEMENT CHRISTOPHER ALLAN BECKLEY. THIS 
STATEMENT WILL BE TAKEN AT CHRISTOPHER'S RESIDENCE WHICH IS 4637 
NORTH EPGEBROOK-PLACE, TUCSON, ARIZONA. IT INVOLVES SHERIFF'S OFFICE 
CASE:f//84-09-17-040. ; THIS STATEMENT IS BEING TAKEN BY DETECTIVE 
ROGER~>OPT'r~BAI)GE'7/630 AND DETECTIVE VAN SKIVER BADGE #466. THE DATE 
OF THE STATEMENT IS 09-17-84. THE TIME OF THE STATEMENT IS 1907 
HOURS. 

LEGEND: Q. = DETECTIVE POPP A. = CHRISTOPHER BECKLEY 

Q. C h r i s t o p h e r , could you t e l l me your f u l l name and give me your 
date of b i r t h , when you c e l e b r a t e your b i r t h d a y ? 

A. My name i s C h r i s t o p h e r A l l a n Beckley and uhm I was born A p r i l 
25'th, 1975. 

Q. What's your home address? 
A. 4637 North Edgebrook P l a c e . 

Q. Where do you go to school? • 
A. Homer Davis. 

Q. What grade are you i n ? 
A. Fourth . 

Q. Do you know your phone number at home? 
A. 293-9773. 

Q. Did you go to sc h o o l today? 
A. Yeah. 

Q. Do you know a V i c k i e Hoskinson? 
A. Uhm-hmmm(yes). 

Q. How lo n g have you known her? 
A. Uhm probably about a week or something, uh l a s t F r i d a y uhm I went 

to T r a v i s ' house, and I saw her and then uh, 

Q. Okay, uh you were f r i e n d s with T r a v i s Spencer? 
A. Uhm-hmmm(yes). 

Q. How long have you known T r a v i s ? 
A. Since second grade, middle of second grade, uhroramm., 

Q. You're i n f o u r t h grade now, a couple of years then huh, you guys 
are p r e t t y good f r i e n d s ? 

A. I n a u d i b l e . 

Q. Okay, 
A. Yeah. 

Q. Where d i d you go a f t e r s c h o o l today? 
A. I walked home with T r a v i s . 
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Q, Okay, which route d i d you take home from school? 
A. I n a u d i b l e . 

Q. Whi, which way d i d you come home from school? 
A. Well he was j u s t going, I went, I went across the s t r e e t , i n t h i s 

c r o s s uhm area and then I went a l i t t l e ways and then I went on 
uh, a l i t t l e path and then I was going through the l i t t l e bushes, 
and s t u f f i n t o Mack's house. 

Q. Now T r a v i s l i v e s on P o c i t o P l a c e , which i s one s t r e e t over from 
Romero, that b i g s t r e e t where the s c h o o l ' s on, r i g h t ? 

A. I n a u d i b l e . 

Q. Remember what time t h i s was? 
A. When I saw the, the car? 

Q. Yeah, what time you were walking to T r a v i s ' house? 
A. Probably about uhm 2:30. 

Q. 2:30? 
A. or 2:20 around t h e r e . 

Q. You sure i t wasn't a l i t t l e b i t l a t e r ? 
A. Uhm-hmmm(yes). We come home from s c h o o l around 2:00 and then we, 

t h a t ' s uh then we get, we're out, a l l out about 2:10. 

Qo About 2:10? -
A. And then we, uh I got, t h i s t h i s around there about 2:20, maybe 

2:15, around there somewhere.. 

Q. Uhm-hmmm(yes). Okay, do you remember when I t a l k e d to you 
e a r l i e r when we were over T r a v i s ' ? 

A. Uhm-hmmm(yes). 

Q. Okay, and then you s a i d i t was a l i t t l e b i t l a t e r , i t was 
probably around 3:30, something l i k e t h a t . 

A. Uh-uh(no). 

Q. Are you sure? 
A. Nu-uh(no). That was a long, long time ago. I mean, that was 

f a r , f a r away. 

Q. Uh-huh(yes). 
A. That was before uhm we even, someone even t o l d us about i t , uhra, 

uh about that she was missi n g or a n y t h i n g . 

Q. Way before? When you were walking with T r a v i s d i d you, d i d you 
see V i c k i e ? 

A. What? 

Q. Did you see V i c k i e ? 

A. When? ^ NOV 0 11334 1 
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Q, Did you see her when you walking to T r a v i s ' ? 
A. Uh-huh(yes). 

Q. Where d i d you see her? 
A, Up by the i n , w e l l she was probably i n the middle of the s t r e e t , 

uhm r i d i n g her b i k e , not that f a s t , and then we 

Q. Did you, 
A. saw the c a r . 

Q. okay, do you remember what, what she was wearing? 
A. Not r e a l l y . I t h i n k i t was pink and white. 

Q. Was i t uh jeans? 
A. No, i t was j u s t uhm s o r t of l i k e a s k i r t , about to here. 

Q. Okay, d i d you see any cars? 

A. Any other cars? 

Q« On the s t r e e t , any cars on the s t r e e t ? 
A. Yeah. 

Q. What k i n d of cars? 

A. Well a couple of parked on t h i s s i d e of the road. 

Q. Uhm-hmmm(yes). 

A. And uhm and and I uhm, t h a t ' s a l l the cars I saw except that 

brown c a r . 
Q. You saw a brown car? 
A. Uhm-hmmm(yes). 

Q. How f a r away was the brown car from you? 
A. Probably, 

Q. Can you t e l l how many houses maybe? Or how f a r up from, 
A. about three houses or four houses away. 

Q. Three or four houses away? What s i d e of the s t r e e t was he parked 

on? 
A. Which car? 

Q. The brown c a r . 
A. It was d r i v i n g . 

Q. It was d r i v i n g ? 
A. A l i t t l e , i t i t was r e a l slow. 

Q. Okay, where was V i c k i e when t h i s car was d r i v i n g r e a l slow? 
A. She was about uhm the t h i r d house over and she k^nd 

of uhm slow and then t h a t ' s when the (Cacoswer/t^'^the'f4 .ike t h i s , 
and then uhm and then she slowed down and the c a r , i t wa, i t was 
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r e a l slow and then i t s o r t of stopped. She, she uhm stopped 
about here and then j u s t saw her, look over, t h a t ' s when we went 
i n the house and then we carae back out and she was gone and the 
car was gone. 

Q. You saw her k i n d of look over to the car? 
A. I n a u d i b l e . 

Q. Okay, d i d she stop her bike at a l l ? 
A. Uh~uh (no ) . She j u s t went r e a l slow. 

Q. And you guys went r e a l slow? Did i t look l i k e the person i n the 
car was l o o k i n g at her? 

A. Sort uh. 

Q. Sort uh? Okay, then you guys went i n the house? 
A. Uh-huh(yes). 

Q. Both of you? 
A. Uh-huh(yes). 

Q. How long d i d you and T r a v i s stay i n the house? 
A. About twenty minutes. 

Q. Twenty minutes? And when you came back out d i d you see V i c k i ? 
A. Uhm-mmm(no). 

Q. Did you see the sarae brown car? 
A. Uhra-mramm(no). 

Q. Now, l e t ' s t a l k about the brown car a l i t t l e b i t . 
A. Okay, r i g h t . 

Q. I see you drew me a n i c e p i c t u r e here. Brown, now there's a l l 
kinds of c o l o r s brown, r i g h t , so there's l i g h t brown, and there's 
kind of dark brown, l i k e t h i s , i t was a, 

A. Some, 

Q. I don't want to put words i n your mouth, i t ' s so hard, would i t 
be a l i g h t brown or a dark brown to s t a r t ? 

A. Well i t was s o r t of i n the middle. I t was s o r t of l i g h t i s h , uhm, 

Q. Can you po i n t out anything 
A. l i g h i s h - d a r k , 

Q. i n the house here that would be almost the sarae c o l o r ? 
A. probably the dark wood on the s t o o l , a r, around l i k e t h a t . 

Qo On the s t o o l here? 
A. Uhra-hmmra(yes), not the top part but the the other p a r t . 

Qo 

A. 
Uhra-hrara(yes ) . 
The l e g s . disclosures Made 
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Q. Was i t a shiny p a i n t job? 
A. Not r e a l l y . 

Q. Were there any marks on the cars that you could t e l l ? On the 
p a i n t ? 

A. A couple of l i g h t s p o t s . 

Q. A couple of l i g h t spots? L i k e maybe when you'd uh have a dent o 
something, and you wanted to the dent out? So 
the spots were l i g h t e r than the c o l o r of the car? 

A. Uhmmmm, a l i t t l e b i t l i g h t e r . 

Q. Where were the de, where were the l i g h t spots on the car? 
A. There was one on the hood, I I mean not on the hood but the uhm 

trunk, was on the trunk. And there was one by t h i s l i g h t r i g h t 
here, t h a t ' s a l l I saw 

Q. Where, where on the trunk would you say? 
A. probably about here on the top of the trunk. 

Q. How f a r away do you t h i n k you were from the car? 
A. About uh, uhmm maybe ten yards or or e i g h t y a r d s . 

Q. And t h a t ' s three or f o u r houses down from T r a v i s ' ? 
A. Uhm-hmmm(yes). 

Qo P o s s i b l e i t co u l d be a l i t t l e f a r t h e r ? 
A. Maybe. 

Q. Do i t have any s t i c k e r s on the bumper or the back or on the 
window or anything? 

A. No. 

Q. L i k e a r a d i o s t a t i o n or anything l i k e that? A c o l l e g e ? 
A. No, 

Q. What about the l i c e n s e p l a t e s ? What d i d they look l i k e ? 
A. Well i t was k i n d of a maroon c o l o r , the new A r i z o n a p l a t e and i t 

was A r i z o n a . 

Q. Okay, do you know anything about the back t a i l l i g h t s ? 
A. They were j u s t uhm I, I don't Jihink there was r e a l l y f i v e l i g h t s 

uh there might have been but, 

Q. Uhm-hmm(yes). . 
A. there was a couple of l i g h t s and I th i n k one r e f l e c t o r on the 

back. 

Q. Two? Anything about the buraper stand out, cat c h your eye? 
No. A. 

Q. Could you see i n s i d e the car? 
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A. Sort o f . 

Q. Why s o r t of? 
A. Uhm, because i t has sun, sunblocked uhm w i n d s h i e l d , no I mean 

back w i n d s h i e l d ? . 

Qo J u s t on the back? 
Ao W e l l , 

Q. Could you see, you couldn't 
A. I cou l d n ' t r e a l l y t e l l on the f r o n t . 

Qo seem to t e l l c ould you? I mean, you j u s t saw the car from behind 
r i g h t ? 

A. Uhm-hmmm(yes). 

Q. Okay, how o l d would you say t h i s car was? 
A. Probably maybe one year, two years o l d . 

Q. Do you know s p o r t s cars? 
A. What? 

Q. Do you know what s p o r t s are? 
A. Yes. 

Qo Was i t a s p o r t s car? 

A. Uhm, i t was d i d you see that that b i g y e l l o w car o u t s i d e ? 

Q. Uhm-hmmm(yes). 

A. Uhm, the b i g one? That was probably about l i k e that? It was a 
fancy k i n d of car s o r t of, and i t was k i n d of o l d . 

Q. Kind of old? Older than that one i n the garage? 
A. Uhmmmmmm, I don't know. I don't know how o l d that one i s i n the 

garage. 

Q. Okay, d i d i t have any antennaes on i t or anything that you could 
s t i c k i n g out? 

A. Oh yeah, there was a r a d i o antennae, he had. 

Q. Radio antennae? 
A. Uh-huh(yes). 

Q. In the f r o n t though r i g h t ? 
Ao Yeah. 

Q. You co u l d see i t ? How about the t i r e s , d i d you, what kind of 
t i r e s were they? 

A. They were uhm, they were t r a c k s that had t h i s shape l i k e t h i s and 
then i t had another one here and then another one here and then 
t h i s went down l i k e t h a t , three l i k e s o r t of s t r a i g h t curvy l i n e s 
down, s o r t of they looked l i k e three s t r a i g h t l i n e s , going down, 
but 
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Q . Uhmmm(yes). 

A o I don't t h i n k there's any t i r e s l i k e t h a t . 

Q . Uhm-hmmmCyes). 
A o So i t ' s probably as l i t t l e i s , 

Q . Have you ever seen a car l i k e that before? 
A. Maybe a d i f f e r e n t k i nd of brand, and a d i f f e r e n t c o l o r . 

Q . Uhm-hmmmCyes). 
A. Not that one. 

Q . Okay, anybody, any of your your f r i e n d s or your mom or dad or 
t h e i r f r i e n d s or any neighbors, you ever seen a car l i k e i t ? 

A. Uhm, 

Qo Or c l o s e to i t , maybe not the exact same k i n d of c a r , you know 
what I mean c l o s e ? 

f 
A. L e t ' s see, uhm, I t h i n k so. 

Q . Okay, Rich do you have any que s t i o n s about the car? 
Vo Uhm, we, we seem to be a l i t t l e confused about the, the uh age of 

the c a r , okay? You s a i d i t was k i n d of an o l d e r car and then you 
s a i d maybe a couple years o l d e r . Uh a couple of years o l d i s n ' t 
r e a l l y an o l d car you know? 

A. Yeah. 

V a Do you uhm do you f o l l o w cars? Do you l i k e hot rods and s t u f f 
l i k e t h a t ? You don't, you don't get i n t o cars too much at a l l 
so, you, you r e a l l y don't know, how o l d i t was. Was i t kind of 
beat-up l o o k i n g ? 

A. Sort o f . 

V . It was a l i t t l e beat-up so do do you th i n k i t was maybe kind of 
an o l d e r car, or i t wasn't taken good care of? 

A. I guess. 

Vo I guess, okay, uh but i t was, i t was a bigger c a r , l i k e , l i k e the 
one out there i n the garage? 

A o Yeah, i t i t , was a l i t t l e 

V . The b i g Chevy? , 
A. uhm s m a l l e r , wide c a r . 

V . I t was s m a l l e r than the the Chevy Impala? 
A o Yeah. 

V . Are you t a l k i n g about the Chevy Impala? 
A. Yes. 

Vo I t was s m a l l e r than that? 
A. Uhm-hramm(yes), i t was a l i t t l e s m a l l e r and wideness. 
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V. In width, yeah, okay. I t di d n ' t have, d i d i t have fancy wheels 
on i t or anything l i k e that? 

A. Uhin-rammm(no) . 

V. Was i t j u s t k i n d of l i k e a a r e g u l a r car? It d i d n ' t have, i t 
d i d n ' t have the mag wheels or the the sporty s t u f f l i k e that on 
i t ? 

A. Uhm-mmmm(no). 

Q. How many doors d i d i t have? 
A. Two on each s i d e . 

Q. Two on each s i d e ? Anything e l s e Rich? 
V. Have, have you ever seen that car before? 
A. Uhm-mmm(no), no. 

V. Have you ever seen a car l i k e i t before? Kind of a a popular 
c a r , d i d you ever see one, 

A. No but I seen a couple l i k e i t b e f o r e . 

V. You seen a couple so there's a few of em around? Uh, the guy, 
di d you get a much of a look at the guy? 

A. Not r e a l l y . 

V. Not r e a l l y ? Did you, d i d you thi n k maybe you r e c o g n i z e d him or 
have you ever seen him around anywhere before? 

A. Uhm-mmmm(no). 

V. How long have you l i v e d here where you're at? 
A. Uh, s i n c e the middle of second grade. 

V. The middle of second grade? So you j u s t k i nd of moved i n t o t h i s 
house, r i g h t ? How where d i d you l i v e before? 

A. In Phoenix. 

V. You l i v e d i n Phoenix? And then you moved, moved to Tucson? I n , 
i n t h i s house here? 

A. Uhm-hmmmCyes). 

V. Okay, so you've been here f o r how long? 
A. About two and a h a l f y e a r s , no uh 
U. About a year and three q u a r t e r ^ . 
U. December of 1982. 

V. So you've been around the neighborhood f o r a while? 
A. Uhra-hramm(yes). 

V. You j u s t have never seen that car before? 
A. I n a u d i b l e . 

V. And you saw t h i s , j u s t a f t e r you got out of s c h o o l , you and your 
f r i e n d were walking home, 
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A . Uhm-hmm(yes). 

V. and when you were coming up to P o c i t o , where your f r i e n d l i v e s , 
t h a t ' s when you saw the car? 

A . Yep. 

Vo So and you get out of sch o o l at about uh 2:10, so you t h i n k maybe 
i t was around 2:20 or so when you saw em? 

A o Uhm-hmmmCyes). 

V. How do you know V i c k i e ? Does she go to your school? 
A . Yeah. 

V. Was i n your c l a s s ? 
A . Uh, 

V. Was she i n a o l d e r c l a s s or? 
A . younger, 

V. Younger? 
A . she's i n T r a v i s ' s i s t e r ' s c l a s s . 

Vo T r a v i s ' s i s t e r ' s c l a s s ? So you know her to see her, to t a l k to 
her and s t u f f l i k e that? So th e r e ' s no doubt i n your mind that 
t h a t t h i s i s the same g i r l that we're t a l k i n g about? Yeah? 

A o I don't know what you mean by t h a t . 

V o W e l l , uh i s i s i s t h i s V i c k i e that you saw r i d i n g the b i c y c l e ? 
A. UhmmmmmmmmCyes). 

Vo Okay, so you're sure i t wasn't some other g i r l ? 
A. Yeah. 

V. You know V i c k i e and uhm, 
Q. The only t h i n k I have a l i t t l e q u e s t i o n on i s the time again uh, 

you're s a y i n g about 2:30 and a c c o r d i n g to V i c k i e ' s mom and 
J e n n i f e r ' s uh T r a v i s ' s i s t e r , i t was around 3:30, she was there. 

A. yeah but we d i d n ' t get home, we d i d n ' t get home tha t l a t e . Uh we 
only saw i t when we came home. 

U. Maybe I can help out a l i t t l e . When I c a l l e d you at T r a v i s ' 
because you d i d n ' t c a l l me a f t e r school? That was about 3:15, 
now was t h i s a f t e r or 

A. Be f o r e . ' 

U. i t was be f o r e . 
V. About how long b e f o r e , any any idea? 
A. Probably maybe an hour or t h i r t y rainutes b e f o r e . 

V. Okay, so again too, you're t a l k i n g about r i g h t a f t e r you got out 
of s c h o o l and you d i d n ' t , you d i d n ' t play at the sch o o l ground or 
anything e l s e ? 

A. What happened, we got out of s c h o o l and me and T r a v i s were 
walking to get here with the r e s t of the c l a s s that walks and or 
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r i d e s bikes and we went past the classroom. We went down the 
s t r e e t and down the path and to h i s house. 

you're not gonna get 
i n no t r o u b l e i f i t was you know, i f you were a few minutes l a t e , 
don't worry about t h a t . Nobody's gonna get you i n t r o u b l e . We 
j u s t have to be sure about the times. Cause see, we have, we 
have a l i t t l e problem with the times. You're s a y i n g a l i t t l e b i t 
e a r l i e r than i t a c t u a l l y r e a l l y , supposedly happened. So i f i t 
was, i f i t was a l i t t l e b i t l a t e r , don't worry about you know, 
your mom's not gonna y e l l at you. I'm c e r t a i n l y not gonna y e l l 
at you. 

Uo Yeah. 

Q. Your dad i s n ' t gonna y e l l at you. He a i n ' t gonna y e l l at you. 
So i f i t was a l i t t l e l a t e r , you know, l i k e I s a i d b e f o r e , when I 
f i r s t t a l k e d to you at the house t h e r e , you guys s a i d i t was a 
l i t t l e l a t e r than t h a t . I t was about 3:30 you t o l d me. So i f 
you goofed around at the school ground or di d n ' t s t r , d i r e c t l y to 
T r a v i s ' , n o b o d y ' s g o n n a c a r e . 

U. Yeah, I asked him on the way horae i f i t was before or a f t e r the 
c a l l to.hira, and he s a i d i t was b e f o r e . 

V. Okay, w e l l the the reason that we're asking you C h r i s , i s because 
we t h i n k that i t happened, we t h i n k that raaybe she vanished or 
got l o s t a f t e r t h a t , cause we've had other people that saw her 
maybe around 3:30 or so, 3:15. Okay, so t h a t ' s why we t h i n k 
maybe i t was.around 3:30. And t h a t , t h a t ' s why i t ' s kind of 
important to know e x a c t l y what time you saw her. 

A. But what might have happened i s , maybe the car went by by her and 
she got scared and. she dropped her bike and ran away. 

V. Uhra-hrarara(yes). And y, you stayed i n your house, i n your f r i e n d ' s 
house f o r awhile? 

A. Uhra-hmmm(yes)• 

V. And then you carae back out, and d i d you see her bike i n the road 
or anything? Or d i d you ever see her bike? 

A. Well not r e a l l y we j u s t , I j u s t , uhm glanced a t i t , I j u s t turned 
my head and saw uhm j u s t the s t r e e t and then, and I di d n ' t r e a l l y 
look c l o s e l y . Then, I I t o l d T r a v i s I wanted, l e t ' s play i n s i d e 
h i s house. And so we went back i n . 

V. So you never saw her bike l a y i n g there or anything e l s e ? 
A. I n a u d i b l e . 

V. Okay, 
Q. What can you t e l l us about the man? 
A. Well he had a moustache and I cou l d n ' t r e a l l y t e l l the c o l o r of 

his h a i r or anything and we was probably about twenty-nine years 
o l d , around t h e r e . 

U. P r e t t y good huh, twenty-nine, he's twenty-nine. 

MOV 0 1 1934 1 
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V. How how long of h a i r ? 
A. It was probably about the same as my dad's. 
U. P r e t t y s h o r t . 

V. Kind of short? See what kind of s h i r t he had on? 
A. Dad t u r n around, show him the back of your h a i r , yeah probably 

about t h e r e . 
U. Did i t , d i d i t look l i k e that? 
A. I t wasn't down s t r a i g h t , i t was c u t , i t looked shaggy 

U. More shaggy i n the back. 
A. Okay, you can tur n back around dad. 

Q. Could you see what k i n d of s h i r t he had on? 
A. Uh—uh(no). 

Q. L i k e Rich asked you b e f o r e , you never seen him before? 
A. Uh-uh(no). 

Q. Okay, Rich anything e l s e ? I don't have anything e l s e . C h r i s i s 
there anything uh that I f o r g o t to ask you, that might be 
important? 

A. I don't t h i n k so. 

Q. Okay, t h i s statement w i l l be concluded at 1926 hours. 9-17-84. 

A. 
Was he a white guy? 

I HAVE READ THE FOREGOING ELEVEN PAGE 
STATEMENT AND FIND IT TO BE MINE AS GIVEN 
TO DETECTIVES POPP AND VAN SKIVER ON 
SEPTEMBER 17, 1984. 

CHRISTOPHER ALLAN BECKLEY DATE 

WITNESSES: 

DETECTIVE POPP DATE 

DETECTIVE VAN SKIVER DATE 
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TRANSCRIBED BY: 

ANDREA J0Y/&E;^DE1^IS DATE 

Disclosures Maue m 0 1 1934 I 
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FP-302 (REV.3-B-77) 

F E D E R A L B U R E A U OF INVESTIGATION 

Dale of !'?p*"''p*'r'" ^ ^ /8A-

T r a v i s Spencer, 4279 N, P o c i t o , vjas c o ntacted by 
S p e c i a l Agent Reuben V, M a r t i n e z and Pima County S h e r i f f ' s 
O f f i c e D e t e c t i v e Sue Seligman a t the Davis School, 4250 N, 

^ Romero Rd, They r e s p e c t i v e l y i d e n t i f i e d themselves and 
i n d i c a t e d t h a t he was b e i n g contacted r e g a r d i n g the 9/17/84, 
disappearance o f V i c k i Hoskinson. I n t h i s r e g a r d , Spencer 
f u m i s h e d the f o l l o w i n g i n f o r m a t i o n : 

Spencer, who i s nine years o l d , a d v i s e d t h a t he 
i s w e l l a c q u a i n t e d w i t h V i c k i Hoskinson, i n d i c a t i n g t h a t they 
both a t t e n d the same s c h o o l . 

He a d v i s e d t h a t on 9/17/84, a t approximately 
2s30 pm, he and C h r i s B e c k l e y were w a l k i n g home from s c h o o l 
when they saw a c a r b e i n g d r i v e n by a female very s l o w l y . He 
then n o t i c e d V i c k i Hoskinson who \-ja.s r i d i n g her b i k e . He 
e x p l a i n e d t h a t both o f them was q u i t e a ways away from him, 
but he f e l t c e r t a i n t h a t the g i r l on the b i k e was Hoskinson» 
He i n d i c a t e d t h a t i t appeared t h a t the v e h i c l e was bein g 
d r i v e n a l o n g s i d e Hoskinson. 

Spencer a d v i s e d t h a t he continued on home and d i d 
not see a c o n f r o n t a t i o n between Hoskinson and the v e h i c l e ' s 
occupant. 

Spencer a d v i s e d t h a t he re c o g n i z e t h i s v e h i c l e 
as h a v i n g seen i t b e f o r e near h i s house. 

He d e s c r i b e d the v e h i c l e as.being brown i n c o l o r 
and p o s s i b l y h a v i n g f o u r doors. He remembered t h a t the v e h i c l e 
had some gray spots on the r e a r of the v e h i c l e . 

Spencer was unable t o f u r n i s h a d e s c r i p t i o n of the 
lone occupant, o t h e r than the d r i v e r was a female. 

C2i 
InvesiigBiion oft 9/19/84 Tucson, A r i z o n a 

bv. 

SA Reuben V» M a r t i n e z 
D e t e c t i v e Sue S e l l g m m RVM/rvm p,,^ 

.u^ PX 7A-1196 

9/21/84 

This document cpntairw neither fecommendaiions nor condusions of Ihe FBI, ll Is the property of the FBI ifMf'^^Joy/j^l^aBO^Y. 
it end Its contarHt are not to l>e distfibuted outside your agency. Dt»cl06fir«S m<i9 rlUV 
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PIMA COUNTY SHERIFFS DEPARTMENT 
P.O. BOX 910, TUCSON, ARIZONA 85702 

c 
[Report NumMr 

^ . 8 4 0 9 1 7 0 4 0 
""%fn»el-Up Report Numbar 

Incident Localion 
P 0 C I T 0 AND ROOT L A N E 

Class 

Rttportino Ollicer 
D E P . L 0 N G 0 R 1 A 

BedgS' 

1626 

Typ#i_l By 
R I T A G . U Z U E T A 

____5__H_^_^________^_E3______5 

I.D. 

11607 
'Sar l i l .Numbw • 

Tim® 

Dale 
0 9 / 1 8 / 8 4 

OiSI. Bail 

Tim® 

Page 

R#v.®w@^ By 

Storage Cod® Oat® Typed 
1 0 / 0 3 / 8 4 
TypA • ••' ZjXApoiiaipiiem 0<Property' ̂ ^yf:.^ry^^^^rp^^^ | |pV»t«»,. ;..r 

On Tuesday 
Mobile Park on 
Information on 
composite he wa 
composite of th 

Subject No 
W/M, 5'9", 145 
park to unknown 
wear earrings. 

Subject No 
wears earrings. 
Possible licen8 
Calahar, #209, 

September 18, 1984, I met Mr. Don Gruver at the Acacia 
Shannon Road. Mr. Gruver Is the manager, and has 
two subjects that have certain features that resenble the 
s given by the Sheriff's Auxiliary Volunteers. The 
e female subject Is the composite referred to by Mr. Gruve 

. I - J.R. Hover or Lydom P. Hover, 18 - 19 years of age, 
lbs., brown hair, shoulder length. Has moved out of the 
place. Possible address: 14320 Masslngale. Subject doe 
Unable to locate. 

. 2 - Jimmy (Brown) Canal,, 20 years of age, black halt, 
drives 1978 Dodge or Ford. No further Infortnatlon* 

e number, PKD-807. Mr. Gruver states Catalima Deputy 
knows this subject, J. R. Hover. 

t 
Informationi Space No. 9, Acacia Gardens 

Nettie Saint, phone number 887-1165, related t 
September 17, 1984, at approximately-1430 hour 
'on the park property looking at the children p 
toward the Indian female, and she drove off at 
the park. area. Subject was driving a brown an 
unknown model, no further description on vehic 
an Indian female, 30 - 50 years of age* dLrty 
approximately 140 lbs. The female subject was 
suspicious. The vehicle made a loud noise, as 
rattled* as If something was loose, when It we 

Mobile Hone Park. Mrs. 
he following. On Monday, 
s, she saw an Indian female 
laying. Mrs. Nettie walked 
a high rate of speed leavi 

d white station wagon, 
le. Female Is described as 
blue jeans, dirty shirt, 
very nervous and acting ve 
it left the park. It 
nt over speed bumps. 

Fh 
JUL 5 1988 1 

^_, 
Rttbsiras Mads MOY 0 2 EM I 

06-FJA018106 
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PIMA COUNTY SHERIFFS DEPARTMENT 
P.O. BOX 910, TUCSON, ARIZONA 85702 

( 

Report Number 

840917040 
onnacl-Up Report Number 

Ty p«d By 

RITA G. UZUETA 

Incident Location 

POCITO AND ROOT LANE 
Reporting Officer 

DET. K. BRENNAN 
t.D. 

1607 
Date Typed 

09/20/84 

Badge 
506 SX 

Time 

Class 

Date 

09/19/84 

Dist. Beat 

Time 

1700 
Storage Cod© 

Pago 

1 of * 
Reviewed By 

ly l f i f l l fSj^^ 

Contacted Gail Murphy, 5332 N. Royal Palm Dr., 293-4159, who stated that a white male 
and female in a tan SW followed her from school. She las t saw the vehicle 1% hours before 
contact. NFI. 

c 7<tog*l|4«£Ut_B9ft _\**« * . ( j \ r mm it 

Measures Made JUL 51985 1 
w%P@ 

f.C.0.&. _ _ * f f W . f f . P M T R P P O R T — n . n . S . N A R R A T I I / P 8/1/8__ 

07-FJA019240 
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THE FOLLOWING WILL BE THE STATEMENT OF MRS. CHARLENE DENISE NANEZ. 
SHERIFF'S OFFICE CASE ii'S'i-09-17-040. THE DATE OF THIS STATEMENT IS 
9-18-84. THE TIME OF THE STATEMENT WILL BE 1204 HOURS. TUE STATEMENT 
IS BEING TAKEN AT THE SHERIFF'S OFFICE COMMAND POST LOCATED ON WEST 
PRINCE ROAD, PRESENT ALSO IS DETECTIVE RICH VAN SKIVER, BADGE #466 
PIMA COUNTY SHERIFF'S OFFICE. QUESTIONS BEING ASKED BY DETECTIVE 
ROGER POPP BADGE #630, PCSO. 

LEGEND: Q. - DETECTIVE POPP A. = CHARLENE NANEZ 
V. " DETECTIVE VAN SKIVER 

Q. Charlene c o u l d you s t a t e your f u l l name f o r me? 
A. Charlene Denise Nanez. 

Q. What Is your date of b i r t h ? 
A, 03-19-1964. 

Q. What i s your home address? 
A. I t ' s 4213 North Romero, apartment 211. 

Q. How l o n g have you l i v e d at t h a t a d d r e s s ? 
A, For a l i t t l e o ver a month now* 

Q. Okay, what's the name of the l a s t s c h o o l you attended? 
A. Pima C o l l e g e , Community C o l l e g e * 

Q. Okay what *s the h i g h e s t grade you a t t a i n e d ? 
A. Uhm two y e a r s i n c o l l e g e . 

Q. Two years i n c o l l e g e ? Okay, who do you l i v e w i t h Mrs. Nanez? 
A. I l i v e w i t h my eon Joseph Nanez, and my husband Johnny Nanez* 

And a b r o t h e r - i n - l a w , Sampy Nanez. 

Q. Sammy? 
A. Yes. 

Q. We r e c e i v e d I n f o r m a t i o n , C h a r l e n e , t h a t at a p p r o x i m a t e l y two 
weeks ago, on a Sunday, Sunday e v e n i n g t h a t you had an 
a l t e r c a t i o n , w i t h a, a a woman, tn the apartment complex? 

A. Uhm-hmmm(ye s ) . 

Q. Over your son Joseph* Can you t e l l rae ap, uh uh uh a p p r o x i m a t e l y 
when t h a t was? 

A. It was, i t was l e s s than t h a t , I t was a month ag, I mean a week 
ago Monday. 

Q. A week ago Monday? 
A. Cause I was do i n g l a u n d r y , 

Q» Okay i t was a Monday? 
A. I t was a Monday> was t h a t ray l a s t day o f f , Sunday? 

U* I t h i n k BO* HscTesures Mad6 NOV 0 1 1984 % 

JSfc&iarGs MaSfi JUL 5 ) 
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STATEMENT OF CHARLENE NANEZ PAGE 2 CASE// 84-09-17-OAO 

A> Yeah, i t was a Monday* 

Q. What time of t h e , day or evening was i t ? 
A. It was about 8:00, between 8:00 and 8:30. 

Q» Okay and you were i n the l a u n d r y room of the apartment complex? 
A- Uhm-hffimm(yes)* 

Q* Where i s the l a u n d r y room l o c a t e d ? 
A. The l a u n d r y room was l o c a t e d on uh the f a r e a s t s i d e of the 

b u i l d i n g . 

Q* Uhm-hmmmCyes). 
A. In the c e n t e r of the complex. 

Q. Was your l i t t l e boy w i t h you then? 
A* Yes he was* 

Q. Was t h e r e anybody e l s e i n the l a u n d r y r o o m ? 
A. Going i n and out, at that t i m e , t h e r e was nobody i n t h e r e , when 

t h i s happened* 

Q. Did a n y t h i n g unusual happen w h i l e you were d o i n g your laundry? 

A* Yes I had a c r a z y l a d y go In t h e r e , as my son was p l a y i n g with 
the knob on the door, of the l a u n d r y mat, he was p u t t i n g i n the 
key t n t h e r e and the c r a z y l a d y come around the c o r n e r , grabbed 
him and s t a r t e d t a k i n g him o u t s i d e , and then I grabbed him. 

Q. Okay, you * re s a y i n g a c r a z y l a d y came i n and grabbed him? 
A. Grabbed him, a c t u a l l y , p h y s i e a l l y j u s t , 

Q* Okay he was i n s i d e the l a u n d r y room? 

A* p i c k e d him up. He was i n s i d e the l a u n d r y room, about f i v e f e e t 
away from me. ^ 

Q. She p i c k e d him up? 
A* She p i c k e d him up. 

Q. And then she t r i e d to leave the l a u n d r y room? 
A. She t r i e d to l e a v e the l a u n d r y room, i n f a c t , she was going out 

tbe door as I stopped her. 

Q. Okay, can you d e s c r i b e t h i s woiaan to me? 
A. She was a mexican l a d y , I b e l i e v e i n her e a r l y t w e n t i e s , with 

bangs i n the f r o n t , h a i r to the s h o u l d e r l e n g t h , uhm dark, dark 
h a i r , l i g h t - c o l o r e d s k i n . I mean she i t wasn't a d a r k n e s s , but 
she had a t a n - c o l o r e d s k i n , c omplexion. 

Q. Uhm-hmmmm(yes)-
A. Uhm, she had the high-cheekbones, and v e r y f u l l l i p s , and sh, was 

s k i n n y , was wearing c u l o t t e s , brown c u l o t t e s , 

Q* What c o l o r were they? 
A. brown c u l o t t e s . 

DSclosufes Made NOV 0 11984 1 
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STATEMENT OF CHARLENE NANEZ PAGE 3 CASE# 84-09-17-040 

Q, Okay, 

A. and uhm eome s o r t of blue s h i r t . 

Q. okay. 

A. And she was drunk. I c o u l d s m e l l t h a t a m i l e away. 

Q. You c o u l d s m e l l , 
A. Yeah. 

Q. okay. Did you see any j e w e l r y ? 
A. No I d i d not. I the only t h i n g I can vaguely remember i s a 

t u r q u o i s e watch, and t h a t was o n l y cause I was l o o k i n g at her 
hands <. 

Q. Would you say she was an a t t r a c t i v e woman? 
A. X would say she was. 

Q. About how t a l l would you say she was? 
A, About 5'4", 5'5". 

Q. How about her b u i l d ? 
A. She was skinny b u i l t , but not s k i n n y , s k i n n y , average b u i l t . 

Q* Had you ever seen her b e f o r e ? 
A, No, I have never. 

Q. Did your, had your, 
A. I guess I d i d before t h a t , as a matter of f a c t , she had, 

^had g o t t e n up, g o t t e n up and walked 
a c r o s s the laundry room, there b e f o r e , maybe twenty minutes 
b e f o r e she had t r i e d t a k i n g him. 

Q. t h a t same day? 
A. Yeah, she had g o t t e n out of a l i t t l e blue car and walked a c r o s s 

and was going somewhere* 

Q* A l i t t l e blue car? 
A. A l i t t l e blue c a r , l i k e a, 

Q- Do you, 

A. l i k e a one of the Datsuns, the 910*s, the l o n g e r ones. L i k e one 
of the, 

Q was i t a newer c a r , or an o l d e r , 
A. i t was an o l d e r c a r . 

Q. an o l d e r car? 
A. Probably i n the e a r l y s e v e n t i e s . 

Q. Had you ever seen the car In t h a t , i n the complex b e f o r e ? 

A. No. 

Q. That p a r t i c u l a r c a r , have you seen i t einee?yrflt MflOfl MOV 01 11 
i:.K.:.:vUires Mado JUL 5 1985 i 
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C 

Q. 
A. 

A. 

A. 

C J ; 

A. 

Q. 
A. 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 
A. 

A. 

m t 
^ Q. 

No, I have not , but she s a i d she wouldn't, I t o l d her she was 
r e a l c r a z y and e v e r y t h i n g , when she t r i e d to p i c k up Joseph. I 
t o l d her, I go something's wrong w i t h you, you got problems, 
cause she s t a r t e d screaming t h a t t h a t was her l i t t l e boy and t h a t 
her l i t t l e boy d i d n ' t get run over by a p o l i c e o f f i c e r , a month 
b e f o r e t h a t . 

Did get run over by a, 
l i k e she s a i d , she s a i d that he got run over by a p o l i c e o f f i c e r , 
and the p o l i c e B»ld that the l i t t l e boy was dead, but that was 
her l i t t l e boy» So she was d e f i n i t e l y c r a z y . And I j u s t took 
him away from her and t o l d her she's got problems, to get out of 
t h e r e . I was r e a l I r r a t e about I t . 

d i d you have to f i g h t her i n any way to get your c h i l d back? 
I had to l i k e you know, p u l l the arms o f f of Joseph, and her arms 
away from him, t e a r em away l i k e t h a t . 

Did she say where she l i v e d ? 
No she d i d n ' t , the on l y t h i n g that gave me any s o r t of i d e a that 
she l i v e d a t , t h i s when she s a i d she had t o , she was gonna f i n i s h 
g oing u p s t a i r s and f i n i s h her beer. That's the o n l y t h i n g . 

Did yoo s, d i d you see her going any, 
th a t maybe, I seen her walking up, 

p a r t l e u , 
toward the s t a i r s . I wanted to make sure she l e f t , so she was 
wa l k i n g towards the uh, 

di d you see her go up the s t a i r s ? 
no. 

Have you seen her s i n c e t h i s happened? 
No I haven't. , 

Uh at t h i s p o i n t , you don't know I f she l i v e s t h e r e or or was 
v i s i t i n g ? 
No I don't, I have no Idea. 

Did she, d i d you n o t i c e , d i d you d e t e c t any f a c i a l s c a r s ? 
No. I do, w e l l the t h i n g about her Is she had the bangs, the 
bangs t h a t f l i p down i n the f r o n t . 

Uhm-hmmmCyes). How was her h a i r p a r t e d ? 

She had 11, i t was down the c e n t e r , f l i p p e d down l i k e t h i s , uh 
l e t rae t h i n k , and then lo n g e r s t r a i g h t , I mean s t r a i g h t , I mean 
s t r a i g h t to the s h o u l d e r s . 

Did she speak w i t h any type of accent? 

Ko, she spoke p e r f e c t E n g l i s h . 

P e r f e c t E n g l i s h ? A f t e r you got your son back, d i d you c o n t i n u e 
to do your l a u n d r y ? 

D}jc»osof« Mflne NOV 011984 
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STATEMENT OF CHARLENE NANEZ PAGE 5 CASE*? 84-09-17-040 

A. I took him back up and set with h i s , l i k e my b r o t h e r - i n - l a w , and 
s a i d you watch him<. 

Q. Did you c a l l the S h e r i f f ' s Department? 
A, No I d i d n ' t , I j u s t thought i t was a drunk, c r a z y l a d y , t h a t ' s 

a l l I took i t as. S a i d she was drunk and when she got drunk, she 
s t a r t i n g t h i n k i n g of her l i t t l e . 

Q. Uhm-hmmmCyes). 
A. That's a l l 1 thought of I t . 

Q. Uhm-hmmm(yes). Did she mention the uh the l i t t l e boy's name? 
A. No she d i d n ' t . 

Q. Any names? 
A. She s a i d i t happened a month ago, that the p o l i c e s a i d t h a t t h e r e 

had they were uhm c h a s i n g somebody and her l i t t l e boy's b a l l ran 
out i n t o the road, and and a p o l i c e o f f i c e r h i t him. 

Q. Did she say where i t happened? 
A. I took Is as Tucs, I she d i d n ' t ^ I don't know why 1 s a i d t h a t . 

Q. Did you n o t i c e a n y t h i n g p a r t i c u l a r about her hands, d i d she have 
l o n g f i n g e r n a i l s or would they be working person's hands? 

A. They looked l i k e working person's hands. They were r e a l rough, 
c o a r s e . 

Q. Okay, the blue c a r you saw her get out of a g a i n , you say It was 
po, uh uh p o s s i b l y a Datsun? 

A, Uhm-hmmmm(yes)• 

Q. Am I c o r r e c t ? What shade of blue? 
A. None of these even have i t , i t was an o l d d i n g , oh that man over 

t h e r e i n the blue j e a n s , 

Q, Uhm-hraffi(yes). ' 
A. l i k e h i s t u r q u o i s e b l u e , l i k e t h a t . 

Q. Oh yeah, t u r q u o i s e blue-
A. Veah, but a o l d , k i n d o f , i t ' s not s h i n y , 

Q. J u s t faded? 
A. or a n y t h i n g i t ' s faded* 

Q. Faded c o l o r ? Did you n o t i c e the l i c e n s e p l a t e s ? 
A. I n a u d i b l e . 

Q. R i c h , D e t e c t i v e Van S k i v e r , i s there any q u e s t i o n s you'd l i k e to 
ask, Mrs. Nanez? 

V. I, I can't t h i n k of a n y t h i n g r i g h t now-

Q* Has your boy hurt i n any way? 

A. No he wasn't. He was shook up a l i t t l e b i t * 
JUL 5 1985 1 
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STATEMENT OF CHARLENE NANEZ PAGE 6 CASE// 84-09-17-040 

Q. I f you were to see t h i s woman ag a i n , 
A. I would d e f i n i t e l y r e c o g n i z e her. 

Q. You, you t h i n k you'd be a b l e to r e c o g n i z e her? 
A. D e f i n i t e l y . 

Q. Is t h e r e a n y t h i n g t h a t I may have f a i l e d to ask you that you 
t h i n k ' s important at t h i s time, about the I n c i d e n t ? 

A. Uhmmm th a t I t h i n k she's got some mental problems and uh, 

Q« Has t h i s statement been t r u t h to the best of your knowledge and 
b e l i e f ? 

A. Yes. 

Q» Has anyone f o r c e d you or promised you or t r i c k e d you i n anyway to 
g i v e me t h i s statement? 

A. No. 

Q« Uhm, t h i s statement w i l l be concluded at 1214 hours on 9-18-84. 

KsdosufM Mada NOV 0 11934 I 
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STATEMENT OF CHARLENE NANEZ PAGE 7 CASKif 84-09-17-040 

I HAVE READ THE FOREGOING SIX PAGE STATEMENT 
AND FIND IT TO BE MINE AS GIVEN TO 
DETECTIVES POPP AND VAN SKIVER ON SEPTEMBER 
18, 1984. 

CHARLENE DENISE NANEZ DATE 

WITNESSES: 

DETECTIVE ROGER POPP DATE 

DETECTIVE R. VAN SKIVER DATE 

TRANSCRIBED BY: 

ANDRE A JO YCB>pNN DATE 

JUL 51985 1 
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PIMA C O U N T Y S H E R I F F S D E P A R T M E N T 
P.O. BOX 910, T U C S O N . ARIZONA 85702 

pR'-vPort N u m b e r 

84092055 
C o n n e c t - U p R e p o r t N u m b e r 

L o c a t i o n of i nc i den t 

Ina & T h o r n y d a l e - L u c k y S t o r e 
D a t e O c c u r r e d T i m e 

9 / 2 0 / 8 A 11830 
R e p o r t i n g O f f i ce r 

D. A u b r y 

B a d g e 

I 329C 
Of f i ce r N a m e & I.D. A g e n c y 

O f f i ce r N a m e & I.D. A g e n c y 

I.D. Tec f i . R e s p o n d i n g B a d g e 

D a t e R e p o r t e d 

9 / 2 0 / 8 4 
Ar r i va l T ime 

1950 
C l e a r T ime 

2105 
Follow-Up O f f i c e r B a d g e 

O f f i c e r N a m e & I.D. A g e n c y 

O f f i c e r N a m e & I.D. A g e n c y 

I.D. Serv ice Per formed • U N K • P t i o t o s • F i n g e r p r i n t s 

• I.D. A d v i s e d • C o m p o s i t e • O t f i e r 

Dis t r ic t 

c 
B e a t 

22 
P a g e 

1 of 3 
Addltlonitl Forme 

• A c c i d e n t R e p o r t 
• A d d e n d u m 

• A r res t In fo rmat ion 

• C l o s u r e 

• DWI C o n t i n u a t i o n 

• D.D.S. Nar ra t i ve 

• J u v e n i l e C o m p l a i n t 
• J u v e n i l e P a p e r Referral 
• Nar ra t i ve 

• P e o p l e C o n t i n u a t i o n 

• P r o p e r t y C o n t i n u a t i o n 
• V e t i l c l e C o n t i n u a t i o n 

F o r w a r d C o p i e s of T h i s R e p o r t to: 

S a t . P a u l P e d e r s o n , #302 
At tend ing P h y s i c i a n P h o n e W h o T r a n s p o r t e d H o s p i t a l / l v l e d i c a l Fac i l i t y 

1 Person C o d e : V - V i c t i m / W - W i t n e s s / D - O r i v e r 

i R P - R e p o r t i n g P e r s o n / I L - l n v e s t i g a t i v e L e a d 

Relat ionship C o d e : S P - S p o u s e / P A - P a r e n t / G U - G u a r d i a n / C H - C h i l d / O R - O t h e r R e l a t i v e / F R - F r i e n d / B F - B o y f r i e n c | 

G F - G i r l f r i e n d / N E - N e i g h b o r / E f v 1 - E m p l o y e r or E m p l o y e e / C W - C o - w o r k e r / S T R - S t r a n g e r / U N K - U n k n o w n 

C o d e 

V 

No. 

1 

NAfvIE: L a s t / F i r s t / M l ( N i c k n a m e / A K A ) 

K A L I N S K I , A r r o n 

B i r t hda te 

2 / 1 9 / 7 7 
A g e j R a c e 

7 W 

S e x 

M 
R e l a t i o n s h i p 
( ^ ^ e ^ j S u ^ N o . 

H o m e A d d r e s s : N u m b e r / S t r e e t / A p t . / C i t y / S t a t e / Z i p 

3455 W. T u r k e y L a n e 

H o m e P h o n e 

7 4 4 - 4 5 4 1 

W o r k P h o n e D a y s / H o u r s 

0800-1430 
W o r k / S c h o o l : N a m e / A d d r e s s 

D e G r a z i a S c h o o l 

Injury 

None 
C o d e 

V 

No. 

2 

NAfvIE: Las t /F i r s t / f v l l ( N i c k n a m e / A K A ) 

K A L I N S K I , G i n q e r 

Bi r thda te A g e R a c e 

9 W 

S e x 

F 

R e l a t i o n s h i p 
C o d e 1 S u b N o . 

S t r . 1 1 
' H o m e A d d r e s a : N u m b e r / S t r e e t / A p t . / C i t y / S t a t e / Z i p 

3455 W. T u r k e y L a n e 

H o m e P h o n e 

744 -4541 
W o r k P h o n e Da)^ /h | j3urs 

0800-1430 ! 
| W o r k / S c h o o l : N a m e / A d d r e s s 

D e G r a z i a C s h o o l 

Injury 

None 
|PremlBes SD N /A 
^ Residential 
I • Apa r tmen t 

• Hote l / fv lo te l 
• fvlobi le H o m e / C a m p e r 
• S i n g l e D w e l l i n g ( H o u s e , 

T o w n h o u s e , Dup lex) 
0 O t h e r R e s i d e n t i a l 

^ I f ^ o n - R e s i d e n l i a l 
1 • C o n v e n i e n c e / G r o a 

Dept. S to re / l v la l l 

• G e n e r a l O f f i c e 
O D r u g / f v l e d i c a l 
• Fas t F o o d 
• R e s t a u r a n t 
• B a r 
• F i n a n c i a l 
• fsd fg . /Const ruc t ion 
• P u b l i c B u i l d i n g 
(• S e r v i c e S t a t i o n 
• O t h e r S t r u c t u r e 

Non-Slructure 
• F e n c e d Y a r d 
• O p e n Y a r d 
• P a r k 
• O t h e r 
Vehicle 
• A u t o 
• T r u c k 
• C y c l e / S c o o t e r 
n O t h e r 

Structure 
J Z ' N / A 

• O c c u p i e d 
• U n o c c u p i e d 
• U n i n h a b i t e d 

• A b a n d o n e d 
• O t h e r 

Structur 
B " N / A 
• R e a r 

• F ron t 

• S i d e 

• Roo f 
• Sky l i gh t 

Entry Point 
• D o o r 

• W i n d o w 

• V e n t 

• W a l l 

• O t h e r 

• U n k n o w n 
• D o g g i e D o o r 

M e a n * of Entry 
a N / A 
• C u t t i n g 
n P r y i ng 
• G r i p p i n g 
• P i c k i n g 
• P h y s . F o r c e 
• N o F o r c e 
• O t h e r 
• U n k n o w n 

netrument 
X ' N / A 

• K e y / S l i p 
• P r y i ng T o o l 

• H a n d s / F e e t 

• B r i c k / R o c k 
• Bo l t C u t l e r 
• U n k n o w n 

Vandal ism Maana 

M N / A 

i l B r i c k / R o c k 

[ ] B u l l e t / B B 

• S h a r p Ins t rument 

• Pa in l /Chemica ls 

n O t h e r 

Suapect 'a A c t i o n s 
2 P N / A 

• V i c t i m B e a t e n 

• V i c t i m B l i n d f o l d e d 
• V i c t i m G a g g e d 

• V i c t i m H a n d c u f f e d 

• V i c t im T i e d ( rope/e tc . ) 
• D e m a n d e d M o n e y 

• O t h e r 

• j j F o l l o w e d V i c t i m 

• T e l e p h o n e d V i c t im 

• T h r e a t e n e d to K i l l 

• U s e d N o t e s 

• T o o k fvloney f rom R e g i s t e r 

• V i c t i m T o l d No t to C a l l P o l i c e 

• U s e d V u l g a r i t y / P r o f a n i t y 

Vehic le Entry Point 
• N / A 

! • T o p 

I • Trunk 

a' D o o r 

I • W i n d o w 

; • N o F o r c e d E n t r y 

I • O t h e r 

• U n k n o w n 

Safe Info 
E T N / A 

• A t t emp t 

• N o t L o c k e d 

• P r i e d 

• E x p l o s i v e s 

• T a k e n A w a y 

• C o m b i n a t i o n 

K n o w n 

jWeapon Type 
N/A 

• Revo l ve r 

• A u t o m a t i c 

• S h o t g u n 

L l R i l l e 

• S h a r p Ins t rument j 

• C l u b / R o c k / e t c . 

• H a n d s / F i s t s / F e e t 

• O t h e r 

11 O b s e r v e d • Impl ied 
Summary of Proporty 

F i rearm Oeacr lp . 

a=N/A 

• U n k n o w n 

• B l u e S t e e l 

• C h r o m e / N i c k e l 
• S h o r t B a r r e l 
• L o n g B a r r e l 

• D o u b l e B a r r e l 

• S i n g l e B a r r e l 
• Bo l t A c t i o n 

• P u m p 

• S a w e d - O f f 
• O t h e r 

Cal iber 

All vnluea In U.S. dol lar* 
S—Stolen R—Recovered 

C u r r e n c y 
S " 

fb f f l ce Equ ipment 

C o n s u m a b l e G o o d s 
,R 

Data Entry I.D. Date & Tlm< 

S e c o n d W e a p o n Type 
E f N / A • S h a r p Ins t rument 

• R e v o l v e r • C l u b / R o c k / e t c . 

• A u t o m a t i c • H a n d s / F i s t s / F e e t 

• S h o t g u n • O t h e r 

• R i f le 

• O b s e r v e d 
C l o a r a n c e C o d e : 

6 1 . 0 2 I M i s c e l l e a n o u s P u b l i c 

• Imp l ied 

J e w e l r y / P r e c i o u s Meta ls 
S ,R 

T V a / R a d l o s / C a m e r a t / e t c . 
8 . H 
$ S 

Livestock 
S 

C l o t h i n g / F u r s 
S 

F ! r«Brm8 
S 
S 

M i s c e l l a n a o u * 
S R 

Drugs /Narcot ics S ' N / A 

• O p i u m / C o c a i n e 

• f v l a r i j uana /Hash i sh 

• S y n t h e t i c N a r c o t i c s / G l u e / P a i n t 
• D a n g e r o u s D r u g s 
• P e y o t e 
• O t h e r 

Value of D a m a g e , Total 

S 

Local ly Stolen Motor Veh lc lea 
S , R 

Househo ld G o o d s 
S , R 

T O T A L 
S .R 

• S t o l e n V e h i c l e • M i s s i n g P e r s o n • F o u n d P e r s o n • Fug i t i ve Ar res t 

• R e c o v e r e d V e h i c l e • R u n a w a y J u v e n i l e • R e t u r n e d R u n a w a y • S t o r e d V e h i c l e 

P . C . S . D . 500A NCiDENT R E P O R T - BASIC CASE 

I'lovlovvod by 

10 /1 /83 
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KIMA U U U N I Y b M t H i r - h b U b K A H I M t N I 
iPagt R e p o n Nu'mber 

.8A0920055 

Sub jec t C o d e : A—Ar res lee /M — Missingi Re la t i ons f i i p C o d e : S P — S p o u s e / P A — P a r e n t / G U — G u a r d i a n / C H — C h i l d 
Pe rson / S — S u s p e c i / D—Driver / jOR—Othe r Relat ive / F R — F r i e n d / N E — N e i g h b o r / BF—Boy f r i end / I 
F —Found / RJ —Runaway Juven i le ;GF—Gir l f r iend / C W — C o worker / STR—St range r / U N K — U n k n o w n i 2 of 3 

C o d e i N o . NAfvIE: L a s t / F i r s t / M I ( N i c k n a m e / A K A ) 

_ S U 
He igh t [Weight 

Me(j. s tky . 

[ G l a s s e s !Eye Delects 

u n k . 

B i r t hda te | A g e R a c e S e x ! R e l a t i o n s h i p 
C o d e . V i c . N o . 

S t r Uf? 
S o c i a l S e c u r i l y ' N o 

( 
Hai r CIr, | Ha i r L e n g t h I Ha i rs ty le 

blk. shoultjer cur ly 
F a c i a l Ha i r 

none 

E y e CIr. 

u n k . 

C o m p l e x i o n B u i l d 

brown Imetjuim 
J e w e l r y 

u n k . 

| G e n . A p p e a r l C l o t h m g (give C o l o r / T y p e ) t e n n l S S h o e S 

[ b l u e s h o r t s , brown & w h i t e c h e c k e d s h i r t . 

Dr ive r ' s L i c e n s e No . S t a t e 

S c a r s / M a r k s / T a t t o o s (give L o c a t i o n / C o n t e n t / D e s c n p t i o n ) A m pu tat l o n s / D e f o r m i i i e s / l n j u r i e s / H a n d i c a p s 

S p e e c h H a n d U s e d D e m e a n o r iTra i ts H o m e A d d r e s s : N u m b e r / S t r e e t / A p t . / C i t y / S t a t e / Z i p 

H o m e P h o n e W o r k P h o n e W o r k / S c h o o l N a m e / A d d r e s s 
j D a y s / H o u r s 

P a r e n t s / G u a r d i a n ' s N a m e ^ R e l a t i o n s h i p J u v . D i sp . Adu l t B o o k i n g N o . j C h a r g e s : A R S / C i t y C o d e N o . 

V e h i c l e C o d e : V ~ V i c t l m / . A ~ A r r e e t e e / S - r - S u s p e c t / ST•n^Sto le^ / A B - A b a n d o n e d / A C - A c c i d e n t / R E C — R e c o v e r e d 

C o d e 

s 
No. ' l i c e n s e No . S t a t e 

1 lUnk. Iunk 

VIN V. Y e a r i M a k e 

1 
M o d e l 

:omDac 

S t y l e j C o l o r B o t t o m Ins ide 
T o p 1 1 

: small brown: 
M a r k i n g s C o n d i t i o n D a m a g e L o c a t i o n of V e h i c l e 

O w n e r A d d r e s s O w n e r No t i f i ed by 

n Y e s • N o 1 

C o d e j N o . L i c e n s e N o . S t a t e 
1 

; ! 

VIN jv . Y e a r M a k e M o d e l S t y l e C o l o r B o t t o m Ins ide 
T o p 1 1 

i 
M a r k i n g s C o n d i t i o n D a m a g e L o c a t i o n of V e h i c l e 

O w n e r A d d r e s s O w n e r No t i f i ed by 

n Y e s n N o 1 

C r i t i q u e o f t h e In i t ia l i n v e s t i g a t i o n 
1 Is a s u s p e c t n a m e d ? • Y e s 

. C a n the s u s p e c t be i den t i f i ed? • Y e s 
J . Is the s u s p e c t ' s l oca t i on k n o w n ? • Y e s 
4 Is there a s u s p e c t d e s c r i p t i o n ? U Y e s 
5. Is there use fu l p h y s i c a l evidence?n Y e s 
(j Is the s t o l e n p rope r t y t r a c e a b l e ? • Y e s 

N o • U N K 7. A re there any u n c o n t a c t e d w i t n e s s e s ' ' Y e s N o • U N K 

• N o • U N K 8. Is the s u s p e c t v e h i c l e l i c e n s e n u m b e r k n o w n ? Y e s N o • U N K 

• N o • U N K 9. Is t he re a s u s p e c t v e h i c l e d e s c r i p t i o n ? • Y e s C N o • U N K 
N o U N K 10. A re there a l im i ted n u m b e r of p o s s i b l e s u s p e c t s ? • Y e s • N o • U N K 

• N o • U N K 11 . A r e there re la ted s im i la r i n c i d e n t s ? • Y e s • N o • U N K 

N o • U N K 1 2. Is t h e r e a s i gn i l i can t M0'> • Y e s • N o • U N K 

N a r r a t i v e I n s t r u c t i o n s : The nar ra t i ve por t ion o! the i nc iden t repor t s h o u l d 
i n c l u d e a proper ty d e s c r i p t i o n of i t ems s t o l e n or d e s t r o y e d wi th se r i a l -
n u m b e r e d proper ty l i s ted first, f o l l o w e d by a c h r o n o l o g i c a l s y n o p s i s of 

ha l o c c u r r e d 

r 
Type 

P r o p e r t y T y p e : S T — S t o l e n / R E C - R e c o v e r e d / D — D a m a g e d / L — L o s t / 
F — F o u n d . P r o p e r t y D i s p o s i t i o n : (only in c a s e s of f o u n d a r e c o v e r e d proper ty) 
P H - P h o t o g r a p h e d & r e t u r n e d to o w n e r / R T O - R e t u r n e d to owner , no 
P h o t o g r a p h s / P E — P l a c e d in P r o p e r t y a n d E v i d e n c e 

I tem Qty. D i sp . S e r i a l N u m b e r D e s c r i p t i o n of P r o p e r t y Va l^ ie 

I s p o k e w i t h M r s . STARLENE K A L I N S K I , m o t h e r o f the l i s t e c d v i c t i m s , anij 
she a d v i s e d me t h a t w h i l e she was i n t h e L u c k y Stor_e_.at_ Ina & T h o r n y d a l e , t h e 
j a b o v e - l i s t e d f e m a l e a p p r o a c h e d h e r c a r and s t a r t e d t a l k i n g t o h e r two (2) 
j c h i l d r e n , and t h e n a t t e m p t e d to a b d u c t A r r o n , who M r s . K a l i n s k i d e s c r i b e d as 
e x t r e m e l y a t t r a c t i v e , f a i r s k i n n e d , b l o n d h a i r e d , b l u e e y e d b o y . I a s k e d t o 
s p e a k w i t h w i t h A r r o n . A r r o n s t a t e d t h a t t h e l a d y s a i d , "I want t o t a k e you 
home w i t h me, and I have a v e r y n i c e h o u s e " . He t h e n s a i d t h a t she o p e n e d 
the door o f t h e c a r and s t a r t e d t o g e t i n , and as she a t t e m p t e d t o g r a b h i m , 
^e p u n c h e d h e r i n t h e n o s e . She t h e n g o t o u t o f the c a r , and d r o v e away . He 
s t a t e d he was s c a r e d the who le t i m e , b u t h i s s i s t e r w a s n ' t . 

I spoke to G i n g e r i n d i r e c t l y , t h r o u g h h e r m o t h e r , and G i n g e r s a i d t h e 
woman n e v e r t r i e d to g e t i n t o t h e c a r a t a l l , bu t d i d say what A r r o n had 
p t a t e d . She c o u l d g i v e no o t h e r d e s c r i p t i o n on t h e v e h i c l e , o t h e r than' brown 
c o m p a c t , bu t she d i s a g r e e d w i t h A r r o n i n t h a t she f e l t t h a t t h e woman was a 
t ) l ack A m e r i c a n , w i t h s h o r t , c u r l y b l a c k h a i r , and A r r o n f e l t the woman was 
: b r o w n - s k i n n e d , w i t h medium l e n g t h c u r l y brown h a i r . She a l s o d i s a g r e e d ' on 

C^'^L'^u?^'^^^? d e s c r i p t i o n . She s t a t e d the s h i r t was brown and w h i t e c h e c k e d , 
^ . i t h b l u e s h o r t s , and A r r o n s t a t e d t h a t i t was a b r o w n i s h t y p e top w i t h 

.brown s h o r t s . 
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PIMA C O U N T Y S H E R I F P S D E P A R T M E N T 
P.O. BOX 910, TUCSON, ARIZONA 85702 

( 

Repor t N u m b e r 

840920055 
Inc ident L o c a t i o n 

Ina & T h o r n y d a l e - L u c k y S t o r e 
C l a s s 

61.02 
Dist . jBea t 

C \Z2 
P a g e 

3. of 3 
; o n n e c t - U p R e p o r t N u m b e r R e p o r t i n g O f f i ce r B a d g e 

D. A u b r y I329C 
Da te 

9 / 2 0 / 8 4 
T ime 

2050 
R e v i e w e d By 

N a r r a t i v e I n s t r u c t i o n s : Ttie nar ra t ive po r t i on ot tbe i nc i den t report s h o u l d 
i nc l ude a p rope r l y d e s c r i p t i o n of i t ems s t o l e n or d e s t r o y e d wi th s e r i a l -
n u m b e r e d p roper ty l i s l ed first, f o l l o w e d by a c h r o n o l o g i c a l s y n o p s i s of 
w h a l o c c u r r e d . 

P r o p e r t y T y p o : S T — S t o l e n / R E C - R e c o v e r e d / D — D a m a g e d / L — L o s t / 
F — F o u n d . P r o p e r t y D i s p o s i t i o n : (only in c a s e s of f o u n d & r e c o v e r e d property) 
P H — P h o t o g r a p h e d & re tu rned to o w n e r / R T O - R e t u r n e d to owner , n o 
P h o t o g r a p h s / P E — P l a c e d in P rope r t y a n d E v i d e n c e 

T y p e Item Qty. { pi»p. Q e r i a i N u m b e r D e s c r i p t i o n : of P r o p e r t y 

M r s . K a l i n s k i a d v i s e d me t h a t she b e l i e v e d G i n g e r ' s - i n f o r m a t i o n 
a l i t t l e more t h a n A r r o n ' s , b u t t h a t one t h i n g b o t h c h i l d r e n a g r e e d 
on i s what the woman s a i d . M r s . K a l i n s k i d i d n o t s e e t h e i n c i d e n t , 
due t o t h e f a c t t h a t she was i n t h e s t o r e s h o p p i n g , and was unaware o f 
a n y t h i n g h a p p e n i n g u n t i l - she came o u t and the c h i l d r e n r e l a y e d t h e 
s t o r y t o h e r . M r s . K a l i n s k i had no o t h e r l e a d s or s u s p e c t i n f o r m a t i o n 
t h a n what has been s t a t e d h e r e . 
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PIMA COUNTY SHERIFF'S DEPARTMENT 
P.O. BOX 9'tO, TUCSON, ARIZONA 85702 

Roporl Number 

S/84-09-17-040 
.onneel-Up Raport Number 

Incident Location 

Root Ln. & Pocito ( 4200 North ) 
RafWfting Olficer 

X - R.L. Van Skiver 
Typad By ^ "" -LO. 

R.L. Van Skiver | 466 
Date Typed 

10-24-84 

Badge 

466 
Time 

1030 

Class 

51.01 
Dale 

10-24-84 

Disl. 

C 

Beat 

19 
Time 

1030 

P_8« 

J. ©f -w 

Reviewed By 

Storage Coda 

Description ol Property'! A'iX;';j;;:XJJxi^j«;g.. 

On 9-20-84 this officer and others went to the Flying H Trailer park at 4202 N. 
Romero Rd. to Interview the residents there. 1 went to the following trailer spaces and 
contacted the following people. 

c 

Space #38 

Space #37 

Space j.36 

Space #35 

Space # 34 

Space #33 

Space //32 

Space //31 

Space #30 

Space #29 

p.c.s.o. sos 

No one home ( Managers residence ) 

Kathy Jamsem ° was home all day Monday 9-17-84. She advised 
Phone: 888-5093 '\ that she didn't have any information about Vicki, 

-*"' hot.ever> 1 week ago her son was followed home 
from school by a suspicious person-
Suspect: W/M unk age Bro-Blo hair w/mustache 

Levis , no shirt 

Son. Richard 
age 10 yrs. 

Tyleen Gragg 

incident occurred in morning 0730 to 0800 hrs. 
Was reported to school 

•* Was home Monday 9-17-84. Didn't see any suspicious 
persons or vehicles. She advised that last night 

Brothers: her brother was at Tucson Mall & saw woman that 
Darrin Myers 21 matched the woman in drawing. He advised the 
Jimmy Herrin 18 security people at the mall. Occurred 1900 to 
Bob DeCheske 8 2030 hrs. 

Bertha Babke _/• was at home baby sitting on Monday. With her 
Phone: 293-3539/ daughter Mona Paxton. Neither have seen any 

suspicious vehicles or persons. 

No one home 

No one home 

No one home *•» Residence of Janes 6 Larry Paxton, 
till 1830 hrs.. 

Both work 

Sherry VanHoff / f a Advised t h a t she was probably a t home Monday. 
Phone: 293-9129 Did n o t s ee any s u s p i c i o u s people or v e h i c l e s . 

No one home 

Susan C a r l t o n 
Phone! 888-4363. 

«• Advised t h a t she was a t home Monday, however, i s 
" L e g a l l y b l i n d " . Has 4 k i d s . One t o l d h e r 
t h a t t h e drawing of woman looks l i k e a pe r son 
who i s f r i end of t h e fami ly . Subjec t i s a Jean 
Nelson . Also could be ano the r f r i end " Anne t t e " 
who i s an a l c o h o l i c - be longs to " V . I . P . c l ub & 
" Cope " rehab c e n t e r ©n Broadway. 

DSstosums Mads JUL 51985 * 
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Declaration ofjoshuajay Slagle 

I, joshuajay Slagle, declare under penalty of perjury, the following to be true to the 

best of my information and belief: 

1. I am the biological son ofTodd Fries and Tammy Slagle Wat<;on. I am 

the grandson of Annette Fries, Todd's mother. I was born in September 1983 in 

Tucson, Arizona. 

2. I didn't know who my father was until I was 13 years old. Until then, I 

believed my biological father was my mother's husband, Earl Riggs. This is what my 

mother always told me. 

3. I met 'T'odd Fries around 1996, after my mother divorced Riggs. Julie 

Lainhart, Todd's wife at that time, learned of my existence and wanted to get to 

know me and include me in some of their family activities. julie was nice to me, very 

welcoming. I sometimes went to visit 'I'odd and Julie at their home on Alameda 

Street in Tucson but I never lived with them. 

4. It was a shock to discover that Earl Riggs, to whom I was very close and 

for whom I have much love and respect, was not in fact my biological father, and 

that 'T'odd Fries was my biological father. Earl Riggs has since died. 
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5. Over time, as I got to know my dad, his behavior became very 

disturbing to me. Todd Fries was never enthusiastic about spending time with me 

and the time we did spend together was often dangerous, demeaning and confusing 

to me. He did nothing to provide monetary, emotional or parental support to me or 

my mother. She married Riggs when I was three years old, and Riggs raised me as 

his son. My mother never spoke of Todd until I was 13. 

6. My mother was 17 when she became pregnant with me in 1982. My 

mother told me that Todd took her to multiple abortion clinics and demanded that 

she terminate the pregnancy. My mother refused. My mother left the relationship 

with Todd Fries and raised me on her own until she met and married Riggs when I 

was three years old. Before she married Riggs, my mother told me, we were 

homeless for a time and living out of her car. 

7. I estimate that in the 25 years since I learned the identity of my father, 

and began to spend some time with him, I have spent a cumulative six months in his 

presence. When I was younger, I lived with my mom and would drift in and out of 

Todd's life, usually when his wife at the time julie tried to include me with their 

family. When I was older, I worked for Todd occasionally, but other than that our 

interactions were never constant. We would spend some time together, and then 

we'd have some inevitable blow-up and I would recede and stay away from him. 

Sometimes, I didn't see him at all for as long as two years. 
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8. I have had more exposure to my grandmother, Annette Fries. Over the 

years, I have at times lived at properties she owned, so I had more frequent contact 

with her because of that, but I do not consider myself to be close to her, either. She 

and 'T'odd are both odd, toxic people who have been negative influences. They are 

both just very mean people. I consider them to be soulless. I believe both have 

serious mental health issues. Todd was, and is, a good talker but is a master 

manipulator. He took advantage of anyone he could, including me. He did a lot of 

nasty things - he's the most vindictive person I've ever known - but he usually had 

somebody else do his dirty work for him. He seldom got his hands dirty. 

9. My father is currently serving a long prison sentence for terrorizing 

some of his clients. He was arrested for some truly spectacular crimes in 2011. 'rodd 

is clearly dangerous. I heard about 'I'odd's legal troubles from my mother. I did not 

attend his trial. 

10. I got in trouble with the law myself in 2008, when I was arrested for 

marijuana trafficking. I was a driver, and I was living with Annette at the time in a 

four-bedroom place she owned on Mechica Court, paying her $400 a month in rent. 

At the time, 'Todd knew that I was driving loads of marijuana; Annette didn't know 

about it. Todd never counseled me to stop; he just mocked me and told me that he 

was smart enough to get away with something like that, but that I would get caught. 

When I was arrested, neither Todd nor Annette did anything to help me out. I pled 
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guilty and was sentenced to 30 months in federal prison for my crime, and have had 

no legal problems since. 

11. When I was a teenager Todd would sometimes pay me to commit petty 

crimes. He referred to the payments for such crimes as "subsidized income" for me, 

because he would pay me cash for performing them. 

12. Once, during the night, Todd drove me to a home in Midvale Park and 

directed me to crawl under a car and drain its oil. He had sold the car to the owner 

and claimed the owner had not fully paid him. He hoped to ruin the engine. 

13. On other occasions, Todd paid me to vandalize and spray paint 

people's property, including instructing me to paint swastikas. I cannot recall the 

locations where these activities occurred. 

14. One day not long after we met, Todd said he was taking me to work 

with him but instead created a sign that said, "Help. Sister Needs a Transplant," and 

put me out on Speedway Boulevard to panhandle. The sign was a lie, of course. It 

put me in danger. I was embarrassed and ashamed. And it was even more hurtful 

because I had lost a younger half-sister who had been unable to get a transplant. I 

was out there panhandling for about two hours. Somebody called the police, and the 

police called my mother to come get me. My mother was justifiably furious at Todd 

for doing this to me. 
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15. Todd had an obsession with killing birds. He put birdfeeders in his 

yard but then would shoot the birds that came to feed. He would hang their 

carcasses upside down in his back yard as grotesque trophies. Most of them were 

woodpeckers. I never understood this. It repulsed and disturbed me. He boasted 

that when he merely injured a bird, he would finish it off by blowing it up with an M-

80 firecracker. I never saw him do this, but he spoke proudly of doing so. Todd had 

a fixation for explosives, and would often talk about building bombs or making 

Molotov cocktails. Todd made me watch a video of the atomic bomb being dropped 

on Hiroshima. 

16. Todd would make me bare-knuckle box neighborhood kids when I 

visited him and julie on Alameda. He videotaped these matches and enjoyed 

watching us kids pound on each other. The other kids involved in these fights -

Brandon, Porky and Chapo - were disadvantaged and had nobody in their lives to 

tell them this was wrong. None of us knew we ought to resist Todd's commands. 

17. After .Julie divorced Todd, I recall going with him to the home of a 

girlfriend of his named Jan, who was a psychologist or counselor. She seemed nice 

enough, though she was much older than Todd and was overweight. 

18. Todd once bragged to me about having a sex tape of one of his 

girlfriends. He also told me he had naked videos of my mother. I found all of this 

disgusting. Who tells somebody that about his mother? 
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19. I was always suspicious that Todd cheated on the women with whom he 

was in relationships. I didn't see it firsthand, but I saw him interact flirtatiously with 

women and overheard him talking to women on the phone, and it seemed to me 

that he was behaving like a cheater. Once, when I was in my late teens or early 

twenties and had a girlfriend, he asked me if he could have sex with my girlfriend. I 

thought this was sick. 

20. I worked for Todd off and on when he owned Burns Power Wash. He 

paid me $7 an hour, and if we had lunch, the price of my lunch would come out of 

my pay. Todd generally employed three men, and as many as five, and always paid 

them in cash. Todd was a mean boss, especially to me. He demanded more from 

me and paid me less than the others. He also expected me to spy on the other guys 

and tell them what they were saying about him. I refused to do this. 

21 . Todd liked cars and would buy them and fix them up and flip them; he 

especially liked flashy sports cars. When I met him, he had a 1972 Mach 1 fastback, 

maroon and black. He also had a sky blue 1971 Mach 1. 

22. He liked to flash his money to make people think he was rich. But 

whenever I needed something or asked for assistance, he always pleaded poverty. 

He never gave me any gifts or offered to help me out. 

23. For most of the time I have known them, it seemed like my father and 

Annette hated each other. Todd expressed nothing but contempt and disrespect for 
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his mother, often treating her as though she were a child, talking down to her or 

ignoring her. 

24. But their relationship seemed to change after Todd was arrested and 

charged. From what I saw, Annette suddenly became supportive of Todd and did all 

she could to help him. She paid for his criminal defense. She now sends him money 

in prison. She lives in Todd's house on Camino del Cerro and is paying it off. 

Annette says 'T'odd will have the house waiting for him when he is released from 

prison, though I wonder whether Todd will live that long. I'm told by Annette that 

he has some serious medical issues. In the wake of Todd's conviction, I finally heard 

both Todd and Annette speak of one another with some semblance of respect. 

25. T'odd is an intelligent man but he's also very cunning, methodical and 

vengeful. For example, Todd once tried to stir up trouble with an employer of mine. 

I had called in sick and was at home. Todd went to the business where I was 

employed and called me on speakerphone in front of my boss, and tried to get me 

to agree to go out shooting with him. I refused. My boss told me he thought this was 

bizarre behavior on Todd's part. He had no reason to do such a thing. 

26. I know Todd has worn a beard at times, though I can't really recall 

precisely when. 

27. Annette has her own history of troubling behavior. She is very selfish 

and, like Todd, very vindictive and very frugal. I think she's the living incarnation of 
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Cruella Deville. She's just a mean person who cares only for herself. Her one good 

trait is that she's a hard worker. But if you upset her, her first reaction is to threaten 

to call the police on you. She's threatened to call the cops on me. She recently went 

into a phone store and threatened the employees, telling them she would have me 

come and beat them up. It's crazy. 

28. Annette owns a number of rental properties. At one time I believe she 

had 10 or 11 of them. I have been with her when she just walked straight into an 

occupied rental unit and yelled at the tenants. 'I'his was strange and inappropriate 

behavior. The tenants yelled back, telling her she had to respect their privacy. 

29. My ex-wife Natasha and I have three children together. But we never 

wanted them around Todd or Annette. Natasha and I just got a bad vibe from 

Annette and wouldn't allow her ever to supervise our kids - her great-grandkids -

alone. 

30. When Natasha was attending beauty school in the mid-2000s, Annette 

would go into the school to get her hair done at a discounL Natasha and I were not ~ 

yet married. Natasha wanted to help her boyfriend's grandmother~he would do 

her hair for her. But one day, Natasha came home from school and told me a fellow 

pupil had chastised her for helping Annette. Natasha told me her fellow pupil had 

reported that Annette had molested her and a sibling when she was small. I don't 

know anything else about his episode, but I do recall Natasha telling me about it. 
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Natasha stopped accepting hair appointments from Annette. Later, this allegation 

only added to our determination to keep Annette away from our children. 

31 . I met my girlfriend Crystal Blakely a few years ago when we both lived 

in Montana. When we moved to Tucson in March 2020, Annette let us stay at one 

of her rental properties - but not inside it. The property was for sale. Annette 

wouldn't give us a key to get inside, so we camped on the patio, where we also 

showered. We were expected to maintain the yard. We both thought Annette's 

attitude was selfish. She had multiple properties but offered us a campsite. 

32. About a year ago, my girlfriend Crystal and I were with Annette. I was 

rummaging about in an ice chest of Annette's. For some reason this offended 

Annette. She lunged at me with a pair of scissors, lost her balance and nearly fell 

down. We were both shocked that Annette would do this. Neither of us understands 

why she behaved in this way. 

33. Crystal told me of an incident that occurred shortly after we moved to 

T'ucson. Annette was speaking to 'Todd, who was in prison, on speaker phone. 

When Annette told Todd that Crystal was my new girlfriend and that she was 

listening in to the phone conversation, Todd immediately said that Crystal should get 

away from me as soon as she could, that I wasn't worthy of her. Annette agreed with 

Todd. Crystal was shocked to hear my father and grandmother conspiring to 

sabotage our relationship. 
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34. I have tried and hoped over the years to have a positive and cordial 

relationship with Todd and Annette. But that hasn't occurred. --ro this day, I regret 

calling Todd "Dad" the first time I met him. I wanted to please this guy I was just 

meeting for the first time, but I almost immediately decided it was a mistake to call 

him "Dad" or consider him to be my father. I felt guilty, like I'd disrespected Earl 

Riggs, the man who was a true father to me, and did it to please Todd, who I very 

soon realized was not a good guy. 

I have read the foregoing declaration consisting of [0_ __ pages and :?!/_paragraphs. I 
declare under penalty of perjury under the laws of the States of Arizona atld the United 
States of America that it is true and correct. Signed this ).]._ day of +M-'+-'-c_· •_ \ __ 

___ , 2022, at Pima County, Arizona. 
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Declaration of Crystal Joy Blakely 

I, Crystal Blakely, declare under penalty of perjury, the following to be true to the best 
of my information and belief: 

't=.-vJrb 
1. I am the girlfriend of Joshua Slagle. Josh and I met in Montana about<tw6 years 
ago. I am trained as a nurse. We moved from Montana to Tucson in March 2020. 

2. I met Josh's grandmother, Annette Fries, not long after we arrived in Tucson. I 
believe Annette has serious mental health problems. She is very self-centered and 
vindictive. 

3. On one occasion after we moved to Tucson, I was present when Annette was 
speaking on the phone to her son, Todd Fries, who is serving a long prison sentence 
for terrorizing some former clients of his. I overheard the call because Annette was on 
speaker phone. Upon hearing that Josh had a new girlfriend, Todd immediately 
advised me to split up with Josh. Todd said I should get away from Josh and go back 
to Montana. Both Todd and Annette indicated that they did not believe Josh was 
worthy of me and that I would be wise to end the relationship. This incident helped 
me understand what destructive influences Todd and Annette have been in Josh's life. 
I thought it was shocking that they would say such things about their son and 
grandson. 

4. When Josh and I came to Tucson from Montana, we stayed for a while at one of 
Annette's unoccupied properties that was listed for sale. However, we were not given 
access to the inside of the property. Annette only allowed us to essentially camp out 
on the patio. We were never given a key to the door or allowed inside. We had to 
shower on the patio. But at the same time, we were expected to water the flowers, pull 
weeds and maintain the exterior of the property. I thought this was selfish and 
paranoid behavior on Annette's part. 

5. I believe Annette has a lot of money because she owns a lot of property in Tucson. I 
went to some of these properties to assist Annette when she had work to do on them. 
She offered to pay me but never did. I just let it go - I had just met her and was trying 
to be helpful to my boyfriend's grandmother. 

6. Within the past year, I saw Annette lunge at Josh with scissors, then throw the 
scissors at him. She nearly fell over while doing so. She did this because Josh had the 
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temerity to rummage about in an ice chest that belonged to Annette. This incident was 
very dramatic and she could have seriously hurt somebody or herself. 

7. Annette never does anything for anybody but herself. Annette acts friendly and 
considerate- she has the Ten Commandments posted on the exterior of her vehicle­
but it's all for show, a fa9ade. I feel she is a very dark and disturbed person. You get a 
glimpse of her true nature, which is selfish and vindictive, when you look into her 
eyes .. 

8. Once when I was helping her out, she drove onto private property and illegally 
dumped trash. She was urging me on, telling me to hurry up so we wouldn't get 
caught. 

8. A woman named Mona Kong looks after Annette. I believe Kong lives in the 
Flowing Wells area. Once, when I was present, Mona showed up with her boyfriend. 
Annette responded to meeting the boyfriend by walking suggestively and 
inappropriately about in front of the man, who was so perplexed he asked Annette, 
"Who the fuck are you?" 

I have read the foregoing declaration consisting of _A_ pages and ~ paragraphs. I 
declare under penalty of perjury under the laws of the States of Arizona and the 
United States of America that it is true and correct. Signed this JJf' day of 
January, 2022, at Pima Co ty, Arizona. 
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DECLARATION OF NATASHA HERNANDEZ 

I, Natasha Hernandez, declare under penalty of perjury, the following to be true to 

the best of my information and belief: 

1. I am the ex-wife of Joshua Jay Slagle. We have been divorced since 

2018. 

2. I know Josh Slagle's grandmother, Annette Fries, and his father, Todd 

Fries. 

3. In 2005 when I was a pupil at a beauty college near Wetmore and 

Oracle in Tucson, Annette Fries would come in to have her hair done. Josh Slagle 

and I were in a relationship at the time, but not yet married. I didn't know Annette 

well but knew she was Josh's grandmother, so I wanted to help her out. I did her 

hair two or three times. 

4. One day after Annette had been in, a fellow student pulled me aside 

and said I shouldn't do Annette's hair. When I asked her why, she said Annette had 

molested her and a sibling when they were small children. If she told me what 

form this molestation took, I do not recall it. The student said Annette was "a 

horrible person. Don't you know who she is? Stay away from her!" 

5. I do not recall name of the student who told me this. I do recall that 

she was white and seemed middle class. She wasn't among my circle of friends at 
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the school, and I don't think I ever spoke to her again about what she had told me, 

or anything else. 

6. I went home and told Josh what my fellow student had told me. He 

said he wasn't surprised because he thought Annette was a weirdo. 

7. I never told anyone other than Josh about the molestation allegation. I 

was embarrassed that somebody would say such a thing about my boyfriend's 

grandmother, so I kept it to myself. 

8. I asked that Annette no longer be booked to have her hair done by me. 

I tried to avoid her in general. 

9. I never spent much time around Todd or Annette Fries. My 

impression was that Annette, Todd, and Josh all hated one another. 

10. Even before I was told of the molestation, neither Josh nor I trusted 

Annette around our children. We were especially on guard afterward. We did not 

want the children around Annette or Todd Fries at all. 

11. Todd Fries was an extremely vulgar man. He would make 

unbelievable comments about me to Josh in my presence. He said I had "nice tits," 

and once told Josh, in front of me, and referring to me, "Imagine all the ways you 

could fuck that." I was appalled. 

I have read the foregoing declaration consisting of three pages and 11 paragraphs. I 
declare under penalty of perjury under the laws of the State of Arizona and the 
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United States of America that it is true and correct. Signed this2 I day of April, 
2022, at Pima County, Arizona. 

Natasha Hernandez 
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1 iM, NfillHATIUi; „ 
-On 08-24-79, th is o f f i c e r wasJ^tspatcjied to DAVIS MOKIHAN AXR FORCE BASE HOSPITAI. 

i EMERGENCY ROOM. • • , • . ; ; • 

Upon my a r r i v a l I.^ppke with th? reportee, MRS, -FRIES,. the mother of the v i c t i m , who 

stated that on 08-23-79i. her son waa.assaulted by her husband, MR. PRAKCXS FRIES. 

Z^1«°^L^^ ^ ^^yj^ ^'^^'^^^5*??^^?^ for medical treatment. I spoke with the 

doctor who stated that he did have ' '^^^^^s, 5^_f° t„s '^"al ii^J^J^^les caused from a beat ing. 

The doctor 's name was DR. IKGEKICK. 

di ' i state to th ia o f f i c e r that an o f f i c e r had been at her residence 

the night before. 1 spoke to SGT. MC KISLEY who responded to the scene on 08-23-79. _ ^ 
i^^„^f^^^ ^ l ! ^ ^ ^ * ^ time they did not f e e l i t wae necessary to make a report . The 

^onj^as not cpjnpia^ing J : ! ^ " ^ i ^ _ ^ „ __ _ 

'^]55„5^_l?i?L^ ^^]?t?_°-£^-'-*^*^ was h i t i n the face . In the. mouth, and i n y^-i I 

Jhe^^eck^ Ihe father then kicked h i a i n the r ight side and twisted h i s arm.^./-.When.^ v 

asked for a reason why the father beat him, he^e^^ted^that i n the hous^hoJLd, MR._FRIES] 

daughter who Is also.,.16j,;resldea. ^ ^.There .aeems %o be.;sorae problem with the ^qn and. j, .; 

^he daughter ( i^fiud^ble^ „A.^.^^y_ . The father then ' 

threw the stepson out and stated he would k i l l him. time the stepson hid the 

gun to protect himself. 

CHILD PROTECTIVE SERVICES was ca l led and MISS RAMSEY responded to the scene. I 

spoke to MISS RAMSEY who stated J|li5t_.Bhe^jjould^lnd soma other place for the son to s tay . 

There i s no further Inforniation. 

. P g g m ^ ? P V E R > Badge HO. 540-SR 09-02-79 .• , . .„. . .^^^p Hours 09-05-79 ^ 5 5 7 , m.e. 
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08-FJA020323 
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DECLARATION OF TAMMY WATSON 

I declare under penalty of perjury of the laws of the State of Arizona and the 

United States the following to be true to the best of my information and belief: 

1. I am 54 years old and reside in Tucson, Arizona. 

2. In 1982, when I was 16 years old, I had a consensual sexual relationship 

with Todd Fries. I had met him at a friend's house. He was 19 years old at 

the time. 

3. I became pregnant with Todd's child and gave birth to my son in September 

1983. I had turned 1 7 by then. 

4. After I became pregnant, I resided for a brief time -probably no more than 

two months - in a doublewide trailer on Shawnee Drive in Tucson where 

Todd lived with his mother, Annette. 

5. Todd wanted me to get an abortion. He told me I couldn't have the baby and 

dragged me all over Tucson trying to find a place that would provide an 

abortion. At Planned Parenthood, Todd tried to insist to the staff that I 

would, indeed, get an abortion, even though I didn't want an abortion. The 
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staff told Todd that the decision was mine, not his, and that he would have to 

leave, which he did. 

6. In any case, because of my age, I needed the consent of my parents to get an 

abortion. My mother wouldn't agree to sign the papers, which was fine by 

me anyway. 

7. Not long after this, I moved out of the Shawnee residence and in with my 

mother. Later, I got my own place. 

8. I did my best to avoid having anything to do with Todd or Annette Fries 

a gam. 

9. I left Todd's name off our son's birth certificate. 

10. Todd did nothing to help me raise my son, provided no child support and 

never expressed any desire, or took any initiative, to have a relationship with 

his son or with me. I raised him on my own. Annette likewise took only a 

passing interest in her grandson. 

11. In the 1990s, Todd was married to a woman named Julie. She learned that 

Todd had a son and reached out to my son. Julie included him in some of 
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their family activities. But Julie, who was a very sweet lady, was the only 

one interested in knowing my son, or helping him. 

12. When my son was in teens, Todd put him on the side of the road with sign 

to panhandle for money. The sign said money was needed for an organ 

transplant for a family member. This infuriated me. Not only was this a lie, it 

was dangerous and demeaning for my son. But this was par for the course 

for Todd, who had no compunction about using others or swindling 

strangers. 

13. Todd is intelligent but always believed he was better and more important 

than everybody else. He didn't care if he hurt or endangered others. He also 

thought he was God's gift to women. 

14. Todd was dishonorably discharged from the military. His mother told me 

about it, but I don't know why he was kicked out. 

15. Annette was a strange character, though I have few vivid memories of her. I 

remember she had me rake the carpet in her mobile home while I was 

pregnant, which I thought was ridiculous and selfish of her. 
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16. Todd was supposedly working as a freelance photographer at the time I 

lived with them. I recall he had a camera but know nothing more about that 

enterprise, or if he was successful. 

17. Todd owned a sky-blue-colored car when I knew him. It was a small car, 

but I do not recall the make or model. 

18. About 15 years ago, my daughter was with my son at the Foothills Mall in 

Tucson. They encountered Todd with a woman at the mall. Todd introduced 

the woman as his wife or fiance. I was told she was petite and had dark hair. 

I don't know her name or if they ever were married. 

19. My son got into trouble for marijuana possession when he was a young 

man. I contacted Todd at that point to see if he would be of any help to his 

son. He wouldn't lift a finger and told me that jail was probably the best 

place for our son. My son did his time and has had no trouble since. 

20. I know Todd is now in prison, and may end up spending the rest of his life 

in prison. This doesn't surprise me in the least. 
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21. Before Todd was sentenced to prison, Annette contacted me and asked if I 

would write a letter to the judge, vouching for Todd's character. I declined 

to write a letter and told Annette that jail was probably the best place for 

him. 

22. I knew Todd had a power-washing business at the time he was arrested for 

terrorizing some of his former customers. It's my belief that he had a 

helicopter at one time. I believe he was a pilot. I saw a commercial for his 

business that featured him in the helicopter. 

23. I have never known Todd to wear a beard, but my daughter tells me she 

encountered him once prior to his criminal case, and that Todd had a beard 

and moustache. 

24. I was not aware that Annette was a player in the Vicki Lynn Hoskinson 

case. Nobody has ever contacted me in relation to that case. But I do recall 

seeing a composite or a woman- probably in the news- at the time of Vicki 

Lynn's disappearance. I didn't put it together at the time, but I vaguely 
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remember the composite now and I can certainly see why people thought it 

looked like Annette. 

25. My son has had more contact than I have with Todd and Annette over the 

years. He tells me he thinks both of them are crazy. Based on my experience, 

I agree with him. 

26. I have seen Annette outside the state motor vehicle office with a clipboard. I 

believe she was registering people to vote or collecting signatures for 

candidates or ballot initiatives. I think she might frequently do this kind of 

work. 

27. She asked that I become her friend ofFacebook, but I ignored her request. 

She has called and asked if I could help her find renters for one of her 

properties. I thought this was an odd and silly request, and I didn't help her. 

28. I know Annette had a boyfriend. I don't know his name but I believed he 

died of cancer. 

29. In the early 80s, after Todd and I had broken up, I was in a Kmart in 

Tucson. I was shocked to see Todd walk into the ;sressed in nothing 
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but sunglasses and a Speedo swimsuit. He was immediately kicked out of 

the store. 

30. In my opinion, Todd is a jerk. I wish I could say something good about him, 

but I can't. 

Signed this 16th day ofDecember, 2021, at Pima County, Arizona. 

Tammy Watson 
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P I M A C O U N T Y S H E R I F P S D E P A R T M E 

P . O . B O X 9io,Tye^9i>i, A R J Z O N A 85702 
port Number 

Connecl-Up Report Number 

Location of Incident 

Date Occurred Ttme 

2- \€>69!^, 
Reporting Officer Badge 

Officer Name & I.D. Agency 

Officer Name & l.D. Agency 

t.D. Tech. Responding Badge 

Date Reported Arrival Time 

Foilow-up Oflicer 

Clear Time 

< ^ { 0 

Badge 

Officer Name & l.D. Agency 

Officer Name & l.D. Agency 

I.O. Service Performed • UNK • Photos Q Fingerprints 

n l.D. Advised • Composite • Other 

District Baal Page 

Additional Forms 
• Accident Report 
• Addendum 
D Arrest Information 
n Closure 
• DWI Continuation 
• D.D.S. Narrative 
• Juvenile Complaint 
• Juvenile Paper Refarra! 
• Narrative 
• People Continuation 
D Property Continuation 
• Vehicle Continuation 

Forward Copies of This Report to: 

Attending Physician Phone Who Transported Hoapitai/Medical Facility 

Person Code: V-Vlctim/W-Witness/D-Driver 
RP-Reporting Person/IL-tnvestigative Lead 

Relationship Code: SP-Spouse/PA-Parenl/GU-Guardian/CH-Child/0R-Other Relative/FR-Friend/BF-Boyfrien 
GF-Girlfriend/NE-Neighbor/EM-Employar or Employee/CW-Co-worker/STR-Stranger/UNK-Unltnown / 

Code 

17 
No NAME: Last/First/li^l (Nickname/AKA) 

" wen 

Birthdate Age Race Sex Relationship 
Cp4f&iu^iSu 

Home Address; •WuinUerraTmOTrftpt./Cilyretate^ZTp 

Work/School: Name/Address 

Home Phone 

Injury 

Work Phone Days/Hours 

Code No. NAlvtE: Last/Firsr/MI (Nipkname/AKA) Birthdate Age Race Sex Relationship 
Code iSubNo. 

Home Address: Number/Streel/Apt./City/Slate/Zip Home Phone Work Phone Days/Hours 

Work/School: Name/Address Injury 
- 1 

Prftmliet B N/A 
Resiaentlal 
• Apartment 
• Duplex 
• Hotel/Motel 
• Mobile Home/Camper 
• Single Dntached/House 
• Townhouse 
• Other Residential 

Non-ftes/denff'al 
• Convenience 
• Dfug/Medieal 
• Fast Food 
• Financial 
• Mfg/Conslruction 
• Public Building 
• Restaurant/Bar 

• Service Station 
• other Structure 
Non-Slructure 
• Fenced Yard 
Q Open Yard 
• Park 
• Vehicle 
• Olher 

Structure 
H N/A 
• Occupied 
• Unoccupied 
• Uninhabited 
• Abandoned 
• Other 

Structure Entry Point 
N/A 

• Rear 
• Front 
• Side 
• Roof 
• Skylight 
• Doggie Door 

• Door 
• Window 
• Vent 
D Wall 
• Other 

Means of Enfr^ 
• N / A 

• Cutting 
• Prying ^ 
• Gripping . 
• Picking . 
• Phys. Fordk; 
• No Force . 
O Other 

Instrument 
IS N/A 
• Key/Slip 
• Prytng'Tool 
• Channel Lock 
• Hands/T^eet 
• Bricky^ock 
•^'qit'Cutler 
O Unknown 

VandBltem IMeanB 
• N/A 
• Brick/Rock 
• BBS 
• Bullet 
• Sharp Instrument 
• Paint 
O Other 

Suspect's Actions 
a N/A 
• Victim Beaten 
D Victim Blindfolded 
• Victim Gagged 
• Victim Handcuffed 
• Victim Tied (rope/etc.) 
• Demanded Money 
• Other 

O Followed Victim 
• Telephoned Victim 
• Threatened to Kill 
• Used Noles 
• Took Money from Register 
O Victim Told Not to Call Police 
• Used Vulgarity/Profanity 

Vehicle Entry Point 
0 N/A 
• Top 
• Trunk 
O Door 
• Window 
• No Forced Entry 
• Other 

Sate Info 
BN/A 
• Attempt 
• Not Locked 
O Pried 
• Explosives 
• Taken Away 
• Combination 

Known 

Weapon Type 
J»N/A 
• Revolver 
• Autorrtatic 
• Shotgun 
• Rifle 

•Sharp Instrumerjtj 
• Club/Rock/etc, 
D Hands/Fisls/Feet 
• Other 

• Observed implied 
Summtry of Property 
Alt vsluttB In U.S. dollars 
S—Stolen R—Recovered 

Firearm Descrlp. 
a N/A 
• Unknown 
• Blue Steel 
• Chrome/Nickel • 
• Short Barrel 
• Long Barrel 

n Double Barrel 
• Single Barrel 
• Bolt Action 
O Pump 
• Sawed-Olf 
• Other 

CAllbar 

Codf 

Second Weapon Type 
a N/A • Sharp Instrument 
• Revolver D Club/Rock/etc. 
n Automatic • Hands/Fists/Feel 
• Shotgun • Other 
• Rifle 

• Observed • Implied 

Drugs/Narcotics 8 
n Opium/Cocaine 
• Marijuana/Hashish 
n Synlhotic Narcotics 
Q Drugs 
• Peyote 
• Olher 

N/A 

earance 

Jewelry/Precious Metals 
S ,R 
$ $ 

Clothi no/Furs 

Value of Damage, Total 

$ 
Locally Stolon Motor Vehlctes 
S ,R 

Otfica Equipment 
S .R 
S \ % 

TVs/RadlOB/CBmer»B/etc. 
S .R 
$ $ 

Firearms 
S 

Household Goods 
S ,R 

Consumable Goods 

I 1$ 
Bate Entry l b . 

Livestock 
S 
$ 

MlBcelianeous 
S 

TOTAL 

I / C O . ICO 
D«t» A Time • Stolen Vehicle • 

• Recovered Vehicle • 
Missing Person • Found Person D Fugitive Arrest 
Runaway Juvenile • Returned Runaway • Stored Vehicle 

Reviewed by 

5 7 5 

P.C.S.D. 500A 

0 8 - F J A 0 2 0 3 4 2 
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P I M A C O U N T Y S H E R I F F ' S D E P A R T M E N T 

Report Number Sub|oct Codo: A~ArresieB/M~Missino| 
Person / S—Suspect / D—Driver / 
F—Found / RJ—Runaway Juvenile 

Raiatlonshlp Codo: SP—Spouse/PA—Parent/GU—Guardran/CB—ChrltJ 
OR-Other Relative / FR-Friend / NE—Neigt\bor / BF—Boyfriend / 
GF—Girltriand / CW-Co-VL'orker/ STR—Stranger / UNK—Unknown 

Page 

2 of "z: 
Code 

2» 

No. ^^^ME•. Last/Flrsl/Ml (Nickname/AKA) Birtftdate 

I2-27-S7 

Age Race 

5 

Sex 

r 
Relat ions flip 
Code Vic. 

X 
Heigtit Weight 

2 0 0 

Hair Cir, Hair Length Hairstyle Facial Hair Eye Cir. Glasses Eye Delects Complexion Build Social Securily No. 

Gen, Appear. 

> t o ? P V 

Clothing (give Color/Type) Driver's License No. State 

Scers/Marks/Tattoos (give Locatlon/Content/Description) Amputations/Deformities/Injuries/Handicaps 

Speech Hand Used Demeanor Traits Home Address: Number/St reel/A pt./City/State/Zip 

Home Phone Work Phone Work/School: Name/Address Days/Hours 

Parents/Guardian's Name Relationship Juv. Disp, Adult Booking No. Charges: ARS/Cily Code No 

^ ^ j g p ^ ^ ^ ^ j ^ j ^ t | ! i ( ^ ^ ^ g r | ^ ĵ ĵ t̂ ^Aban^Oned / AC--ACGidenl y flSC^w;Q^er»d 

Code No. License N o . Slate VIN V Year Make Model Style Color 
Top 

Bottom Inside 

MarMngs Condition Damage Location of Vehicle 

Owner Address Owner Notified 

• Yes • No 

by 

Code No License No. State VIN V. Year Make Model Style Color 
Top 

Botlom Inside 

Markings Condition Damage Location of Vehicle 

Ownor Address 

Critique o f the inltist Inve&tlgatton 
,1. ts a suspecl named? S Yes 
2. Gan Ihe suspect be identified? Yes 
'3. Is the suspect's location known? ^ Yes 
4. Is there a suspect description? L*-Yes 
6. Is there useful physical evidence?D Yes 

Is. Is the stolen properly traceable? D Yes 

D No 
O No 
• No 
• NO 
«• No 
6̂  NO 

D UNK 
• UNK 
• UNK 
• UNK 
• UNK 
O UNK 

Owner Notified 

• Yes • No 

By 

7. Are there any uncontacled witnesses? tSt Yes • No 
8. Is the suspect vehicle license number known? • Ves ^ No 
9. Is there a suspect vehicle description? O Ves H^No 

10. Are there a limited number of possible suspects? -fife Ves • No 
11. Are there related similar incidents? O Yes Q No 
12. Is there a significant MO? • Yes • No 

a UNC 
D U N K 

O U N K 

• U N K 

•1* U N K 

Ht U N K 

Narrative Inslructions: Tha narrative porlion of the incidenl report should 
include a properly description of items stolen or destroyed with serial-
numbered property listed first, lollowed by a chronological synopsis of 
what occurred. 

Property Type: ST—Stolen / REC—Recovered / D—Damaged / L—Lost / 
F—Found. Property Disposition: (only in cases of found & recovered property}; 
PH—Photographod 4 returned to owner / RTO-Returned to owner, no 
Photographs / PE—Placed in Property and Evidence 

^ l ^ g i i i i ^ i | l ^ j ^ ; ^ ^ ^ ^ ^ ^ ^ l ! l i S l ! ^ ' " ^ ^ ^ i ' Descfiption of property \ 

. ; F K \ & S . > ? & V ^ e ; u o \ T M . , . T H - J ' ^ . . o 5 = ^ n c 6 ^ v i A Sl^-^.. 

_„.j/yjl> C l A ^ .^r - T t ^ t P^^3s> - . 

. J H . : ^ - 3 : . . , . ; . ; _ . _ ^ . , : 

: I 1 I • I > 

/ * f v ^ t 6 t T ^ K . , . ; 5 M « . | C A a £ d C A S T u > e < f A : 'tOhts/ftJt(/> "H^y eA&/'*. l/tc.hAT UJ,r. ^OT 

* Assf..!iJ(MkA$-m TUts, J/i(^t.is_lA^(>a^oy .pp Stuf.. . ' 

P.C.S.D. 500B 

08-FJA020343 
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P I M A C O U N T Y S H E R I F F ' S D b i ™ E N T 

P.O. BOX 910, TUCSON, ARiZONA 85702 
Report Number Incident Location , Orig. CIr. Code Dist. 

c 
Beat 

' 8 
Pago 

1 of Z-
Connect-Up Report Number Oftlcer Closing ^ Badge Dale Closed Closupe AKects AK Victims? 

© C ^ s D N O 

Case Reviewed by a Deputy 
County Attorney? „ 

• Yes [ 5NO 

Attorney Reviewing Prosecutor's Actions 
Issued as Reduced „ Prosecution 

U Charged • Charges/Issues • Denied 
Prosecution 

Ll Summary Attch. 

Summary ol Properly r i 
All values In U.S. dollars '-' 
S—Stolen R—Recovered 

Property Value Given In Basic n 
Case Unchanged 

Add Following Amounts lo rn 
Properly Values Given In 
Basic Caae 

Supersede Properly Values Given n 
In Basic Case w/lhe Following 
Amounts 

Currency 
S 5 R 

Jewelry/PreaiouB Metals 
S ,R 
S j$ 

CiothlnQ/Fur* 
S ,R 
$ [s 

Locctiy Stolen Motor VehlcisB 
S ,R 
s |s 

Office Equipment 
S ,R 
$ j$ 

TVB/RBdiot./CamorBB/otc. 
S ,R 
$ [$ 

Firearms 
S ,R 

Houtvhold Ooodfl 
S ,R 
$ 1$ 

ConBumsbie Ooodt 
S ,R 

Livestock 
S .R 
$ 1$ 

Mlscellaneouc 
S ,R 
% \% 

TOTAL 
S ,R • 
$ |s 

Disposition of Property Held by PCSD 
n Photo * Holeaso to n Release to Owner or n Hold for Court; CA n Other Hold/ * 1 J , * / jr" 
•-̂  Owner or Destroy Destroy; No Photo Release Needed ^ Explain r^ONt 

Property & Evidence Officer 

Vehicle Disposition License No, Year Make Returned to 
n r-l t - i Owner „ 
• Stolen • Recovered O Evidence D Ves • No 

Agency Recovering ~ 

ViCtfM 

NAME: Lasl/FifSt/M 1 g^learance Codo n Change Clearance 
Samo as on Code to . 
Original Report 

n Open— ' 
investigation 
Continuing 

n Closed— ' 
^ Unfounded 

n Closed— , 
^ leads 3 

Exhausted 

.WKIosod by 
JWiException 

n Closed by 
Arrest 

Q Other—Explain 

NAME: Last/Ftrst/MI n Clearance Code [-] Change Clearance 
^ Same as on ^ Code to . 

Original Report ' [ 
n Open— 

Investigalion 
Continuing 

n Closed— 
^ Unfounded 

• Closed— 
Loads 
£>ihausted 

n Closed hy 
Exception 

• Closed by 
^ Arrest 

Q Other—Explain 

NAF^ :̂ Last/First/M 1 n Clearance Code [-] Change Clearance 
Samo 83 on ^ Code to . 
Original Report 

n Open— 
invBStigfttion 
Continuing 

n Closed— 
^ Unfounded 

n Closed— 
Leads 
Exhausted 

[-[ Closed by 
Exception 

f-j Closed by 
Arrest 

Q Other—Explain 

NAME: Lasl/Flrsl/MI • Clearance Code rn Change Clearance 
Same as on Code to , 
Original Report 

n Open— 
^ Investigation 

Continuing 

n Closed— 
^ Unfounded 

• Closed— 
Leads 
Exhausted 

• Closed by 
Exception 

n Closed by 
Arrest 

Q Other—Explain 

QllBPCCT/ARRrSTte 

NAME : Ust/Firsi/MI 
^^rrested 

• Arrested 
During 

initial Investig. 

n Arrested 
Alter Follow 

Up Investigation 

n Arrested by 
^ by Other 
Jurisdiction 

n This Arrest 
Clears An­

other Incident 

• This Case 
Cleared by 

Arrest/other case 
n Warrant 
^ Issued-

Not Sen/ed 

n Probable 
Cause 
Arrest 

• Warrant 
Arrest 

n Adult 
'-' Field 

Released 

n Adult 
^ Boohed 

n Juvenile 
^ Parental 

Referral 

n Juvenile 
Paper 
Relerral 

n Juvenile 
^ Physical 

Referral 
NAME: LastyFlrst/MI n Not 

Arrested 
• Arrested 

During 
Initial Investig. 

n Arrested 
^ Alter Follow 
Up Investigation 

n Arrested by 
^ by Other 
Jurisdiction 

n Thia Arros 
Clears An­

other inciden 

t 

t 

n This Case 
Cleared by 

Arrest/olhor case 
• Warrant 

Issued— 
Not Served 

n Probable 
Cause 
Arrest 

Q Warrant 
Arrest 

n Adult 
^ Field 

Released 

n Adult 
^ Booked 

n Juvenile 
Parental 
Referral 

n Juvenile 
^ Paper 

Referral 

n Juvenile 
^ Physical 

Referral 
NAME: Last/Firsl/MI • Not 

Arrested 
f-] Arrested 

During 
Initial Investig, 

n Arrested 
'-' After Follow 
Up Investigation 

n Arrested by 
by Other 

Jurisdiction 

n "This Arres 
Clears An 

olher Inciden 

t 

t 

n This Case 
Cleared by 

Arrest/other case 
n Warrant 

Issued-
Not Served 

n Probable 
Cause 
Arrest 

r i Warrant 
ArresI 

n Adult 
Field 
Released 

n Adult 
Booked 

n Juvenile 
^ Parental 

Referral 

n Juvenile 
^ Paper 

Referral 

n Juvenile 
Physical 
Referral 

NAME: Last/Flrst/MI • 
Arrested 

rn Arrested 
^ During 
initial Investig. 

n Arrested 
After Follow 

Up investlgatior 

n Arrested by 
^ by Other 
Jurisdiction 

• This Arres 
Clears An 

other Inciden 

I • This Case 
Cleared by 

Arrest/other case 
• Warrant 

Issued— 
Not Served 

n Probable 
^ Cause 

Arrest 

n Warrant 
^ Arrest 

n Adult 
'-' Fieid 

Released 

n Adull 
^ Booked 

n Juvenile 
^ Parental 

Referral 

n Juvenile 
^ Paper 

Referral — 
[ 1 Juvenile 

PhyslfiBi 
—^TSierral 

NAME: Last/Firsl/MI • Not 
Arrested 

f-) Arrested 
During 

Initial invoslig. 

n Arrested 
'"̂  After Follovj" 
Up Investig all oi-

C1-&H«S 
^ l>y 01 
Juriadict 

etf by[fn TJiisJirreB 
heri:\(f#$it8At? 
on>'- 'lolhor Incid90 , 

• This Case 
Cleared by 

Arfpaî other case 
n Warrant 

Issued— 
Not Sensed 

n Probable 
^ Cause 

ArresI 

n Warrant 
Arrest 

n Adult 
^ Field 

Released 

n Adult 
Booked 

n Juveni 
^ Paren 

Referr 
' i 

YiWenilei 
i^hfHieST 

Referral 

08-FJA020346 
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     9

 1 he -- and he was shocked, can you believe it, he said.  And then

 2 he called Mrs. Levine an F'ing Jew, and F'ing bitch.  He was

 3 angry.  He was seething.  This became personal.  This wasn't just

 4 about the money, $200 -- it was not about money.  This was about

 5 revenge.  He even told Mr. Trujillo, if you recall his testimony,

 6 that the defendant was going to target the Levine's driveway

 7 causing them to have to spend money to repair it.

 8 So the -- so he -- what did he do?  He began to direct

 9 his employees to collect disgusting waste he intended to use in

10 his attack.  He would collect waste items in the large buckets

11 that you saw in photographs were commonly used as his business.

12 You saw them at the scene of the crime.  Those are buckets that

13 are commonly used by the defendant.  He started having the

14 employees start collecting the oils from the -- the power wash

15 machines.  The oil that used to be recycled was being saved now.

16 And why was it being saved?  To be used against the Levines.

17 Now, you were -- you received into evidence a number of

18 revenge books the defendant had at his home.  And they're just

19 excerpts from the revenge books, but if you look at those

20 excerpts from each of those books, the defendant was following

21 directions on how to commit revenge.  Included in the

22 Encyclopedia of Revenge, which was found on his nightstand in his

23 bedroom, that one of the acts of revenge should be to pour old

24 motor oil on driveways, or anywhere it will do damage.

25 He directed his employees to start saving their
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 1 leftover paints and the paint sludge from the power washing

 2 business.  The sludge, the disgusting items.

 3 He all -- you also heard he directed the employees to

 4 start saving feces.  There was testimony that some animal feces

 5 was collected, but there was also testimony that the defendant

 6 asked his employees to defecate in buckets to be used in the

 7 attack.

 8 He directed his employees to start saving road kill

 9 that they came across.

10 And you heard testimony from a number of witnesses that

11 he started -- that he was shooting woodpeckers at his house.  He

12 would collect those woodpeckers.  He would put them in the same

13 buckets that were used for the attacks, and including in buckets

14 that contained oil.

15 The -- you also heard testimony that the defendant shot

16 the coyote in his front yard, and he sent his employee, Jordan,

17 to go pick it up, and Jordan was bit because the coyote was not

18 dead.  You heard that Mr. Fries directed that that coyote be put

19 in the neighbor's outdoor refrigerator.  And Mr. Trujillo

20 testified that in fact the defendant, Mr. Fries, took him over to

21 the neighbor's house just to show him the dead coyote in the

22 refrigerator.

23 Mr. Monteil testified that he saw the dead coyote, but

24 it was shown to him in a bag after it had been removed from the

25 refrigerator by Jordan.  But the coyote was there.  The coyote
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 1 was used in the first attack.  And he told Mr. Trujillo that he

 2 was going to use the coyote in the attack.

 3 You also heard testimony from both Mr. Trujillo and

 4 Mr. Monteil that the defendant tried to recruit them to assist in

 5 the August -- or excuse me, the October 31st, 2008 attack.  You

 6 heard testimony that even prior to the attack that day, the

 7 defendant took Mr. Trujillo out to the area behind the -- the

 8 community that the Levines were living at on Dove Mountain,

 9 outside the community walls, and showed him where he was going to

10 stage the buckets and the other disgusting items he was intending

11 to use in the attack.

12 Mr. Trujillo would not go along with it.  You heard his

13 testimony.  He had kids, didn't want to get involved in something

14 like that.  But you also heard from both Mr. Trujillo and

15 Mr. Monteil that the plot was openly discussed by the defendant

16 in front of all the employees in the shop at Burns Power Wash,

17 and it was clear from the testimony that it's the defendant that

18 was calling the shots.  He's the boss.  It's his business.  His

19 employees that -- Jordan and Getsch that you heard of, they were

20 younger guys, early 20's.  Not mid 40's, like the defendant.

21 In fact, you heard testimony that -- from Mr. Trujillo

22 that the defendant actually named his revenge.  The 2008 attack,

23 he called it The Levine Project.  The planning took months.  He

24 methodically collected disgusting waste after disgusting waste.

25 And as the buckets piled up, even Mr. Monteil said even with the
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 1 sealed lids, it was starting to smell pretty bad in the shop.

 2 And all the while he was planning his revenge.  And again,

 3 referring to the -- it's right out of the revenge books that he

 4 had, the advice to let time pass.  There's no better insulation

 5 than time.  The longer amount of time you let pass before you

 6 take your revenge, the more bewildered the target will be.  He

 7 wasn't in a rush, because it wasn't about the money, it was about

 8 he thought he went above and beyond and he was disrespected.  He

 9 had the last $200 payment stopped after he went out there

10 numerous times, and after he agreed to accept postdated checks.

11 So it became personal at that point.

12 Now, he tried to deceive the people involved, the law

13 enforcement involved, and he tried to throw off any suspicion on

14 himself.  And how did he do that?  He told Mr. Trujillo I called

15 Mr. Levine, and I thanked him for the check.  Thanked them for

16 honoring the check, so he'll think the bank cashed it, so they --

17 and he told him why he did that, so they won't suspect me in this

18 planned attack.  This call was confirmed by Mr. Levine.  He

19 recalls getting a call after the check was stopped from the

20 defendant, and the defendant thanked him for honoring it.  And

21 Mr. Levine says what are you talking about?  You know, the check

22 was canceled.  How did the defendant react?  He just hung up.

23 Didn't respond.

24 And while he's -- he also, excuse me, told both

25 Mr. Trujillo and Mr. Monteil leading up to the Halloween attack
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Defendant: Fries, Todd Russell 
Case No: CR-20140556-001 

PRESENTENCE REPORT- PART ONE 

INSTANT OFFENSE: 

Page 1 

Summary: This summary will only contain a brief synopsis because the Court presided 
over the trial and heard the evidence. 

On November 1, 2008 a large number of Marana Police Department (MPD) officers arrived 
at a residence located in the Heritage Highlands subdivision after witnesses discovered a 
large amount of damage to the gate and to property belonging to Myles and Karen Levine. 
Officers found the driveway had been covered with used oil and paint. Anti-Semitic graffiti, 
written in German, and Nazi symbols were located on the garage door. Several dead 
animal carcasses were found near the front door. Over $10,000 in damage was reported. 

MPD officers also found an identification card belonging to Ms. Kaylin Hovey. Crime scene 
analysts obtained latent fingerprint evidence at the scene. In October 2009, an analysis 
revealed a latent print left at the scene matched defendant Todd Russell Fries. 

On August 2, 2009 at 4:53a.m., a large number of Pima County Sheriff's Department 
(PCSD) deputies working in the foothills area began receiving reports of a strong chemical 
smell coming from the area near Magee Road and Jensen Drive. Deputies Atwell and 
Baird responded to Mr. Levine's home after he reported a toxic chemical smell and mist 
emanating from a bucket in his back yard. He also said he was unable to open his front or 
garage door. An adhesive had been applied to those doors to seal them. 

After putting on protective equipment, the two deputies evacuated Mr. and Mrs. Levine from 
the home. As the volume of mist increased, deputies evacuated a large number of 
residents and contacted the Hazardous Materials Response Team. Mr. Carly Riggs, a near 
neighbor, was overcome by the fumes and had to be hospitalized. 

The deputies also discovered two devices that contained material used to produce the gas 
at the home. They also found graphic graffiti, some written in Spanish that had sexual and 
gang connotations. The dead bodies of several birds and a rabbit were found at the scene. 
MPD officers also found documents belonging to Ms. Michelle Fuentes and Joaquin 
Contreras Navarette. Property damages exceeded $10,000. The victims told the deputies 
they suspected Fries, but he denied any involvement. 

On May 31, 2010 at 7:30a.m., Ms. Marguerite Brown contacted the MPD to report a large 
amount of vandalism at her residence in Tucson. The deputies discovered two of her 
vehicles and her driveway had been damaged with glue and acid, causing over $2,000 in 
damage. Ms. Brown also suspected Fries because she had an argument with him about 
some poor work his company had performed for her. The investigation continued. 
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On April 28, 2011, MPD officers returned to the Brown home after she reported more 
damage at her residence. MPD officers discovered more oil in her driveway and block wall 
along with feces and a dead lizard that were left on the property. They also found an 
identification card belonging to Jina Parks. 

The Federal Bureau of Investigation, the MPD, and the PCSD jointly investigated these 
crimes. They developed information that led them to believe Fries was responsible. They 
obtained a search warrant for his residence on May 13, 2011. They recovered evidence 
linking him to the damage and found identifications belonging to Ms. Linda Mott. Other 
evidence found led to his being charged in federal court. The officers also found the bodies 
of dead animals including woodpeckers that appeared to have been abused. 

A Pima County Grand Jury indicted him on February 3, 2014 and issued a warrant for his 
arrest. The defendant had already been convicted of federal charges as a result of these 
crimes and was in federal custody. The warrant was served on April 3, 2014 and the 
defendant was transported to the Pima County Adult Detention Center. He is being held on 
$75,000 bond. 

Defendant's Statement: On advice of counsel, the defendant declined to make a statement 
about the counts for which the jury convicted him. He acknowledged killing the 
woodpeckers and said the birds had been a constant nuisance at his home. When no 
other options worked, he became frustrated and anxious. 

The defendant is currently serving a federal prison sentence. He has been participating in 
programming and is employed. He is involved in transition planning classes in prison. At 
the time of his arrest, the defendant owned a successful power washing company. After he 
completes his federal sentence, he will transition back into the community where he hopes 
to rebuild his life. 

Victim's Statement: Mrs. Karen Levine plans to attend court and will make a statement. 
She said the defendant has made her life "hell." Mr. Myles Levine is also planning to attend 
the sentencing. He said the defendant's conduct "has placed my family through hell for the 
last eight years." He and his wife have suffered great stress and are currently receiving 
therapy. They are afraid to leave their home and fear retaliation. Mr. Levine wants the 
Court to sentence the defendant to a long term in prison and wants the sentences to be 
consecutive. 

All attempts to contact Mr. Carly Riggs, Deputy Atwell and Deputy Baird have been 
unsuccessful. 

Ms. Kaylin Hovey is not requesting restitution and made no sentencing recommendation. 
She will not be present at sentencing and does not want to invoke her victim's rights. 

All attempts to contact Michelle Fuente, Joaquin Contreras Navarratte, Jina Parks and 
Linda Mott were unsuccessful. The Court has scheduled a restitution hearing on June 13, 
2016 to determine restitution amounts. 
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Ms. Marguerite Brown will be sending a victim impact statement by electronic mail. She 
will not be present for sentencing, but does want to be advised of the disposition and of any 
subsequent hearings. 

RISK/NEEDS ASSESSMENT: 

Because the defendant is not immediately eligible for probation, the risk/needs assessment 
was not completed. 

COLLATERAL INFORMATION I ADDITIONAL RELEVANT INFORMATION: 

The defendant was born in Syracuse, New York. He moved to Arizona as a child and 
graduated from high school. He also attended community college. He joined the United 
States Marine Corp and served for four years. He returned to Tucson. He married in 1998 
and has two adult children. He and his wife divorced in 1995. He is involved in another 
relationship. The defendant suffers from high blood pressure that is controlled by 
medications. He does not drink or use illegal drugs. 

INFORMATION NOT FOR DISCLOSURE: 

Additional identifying information and/or criminal history may be contained in PART TWO of 
this report and is for disclosure only to the Court, the prosecutor, the defense attorney, and 
other authorized criminal justice agencies. 

SUMMARY: A review of this 53-year-old man's prior criminal background reveals four prior 
convictions for misdemeanor property crimes prior his arrest in May 2011. During the 
commission of these offenses, he endangered and terrorized the lives of the victims, law 
enforcement and the community by his possession and use of toxic materials. His actions 
caused a large amount of property damage. The defendant's conduct has caused the 
victims to suffer severe physical, emotional, and/or financial losses. He now stands before 
the Court to be sentenced to a mandatory prison term. 

It appears the Court can reasonably expect the defendant to pay ten percent of his gross 
income toward assessments. 

\\DTSERVER\PROBATION\DAT A\PSRS\92\ 1 02468092Z01. DOC-060816-11 :13 {.docx} 

Case: 22-70084, 05/04/2022, ID: 12438984, DktEntry: 1-4, Page 281 of 498



Defendant: Fries, Todd Russell 
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ASSESSMENTS 

CR-20140556-001: 

TIME PAYMENT A.R.S. 12-116 

PROBATION SURCHARGE A.R.S. 12-114.01 

SURCHARGE ASSESSMENT A.R.S. 12-116.04(A) 

INDIGENT ADMINISTRATION ASSESSMENT A.R.S. 11-588 

VICTIMS' RIGHTS ENFORCEMENT ASSESSMENT ARS 12-116.09 

RESTITUTION: 

Karen Levine 

Myles Levine 

early Riggs 

Dep Atwell 

Dep Baird 

Kaylon Hovey 

Michelle Fuentes 

Joaquin Contreras 

Jina Parks 

Margueritte Brown 

APPROVED BY: 

~4/cg 
Leslie Clarke, Unit Supervisor 
Court Services Division 

June 8, 2016 

Sentencing Date: June 13,2016 

* * * * * 

LOSS CLAIMED 
$ TBD 

$ TBD 

$ TBD 

$ TBD 

$ TBD 

$ TBD 

$ TBD 

$ TBD 

$ TBD 

$ TBD 

Respectfully submitted, 
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Declaration of Stuart P. Keating 

I, Stuart P. Keating, declare under penalty of perjury the following to be true to the 

best of my information and belief: 

1. I am a resident of St. Louis, Missouri, and an attorney barred by the 

State of Missouri (Missouri Bar No. 64952). 

2. On the afternoon of October 20, 2019, I participated in an interview 

of Konnie Delaney regarding her experience as a witness in the Arizona criminal 

case State v. Frank Atwood, Pima Cty. Nos. CR14065 & CR15397. At the time of 

Ms. Delaney's principal involvement with the Atwood case, her surname was 

Koger. The interview took place on the porch of Ms. Delaney's home near Dixon, 

Missouri, and lasted for approximately two hours. 

3. The interview was particularly memorable because Ms. Delaney was 

visibly armed with a handgun, which she kept in her hand for the full duration of 

the interview. She repeatedly verbally referenced and otherwise drew attention to 

the fact that she was armed. Ms. Delaney spoke freely but expressed a general 

concern for her safety that was independent of the interview. 

4. During. the course of this interview, Ms. Delaney described her role in 

the AtWood case. This description included her recalling seeing the victim in the 

company of an unknown second person at the Tucson Mall, where Ms. Delaney 

was working as an employee at a toy store; providing a description of that second 
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person to police, which was used to make a composite sketch of a suspect; and 

testifying at Mr. Atwood's trial regarding what she had seen at the mall. Her 

recollection was that the prosecutor at the trial did not like what she had to say in 

her testimony. 

5. Ms. Delaney stated that she had a difficult time personally because of 

her involvement in the case. She recalled that after her name appeared in media 

reports as one of the last people to see the victim following the victim's 

disappearance, she began to receive a lot of attention from curious members of the 

community, including people coming to her place of work wanting to talk to her 

about what she had seen. 

6. Ms. Delaney further stated that she received significant harassment 

related to her role in the Atwood case. She recalled that around the time she was 

involved in the case, she resided on a large property on the outskirts of Tucson, 

where she lived with her father. She stated that she received anonymous, 

threatening phone calls at home, accusing her of trying to help a child molester go 

free. She recalled that on several occasions horses her family kept on their property 

were found slashed by an unknown attacker. She also stated that on at least one 

occasion she found a dead animal carcass left on her car, which she felt was a 

threat. She stated that the harassment was so bad that it led her father to wait 
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outside at night with his gun looking for intruders. The harassment caused her 

considerable distress and concern for her safety. 

7. Ms. Delaney said that she never discovered who was harassing her, 

but that the harassment continued for years. She stated that it only ended when she 

and her husband moved away from Arizona in approximately 1991. She stated 

that the move from Arizona was motivated in part by a desire to get away from the 

harassment she was experiencing because of her role in the Atwood case. 

8. During the course of the interview, Ms. Delaney expressed that while 

she generally does not support the death penalty, she would like to see Frank 

Atwood executed for her own peace of mind. She said she felt this way because she 

believed that whoever had previously harassed her would have no reason to resume 

that harassment after Mr. Atwood was executed. 

I have read the foregoing declaration consisting of three (3) pages and eight (8) 
paragraphs. I declare under penalty of perjury under the laws of the States of 
Arizona and Missouri and the United States of America that it is true and correct. 
Signed this~day of April, 2022, at City of St. Louis, Missouri. 
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Declaration of Jeremy Voas 

I, Jeremy Voas, declare under penalty of perjury, the following to be true to the best 

of my information and belief: 

1. I am a private investigator employed by R3 Investigations in Tempe, 

Arizona (Arizona DPS License No. 1 003003). R3 Investigations is currently under 

retainer to the Arizona Capital Representation Project in State v. Atwood, Pima Cty. 

Nos. CR14065 & CR15397. 

2. On May 8, 2021, I was in St. James, Missouri with a colleague 

attempting to locate witnesses in the case, includingKonnie Delaney, whose name 

was Konnie Koger around the time of Mr. Atwood's trial. We were unable to 

determine Delaney's whereabouts. We contacted Delaney's sister, Karen Salazar, on 

the afternoon of May 8 at her residence outside St. James. When we explained why 

we had contacted her, and asked how we might speak with Delaney, Salazar stated 

that she recalledDelaney'srole as a witness in the 1987 trial of Frank Atwood and 

that she attended the trial the day her sister testified. Salazar further stated that she 

and Delaney lived on property owned by her father on Bopp Road west of Tucson, 

and that she recalled that Delaney had been subject to harassment after she had 

testified. 
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3. While we spoke with Salazar, her son, Nicholas Musson, said he was 

speaking to Konnie Delaney on his phone, and he handed his phone to me. 

Delaney spoke with me and my colleague and we left the Salazar residence and 

called Delaney fi·om our rental car. Delaney was on speakerphone during this 

conversation, which beganat2:14 p.m. CDT. 

4. Delaney told us that the harassment she endured in the wake of her 

testimony took the form of a dead animal carcass or carca.:;ses left on her vehicle 

while it wa.:; parked at her workplace. She said her work station was on the third floor 

of a building. She said she did not see who placed the carcass on her vehicle, nor did 

she know who had put it there. 

5. Delaney further stated that a horse she owned was slashed, and she 

attributed this act to harassment directed at her due to her role in the trial. She stated 

she did not see who slashed the horse, nor did she know who had done so. 

6. Delaney said the harassment she endured occurred right after the trial 

and years after the trial. 

I have read the foregoingdeclarationconsistingof2 pages and 6 paragraphs. I 
declare under penalty of perjury under the laws of the State of Ariz£na and the 
United States of America that it is true and correct. Signed this T_aay of May, 

2022, at Maricopa County, Arizona. ) 0 ":$ 

----:Jef'emy v=:l 
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**** * MEMO ***** 

TO: Stan Bloom 

FROM; Dave Ewing 

RE; ANN FRIES 

Date: 7 A p r i l 1986 

0" 1 A p r i l 1986 I contacted a Mr. Richard Rhoads who l i v e s next 
door to the p r i e s property on North T r i s h a Lane. He s t a t e d Ann 
F r i e s does not l i v e on T r i s h a Lane but rents t h i s t r a i l e r , she 
d r i v e s a brown Datsun s t a t i o n wagon and has fo r s e v e r a l years. He 
descri b e s Ann as a "crazy" and would not be s u r p r i s e d i f she was 
in v o l v e d i n t h i s case. He s t a t e s she br i n g s some r e a l l y strange 
l o o k i n g men over t o clean up her p r o p e r t y . He i s a f r a i d t o leave 
h i s home vhen these people are working next door, 

Mr. Rhoads s t a t e d Ann got i n t o t r o u b l e w i t h the p o l i c e i n the 
past when she t r i e d t o burn down her t r a i l e r f o r the insurance. I 
did not pursue t h i s , but he seemed to have more than j u s t passing 
knowledge. He f u r t h e r s t a t e d Ann deals i n r e a l e s t a t e and i s a 
nursing a i d . He may know a great deal about Ann and her 
background. Mr. Rhoads owns and operates the Orca Co r p o r a t i o n , 
s e l l i n g c o i n operated copy machines. L o c a l phone f o r him would be 
888-4721. 

I next epoke with the lady who rents Ann F r i e s t r a i l e r , she 
provided me with the f o l l o w i n g address f o r Ann: 3152 N. 
Shawnee Ave, Tucson 85705. 

she a l s o d e s c r i b e s Ann as a crazy who attends pima Community 
College and d r i v e s a brown Datsun s t a t i o n wagon. I d i d not press 
f o r any more from t h i s woman as she was uncomfortable w i t h my 
questions, she i s very apphrehensive of Ann. I d i d not wish t o 
exacerbate her f e a r s . 

I next drove by Ann F r i e s home at 3152 N. Shawnee. This i s 
lo c a t e d on the southwest corner of Flowing Wells and F t . L o w e l l , 
The home i s a y e l l o w t r a i l e r with brown t r i m on the south s i d e of 
the s t r e e t , mid block w i t h a low chain l i n k fence. The brown 
Datsun bearing A r i z o n a l i c e n s e p l a t e #vyF-536 was parked t o the 
south of the t r a i l e r i n the d r i v e . The c u r t a i n were a l l drawn and 
the gate c l o s e d , photos w i l l be taken of the car and home t h i s 
week. AS i t i s , t h i s i s a l l I have t o date. 
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P.O. BOX 910. TUCSON. ARIZONA 85702 
Rtport Numbar 

8A0917040 
incidenl (.ocalton 

1920 West Hadley 
tnect-Up Roport Number 

/ 

Reporting Olllcer 

1503 

Badge 

175 

Dale 

092084 
Typed By 

Rodrlftuez. Adella 
O f to Typed 

9/20/84 

Time Slorage Code 

V 

SYNOPSISs This report deals with a s e r i e s of structured 
i n t e r r o g a t i o n s conducted at the apartments located at 
4213 North Romero on 17 September 1984, 

DETAILS: On Monday, 17 September 1984, between 2000 hours and 
2200 hours, I conducted, i n the presence of Deputy Aubry, a s e r i e s 
of s tructured i n t e r r o g a t i o n s of the residents of the apartment 
complex located at 4213 North Romero. As seen i n Supplemental 
Reports, t h i s apartment complex i s located immediately 
south/southwest of the scene of the recovery of the b i c y c l e of V i c k i 
Hoskinson. Due to the nature and circumstances of the i n v e s t i g a t i o n 
as i t then stood, i t was decided that structured interrogations 
would be conducted of a l l residents, or i n the a l t e r n a t i v e , a l l male 
residents of the apartment complex. 

The fo l l o w i n g questions were asked during the structured 
in te r roga t i ons s 

1. 

2. 

3. 

4, 

5. 

A f t e r introducing myself v e r b a l l y and by showing my c r e d e n t i a l s , 
I informed the i n d i v i d u a l being questioned "As you know we are 
i n v e s t i g a t i n g the kidnapping of an 8 year old g i r l named V i c k i 
that occurred t h i s afternoon. We would l i k e your help. Do you 
know the l i t t l e g i r l we are t a l k i n g about?" 

"Have you seen t h i s l i t t l e g i r l t h i s afternoon"?, simultaneously 
handing the person being questioned a c o l o r photograph of V i c k i 
Lynn Hoskinson. 

"What kind of person do you think would kidnap and molest ci-> 
l i t t l e g i r l " ? 

"What do you think the punishment should be f o r a person who 
kidnaps and molests a l i t t l e g i r l ? " 

O 
Vr. 
a 

, — J 
"Do you think a person that would do that should be given a 
second chance"? g 

The following i n d i v i d u a l s were questioned in the order as shown, the 
responses being as f o l l o w s : 

Apt- 101 SMITH, James; white male (family present), 
(Apt, 101 i s the apartment of Michael Barber, a subject 
of an accompanying report.) 

1. Doesn't know g i r l . 
2. Does not recognize photograph of the g i r l . 
3- "An asshole", 
4, " L i f e , I'd give i t to him". 
-5.,— "Mo second , chancf>".—— 

Jill 
5 I38S il' 

P.C.S.O. 503 INCIDENT REPORT — D.D.S. NARRATIVE 5/1/B2 
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840917040 
Incidanl Localion 

1920 West Hadley 
Clata 

26.04 

Disl. 

c 
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Paga 
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tnact'Up Report Mumbar Reoorllng Olflcer 

W, J. Barkman 
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Date 

09/20/84 

Tima R a viewed 8y 
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• 1503 
Daio TypacJ 

09/20/84 

TIma Storaga Code 

iValu*: 

Apt, 

Apt, 

102 

103 

Apt 

104 

204 

Apt 

Apt, 

Apt. 

203 

202 

201 

Apt. 105 

Apt 

Apt 

106 

107 

No response. 

v̂ SBB,# William; i?hite male; la t e t h i r t i e s , e a r l y f o r t i e s 
{female i d e n t i f i e d as g i r l f r i e n d was present). 

1. "No", 
2. "No", 
3. "A very sic k person." 
4. "Suppose c a p i t a l punishment". 
5. "No second chance, would l i k e to be on the j u r y " . 

Vacant, * 

'^pllIRR,,' Jerrif̂  Duane;' black male; ea r l y to mid-twenties. 
(Ah i c e pick was noted on the f l o o r of the apartment 
leaning on the couch, and there may have been two p i l l s 
of u n i d e n t i f i e d o r i g i n l a y i n g i n the carpeting.) 

1. "Don't know her", 
2. "Don't recognize her" (looked at the p i c t u r e 

c l o s e l y ) . 
3. "I'd hate to say". 
4. " L i f e sentence", 
5. "No second chance". 

Vacant. 

No response, 

,-^1jgi)li,,;F^tn h,'7 white female; 14 July 1930. Not 
questioned with structured paragraph, 

flStrt^fltiO, Thomas (Vixfe, Mary, present). 

1. "No s i r " . 
2. "No s i r " (Good look at p i c t u r e and c a l l s k i d s ) . 
3. "A crazy person". 
4. "Send him up f o r good". 
5. "No", 

MANAGER (not questioned). 

-n?iSW^^"^CAirol; white female; mid to l a t e 30's; husband 
absent at time of interview. I d e n t i f i e d as Armand Cyr, 

1. "No, I don't know the g i r l " , 
2, "NO, I don't recognize the g i r l " (shows daughter 

photograph). 

P.C.S.D. 903 INCIDENT REPORT — D.D.S. NARRATIVE 9/1/B2 

21-FJA041374 

Case: 22-70084, 05/04/2022, ID: 12438984, DktEntry: 1-4, Page 300 of 498



PIMA COUFTY SHERIFFS DEP/nTMENT -"im 
P.O. BOX 910, TUCSON. ARIZONA 85702 

Report Number 

i 840917040 
Incldenr Location 

1920 West Hadley 
Class 

26.04 
OlSt. 

C 
Boat 

20 
Page 

3 oi6 
inect 'Up Report Number RepDrting Onicer 

W* J. Barkman 
Badge 

175 
Date 

092084 
Time Reviewed By 

Typed By (.0. 

Rodriguez, Adella il503 
Dale Typed 

092084 
Time Slorage Code 

Apt. 110 

Apt, 109 

Apt, 210 

Apt, 109 

Apt, 209 / 

Vacant, 

3piSM!iS,̂ iEll? Faulfiwhite male; l a t e f o r t i e s (wife, Kay, 
present:). These i n d i v i d u a l s moved into the apartment 
complex "yesterday" 16 September 1984, and are to 
assume managerial duties. 

1, 
2, 
3. 

5. 

1, 

2, 
3. 

1, 
2. 
3, 

5. 

"No, I don't know her". 
"No, I haven't seen her". 
"A sickee", 
"Hang him up by his caboons" (a reference to the 
t e s t i c l e s ) . 
"No way", 

y James Richards; white male; 23 September 1954. 

Interrupts question, explains he has daughters in 
school. 
"Is her h a i r s t i l l that short?" 
"He must be p r e t t y si c k i n the head". 
"I'm pretty prejudiced, I got three of them i n 
that room", 

It should be noted that as Aubry and I approached 
Raster's residence, we were able to see him on the 
couch, apparently watching t.v., i n a prone 
p o s i t i o n . A f t e r r i n g i n g the door b e l l several 
times, and knocking on the door loudly, we noted a 
woman i d e n t i f i e d as Debra Raster (wife) to enter 
the room and corae to the door. It was at that 
time that Raster claimed to have been asleep on 
the couch. Raster explained i n non-specific terms 
how he had returned from work that afternoon from 
h i s place of employment at "Rusk Construction" or 
s i m i l a r organization. 

Oavid S. ^wife, Debra, present). 

"Don't know her", 
"Haven't seen the g i r l " . 
"A s i c k person, I hope he burns in H e l l " , 
"Should be sent away for ever unless he's mentally 
i l l or something", 
"We need to know more about the person". 

Alex (apparently no r e l a t i o n s h i p to our 
dl']^uty). This i n d i v i d u a l was not home. This 
i n d i v i d u a l was known to Aubry jwho/.talked vjith the c h i l d 
that answered the door, " 5 fSS^ j 
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COUP»TY SHERIFFS D E P / I T M E N T ^ 
P.O. BOX 910, TUCSON, ARIZONA 85702 ^]ticiJ 

Raoon Number 

B40917040 
Incident Localion 

1920 West Hadley 
Class 

26.04 
OiSl, 

C 
Baal 

20 
Page 

4 o( 6 
^ •r>ae(*Up Report Number 

k • 

Raponing Otiicer 

W. J. Barkman 
Badge 

175 
Date 

092084 

Time Reviewed By 

Typed By 

Rodriguez, Adella 
1.0. 

1 1503 
Date Typad 

092084 
Time Storage Coda 

Apt. 208 

Apt. 207 

Apt. 205 

Apt, 111 

Apt, 112 

Apt. 113 

Apt, 114 

!, A^thwir and wife, Beatrice Johnson,- o l d e r , 
r i € l r e d couple, 

1, "No idea", 
2. "No", (Looks at photograph with wife) 
3. "A nut would do i t " . 
4, "That would be hard to say", 

Johnson and h i s wife have a discussion that 
c h i l d r e n are u s u a l l y molested by people they know, 
et c . 

• — f r-

|̂ <?p)KE? Gwene andvUatfney, Brenda L, (both females, l a t e 
teens or e a r l y twenties, claimed no knowlege.) Both 
females deny any problems of phone c a l l s , being 
watched, etc." 

giO (^resides with g i r l f r i e n d Connie Porter 
who was not present), 

1, "No". 
2, Does not know, but "I saw the p i c t u r e before 

e a r l i e r tonight", 
3, "A j e r k " , 
4, "Death", 
5, "There a i n ' t no second chance a f t e r death". 

I t should be noted that I am f a m i l i a r with t h i s 
i n d i v i d u a l having known him f o r approximately f o r 
a year and a h a l f . 

(husband J e f f i s not present). 

The woman denied any knowledge of the c h i l d , only 
g i v i n g background information as to the 
neighborhood. 

Vacant, 

fA^l^y^^fA^Of Ddb^a And' (white female; l a t e twenties, 
6 a r l y t h i r t i e s ) ; r esides with daughters Wendy, 11, and 
JoAnn, 8. Not questioned. Claims a h i s t o r y of "hang 
up phone c a l l s " , 

ll^S^ii^.r^ayn© $ajrtian^(white male; 4/27/57; wife, 
iMaryAnn Louise Hardy, present). 

1, "No". 
2, "No, X don't know her at a l l " 

Jr Imes-. 
Repeats three 
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\ C O U r ^ Y SHERIFFS DEPP'^TME 
P.O. BOX 910. TUCSON, ARIZONA 85702 

EN" 

Rapon NumPer Incident Location Class Dist. Baal Page 

8409X70AO 1920 West Hadley 26.04 c 20 5 0' 6 
^ nnacl-Up Rapon Number Reporting Oflicer Badge Date Time Reviewed By 

• H. J. Barkman 175 092084 
Typed By 1.0. Dale Typed Time SloraoB Code 

RodriRuez* Adella \ 1503 092O8A 
4;\lDeBCfiplto*ii(t( Property-

Apt. 214 

Apt. 213 

Apt. 212 

Apt. 211 

Apt. 115 

3. " A l l sorts of people. A closed i n type person, 
quiet type person". 

4. " R e h a b i l i t a t i o n i f possible a f t e r at least ten 
years i n p r i s o n unless the c h i l d i s hurt, at which 
time he should be given twenty years." 

5. "Depends on the person, maybe p s y c h i a t r i c help". 

• Hardi informed me that he r i s e s e a r l y , and on 
several occasions has seen a "older man" walking 
i n the a l l e y behind the apartment complex "between 
5:00 and 6:00 a.m.". Describing the man as "sort 
of a transient type". He suspects the man i s 
frequenting the area c o l l e c t i n g cans, etc. 

r;;|lg|̂ iHBtt, V a l e r i e • (husb^ Dennis Regher, not present at 
' xWt'etView). "Regher was not interrogated. Regher 
informing me both she and her husband work. 

^•^^^^^'t-^S^^^^-'^'^'^^^^ female; mid-30's). Her mother, 

HsĴ ĥ ^̂ ^ present and was questioned. Roberts 
aiicl her mother both volunteered to have t h e i r apartment 
searched. It should be noted I*ve known Roberts f o r 
se v e r a l years. 

Vacant. 

Samuel Louie :{2 March 1959). Nanez, Scott Paul' 
(2 A p r i l 1960). Samuel Nanez and h i s brother both 
claim no knowledge, Kanez described the previously 
mentioned c h i l d grabbing incident involving his neice, 
claiming he f e e l s the person responsible should be hung 
or k i l l e d somehow. 

. ^ ^ v w & ^ j POnald Stewart; (white male; 14 years; 14 May 
1970; Flowing Wells Junior High School). Interviewed 
i n presence of brother, Robnett, Gary Rowe; white male, 
19, Gary Robnett i s "deaf", and apparently does not 
speak. 

1, 
2, 
3. 
4. 
5, 

Uh-uh (negative), 
Uh-uh (negative), 
"They most be mentally i l l " . 
"The e l e c t r i c c h a i r or l i f e " . 
"I don't know." 

Robnett seemed uncomfortable although the source 
of the threat was not i d e n t i f i e d . 

&»surss Mad̂  JUL 5 1985 
response. 

l P.C,S.D. 903 
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C O U r ^ Y S H E R I F F S D E P P H T M E 
P.O. BOX 910, TUCs6h4. ARIZONA 85702 

Rflport Numt>ar 

840917040 

Incident Location 

1920 West Hadley 

Class 

26.04 

OiSi 

C 
Beat 

20 

Page 

6 of 

'tnact'Up Repon Number ReportInQ Ollicer 

W. J, Barkman. 

Badge 

175 

Date 

092084 

Time Reviewed By 

Typed By 

Rodriguez, Adella 

I.D. 

1503 

Date Typed 

092084 

Time Slorage Code 

Apt. 218 

Apt. 217 

Apt. 216 

Apt. 215 

Vacant. 

No response. 

Sue. Marie?-''white female. 
T̂ Wgt'ĥ , has two sons. 

Not questioned at 

^^^J^^|^|.^m^^Harv^ male; 28 June 1959; (wife, 

1. I n t e r r u p t s . Exploratory portio n . Explains how he 
heard about the case on his way home from work on 
h i s car radio. 

2. "Don't know her, don't know what she looks l i k e , 
never seen her before, they s a i d they had found 
her bike". 

3. He and h i s wife talked. They have ki d s . I t ' s 
p o s s i b l e the father took the l i t t l e g i r l . He 
doesn't know, re-ask the question. "Don't know, 
maybe a maniac". 

4. "Maybe a mental h o s p i t a l " . Again r e i t e r a t i n g very 
s p e c i f i c responses to i r r e l e v a n t issues -when he 
a r r i v e d at home, about f i f t e e n minutes ago. 

It should be noted that the above responses are reconstructions of 
my r e c o l l e c t i o n of the incident based on notes i n which t h i s report 
was constructed. At 2210 hours, a f t e r having informed S h e r i f f 
Dupnik of the f a c t s and circumstances involving the structured 
i n t e r r o g a t i o n , I was i n s t r u c t e d to defer searching the "no response" 
apartments u n t i l "tomorrow". The "no response apartments" were 
those apartments that appeared to be or were purportedly occupied 
where we got no response. It should be further noted that Deputy 
Clark, i n the company of h i s canine, searched the nine vacant 
apartments i n the complex i n the company of the manager's daughter. 

Further, i t should be noted thafifjlj^:fe|^|lj;t#and I, e a r l i e r i n the 
evening, had entered an apartmerit^'by^'W^' of a master key. The 
apartment was entered due to the f a c t s and circumstances surrounding 
a purported " c h i l d grabbing" that occurred i n the apartment complex. 
No evidence of the missing c h i l d was found i n that apartment. 

No further information at t h i s time. 

W. James Barkman, #175 
Deputy S h e r i f f 
I n t e l l i g e n c e Unit 
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1 £ £ Q £ £ £ J Q X l f i S 

2 

3 THE COURTs Thank you once again* For 

4 the record cnce more this is Pima County CR 14065, that is 

5 State versus Frank Jarvis Atwood. Both counsel and Mr. 

6 Atwood are f resent. Counsel, as you know the jury lias 

7 indicated to Glenn that they have reached verdicts. So I 

8 need to have just a little discussion with you about what 

9 options they may be and what we need to do depending on what 

10 they are. 

11 First of all, if, and I assure you I have no 

12 idea what the verdicts may be, but should they be not 

13 guilty, then of course the issue of allegations does not 

14 arise. Mr. Davis, should there be a guilty as to both 

15 charges, dons the state then have any need or interest to 

16 proceed with the allegations? 

17 MR. DAVISs Your Honor, if there is 

18 guilty verd;ict as to both charges, I still would like to 

19 proceed in proving the priors, but I would proceed with what 

20 proof i6 available to me here in the state at the moment. 

21 And we have noticed the fingerprint expert to corae down and, 

22 at that timm I would move to admit — let me get to the 

23 number for ;;he record, 105 — which is the letter of which 

24 only portions were admitted because the prior history was 

25 not relevant. 
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1 Our motion would be that it is not relevant and 

2 is more or less a confession to these priors, and I think 

3 that and fingerprint evidence would be sufficient to 

4 proceed. If there is a verdict in which there is only 

5 guilty ©n kidnapping, at that point if the court would give 

6 me a few moments to think about what I might want to do 

7 because we have other witnesses who are on notice to think 

8 if I think vie need them. 

9 THE COURTs Mr. Bloom, have you seen 

10 these additional exhibits that have been ldentifiedf 

11 MR. BLOOMs Yes, I have. Judge. My 

12 objection would be of course to the certification and to the 

13 fact that I think there's some indication as a report that 

14 was attached along with it, ©ne of the witnesses — but 

15 basically to the certification to the authentication that 

16 they are not valid priors and we're not admitting to them 

17 for purposes of the documents themselves. 

18 THE COURTs All right. I understand that 

19 and I'm assuming they are, Mr. Davis, certified exemplified 

20 copies? 

2i MR. DAVISs Yes, they are. Your Honor. 

22 THE COURTs Counsel, I have had Irma 

23 prepare the three forms of verdict as to the allegations. I 

24 have looked them over, believe them to be correct, but 

25 please, if both of you would look them over, should we need 

SUPERIOR COURT 
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1 to use them I was not to know these are satisfactory* Mr. 

2 Davis, if you'll come take a look. I have the allegations 

3 here, if you want to make comparison with the allegations. 

4 MR. DAVISi Yes, please. Your Honor. 

5 MR. BLOOMs The only thing I see here* 

6 Judge, on these that the allegation was alleged in GR 153 97, 

7 of course the verdict form seems to be CR 14065. 

8 THE COURTs That is because of the 

9 consolidation of them, Mr. Bloom. Once we consolidated, we 

10 ceased using both numbers. 

11 MR. BLOOMs Okay. I realize that* I'm 

12 just saying the allegation was made, I think, to the -- I'm 

13 not sure which one is the later one now. Is the — 

14 THE COURTs The kidnapping was the 

15 earlier. 

16 MR. BLOOMi 140? 

17 THE COURTs No, 140 I think is the 

18 original number adopted so they retained 140 CR but the 

19 allegations were with the original kidnapping charge* 

20 MR. DAVISs They were the same 

21 allegations. 

22 MR. BLOOMs Yes, Judge, and all I'll 

23 saying is I Thought they were alleged to kidnapping* even 

24 though they had been consolidated. So I would just make my 

25 objection to that effect for that purpose and I don't feel 
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1 it's applicable to this case. 

2 THE COURTi All right. 

3 MR. BLOOMs In general* 

4 THE COURTs Thank you. Would you bring 

5 those back to me. What I will do is if there is a guilty 

6 verdict or if they are both guilty verdicts, 1 will advise 

7 the jury that we will have additional business for them, but 

8 that we will take just a few moments, send them back into 

9 the jury room. You'll have a chance then, Mr. Davis* to 

10 give some thought to how you wish to proceed at that point. 

11 Let me ask of all of you In the audience, and 

12 It is obviously important at this point and undoubtedly 

13 emotional to all of you who have an interest and have been 

14 here for much or all of the trial and I realize that* But 1 

15 have to ask of all of you that whatever the outcome? 

16 whatever the verdicts, that you not display any 

17 demonstrations or outburst or anything like that. 

18 As you know, we will have other business that 

19 has to be conducted. I don't intend to compete with any of 

20 you to do thet, so I suggest in advance that if you think 

21 there's going to be any sort of emotional outburst or if you 

22 think you need to let yourself go at that point, I suggest 

23 you excuse yourself from the courtroom and step out and do 

24 that if you feel you need to. 

25 Counsel, are we otherwise — one other thing, 
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1 Mr. Bloom, that we have not done and I have not forgotten it 

2 but simply thought you might do it just as well latef and 

3 that is the record of the jury's request to go and visit 

4 Tucson and my decision to decline them that opportunity. I 

5 think you wanted to make some record that you voiced earlier 

6 and I'll let you do that later. All right? 1 guess we're 

7 ready. 

8 (The following proceedings took place in 

9 open court.) 

10 THE COURTs For the record now all jurors 

11 are present. Thank you very much. Please be seated. Mr. 

12 Bradshaw, we are advised by the bailiff that the jury has 

13 now been able to reach verdicts unanimously as to both 

14 charges, is that true? 

15 JUROR BRADSHAWs Yes, we have. 

16 THE COURTs And you have selected the 

17 appropriate verdicts and signed same, I assume? 

18 JUROR BRADSHAWs Yes, I have. 

19 THE COURTs Would you hand them all to 

20 the bailiff, please. What I will do is hand these t© the 

21 clerk, she will read them aloud and record them. She will 

22 inquire of ycu, the jury, after that, "Are these your 

23 verdicts?'* And you should answer aloud yes or no, please* 

24 if you would. 

25 THE CLERKs May I omit the formal 
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1 caption? 

2 THE COURTs Yes. 

3 THE CLERKt "We, the ju ry , duly Impaneled 

4 and sworn i« the abo^e-^nt l t led act toj i , upon our oaths do 

5 find the defend^fit gu i l ty of kidnapping,^Andrew C. Bradshaw, 

6 Foreman. ^ ; s / t h i s your veedlct__sP—s&yyou ©ne and e l l ? 

7 ThanJt^gcSil- "Wej^the j u r y , duly impaneled and 

8 sworn in th« above e n t i t l e d ac t ionX upon our oaths d© find 

9 the defendant gu i l ty of murder, Andrew C. Bradshaw* / v 7 
10 Foreman. * [is thl^ your verdict $6 say you one and all? 
11 Thank you. 

12 THE COURTs Mr. Bloom, do you wish to 

13 have the jury polled individually? 

14 MR. BLOOMs Yes, Your Honor. 

15 THE COURTs Jurors, further procedure at 

16 this point will be for the clerk to individually Inquire of 

17 you, "Are these your verdicts?8 And would you again please 

18 answer aloud yes or no. 

19 THE CLERKs Juan G. Mejorado, is this 

20 your verdict? 

21 JUROR MEJORADOs Yes. 

22 THE CLERKs Rosetta M. Acker, is this 

23 your verdic;? 

24 JUROR ACKERs Yes. 

25 THE CLERKs Frank C. Leyva, is this your 
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3 
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verdict? 

your verdict? 

your verdict? 

verdict? 

JUROR LEWAi Yes. 

THE CLERKi Juvenal Lopes, is thi® your 

JUROR LOPEZs Yes. 

THE CLERKs Barbara A. Fekete* i® this 

JUROR FEKETEs Yes. 

THE CLERKs David K. Smelser, is this 

JUROR SMELSERs Yes. 
J 

THE CLERKs Ruth Jones, is this your 

JUROR JONESs Yes. 

THE CLERKi Andrew C. Bradshaw, is this 

JUROR BRADSHAWs Yes. 

THE CLERKi Frank J. Ondrey Jr.* is thii 

JUROR ONDREYs Yes. 

THE CLERKs Carol Jones, is this your 

verdict? 

JUROR JONESs Yes. 

THE CLERKs Thank you. Stephen Garcia, 

is this your verdict? 

verd ic t? 

your verdict;? 

your verdict? 
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10 

1 JUROR GARCIAi Yes. 

2 THE CLERKs Helen B. White, is this your 

3 verdict? 

4 JUROR WHITEl Yes. 

5 THE CLERKs Thank you. 

6 THE COURTs Mr. Davis, in light of our 

7 discussion a few moments ago, was there anything further we 

8 need to proceed with before the jury? 

§ MR. DAVISs Yes, Your Honor. Should be 

10 just a few minutes, and I apologize to the jurors. Know 

11 this is a surprise to them, but there is that further matter 

12 we need to proceed this. 

13 THE COURTs Thank you. I'll explain that 

14 to them. Jurors, there8s just a little bit more business 

15 for you. We cannot tell you in advance that there is, but 

16 it's not lor/g. There will be just a few minutes del&y and 

17 then we'll qet out of here and go right onto the business w© 

18 have for you. 

19 What I'll ask you, first of all, Is thet you 

20 step back into the jury room for just a few minutes* we 

21 will quickly get prepared to do this with you, and Glenn 

22 will bring you back very shortly and 1 suggest it won't be 

23 later than ten minutes from now and then that the additional 

24 business th.at we have for you wi l l not take long, so you ' re 

25 s t i l l on schedule. 
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JLX 

1 We won't have to worry about the hotel or 

2 anything else. If you will do that for me, please, step 

3 back in the jury room a few minutes and we'll have them back 

4 here shortly. 

5 (Thereupon, the jury was excused®! 

6 THE COURTs The jury has stepped'back to 

7 the jury rocm, and counsel, I hope we can proceed within ten 

8 minutes to cio ahead with the allegations of prior 

9 convictions. 

10 MR. DAVISs We have placed to call the D. 

11 P. s. fingerprint expert was on call. He has already taken 

12 and compared the fingerprints so it should only be the 

13 travel time from the D. P. S. building to here, and he was 

14 alerted that he might be needed. So hopefully that call 

15 went through. 

16 I would like, while we're on the record* Your 

17 Honor, the exhibits marked 105 were inadvertently marked on 

18 a folder which was good except there is writing on that 

19 folder about, certain other witnesses that would be 

20 a v a i l a b l e . 

21 What I would ask Is perhaps we let Ira* remark 

22 these and withdraw this folder. And I will proceed with the 

23 fingerprint expert and I would at this time offer 6©A and 

24 ask that the entirety of that letter be given to the jurors 

25 to reach their decision on the allegations of prior 
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1 conviction. 

2 THE COURTs That being the letter to 

3 which reference is previously made? 

4 MR. DAVISs Yes. To which certain 

5 portions or edited and predacted upon motion by the 

6 defendant for the jury's decision. 

7 THE COURTs Mr. Bloom, that would be over 

8 your objection obviously? 

9 MR. BLOOMs Yes, Your Honor 

10 THE COURTs I will admit exhibit 60A 

11 In full for purposes of this portion of the trial. It will 

12 be over defense objection that was raore fully aired earlier. 

13 The certified documents, if I may see those also* those 

14 numbers are CO A and 60B. 

15 MR. DAVISs No. The documents have been 

16 marked as one package as 105 on the folder. So what I'm 

17 giving the court now is what has previously been marked as 

18 105 and you might want to mark them 105A, B, or C or 

19 whatever is most convenient for the clerk. Yes, I wanted to 

20 get all of those. 

21 THE COURTs These will have new 

22 identification of what? 

23 THE CLERKs 105A. 

24 THE COURTs These are now the certified 

25 documents and I have confirmed that they are, will be 
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1 identified as Exhibit 105A. The court has confirmed that 

2 they are certified exemplified copies. They would be 

3 admissible, Mr. Bloom, over your objection I believe 

4 pursuant to Rule 803, Subsection 22, of prior completions 

5 and if they are self authenticating pursuant to Rule 902 ©£ 

6 the rules of evidence. So they will be marked and admitted 

7 as Exhibit 105A collectively <UFL>. 

8 Mr. Davis, the only thing we need is ®6 P. S. 

9 officer to arrive? 

10 MR. DAVISs Yes. If I could be excused 

11 to step out, maybe I could come back while we're still on 

12 the record und tell the court what our expections are about 

13 him. 

14 THB COURTs Let rae just for a mofcent let 

15 roe state exactly what our procedure will be and see if you 

16 care to make opening statement for example. My procedure 

17 would be to, when the jury returns, advise them that there 

18 are additional allegations that they must hear also and 

19 explain to them the same procedure follows. State will 

20 begin and defense will have an opportunity to proceed after 

21 that if thev wish. And invite each of you, if you wish, to 

22 to make opening statement. Will you care to? 

23 MR. DAVISs Yes, I would, probably just 

24 to explain uo them what they're to do. I'm not going to go 

25 into detail. But I think this is more puzzling than some of 
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1 the other things so you will explain to them what the 

2 allegation is, what they need to find and just tell them I 

3 will call two witnesses and introduce the letter to give 

4 them evidence to base a finding on. 

5 THE COURTs I will simply advise them as 

6 to instructions and of course all of the previous 

7 instructions, especially if the burden is beyond a . 

8 reasonable doubt for the state to prove, this is still 

9 applicable, and that they will then get the verdict forms. 

10 And I will read to them and be allowed to consider the 

11 evidence before them as to these allegations. 

12 Anything else we need to do before we're 

13 actually ready to bring the jury out and do that? 

14 MR. DAVISs No, Your Honor. Just to 

15 check and make sure there's no snag and he's on the way. 

16 THE COURTs I'll step off the bench and 

17 you advise me when he is here and available. 

18 (A recess ensued.) 

19 THE COURTs For the record, both counsel 

20 defendant and all jurors are present. Jurors, the 

21 additional business that is before you at this time* as I 

22 informed you, is something that we cannot advise you until 

23 such time an you have returned a guilty verdict should you 

24 do that. And these are allegations of prior felony 

25 convictions and an allegation of committing the offenses 
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1 that you have just heard and decided while being on 

2 probation, pa::ole or any other release. 

3 These are handled as the original charges were, 

4 that is I'm going to be reading the allegations to you. Th® 

5 state then has an opportunity to make a brief opening 

6 statement to you as to what it is they must do. The state 

7 proceeds with its evidence as before in the original case 

8 and then the same instructions, burden of proof and so on 

9 remain the same as to before. So you have there your note 

10 pads, and I will read to you now the allegations and then 

11 Mr. Davis may proceed thereafter. 

12 The allegation is as followss "The County 

13 Attorney of the County of Pima, Name of the State of Arizona 

14 by its authority and pursuant to A.R.S. alleges that th© 

15 defendant Frank Jarvis Atwood has previously been convicted 

16 of the offenses, two of them, of lewd or lacivious ̂ cts upon 

17 the body of a child under 14, in the Superior Court* County 

18 of Los Angeles, California, and Judge C. Woodrauncy, 

19 A-071926. lhe defendant certified the Department of Mental 

20 Hygiene on Eebruary 3* 1975, Judgment and Sentence on 

21 November 29, 1978." 

22 The second alleged prior conviction is that of 

23 kidnapping in the Superior Court, County of Los Angeles, 

24 California Judge L. J. Rittenband, case number A-080644 on 

25 January 20, 1981. 
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1 The next allegation is that of committing the 

2 felony while on probation, parole or other release* It 

3 reads as followsi "The County Attorney of County ©f Pima, 

4 name of the State of Arizona, by its authority, pursuant t© 

5 A.R.S. alleces that the defendant Frank Jarvis Atwood 

6 committed tfce offense charged in the above numbered 

7 indictment,* and that pertains to the kidnapping charge in 

8 this case, "while he was on probation, parole, work furlough 

9 or any other release in case number A-080644 kidnapping, 

10 County of Los Angeles, California, Judge L. J. Rittenband on 

11 January 20, 1981." 

12 To these allegations the defendant has entered 

13 a denial and that brings us then to the time for Mr» Davis 

14 to make brief opening statement to you. Mr. Davis? 

15 MR. DAVISs Thank you. I'm sorry to give 

16 you this unpleasant surprise that you have more to do, and I 

17 apologize. There will only be one witness called to support 

18 the state's allegations. And that will be a fingerprint 

19 expert from the Department of Public Safety® 

20 He will testify to you that he has taken the 

21 fingerprints of the defendant Frank Atwood and compered 

22 those fingei:prints to documents which you will see* Those 

23 documents are the certified copies of the court documents 

24 showing the prior convictions of Frank Jarvis Atwood. 

25 Some of those are attached to fingerprint cards 
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1 which the expert has then compared with the fingerprints of 

2 Frank Atwood as he sits here today to tell you that the 

3 Prank Atwood in those records is the same Frank Atwood who 

4 sits here today. 

5 The other item which you will have t© take back 

6 to the jury t.o prove these convictions is an item 68A, part 

7 of that item was admitted to you. Some of the words in the 

8 letter have already been given to you to help you reach your 

9 decision, tow, you may have all the letter. 

10 In that letter you will see that Frank Atwood 

11 wrote rathei detailed descriptions of these prior ©rimes and 

12 you can use that to consider and to prove the fact that this 

13 is the same Prank Atwood that was convicted. 

14 For example, one of the allegations concerns a 

15 14 year old girl, and you will see a discussion in this 

16 letter of tfcat crime against that 14 year old girl and the 

17 admission of the defendant that he in fact committed that 

18 crime and was convicted of it. Also you will see a 

19 discussion of the next victim who was a seven year old boy 

20 who was kidnapped and defendant discusses that in the 

21 letter, too. 

22 So you should read the letter and then compare 

23 It to the documents and consider the testimony of the 

24 fingerprint examiner, and from that evidence you will 

25 conclude beyond a reasonable doubt that in fact the 
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1 allegations are true, that Frank Atwood has been twice 

2 convicted of the crimes as alleged in the allegations. 

3 THE COURTs Mr. Bloom, do you wish to 

4 make an opening? 

5 MR. BLOOMs No, Your Honor. 

6 THE COURTt Mr. Davis, you may proceed 

7 with your witness. 

8 MR. DAVISs I would like to call Mr. 

9 Tavernaro. 

10 

11 ROfiBRT TOVfiRMARO, 

12 called as a witness herein, having been first duly sworn, 

13 was examined and testified as follows? 

14 

16 BY MR. DAVISi 

17 

18 Q. Tell the jurors your name and where you are 

19 employed, please? 

20 A. My name is Robert Tavernaro. I am employed as 

21 a latent print examiner with the Arizona Department of 

2.2 Public Safety in the Phoenix laboratory. 

23 Q. Would you briefly, briefly tell the jury your 

24 qualifications to perform that job for the Department of 

25 P u b l i c S a f e t y ? 
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1 A. I have attended numerous schools, including a 

2 class in the classification identification of fingerprints 

3 at Phoenix Police Department, have attended the FBI1® basic 

4 latent print school, FBI's advanced print school. I have 

5 completed the FBI's latent print photography school at the 

6 FBI academy in Quantico, Virginia. 1 have attended and 

7 successfully completed numerous classes in police seience at 

8 Phoenix College in this city and state. 

9 I have taught in the science of fingerprints at 

10 Phoenix College, also Northland Pioneer College in the State 

11 of Arizona. I have, in addition, testified numerous,times 

12 and been able to qualify as an expert witness on latent 

13 fingerprint identification. 

14 I am currently member and president of the 

15 Arizona Identification Counsel and member and past chairman 

16 of the Arizona Regional Latent Print Certification 

17 Committee, which is affiliated with the International 

18 Association of Identification of which I am a certified 

19 latent print examiner, 

20 Q. Mr. Tavernaro, pursuant to the state's request, 

21 did you come here this week and take the fingerprints of the 

22 defendant Frank Jarvis Atwood? 

23 A. Yes, I did. 

24 Q. And showing you what has been marked as 106, 

25 would you look at that, please, sir. 
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1 Q. You recognize that? 

2 A. Yes, I do. 

3 Q. Are those in fact the fingerprints which you 

4 personally took from Frank Jarvis Atwood here in this 

5 courtroom? 

6 A. Yes, they are. 

7 Q. showing you now various documents which have 

8 been marked and admitted under the number 105A. Could you 

9 look at those and see if you recognize certain pages of 

10 those documents? 

11 A. Yes, I do. 

1 2 Q- ^ d did you take the fingerprints which you 

13 took from Frank Jarvis Atwood and compare them to the 

14 fingerprints contained within those documents prior to 

15 coming to coiirt here today? 

16 A. Yes, I did. 

i 7 0. What was your conclusion based on that 

18 comparison? 

A. Conclusion was that the prints that appear as 

copies withii this document, three separate sets were made 

21 by the same jxirBon who I took these ink prints from* I 

22 believe it it on Wednesday of this week here. 

2 3 Q« Okay. Just to be sure for the record tfeat 

24 person is the defendant Frank Atwood? 

2 5 A* That's correct. The gentleman in the dark suit 
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1 with the reddish tie. 

2 THE COURTs He has identified the 

3 defendant. 

4 MR. DAVISs I have no further questions 

5 of the witness. 

6 THE COURTs Mr. Bloom, any questions? 

7 MR. BLOOMs No questions. Your Honor. 

8 THE COURTS Thank you, Mr. Tavernaro. 

9 You may be esscused, sir. Anything further, Mr. Davis? 

10 MR. DAVISs Yes, Your Honor. If I might, 

11 there was one thing I neglected to mention in my opening 8© 

12 I would mention that to the jury. 

13 THE COURTs Ail right. 

14 MR. DAVISs What I forgot to mention to 

15 you is these documents also prove that the defendant; Frank 

16 Atwood was on parole when he committed this offense* And 

17 you will see documents in here which showed that he was 

18 released in Way of 1984 from the prison sentence on the 

19 kidnapping of the seven year old boy and placed on parole in 

20 California and that he was on parole In September of 1984 

21 when he committed this offense. 

22 That's the other allegation in part. The judge 

23 will give you two allegations similar to the forms of 

24 verdict that; you found, and if you look at these documents, 

25 you're going to see photographs also of the defendant that 
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1 also convince you that the person who these documents talk 

2 about is in fact this defendant Prank Atwood. And you will 

3 see parole records in here that prove that he was released 

4 on parole firom prison in California in May of 1984 and that 

5 that parole continued into September of 1984. 

6 Your Honor, I would move, if I have not 

7 previously done so that 106 and 105A be admitted into 

8 evidence for purposes of this hearing and that also! the 

9 jurors be allowed to consider the entire letter marked SOA 

10 previously identified by witnesses. 

11 THE COURTs Mr. Bloom, I have recorded 

12 your earlier objections in addition. 

13 MR. BLOOMs Fine, Your Honor. 

14 THE COURTs Exhibit 60A, Exhibit 10SA and 

15 Exhibit 106 will all be admitted over the objections® Mr. 

16 Bloom, do you wish to present anything at this timet 

17 MR. BLOOMt No. 

18 THE COURTs Mr. Davis, anything else? 

19 MR. DAVISs No, Your Honor. 

20 THE COURTs Mr. Bloom, nothing else then? 

21 MR. BLOOMs Nothing else. Your Honor. 

22 THE COURTs Jurors, you have heard all 

23 that you're going to in the way then of evidence pertaining 

24 to these particular allegations. 

25 I'm going to read to you again, as I did 
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1 before, the verdict forms that will be given to you:very 

2 shortly. They pertain to each of these allegations® 

3 The first one and again as before, each has the 

4 caption of the case up at the top, the CR and then the first 

5 one begins ar, followst "It has been alleged that the 

6 defendant Prank Jarvis Atwood was convicted of the ftflony 

7 lewd lacivious acts in the Superior Court ©f Los Angiles 

8 County, California Case A-071926 on February 3, 197S»«t 

9 In this case, the nature of the allegations 

requires that your decision be either that it is true beyond 

11 a reasonable doubt or that It is not true. And again the 

12 foreperson Mr. Bradshaw will sign at the very bottoms 

1 3 The next readss "It has been alleged the 

14 defendant Frank Jarvis Atwood at the time of committing this 

15 offense was on parole in case A-080644, kidnapping, Los 

16 Angeles County, California from judgment ©n January 20, 

17 1981." Again your decision must be either true beyond a 

18 reasonable doubt or not true and again signature by the 

19 foreperson at the bottom. 

I didn't read these in a particular order that 

you might corsider them, but the other readss "It has been 

22 alleged the di>fendant Frank Jarvis Atwood was convicted of a 

23 felony of kidnapping in the Superior Court of the Los 

24 Angeles County, California in case A-080644 January 20, 

25 1 9 8 1 . " 
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1 Again the decision either true beyond a 

2 reasonable dcubt or not true. 

3 As I indicated to you before, the instructions 

4 previously given to you, a copy of which you have had and 

5 continue to have, apply to these allegations as they did to 

6 the original charges. So I need say nothing further t© you. 

7 Just remind you that it is the burden upon the state to 

8 prove the allegations beyond a reasonable doubt. 

9 Again we'll let you retire in the custody the 

10 the bailiff and wait to har something from you about your 

11 verdicts as to these allegations. 

12 Record may reflect I am handing to Glenn also 

13 three forms of verdict that I read to you just now. Thank 

14 you. You may retire to begin deliberations. 

15 (Thereupon, the jury was excused.! 

16 THE COURTs For the record the jury has 

17 retired to consider these matters* Mr. Bloom, if you wish, 

18 this is a good opportunity for you to make any record you 

19 want as to the requested trip to Tucson by the jury that was 

20 dejiiedJiy_J±L<a_court. 

2i MR. BLOOMs Yes, judge. As Your Honor 

22 recalls in chambers — 

23 THE COURTs You want to step to the 

24 podium so everyone can hear you, thank you? 

25 MR. BLOOMs I'm sure they're most 
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1 interested to hear what I have to say, Judge. 

2 I would simply say to the court that we have 

3 had conversation in chambers about the jury viewing in 

4 Tucson. I tried t© recollect ~ I thought at one time 

5 during the course of the trial that I had even suggested to 

6 Your Honor outside the presence of the^iury that I wanted 

7 the jury to view the important areas that are involved in 

8 this case in Tucson. 

9 The court wasn't sure if I had or not. I 

10 thought I had. I can't be sure about that, but the record 

11 will speak for itself. At least in chambers I did Indicate 

12 to the court that while the court did send a message baok to 

13 the jury, I did that as an alternative to my origins! 

14 suggestion, which was that they be allowed to view those / 

15 areas requested by the jury in their note. —*- . 

16 And I believe that Your Honor did make a ruling 

17 at that time. And rather than go through a formal 

18 proceeding on record here, we agreed that I could state this 

19 objection. Your Honor is giving me time to do «o now, and 

20 we would send the alternative, if Your Honor was to overrule 

21 my objection, which I believe you did, and then send the 

22 note, which Your Honor also did. 

23 So the only thing I would like to say is that I 

24 would like to — in terms of not a jury view back t© Tucson, 

25 but I would look to have my client dispatched t<i Tucson so 
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1 that I can be in communication with him prior to hie 

2 sentencing time. 

3 I would also ask that certain other property 

4 and other matters relating to the vehicle that are .not 

5 subject of evidence in this case that were not used in any 

6 way as evidence in this case be released to ray client's 

7 parents, since they would have no purpose in retaining that 

8 evidence or those items. 

9 THE COURTs Mr. Davis, do you wish to add 

10 anything to the request for the trip to Tucson by the jury? 

11 MR. DAVISs No* Your Honor. 

12 THE COURTs For the record that was the 

13 request from the jury dated 3/25/87 and time 3s52 pern.. And 

14 without reading it in full. It was requested that they visit 

15 the area around Nora Wilson's and had mentioned several 

16 other areas of interest to them. And further said there are 

17 several jurors who feel they need to see this area fortify 

18 conclusions they have made from testimony and waa signed by 

19 Mr. Bradshaw. 

20 My response of course was — and we did have 

21 discussion in chambers and it was not thought necessary by 

22 other counsel to at that time make the record. And Mr. 

23 Bloom, you had previously indicated that you would waive Mr. 

24 Atwood's presence for our discussions unless it came to 

25 something that we really wanted to make of record at that 
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1 time. 

2 Vie did it also without Mr. Atwood at that time. 

3 I determined that it would not be of any assistance to the 

4 jury that if any anything it would be very confusing and 

5 difficult to try to duplicate for them* Obviously any ©f 

6 the testimony of routes or areas or locations that they had 

7 heard. Obviously we cannot go back to two and half years 

8 ago to try to do that. 

9 So it was my decision that we would not do so, 

10 and then in the alternative I believe, Mr. Bloom, that you 

11 offered the first sentence of the response and that is *We 

12 are not in a position to transport you to Tucson period." 

13 And I further supplied to them "Please"consider 

14 all of the exhibits that are in evidence together with your 

15 collective jecollection of the testimony that you have 

16 heard." And signed it and sent it back to them at 4s20 

17 yesterday afternoon. 

18 That is I believe the complete record as far as 

19 that is concerned. I don't* as I indicated to you at the 

20 time, Mr. Bloom, I don't remember you asked seriously or 

21 otherwise for us to actually transport the jury to Tucson 

22 for views earlier any time during the trial. Given my 

23 advancing age and senility, at times, though it's possible 

24 that I just didn't didn't remember it, but it certainly is 

25 not my recall that you did. 
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1 At any rate that takes care of that redord and 

2 Irma has already marked that as part of the record as' she 

3 has any other question and request that they have. 

4 As far as Mr. Atwood8s Incarceration i» 

5 concerned, since we are all from Tucson and counsel intend 

6 to return there as do I, I would suggest that we schedule 

7 any further hearings in regard to sentencing and/or 

8 allegations or mitigation there in Tucson and at a time yet 

9 to be determined, because I know both of you need a chance 

10 to think about what will be involved, what you wish to 

il present, have the court consider, and how much time may be 

12 involved in that. 

13 What I would suggest — I ' m assuming both of 

14 you will be returning to Tucson at least by Monday* Hr. 

15 Davis? 

lg MR. DAVISs That's correct, Your Honor. 

17 THE COURTs Mr. Bloom also? 

18 MR. BLOOMs Yes, Your Honor. 

19 THE COURTs Let me suggest to you then 

20 that we meet on Tuesday, that will be the 31st of March, 

21 simply for the purpose of our determining how much time may 

22 be required and a date convenient to all of us to do that. 

23 And I won't even set a time at this point since 

24 none of us know exactly what our calendars look like. I 

25 think I will! start trial Tuesday morning, but I'm not 
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1 certain what., If you would let me have Vicki get in touch 

2 with you Tuesday morning, and we'll agree upon a time that 

3 day to meet ;!-'or scheduling purposes* 

4 Mr. Atwood should be transported back to Tucson 

5 as soon as possible after we complete these hearings ©n the 

6 allegations here along with any property that he has with 

7 him here and his property and then he will be housed in Pima 

8 County pending all other further hearings. 

9 Mr. Davis, as far as other items, nonevidence 

10 that have been seized from him, I don't know, Mr. Bloom* 

11 exactly what those things might be. If the two of you would 

12 confer about what they are and whether they are where I need 

13 to order their release, for example, if they were identified 

14 here but never offered in evidence or something, if it's not 

15 part of the record we need to retain. And otherwise if you 

16 need further order from the court as to those items* I will 

17 make that for you. 

18 For purposes of any appeals that may follow, I 

19 am going to arrange to have all of the exhibits in evidence 

20 and identified here in Maricopa County because the reporters 

21 are all froiv here. They will all be preparing transcripts 

22 here, and trey will need access to those and reference to 

23 those and so it makes no sense for me to take those back to 

24 Pima County away from them. 

25 That will be true also of all of the interviews 
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1 and document;? and disclosure, so far as the court has had 

2 it, because I will leave those here for purposes of their 

3 reference, if it would assist them in preparing transcripts. 

4 Otherwise I will come back to Tucson prepared 

5 to hear any other matters that we need to on the date we 

6 agree. Anything else we need to do right now? 

7 MR. DAVISs I don't believe so. 

8 MR. BLOOMs No. 

9 THE COURTs I would suggest we ail just 

10 sort of stand by. I'll step off the bench, but I would 

11 assume that the jury will not be long in deliberating these 

12 matters so let's don't go far if we do. We'll be at recess 

13 until the jury indicates otherwise. 

14 (A recess ensued.) 

15 THE COURTt Thank you. Once again both 

16 counsel and defendant are present. All jurors also present. 

17 And Mr. Bradshaw, has the jury been able to agree 

18 unanimously as t® all three of the allegations? 

19 JUROR BRADSHAWs Yes, we have. 

20 THE COURTi Hand those to the bailiff, 

21 please. As before, I will hand those to the clerk, ask that 

22 she read and record them. She will again inquire, "Are 

23 these your verdicts?" And answer aloud if you would. 

24 THE CLERKs Want me to omit formal 

25 caption? 
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1 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

THE COURTi Yes. 

THE CLERKi "It has been alleged that the 

defendant Frank Jarvis Atwood was convicted of the felony o£ 

kidnapping in__the_Supaci£r_ Court of Los Angeles 

California, in case A-080644 on"3anuary 20, 198] 

beyond a reasonable doubt* Andrew/C. Bradshaw, Foreman." 

rerdict, so say you one and all? 

Tbank_y©u. 

"It has been alleged that the defendant Frank 

Jarvis Atwood was convicted of the felony of lewd or 

lacivious acts in the Superior Court of Los Angeles County, 

CalifotntsTl'n case A-071926 on~«ebruary 3, 1975^ True 

rond a reasonable doubt, Andrew C. Bradshaw, 

Is this y©tir--v€rdict so say you one and all? 

"It has-been alleged that the defendant Frank Jarvis Atwood 

at the time of committing this offense was on parole In case 

A-080644 kicnapplng, Los Angeles County, California from a 

judgment on January 20, 1981, true beyond a reasonable 

doubt. Andrew C. Bradshaw, Foreman." Is this your verdict 

so say you cne and all? 

THE COURTs Mr. Bloom, do you wish to 

have the jury polled? 

MR. BLOOMs No, Judge. 

THE COURTs Thank you. Jurors, It's come 

to an end. You have invested an awful lot of time and 
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1 effort and emotion with us. Thank you isn't enough® I said 

2 thank you to all of you and to the four who were chosen to 

3 be excused c,t that time because I wanted you to realize that 

4 it had no bearing what result you might ultimately render if 

5 you were able to. 

6 And so I said thank you to all of you then and 

7 I say to ail of you who have remained and deliberated and 

8 reached the verdicts again* Thank you sincerely for all of 

9 us the entire system, all the court personnel, myself, the 

10 attorneys, everyone because we cannot do what we do* we 

11 cannot have our system of justice without you. 

12 We cannot do it without people willing to make 

13 sacrifices, willing to be inconvenienced, willing to give of 

14 themselves emotionally and otherwise and you all have. And 

15 so with the sincerest appreciation and thanks from ell of 

16 us, I'm about to say goodbye and thank you all very much. 

17 I have certainly enjoyed being here. And this 

18 jury, as I mentioned before, has been good jury as I have 

19 ever seen, as attentive as ever as long trial as it was and 

20 as many delays. That were totally unexpected to you. I'm 

21 sure we knew there would be some, but less expected to you 

22 than to us. And throughout you were understanding and 

23 patient and never once voiced a complant and were as 

24 attentive, as far as I can tell* at the very end as you were 

25 at the very beginning. 
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1 So for all of us I thank you so much and I 

2 appreciate it. You are now excused from your further 

3 service until they contact you again if they need you to 

4 serve further. I can't imagine they would ask any of you to 

5 serve further after this period of time. Glenn is going to 

6 take you out and you have some options either one t© leave 

7 immediately or perhaps a couple of you wanted to talk t© me 

8 for a moment, 

9 If so I will be here very shortly and available 

10 to you if you want to do that. But otherwise he will assist 

11 you in leaving as quickly as you would like. Thank you all 

12 again. Mr. Bradshaw, thank you for being foreman. 

13 (Thereupon, the jury was excused*I 

14 THE COURTs With the jury excused but 

15 counsel remaining, there's one further allegation and it was 

16 one that the; jury did not need to consider because it is an 

17 allegation that the two prior convictions were serious 

18 offenses not committed on the same occasion and pursuant to 

19 Title 13, Section 604, Subsection N as in November. 

20 The court finds that Mr. Atwood is in fact 

21 person at least 18 years of age as required; that he has, as 

22 found by the jury* just now been convicted of two prior 

23 serious offenses and they are of record already; that they 

24 were not comnitted on the same occasion and therefore the 

25 Title 13, Section 604 N does come into play for the purposes 
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1 of sentencintj. 

2 Counsel, I don't believe there's any further 

3 record to be made at this time. 1 will be happy t© contact 

4 you about our meeting together on Tuesday of this coming 

5 week to determine a date for hearing and sentencing* And 

6 unless there's anything else that you think of, Mr. Davis? 

7 MR. DAVISs No, Your Honor. 

8 THE COURTs Mr. Bloom? 

9 MR. BLOOMs No, Your Honor. 

10 THE COURTs We will adjourn until I talk 

11 with you on Tuesday. Thank you both very much. Let me add 

12 one thing fcr the record, I have said this to both counsel, 

13 both before we ever started this trial months ago and have 

14 said this to them off the record since and I will again now 

15 on the recoid because 1 think it's important. This is a 

16 long difficult road for counsel, whomever they are. It is 

17 sometimes emotional. It is sometimes that we appear to be 

18 unhappy with each other, and I'm saying counsel with each 

19 other, counsel with the court and perhaps the court with 

20 counsel at times. 

21 """ But again it is all part of the system. They 

22 are advocates. I have said previously on the record they 

23 are both professionals. I have high regard and respect for 

24 both of then as counsel and for the job they have done. And 

25 I think in light of the length of time, the amount of time 
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1 we have all spent together, the emotional aspect of this 

2 ^rial and difficulties of putting it altoge€Her~over-th-i«-

3 long__period of time, I simply want to compliment then both 

4 and tell then I do appreciate them and tell them on the 

5 record that I do, and that as far as I am concerned* if I 

6 had choices of two counsel that I know any where with whom 

7 to have to spend two months in this kind of difficult 

8 emotional case, they would have, previous to starting, this 

9 been among my first choices and they would still be among my 

10 first choices. 

11 So I add that just as a final concluding remark 

12 then, Thanh you all very much. 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 
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THE STATE OF ARIZOIqA,

PlainLiff,

vs.

FR\NK JARVIS AThIOOD,

Defendant (

rti TIIE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE

IN AND FOR THE CCIJI.ITY

)

)

)

)

s). )

)

STATE I S SETTTENCII.]G
IlE!.,lORANDUI{

Cot"lES I.IOW the State of Arizona, by and throuqh the

Attorney General, ROBERT.K. CORBIN, and his Assistant Attorney

General, ,John Davis, and hereby respectfully submits the

followinq l4emorandun of Points and Authorit-ies in support of the

Slat.e' s position that the Def endant should receive the maxirnult

penalty provided by 1aw: death.

-rl
stl

John
assd

\
to:

s23s BI"E'

29--FJA046953

ffiNO. eR-14065,'CF.-15397

Respectfully subrnitted this ALday of epril, 1q87.

POBERT K. CORBIN
THE ATTORNEY GENERAI,

vis
nt Attorney General

Cooy mai.leClde1 ivered this
pt <iay of April, 1987,

tanton Bloont
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(1.985) the

1965 prior

provi sions

Tj,ITR.ODtICTION

The State has provided notiee to the defendant thaE

it will seek to prove aggravating circurqstances under three of

the seven statutorY Provisions:

1. The def endant has been convicterl
of anoLher offense in the United
States for which under Arizona law a

sentence of life irnprisonrnent or
death was imposable.

Ariz. Rev. Stat. Ann.13-703(F)f.

2.. The defendant was Previouslt;
convicted of a felony in the United
States involving the use or threat
of vioLence on another Person.

Ariz. Rev. SLat. Ann. I3-793(F)2.

3. The defendant comrnitted the
of f ense in an especiall-V crue1,
heinous or dePraved nanner.

Ariz. Retr. SEat. 4n-!-!- 13-703(F)6.

nach will be discussed in turn.

MElrOP.AI.lDI.II'I OF PCIIITS AND ATITHORITIES

I.

TrlE DFFENDAI\'IT HAS EEEN CONVICTED OF AN

DEATH T.'AS II,IPOSABLE

In State v. Tj.ttle, 147 Ariz. 339, 7lO P.2d 449

Arizona Supreme Court waS faceri with the Defendantts

california robbery convicEion and interpreted the

of A.R.s. 513-703(F)I as follows:

t4l Our interpretation of A.R.S. S

$Hl"gtr

9240

I'tr TllE Ul\tITED ST4!!! TIHICH UNDEP ARIZONA

t et^l lt SRNTET'!CE OF L IlPRTSOI'I[18!'IT OR

-?.-

29-FJ4046954

Case: 22-70084, 05/04/2022, ID: 12438984, DktEntry: 1-4, Page 349 of 498



l0

11

L2

13

t4

15

16

18

20

2L

17

I9

22

23

24

25
AI.A COUNIY ATTORNEY

C^UNTY GOVERNT{ENTAL

CENTER

O counrs BLoG
r-w CGGI€SSSTPEEI
rucsoN, Aza570l.l3l7

7e2€41 |

b

13-703(F) ( f) comPels us to agree
with the trial court which
deEermined that defendantrs 1965
robberY conviction could be
considered an aggravating
circumst.ance. The statute does not
read that the offense musL be
punishable by life imprisonment or
death under current Arizona law.
The words "was imposahle" clearly
require the sentencinq court to look
at the potential penalty imposable
at the time a defendant was
sentenced for the original
conviction and not at the time of
sentencing for the subsequent rnurder.

Id. 147 Ariz. at 343, 710 P.2d at 453.

The state has proven beyond a reasonable doubt that

the trefendant has been convicted of a violation of California

Penal Code, Section 288; Lewd and Lascivious Acts, corrmitted on

or about the 18lh day of June, 1974, upon a child under the age

of fourteen years. The California Penal Code, SecEion 238,

reads:

288. Lewd or lascivious acts uPon
the body of a child under L4i
intent ; puni shnnent .

Any person who sha1l wilfu1lY and
lewdIy commit any levrd or lascivious
act including any of the acts
constituting other crimes provide<i
for in part one of this code uPon or
with the bodY, or anY Part or member
thereof r of d chil-d under the age of
fourteen years, with the intent of
arousing, appealing to, or
grati.fyinq the lust or passions or
sexual Cesires of such Person or of
such child, shal1 be quiltY of a

felony and shaLl be imPrisoned in
the State prison for a term of fron

irll try

{11 '

29-F J4046955

-3-
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one year Lo life.
(ACded by SEats. 1901, c. 204, D.
63q, S 1. Amended hy Stats. 1933, c.
405, p. 1028, $ 1; Stats. 1937,
c.545, p. 1562, S1.)

The counterpart in the Criminal Code of Arizona in effect at the

time hras A.R.S. S 13-r>52. Lewd anrr lascivious acts. The

,\ri zona Statute Provided:

S 13-552. Lewd and lascivious acts;
def inition; punishment.

A person who wi1fully comrnits, in
any unnatural mannerr dhy lewd or
lascivious act upon or with the body
or any part or menber thereof of a
male or female person, with the
intent of arousing, appealing to or
gratifying the 1ust,, passion or
sexual des i res of ei t.her of such
persons, is guilty of a felony
punishable by imprisonment for not
less than one nor more than five
years. ff such person comvnits the
act as descrihed in this section

oe
of fifteen years, such person sha1l
be punished bv irnprisonrnent i n the
state priscn for not Less than five
vears nor more th?n life without the
possibilitv of parole unLil thS
minimum senEence has been served.

eff . !{arch 25, 1955.

Transferred, Renumbered
and Amended

IThis section is transferred for
placement in new Title 13, Chapter
14 (see revised Criminal Code, 1978
Special Pamphelt ) , renurnbered as S

l3-I412, and amended by Laws 1977 ,
Ch. I42, 558, effective October 1,
1978. J Iurqphasis added. ]

li'f.f{

s24?

-4-
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The potential sentence for coinmission of this crime in.\rizona

ranqe of five years ta life in prison.

ancl the aggravating circumstance of

clearly present.

n June 18, 1974 was a

ttle is conlrolling,

A.R.S. S 13-703(F)1 is

II.

rH E p E F E N r,AN r lrA s PR EYI p=I-t slrX-C-qlLY:I-cryP= g-1 i\ lil8 LoNY

The state has also proved beyond a reasonable doubt

that the Defendant has been convicted of a violation of

California Penal CoCe, Chapter 3, Section 207, Kidnappingl

Committed on or ahout the 29 day of May, 1980. The victimrs

testirflony abouE the 1980 crime has been introduced into evidence

and the certified copy is part of the permanent record in this

case. The victim testified to the death threats utterecl by the

Defendant durinq the kidnapping and ensuing molestation. The

forcible abducbion and threats of death certainly fu1fi11 the

requirements of A.P.S. S 13-703(F)2. In addition, the

California Supreme Court has had occasion to analyze the

elements of kidnapping under Section 207. Section 207 provides:

S 207. Definition

Every person rrho f orcihrly steals,
takes, or arrests any Person in this
statel and carries him into another
country, state, or countY or into
another part of the same countyr or
who forcibly takes or arrests any

P|HA CouNrY ATToRNEY

COI INTY COVERNHENIAL
CENTER

/ @URTS ALOC

I r- d. CON6iESS sIREtl
TIJCSON.A2A570r.r3r7

192-841 t

c^.69
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person, with a design to take hin
out of this state, without havinq
establ i shed a claim, accorci inq to
the laws of the United states, or of
this state, or ruho hires, Persuades,
entices, decoYs, or seduces bY false
promi ses, mi srepresentations, or t'he
like, any Person to cto out of this
state, or to be taken or rernoved
therefron, for the Purpose and with
the intent to sell such Person into
slavery or involuntary servitude, or
otherwise to emPloY him for his own
use, or to the use of another,
without the free will and consent of
such Persuaded Person; and everY
Person who, kreing out of this state,
abducts or takes bY force or fraud
any Person contrarY to the law of
the Place where such act is
committed, and brings, sends, or
conveys such Person within the
Limits of this stater dnd is
afterwards found within the limits
thereof, is guiltY of kidnaoing'

(Enacbed L872. Amended bY Stats'
I905, c.493, P. 653, S1' )

The California supreme court commented:

In reqard to a "general act of
kidnapingr" section 207 encompasses
any novement of a victim which is
substantial in character (PeopIe v.
Stanworbh ( 1974 ) 11 CaI.3d 5BB, 601,
114 Cal.Rptr. 250, 52?. P.2d 1058) ,
and accomPlished bY means of force
or threat of force (PeoPIe v.
Rhoden, suprar 6 Cal-3d 519, at P.
527 , 99 Cal.P.Ptr. 751 , 492 P. 2d

1143).

I CK lFo 65

15 Ca1. 3rJ 8OB, 129 Cal.Rptr. 438, 548 p.2d

Accord, @, 36 Ca1.3d 604, 205

P.2d tl25 ( 1984 ) . The court in Camdqn also

People v. Camden,

1110, 1113 (1976).

Ca1.Rptr. 775 | 585

[dl'Snn
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stated that asPortation bY use of threat or force is the

act of kidnapping. Camden,ssential elemenE of a general

E!Lp.!_i., citinq Rhoden, suPra.

Nonetheless, the exact stanilard for determining

whether a fel.ony involved the use or threat of violence is

sornewhat unclear. In State v. Arnett, 119 Ariz. 38, 579 P.2d

542 (1978) the Arizona Supreme Court resorted to a dictionary

definition and defined violence as being the "exertion of any

physical force to injure or abuse'r, guoting liehsterrs Third New

WorLd Dictionary (1976). Thus the defendantrs prior conviction

for "1ewd an4 lascivious acts upon a child under the age of

fourteen years" wherein the defendant had ruotured bhe hyrnen of

a five-year-ol-d with his finger and thereby caused hleedinq, $ras

a prior crime of violence under 13-703(F)2. In laber cases, the

court has laid down stricter guidelines for proof of t,he vioLent

nature of the prior crime without indicating whether the

definition of violence remains the same. fn State v. Gi11ies,

135 ariz. 500, 662 P.2d 1007 [Gi1lies I ] (1983]. The Arizona

Supreme Court specifically disapproved the admission of

testinony from the victims of previous crines at the aggravation

hearing for the purpose of shorving the violence underlying the

previous statutory violation. Instead, bhe court held that the

determination of violence must be by reference to the st,atutory

clefiniLion of the crime which must include elernents of violence
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CENIER
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25 or the threat of violence. Id. at 511, 662 P.2d at 1018. rn

fl!.tr

924s
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State v. Pol1ryl, 144 Ariz. 388, 698 P.2d 183, affirned on other

grounds, 54 U.S. L.vl. 4445, 196 S.Ct. 1749r 90 r.,.Ed.2d 123

(1985) [Poland II1 the court further provid"i atra the trial

court can take judicial notice of the nature of the prior

felony. No Arizona court has analyzed the California Kidnapping

Statute for purposes of A.R.S. S 13-703(F)2. Regarclless of

the standard applieil, the prior California kidnapping conviction

fulfiLls the reguirements of A.R.S. S 13-703(E)2.

III.
THE T'EFENDANT COMMITTED THE OFFENSE

IN AN ESPECIALLY CRUEL, HEINOUS
OR DEPRAVED MANNER

The last aggravating circumstance to be proved by

the State has been the subject of much litigation; proof bhat

the crime was commiLted in an especially heinous, cruel or

depraved manner. The coUrt has made efforts to note that while

all murders are in some sense crue1, heinOUs anti depraved, this

provisionistobeusedon1ywhenthemurderisc.@'so.

In other words, it must be distinguishable from ordinaryT

run-of-the-miI1 rnurders. State v. Gretl:1er, 135 Ariz. 42,559

P.2d 1 (1983), cert. denied, 461 Ll.S. 971 (1983): State v.

Zaraqoza., 135 Ariz, C3, G59 P.2d 22 ( 1983). The sentence has

been held to be written in the disjunctive, thus, Uhe State may

establish aggravation by nroving only one of the three factors

of 13-703 (F) 6. State v. Clark , 726 AriZ. 4?,8, 616 P.2d 888 449

U.s.1067,101S.et.796,66I,.Ed.2d6I2(19B0)citing@-
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ceja, 126 Ariz. 35, 512 P,2d 49t (1980) [ceja r]1. state v'

castenada, 150 Ariz. 382r 724 P.2C r (1986), State v. C?r5iger,

143 eriz. t42, 692 P.2d 991 471 U.S. 1111, 105 S.Ct. 2347. 85

L.Ed.2d 864 ( 1984). State v. Correl l, 148 Ariz. 468, 715 P.2d

721 (1986). The terms cruel, heinous and depraved have been

defined in State v. Gretzler, 135 Ariz. 42,659 P.2d I (1983),

cert. denied, 461 U.S. 97L ( 1983) :

IThe erizona Supreme court has] sel:
forth the following definitions of
the words heinous, crue1, and
dePraved:

"heinous: hatefu1IY or shockinglY
evi 1; gtrosslY barl.

cruel: disPosed to inflict Pain
esP. in a wanton, insensate or
vindictive manner: sadistic.

depraved: narked bY debasenent,
corruPtion, Perversion or
deterioration.rl

J!. at 51, 659 P.2d at I0, citing state v. Knapp, 114 Ariz. 531

at 543, 5€,?. P.2d 704 aE 716 435 U.S. 908, 98 S'Ct' 1458, 55

r,. Ed . 2d 500 ( 1977 ) . Basically, eruelty involves the pain and

distress visitecl upon the victim while heinous and depravetl go

to the mental state anri attitude of t.he perpeErator as reflected

in his words and actions. Correll,, 148 ariz. at 479, 480.

trnfortunatelyr the state has been deprived of much

of the evidence concerning the final moments of Vicki Lynn

Hoskinson by the suppression of the Defendantrs confessions tO

Jonas Bowen and by Robert Hil1ts refusal to testify. But the

tfi-tr

924*l
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t a

jury has spoken and the following facts tnust be accepted as

having been proven beyond a reasonable doubt.

1. The DefenCant abducted Vicki
Lynn Hoskinson from her neighborhood.

2, The Def endant restrained Vi.cki
Lynn Hoskinson and transportetl her
to the northwest side of Tucson..

3. The Defendant intended to
inflict a sexual offense, physical
injury or death upon vicki Lynn
ilosk i nson.

4. The Defendant murdered Vicki
Lynn Hoskinson.

5. The murder was comrnitted by
stabbing wiEh a knife.

6. The murder was committed to
prevent the victim from testifyinq
against the Defendant.

7. The litt1e eight-year-old victim
was carefully concealed and left in
the desert.

Even without resorting to analysis, these facts a1low no

reasonable doubt as to the especialJ.y cruel nature of Vickirs

death antl the heinous ancl depraved state of the Def endantrs mind.

Although the State is unable to prove beyond a reasonable doubt

exactly hovr Vicki Lynn Hoskinson suffered physical pain while in

the hands of Prank Jarvis Atwood, the Arizona Supreme Court has

specifically includeC mental suffering in defininq cruelty. The

court has indicated that "A victimrs uncertainty as to t,he

f'f,"11

9248
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ultir,rate fate can be significant in indicating mental

suffering." Correll 148 Ariz. at 480, 715 P.2d at 733. Aecord,

sEare v. Gillies , 142 lriz. 564 | 591 P,2d 655 ( 1984) [Gillies

IIJr cerE. denied., U.S. 

-, 

105 S.Ct. 1775, 84 L.Ed.2'C

834 (1985); Stqt-g-r-r-J-retz1er., E-!LELi.i State v. (RickY Inlayne)

3ison, 129 \ri2.526, 633 P.2d 335 (1981) cert. denied, 459 U.S.

Bg2 (1g82). The lengEh of time between her abrluction and murder

was more than suf f icient f or Vicki t,ynn tloskinson, an

eight-year-o1d gir1, to experience unimaginable terror.

At least one commentator has argued that State v.

Adamson, 135 Ariz. 250,665 P.2d 972 46{ tJ.S. 865, 194 s-Ct-

204,78 L.Ed.2d 178 (1983) has added a second prong to the

cruelty deEermination: that the Defendant intenCed or could

reasonably foresee a substantial likelihood that the victin

would suf f er. (l.lote: "The Aggravating Circumstances of

Arizonars Death Penalty Statute: A Reviewrrr 26 -Ariz. L. Rev. 3,

66t at 675 (1984). Not all subsequent cases have made mention

of this decision in assessing cruelty. ) But see, SEE-&
l,IcCall, 1.39 Ariz. 147, 577 P,2d 920 467 U.s. L220, 104 S.et.

2670, L.Ed,2,d _ (1983); State v. McDaniel, 136 Ariz. 18B,

655 P.2d 70 ( 1983) .

The other two f actors, "heinousrt and "depravedt', are

usually analyzed toqether hecause they both focus on the

Defendantrs state of rnind as evidence by words antl actions at or

near the tirne of the murder. Gretzler provides a list of five

i#-ll
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be used j.n assessing heinousness and depravity:

1. the apparent relishing of the
rnurder by the killer;
2. the infliction of
violence on the victim
murderous act itself;
3. mutilation of the

4. the senseLessness
and

5. the helplessness of the victim.

iId. 135 Ariz. at 52, 659 P.2d at I1. Ieitations ommiLted].
II rfre first, .secondr ihd Ehird factors are shown by

the unconEroverted testimony of Thornas r'l'lad Dogrr Parisien. The
I

Defendant relateil the details of a stabbino, allegedly involving

a drug. dealer to llr. Parisien. In f aet-, the Def endant was

talking of the death of the I year old victim vicki Lynn

lloskinson. The Defendant bragged about the stabbing and

demonstrated what Parisien ilescrilred as a "zotro numberf'on the

victim. The Defendant also boasted about hlood spurt-ing from

the wounds he had inflicted upon the victim. These admissions

lry the Defendant establish the first three factors.

ttithout addiLional factors, the last two

considerations aLone will not ordinarily sustain a finding oE

heinousness or depravity, Correll, 148 Ariz. at 481r 715 P.2d at

734; State v. (nernard) smith, 146 Ariz.491, 707 p.2d ?.89

( l9B5 ), but either or both of the factors considered toget,her

with other circumstances may lead to such a conclusion.
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beyond the
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cretzler, 135 Ariz. at 52, 659 P.2d at 11.

In addition to these five factors, depravity is also

found when the Defendant has indicated that the rnurCer was

committed to prevent the victim from Eestifying against him

concerninqt a felony that occurred contenporaneously with the

murder. Corre11, 148 Ariz. 481, 715 p.2d at 734, citing State

v. (Roqer.r,vnn) smith, 141 Ariz.510, 687 p.2d 1265 (1984) and

state v. Henselv, 142 Ariz. 598, 691 P.2d 689 (19B4). Depravity

is also indicated by a total disregard for human 1ife, Suate r/.

clark, E!!13. Killing in order to silence a potential witness

shows "a complete lack of understanding of t,he value of hunan

1if e. " (Eg!el_-Lvnn) Srn!!h, 141- Ariz. at 5I2, 687 P.2d at l?,67 ,

cited in Corre11, 148 \riz. at 431, 715 P.2C 734, The

senselessness of the rnurder, the helolessness of an

eight-year-o1d child, the Defendantrs avowed purpose of

silencing the "next kid" and the unrefuted motivation for Ehe

attack conbine show beyond a reasonable doubt a heinous anrl

depraved mind which is utterly repugnant to civilized society.

CONCLTISION

Pursuant to the above points and authorities, the

State respectfulJy requests this Honorable Court to deLiver a

sentence of death in the matter of Lhe State of Arizona v. Frank

Jarvis Atwood.

i:$j'$

92s1
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subrnitted thi.s .// day of ApriL, 1987.
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IN 'l'H[·; SUPERlOH COUH'J.' or 'l'HE S'l.1}).'l't; 

lN AND FOR 

STATE Of ARiiONA, ) 
) 

Plaintiff, ) 
) 

vs. ) 
) 
) 

FRANK JARVIS ATWOOD, ) 
) 

Def£~ndant. ) ____________________________ ) 

Uos. CR-l.40G5 
CR-15397 

nay a, 1907 
'l'ucson, Arizona 

SENTENCING PROCEEDINGS 

DEF'OIU:: •r1n~ llONORMH~E JOUNG. UAWlt!HS, JUIJGE 

1\PPEARANCl:!S: 

For the Plaintiff: 

JCmN E. DAVIS, III, ESQUIRE 
Assistant Attorney Geueral 

For the Defendant: 

STANTON BLOOM, ESQUIRE 
Attorney at Law 

Cath€'. rine v. Hintzen, RPH 
Official Court Hoporter 
Division XVll 
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l 

2 (9:53 a.m.) 

4 THE COURT: For the record, once again this 

5 is State versus Prank J~rvis Atwood. There arc two 

6 CR-numbers, 16065 and 15397. Counsel, if you will 

7 announce your r.ippceiranccs, plcae;c, for me once more. 

8 MR. DAVIS: John Davis, Assistant Attorney 

9 General, for the State, Your Honor. 

10 'l'UE! COUH'l': 'l'hank you. 

11 Mk. BLOOM: Stanton Bloom on behalf of 

12 Frank Atwood, present in court • 

13 THE COURTi I'm sorry about all the 

14 obstacles to counsel getting here. In addition to what 

15 we e~pected, there arc other things that created 

16 problem~ this morning. 

11 'l' h i s i. f.• t he t i me for s c n ten c i n 9 an a I nee d 

10 to put on the record fully exactly what has brought us 

19 here before I he:o.r from counBel ano Hr. Atwood 

20 additionally, if he wishes to. 

21 for the rccora, then, on March 26th 1907, a 

22 jury found Mr. Atwood guilty first in count one of 

23 

24 

kianapping, a clas£;-t.\10 felony. It is ~~n-dtll~FI~,g_?:..:.:::!)Ul 

repctilivc, in violation of Title 13, Section 

25 1304(A) (3) <n> ana GO~(N) ana 604.0l. 

SUPERIOR COURT PIMA COUNTY 

, .. , .. ·' ,.., 

2 
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(/' 'l'hey f ouna cil so that he haa been conv ictcu 

1iVt' two prior felony convictions, aua they arc one 

conviction of lewd or lascivious conduct in Los Angcleo · 

4 County in A-number 071V26, occurring February 3rd 197~, 

5 ancl a aecono one of kidnapping in JJos l\ngclcs County 

6 aloo, Januury 20th 1961, and that in l\-nurnbcr 080644. 

., It waB found also that he wvs on parole .in 
_ .. .. - - T ":"'C~~====~ -

A-number 080644. And this then is in violation of Title 

9 13, Section 604.01. These are two felonies committed on 

10 scp~rate occasions. 

ll The jury found also that Mr. Atwood was 

12 9uil ty in . ~.o.vnt ___ l\i9 _ _Q{ __ f.elony murder.. IJ'hat is a 
---- ----·---·- -- - -- · 

13 class-one felony, again non-dangerous but repetitive, 

14 the samt~ prior f~lonies applying, this in violation of 
. . . -- ----- -·- - ·· . - .. ·- · ·· ··· ·-- - · · . .. ------. -·--·-·-·· ·---· - -- .. --·- ------ - - -- --~· -· ... 

15 Title 13, Section 1101 and 1105. These events occurred 

16 on 9-17-84. 

17 Counsel, you h~ve an opportunity now to 

18 address lhc Court any further if you wish. Ana l have 

19 read, by the way, Mr. Atwood's letter that he wrote lo 

20 me. I had not seen it before it was marked as an 

21 exhibit on Wednesday but I have Gince read it. 

22 Ana Mr. Bloom, if you would like to add 

23 anything at this time, you're welcome to. 

24 MU. BLOOM: I've had a ch~nce to just 

25 recently, just within a matter of a couple minutea, read 

SUPERIOR COURT PIMA COUNTY 

3 
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• • I 

l Your Honor's special verdict form, so I will not addrc~s 

2 my cornmcnts to some of the other matters that were taken 

3 before the Court where Your Honor has ruled favorably to 

4 the defendant. 

5 I will talk a little bit about the one 

6 aggravating circumstance and why I think I'm not here 

7 to argue that that is not an aggravating c.:ircumstc:rnce 

6 bccouso iour Honor has already ruled on that question. 

9 But I would ask the Court to con~idcr the weight that 

10 Ehould be given to that particular aggravating 

11 circumstance. 

12 We have the statute, I've argued the 

13 question about the constitutionality of this atatute. 

l.4 Dut at leact from rny reading of the cases it doesn't 

15 appear tlH';t thin is a recipe or a formula that the Court 

16 considcra and then says, "Well, there are eo IBany 

17 aggravating circumstances and thore are so many 

18 1nitigating circumstances but if the aggravating outweigh 

19 the mitigating then the matter is concluded." 

20 I think it is totally discretionary based 

21 on the facts of the case. Your Honor has found one --
---·--~·----------.. -------·-----··~ -~ .. --

22 Dt least at this point, froru what I'm able to glean in 

23 my cursory c>:arnination of your spE•ciol verdict -- one 

ag9ravatlng circurnste;nce, which appears to be the lewa 
----·-·-------·---------·-----

25 End lascivious charge that Mr~ Atwood was convicted of 
......... -------------··---·---- ---~ -~---~~------------~-------------, 

SUPERIOR COURT PIMA COUNTY 
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l in 1974. Mr. Atwood has testified that that charge, at 

2 least when he plecl, as it vppcars, it was a sentenc:c 

3 that could be a -- excuse me, ~ life sentence could be 

4 imposable at that time in California and particularly in 

·5 Arizona. 

6 It seems to me, and I'd argue to Your 

7 Honor, that that particular statute has been changed. 

8 lt was changed in Ct;1lifornia for Cl definitive sentence, 

9 which he was sentenced to for f ivc years. And it was 

10 changed in Arizona to a much lesser charge, which is a 
.. ------- ·-- ---- -- ------· -·------------------------ - -- --- ---- ----- -· - - - --- -·· · - -- ------ -- -- ---- -- -~-- ----- - - - - -- - .. 

11 class-three felony, with a !~~-~- !!!LlJm . o.t __ _!:~~!_ycars, which ----- --- - ----·- ------------- --- ·- ·-··- - - - - - ·--- - --- ----

12 would have been at the time that Mr. Atwood would have 
-------·-·---·~--·-···· - ·----·- -.- - -.. -·-- --~--------------- ----------·---·----·--- ...-·--- ·---: ---

13 VC!C~<-

14 It seems to roe that to use that as an 

15 aggravating circumstance, to revert back to the 1974 

16 charge when the law wa8 different than it is now, is to 

17 set back tht' clock considerably in terms of due procesE; 

18 of law. I've argued that. But more importantly, Your 

l~ llonor, J think what it says ir, that that particular 

20 chn19c «t that lirne I do not feel warrants -- because 

21 that's what it would come aown to -- warrants the 

22 imposition of the death penalty. 

23 And I'm not here to argue the legitimacy of 

the death p~nal ty. I arn SUf(' Your Honor has hecnd ctll 

25 sorts of arguments during your legal car~er about 

SUPERIOR COURT PIMA COUNTY 
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l whether capital. punifihmcnt should be irnposec] or not • 2 imponed. '11t1e Arizona legislature has clccided that th<lt. 

3 is a proper sentence in certain types of cascB and has 

4 given the Court a guidance with the aggravating and 

5 ruitigating circumstances. 

6 It is clear that the mitigation portion of 

7 il, which Your Honor has found nothing to mitigate the 

B case, certainly is open, as I indicated, to the wide 

9 discretion of the Court on those matters lhtit can be 

10 placed before the Court even though it's not in the 

11 so-called shopping list of the statute. 

12 I cannot stand up here in n~ own good 

• 13 conscience after rcpresentin~J Nr. Atwood for some twenty 

14 months and not feel a certain wave of feeling and 

15 eroolion. And I guess it is fitting what happened here 

J.6 thiEJ mot·ning as l walkc~d over to the courtroom ana was 

17 on the street and rnany people said, "Don't bother going 

18 over there because you can't get into the bujlCiing. 11 

19 Ano I guess my thoughts ran to when I first. 

20 took this caGe. And a lot of people ~aid to me, 

21 "Mr. Bloom, Stan, why would you take a case like this?" 

22 Certainly, as Your Honor well knows, Jt turned out it 

23 wasn't for the money. And it certainly wasn't for any 

• glorificl!tion f:or me with the newspapers or the 'l'.V • 

25 because I've always tried to keep them out of the case 

SUPERIOR COURT PIMA COUNTY 
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l and not Lo televise it; I'm not looking for that. But 

2 WhCit Wb.$ i.t? 

3 And I realized it really clearly when I saw 

4 what. happcnca this rnorning. Bccc.uae I guess many people 

5 said that to me that knew me had said, uwell, gee, you 

6 know, you're a nice fellow but, boy, how could you 

7 represent Nr. Atwooa? How could you associate yourself 

0 with thal p~rson?" 

9 And I suppose that when I was first sworn 

10 in as a lawyer, and I was originally sworn in at 24 

ll years old when I was in the State of Illinois before I 

12 cmne to 1'.r izona many years ago, but I remember 

• 13 distinctly awcarin9 when I weis sworn in by the Illinois 

14 6upremc Court, the Chief Justice swore us 111, and he 

15 told us c:ibout wh«t it ia to be an attorney nnd the onth 

16 you take lo represent somebody whether it• s a populDr 

17 cause or it'B not a popular ca.use. And this cert£iinly 

18 is not a vopular cause for the defendant. 

19 Hr. Atwood was entitled to every bit of the 

20 due procenn of lc.iw that he can get in the courtroom. 

21 And that's been my feeling. But I don't think tlwt'B 

22 what's happened to this community. This community 

23 haa -- ~nd I wasn't going to -- I was going to end up 

•• 24 with this but it is just something that's always been 

omnipresent in this case from the beginning. 

SUPERIOR COURT PIMA COUNTY 
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l Your Uonor has to feel it. Mr. Davis has 

2 lo feel it. We've both have felt it together. l feel 

3 it. And everyone concerned jn this cbse who really 

4 deals with it on E daily basis has to feel it. And you 

~ know what I'm talking about because Your Honor gctE all 

6 kinds of phone calls ana little mcssageE: that come 

7 through the mail. 

0 I've gotten ~11 kinds of calls in the last 

9 couple of weeks of people who have called me up and 

10 said, "Gee, you know, I don't think your client was 

11 proven guilty beyond a reasonable dou~t. I don'l think 

12 he ought to get the death penalty.a I said, "Well, who 

•• 13 ilrn I speaking to?" "Well, I don't want to tell you who 

14 l nm, I don'l want to give you my name. But I just want 

15 you to know how I feel." ''Well, why c:Jon'l you want to 

16 give me your name?" "Well, I don't want to get involved 

17 in this cnse, I don't want to get threats. I don't want 

l.6 to have problems. 11 

19 l\ut. you know, it seerno like the people that 

20 are out in the: audience -- and I would venture to say at. 

21 least 99 percent of these people are here for one reason 

22 and one reason only. I found out that the good, honest, 

23 decent people in this community who are fair-winded, 

• 24 they don't want lo Lalk about lhe caoe, they don't want 

25 to write lclteu.• to Your Honor, they don't want to come 

SUPERIOR COURT PIMA COUNTY 
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l down to the courthouse, they're not interested in doing 

2 that. It's a different kind of a person that wants to 

3 come down here. And l don't c~rc, I have taken their 

4 glares and their steireG and their hateful looks to 111e 

5 all during thi& case, And if I wasn't man enough to 
J l ') 

·~,_ . ,,,. 6 take it thc·n I shoulc1n' t be standiug up here now. 

., Hut it's what it rneana. lt means that this 

8 community wants Your Honor to sweep ~way any kind of law 

9 and they want you to exact retribution no m~ttcr at what 

10 cost, regardless of what the facts are in the case, wh a t 

11 the statute says, it doesn't make any difference. And 

12 it's fitting that there should be a bomb threat here 

• 13 this morning. It'o very fitting because that'o how thio 

14 case began for Mr. Atwood. 

15 'l'hiu community marched on thu nwll 3,000 

16 st1on9 and they went over ana lhey wanted and did in 

17 fact in vigilantism burn a trailer that Mr. Atwood spent ---------------- ---- ------ , ____ ------ -- -~·---.-- --- --- - - -

18 an evening, one night at, just because his presence was 
- -------------------- --------------- --------- ----- ·--- -- ··-- ---·--·-·--- -- -·- - ---- ., . --- . - ~ 

19 there, they burned that trailer dow11. And they have 

20 been doing that kind of behavJor all the way through 

21 this trial. 

22 I've gotten all kinds of comments and 

23 letters and phone calls. Ana it just has continued. 

•• 24 Ana it 'o that type of mentality that nwecps this 

25 comrnuni ly and 6Wecps into this courtroom and thc:n 

SUPERIOR COURT PIMA COUNTY 
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1 presentu itsc:lf to Your Honor. lmd then I am aupposcd 

2 to stand up here and aay to Judge Hawkins, "Please, 

3 Judge," which is my duty to say to you, "don't, don't 

4 impose the death penalty on rny client. Don't be caught 

5 up with this community." 

6 A judge, a human being, who lives in this 

7 conITTunity just like the rest of us, you've got to live 

8 here too, Judge. You've got to be elected. I'm not 

9 snyiny thal 1 6 the reason you may impose the death 

10 penalty. But there these people sit and there this 

11 community says, "Give the death penalty." 

12 And then the newspapers and the press and 

13 the f cclings thtit wcrt' Dll through thir. cnsc about how 

l.4 Mr. Atwood is guilty and why give? hh1 a trial in the 

15 first pl~ce, I remember looking at T.V. tapes of 

16 Mrs. Curlson very early in the beginning of thi~ ce.sc, 

17 even before Mr. Atwood -- just about lhc time he got a 

18 prelindnory hearing, was r£>acly to have him hung up c.it 

19 lhot point Hithout even hcarin~ any evidence:; it djcln 1 t 

20 tr1akc any aitfcrcncE:. 'l'hiB case we.is over f rorn t.hc dny il 
····- --------------~·-··- ---· ····- · .. 

21 st~. rtea. Ancl I lrncw it ana jt wDs v. tough case to Yi.ike ·- - · ~ ------22 in with t.hat kind of a posture from thC! beginning. 

23 But that's a lawyer's job. And I don't 

• 24 shirk from it for a second, just ~£ I don't shirk from 

25 coming up to here talking to Your Donor a~oul what I 

SUPERIOR COURT PIMA COUNTY 

·. ·, . 
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l think has happened in this cornmuni t.y, the pressure 

that's being put on you to impose this penalty. 

3 And sure, ! can say: Well, Your Honor, the 

4 death penalty, it's not an appropriate sentence in thio 

5 case, it's not an appropriate sentence. Civilh:ed 

6 countries all over this world have said every year, 

7 "Don't, we arc not going to give the death penalty, it's 

9 

10 

not a civilized penalty," Aust~~~-~~~ .. --~~~-!~:-~~~na·~--~~Y / 
c~~1~e~i:_urQp_Ul<@l>Lt~ S<>.v!_ct_un~on,_r~~ fr ~~ 
and south Africa. That's who we've aligned ourselves • ( 

11 Q-G ~ ---with on the question of the denth penalty. 

12 And on the question of deterrent, I went to 

13 ~ seminar just this week with somebody in Mr. uavis' 

14 off ice talking about the deterrent aspect. And they 

15 said, "Well, it'e proven that it really ien't u 

16 deterrent." And the prosecutor said, "Well, I'~ not 

17 going to really dispute that." The deterrent really is 

18 that Mr. Atwood or someone like him, that's the 

19 c•rgurnent., won't be· able to get btick on the streets. lrnd 

20 th«t's the only deterrent that it iE. 

21 Well, the sentence that Your nonor can 

22 impose in this case, t.he two potcntilll sentences that 

23 Your Honor can impose:, one ju certainly 25 years without 

24 the possibility of parole and the other, <ts Your Honor 

25 has just read, is a life sentence without the 
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1 ponsibility of parole at ~11. I would take that to mean 

2 that Mr. Atwood would spend the rest of his life in 

3 jail. 

4 I personally don't really know what the 

5 choice is. I really don't know if that's a better 

6 choice to spend the rest of your life in a penal 

7 invtitution where you can't -- you are just in some cell 

B half the size of this jury, where you can't do anything, 

9 you don't get outside, you don't do anything in your 

10 lif c that you could ao just about that we take for 

11 granted, I don't know if that's a death in and of 

12 ituclf. 

13 But I just know in the law that the death 

14 penalty just neeros to be ~ higher penalty and so as an 

15 attorney I aavocate <1 lesser penalty, although I have 

l<i some real rc~cervat.ions about it being a lesser penalty. 

17 ---------1--~~~~---::~~~~~:- ~:-~-~-~~-;--=-=--i--~;~ t ~ e-a- -tiiTs __ _ 

18 case and l saw the newspapers and the preos and the 

19 ri.·.v., and by th(' time the case started to wind do\'m in 

20 the last couplE: of weeks, as rnuch as they hated to l~drni t 

21 it, they were truly concerned that maybe, just maybe, 
12 

22 nr, Atwood might be acquitted. 

23 And what a t~rrible thing, what ~n 

• 24 inglorious t~int to the City of Tucson and Pima County 

2 5 if l1 r. Atwood ohould be a cq ui t ted, rather than say in9 
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l that it would be something to bo proud of because that's 

2 what the law provides, a fair trial regar~less of the 

3 verdict, Th~t's not the tenor and feeling of this 

4 community. 

5 ~hat would have been an awful, terrible 

experience. I personally don't think l could have 

7 walked lhe streets of this town. And I aon't know what 

8 would have happened to Your Honor, either, becauoe 

9 somehow they might have held you rt:!spo1w ible bccaur;e 

10 maybe you suppre:sscd one piece of e~vidcncc that mi ghl 

11 have made the diff erencc. 

12 Now Y.ou r Honor stands in a a if f erent 

• 13 situation. Your Honor now is going to make a 

14 determination belwcen life and death, probably the most 

15 difficult dccinion Your Honor will have to make in your 

16 legal career ana as a judge. 

17 Ano I listened lo the news rnedic~, how thoy 

18 shnpc it, how they tE:ll it. It'a just recently with 

19 Gary H~rt, how they tell the story. It's not the facts, 

20 it'o how the press and the media manipulate it. And as 

21 I am wont to listen to the rbdio nnd the T.V. -- and I 

22 really don't want to, nnd I don't subscribe to the 

23 newspaper anymore because l have just tir~d of the way 

• 24 they distort tho facts. 

25 but as I listened to the radio on the way 
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1 

2 

aown, and I saw it on television, the headline is 

Your llonor knows it full well -- "Judge H«wkins has 

and 

3 never imposed the death penblty." The goading, like, 

4 "Judge, you've never given it; when are you going to 

5 give it?" And the State's argument: "If you don't give 

6 it in this case, when would you ever give it?" 

7 And do you want to go on record, Judge 

8 Hawkins, as not giving the death penalty when ~ 

9 community outrage is saying, "My God, how c~n you not 

10 give it? What kind of a judge are you if you can't give 

11 it in this c~se?" Not because of the facts; if they 

12 looked at the focto and they heard the eviaence in the 

13 case, they'd say, "Well, gee, I can understand that the 

11.i State hasn't reeilly shown things like cause of aeath, 

15 eye wit ncr;ses, what h~pponed to Vicki r.ynn Hoo kin son, 

16 things that would merit giving of the death penalty." 

17 They're not concerned about that. 

18 Ana I have even heard on the way over here 

19 now walking to the courthouse a lawyer approached me and 

20 said hc'a heard other judges comment about what Judge 

21 Hawkins ehould do in this case and if he doesn't do it 

22 they've ruadc like I guess we're not in the Soviet 

23 Union so you can't go to Siberia, Judge, but they have 

24 ot.ber places thal they would like to pul you. Maybe 

25 they will send you out to Juvenile. Ana I mean no 
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2 

disrespect fo1 Judge Carruth. But mayb~ they will send 

you out there. You might even end up going to Ajo. 

15 

3 And I know I'm adding n little levity to it 

4 but in a very serious matter. nut I really feel, I feel 

5 the pressure that's being put on you. Ana I guess, you 

6 know, there ~s a very favorable passage -- I am not 

7 going to make a lot of quotes -- an6 I brought it here. 

8 It is a favorite possage of mine. And I would like to 

9 read it to you. It's from the works of Henry David -------·--- -------- ---- ---------.·-· ----·-~-- - ---- -·- ·· -··--- ~,, ... ~ ... 

11 man who is a man and, as rny neighbor says, has a bone in 
----------·--·---~-------~--- --·----

12 his back which you cannot pass your hand through." 
·- - - ---·-·-·-------------~--------·---·-·.J 

13 And I guess, Your Honor, that's what I'm 

14 talking about, because that's what's it's going to take 

15 for this Court not to impose the death penalty on my 

16 cl iont. Someone• s ~oing to have to try to pass thcd. r 

17 hand through your back and it's not 9oin9 to go becaus~ 

18 there i e a spine there that is going to prevent that 

19 from hbppening. 

20 Ana I know it isn't easy, because for you 

21 to say to this community, "No, I don't think it's 

22 warranted in this case," nnd the public pressure that's 

23 going to be put on you for moking that commc11t, I don't 

2. 4 know, Judye, l c1on • t know wlwt I woulc1 ao. l feel l 

25 could do il but you're sitting up there ana I don't know 
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1 whut it takes, the strength to be able to say that to 

• 2 this community when it's not warranted. 

3 You've mentioned what you feel aboul the 

4 mitigating fpctors in this case in your minute entry, 

5 you• vc li. s ted them. I think they' re important ana there 

6 arc a lot of them, but I'm not going to go over them 

7 since Your Honor has already indicated your feelings 

8 about them. 

9 I do feel when you ultimately impose the 

10 punishment that it is important to hear some of these 

11 things lhal arc really important about the case and 

12 about Mr. Atwooa. And I guess the final thrust that 

• 13 Your Honor has to overcome is whether or not there is 
. 

: 14 something redeeming about Mr. Atwood that should allow 

15 him to live. 

]() I think there is. I've spent twenty months 
13 

17 with Mr. Atwood. I've heara all the things about him. 

18 I've heard all the prejudice. I don't hear anything 

ig good about him, all I hear is there' s just no 

20 mitigation, there is nothing good to be said about him. 

21 Wcl 1, I think the rnan hb s -- and I don't 

22 say inlelli9cnce iB something that is to be rewarded in 

23 tcrroB of saving his life. But he has the wherewithal 

• 24 and I think the capacity to ao something with his life. 

25 I e-.l.ill feel -- he's 31 now and he was 20 ----------·- ---------SUPE:-:R::-:-10-=-R::--::C-::O-:-U:-:-R-=:-T-::P-IM_A ___ C_O_U_N_TY-----·----"=-' -~, 
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1 then. But he was immature and still is and still • growing, like many people. But when you listen to his 

3 life, and Your Honor heard it here, and I don't know if 

~ the full impact is brought out when his fllther gctn up 

5 here and talks about it. 

6 But when you live with it and you live with 

·1 hie; patents and you've seen what they hc~vc endured 

8 durj.ng thiu whole trial and during the whole portion of 

9 the case and h~trea of this foreign community on them as 

10 they came into this community, I look at Mr. Atwood's 

11 life and I really sec, I se~ this young man living the 

12 life that we nll led, maybe even a little bit better • 

• 13 Ana he did all the things wt· all did. He 

14 played football, baseboll, went to school, h~d f rienas, 

15 livc:d a very normal life, much like many of the children 

16 of lhe people that are sitting in thiu audience, their 

17 own children. 

18 And then something happened to him at 13, a 

19 real good lesson of what puls Hr. Atwood dght here in 

20 this courtroom today. Ana they all say, "Hell, that 

21 coulan•t happen to my aon or that couldn't. happtln to rny 

22 child." But it's a real good lesson to be learned 

23 because that ja why Mr. Atwood i8 here. 

• 21.1 Mr. Atwood told. Uc: told whal happened to 

25 this child. B~! tolc1 what happened, to sec that tldl> 
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1 child was loving and he loved ond how the eteps occurred • I 

' ·~ · 2 and how it just waon't there anymore and what happened 

3 to l-lr. Atwood. It happens to a lot of youny peopl(: in 

4 this country and it's happened to him. And he's telling 

5 about it, and he's told people over there. 

6 l know f i rathand that he's told pcopl c over 
•· 

1 in that jail, and he put it in hie letter to you, and 

8 he's told you that he's told these people, "Don't take 

9 the life path that I took." He's got something to say. 

l.O And 1 think it's important, if nothing else, thal he 

11 could continue to say that to people who hear it. 

12 l don't know what's to .be gained by 

•• 13 snuffing out. his life. I guess the only thing that's 

14 left and that's squeezed out into this courtroom is th~ 

15 word retribution, bccaune that's what theee people want 

16 an c1 that ' u what , if Yo u r II on or i rn pose s the a ea th 

17 penalty, that's what it's going to be given for. 

16 Because I know in r11y heart it won't be given for the· 

19 facts of thls cc.sc. r.L'hey have 11() eviclemcc to say that 

20 it was done in a heinous way. Your Honor has already 

21 ruled that way. They don't have that. They have this 

22 aggravating lewa and lascivious charge buck in 1974. 

23 And for thal ana that only the Slate's asking for you to 

• impose the aeath penalty • 

2 ~ · .> 1 ·guess it's -- I guess I am caught up by 
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1 the emotions myHelf abo.ql the pJJJ!!J.t!_Y._(:ness of the __ _ 
-----------~ 

2 co~~r~¥. ___ U~-~- --! _ }_~~-=- --~!~ -~-~-~---~-~-~~_i-~-~9 _ _i:egalc - i n th is 

3 Court imposing the death penalty, cheering about it, 

4 applauding it. I don't think thinking people applaud 

5 the death penalty. If they think it's properly to be 

6 imposed, it's a solemn occasion, it's not something to 

7 applaud, it's something that has become part of our 

C life. But it's not something to rega le in and feel good 

9 about. 

10 Many of these people claim to be good 

ll Christians. And l don't know if they can even see the 

12 hypocrisy of the imposition of the dcc.ith penalty, 

13 particularly in a case like this, with their own 

14 feelings of religiousnoss, the inconuistency of it all. 

15 I suppose, Judge, in conclusion, it's the 

16 easy way out, it's the popular thing to do to impose the 

17 death penalty. It's Bomething that everybody expects 

18 you to ao, nnd I suppose myself included, l don't feel 

19 it's warranted but I have been in this courtroom long 

20 enough to know, to rcbd a minute entry ~nd to know 

21 something about to anticipate how this Court teels. I 

22 don't intend to be or claim to be clairvoyant, but when 

23 you spend ~ lot of time in one courtroom with one judge 

24 you learn about the man, too. 

25 And I'm hoping as I ~tana here, I really 
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1 f ccl that I am standing at a bridge of an ocean and, as 

2 1 have for twenty months, try in9 to sweep back t.lic 
"=--. -----·--- -- ----··-- ------------------- -- --- _,, 

3 oncoming t ic:Jc tl1at now has become a 9_1'._QJ.mdsw.ell---that _ ___b~-~-
- ------------ -------~----------·---------- --~-~----~-----~--------- _..... --. 

4 t.aken over this cornmunity and all ration ~~!J_Q._.reason .has __ 
--... -----~--;·~--------~--- -------------- -----~-----------

6 

~~~-t1~e~c--~--°--~~-~--!:~-~-~-~~i!~-~---~-o-~~ur. _ _l!f?.t~~-~--Ln. __ !:t1~."~ --~ar;e,_ 
the death penalty is not warranted ana importune this 

----------~-·------- ------------------------------ -~-------- -----------
7 Court not to impo~e the death penalty on Prank Atwood. ____ ___..--- ---- ~-- --~------------ - ----- -- --- - - -·---------·--------- -------- -- -- - --- ------- -------

8 ~,hank you. 

9 THE COURTa Thank you, Mr. Bloom. 

10 Mr. Atwood, you have a chance also to 

ll address the Court further if you wish to. 

12 

13 

l~ 

l c· 
• ;.> 

16 

MR. ATWOOD: I have a couple things I'd 

like to say, Your Honor. 

THE COURT: All right. Do you want to ~tep 

right up here • 

MR. ATWOOD: Sitting here listening to 

J7 Mr. Bloom talk l just came up with a couple of things 

16 l' d like to 1~1cnt ion to you. You sat through a vc:·ry long 

19 trial. There has to be some doubt in your mind as to my 
\ 

20 ~iuilt, there just has to be. lmd I'rn telling you' frorn 

21 

22 

n~_Jl~J~rJ:. __ 1 1111.__i_tl_noccnt of this c r iroe. 

--- I ~=~~WJ.~o-~nt. ~·here's 
23 been uome terrible ~imps that I've done in the pz:.st and -----24 I feel a lot of remorse for those. Dut this is not a .....__ __ _ 
2!> crime Uiat I hflve cornmittca. It's not in my heart to 
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l kill or to cause violence lo somebody. 

2 I can do some good for myself and hopefully 

3 for society, as Mr. Dloom mentioned. l wantca to take 

4 some journalism clDsscs and maybe write, write maybe 

5 l can get newspapers to publish soroe thingo about the 

6 path that I took, about how it can happen to good kids, 

7 kiao frorn good families. 

8 I 6on't know what else to tell you, l 

9 w r o t e i t i n my l e L t e r • I j us t as k you not to i m po EH:'. l he 

l O clec:tt .. h pe na 1 ty. 

11 Thank you. 

12 TUB COURT: Thank you, Hr. Atwood • 

13 Nr. Davis. 

14 MR, D~VIS: Your Honor, before I begin my 

15 rcmarkn on this proceeding I have an i tern tha.t l placed 

16 on the clerk's desk that I would like to have roarked ac 

17 an offer of proof for appellate purposes. 1 don't think 

18 it serves any purpose in this hearing. But I think it 

l~ may have appellate purpose. What it is is a transcript 

20 of a deposition of Jonas Bowen. 

21 And the argument my colleagues on appeal 

22 plan lo make would be that under Barrio versus New York 
-----------------~------- - ---- -- - _) 

23 and Rule EOl that Mr. Atwood's denying of guilt on the 
--------- - -- - --------- --- ---------,-··-- -------~ 

24 stand the olhcr aay, that l should havC> been allowed t:o 
--- ----------- -----------·- - -----=:::::::::, 

25 impeach hirn, th£it that woulo be subctantivc evidence and
1 

-----·--------~_/ 
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l il would have supported the fact of especially cruel, 

2 heinous Dnd depraved. 1 just say that I'd like it 

3 marked, I'd like it part of the record for ~ppellate 

4 purposes. I aon't think it serves any purpose her<:! 

5 today. 

(j '.l'HE COUR~': It may be 60 111arkcd. 

7 MR. BLOOM: Please show my objection, Your 

Honor. 

9 'l'HE COU Tt'l': Over objection of the defense. 

10 MR. DAVIS1 Your Honor, as to toaay'r. 

11 proceedings, I h<tVC ttlBO reaa the special verdict th cit 

12 the Court has rendered. I don't think that the Court 

13 needs nor wishes a passionate oratory toduy. I don't 

l~ begrudge lhc defendant and his attorney the opportunity 

15 to deliver that. But l don't feel that the Court necd6 

16 that. 

17 The Court has consistently rejected 

18 sympathy and passion in all the rulings that it has made 

19 in this case. And i.f I could refer to that conf~soion, 

20 there was no complaint by the acfense at th«l time when 

21 the confession was suppresned or when other things were 

22 suppreasca. '.l.'he Court cbllecl il like it saw il. And it 

23 aid not bend to sympathy or presLure or passion. 

24 And I reject and 1 1 n1 off ended by the 

25 exaggeration of what has been brought to bear on this 

SUPERIOR COURT PIMA COUNTY 

04-FJA012793 

Case: 22-70084, 05/04/2022, ID: 12438984, DktEntry: 1-4, Page 384 of 498



.

• 

• 

• 

1 

2 

3 

Court, ana I totally reject the notion that it has 

influenced what the Court has done. 

The Court suppressed evidence very 

4 probative..· of guilt. It did that l.>cccwse that's the way 

!l you Ell.IW your cluty t.o do. Whal: the Court is here to do 

6 today is to consider specific st~lutory considorations. 

7 And those conoiderations arc constructed to preclude th~ 

8 passion and syrnp~thies of the community, and that is no 

9 matter how warranted or sincere those passions and 

10 cyropathics are. 

11 1 reject Mr. Bloom's labeling of tho people 

12 that arc hore in these proceedings as a public hanging 

13 and l rejcc.:t hif; criticism of their interest in this 

14 case. I vehemently reject Mr. Dloom's call for apathy 

15 in the face of a horrible crime such bS this. These 

16 people have a right to be here. They have a right to 

17 show thci r interest and they havc1 no need to be iH>hamed 

18 of it. 

19 Your Honor, the Court.' a special verdict 

20 pursuant to the statute for factors that il must find 

21 has st'1 h!d that it has found f(n aggravating ci rcumst <nice 

22 proved beyond a reasonable aoubt. And the Court hos 

23 very correctly found th~t there are no mitigating 

24 c:ircumctanccs for nr. Atwood. 

25 lmd I might say that 1 don't bc~rudge 
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l Ur, Atwood his plending with t.his Court. for hin life. \. 2 Any human being in his position would do that. I ao 

3 find it particularly disguoting that h{s plea for his 

~ l if c is ba8ecl on an at ta ck on the vercHct c:md the nystern 

5 

6 

J5 

which found himt gil t.y. He had every measure of auc 

__..-process ____ ln---t.~ -sc. He made no complaint when his 

__ ___conf~tnrro~)o -her incriminating evidence wae; excludca 
< •. .. --- // 

8 under our rules, but he continues to deny his guilt. 

9 As t.hc Court has properly said, thal is not 

10 tt rnitig"ting circumslancc. Ana, as the Court has 

11 properly found, there arc no mitigating circumstances. 

12 'l'he statute is clear and I tW nk th~---c~-~~t-~-;--duty--Ts- --------- ---. 

• 13 clear. And I know that the Court renders that verdict 

14 pursuDnt to the statute, that it rejects all passion Dnd 

15 uyrnputhy when it doen so c~na it upholdl; its duty when it 

16 gives Hr. Atwood the death penalty. 

17 '1'hc:~rc l!_re aggravating circumstances, U1Cr<! 

lB is no mitigation, The statute is clear. Justice is 

19 i;erved by the Court's aentcncc today. 

20 'J.'HI; COURT: '!'hank you, Hr. Davis. 

21 Mr, Bloom, if you and Mr. Atwood will step 

22 back up to the podium. 

2) Mr. Atwood, you are to step up here also. 

• 24 Counsel, is there any legal re~oon why I 

2!> shoul.CJ not now proceed with sentencing? 
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1 MR. BLOOMs No, Your Honor. 

2 THE COURTi Mr. Atwood, based upon the 

3 jury's verdict as to the charge of kidnapping, it is 

4 ordered tlrnt you be impri sonea by and commi tt€c1 to the 

5 custody of the Arizona Department of Corrections for a 

(i period of life imprisonment without possibility of 

'l parole unt i 1 you have served not l ese; than 2 5 years, to 

8 date from this date with credit for 960 days in custody 

9 up to now. ~'hat is a mandatory pc~riod of imprisonment. 

10 As to the count two conviction of felony 

11 murder, counsel have roade some reference to the Court's 

12 special verdict that ie required. I have done that in 

13 writing in a minute entry that is filed this morning. 

14 I am sorry counsel didn't get it sooner, 

15 but you have hac1 a chance to sec probably all that you 

16 need to of il or to review it at lcaot. I will briefly 

17 state what you've referred to. 

18 'l'he Court in the special vc rdi cl has Get 

19 out all of the pr~misco that led to the hearing required 

20 to aetcrrnin<: what, if any, aggravating circurngtances or 

21 mitigating circumstances existed. ~he Court has 

~2 completed that and made certain findings, and I will 

23 only briefly sunmwrize those. 'l'hey arc more: fully 

24 detailed in the special verdict itself. 

25 As both counsel have recognized, the Court 
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1 as found beyond a reasonable doubt that the first 

~· · ~ - . . 2 llgyu1vatin9 factor of J.3-7030!')(1) iu proven and lh<~t it 

3 is proven by Mr. Atwood's 1978 conviction of lewd or 

4 lascivious acts. 'l'hat was an offclls(• which at the t:irne 

5 in /iriiona was punishable by a life imprisonment. 

6 The Court f ouna as lo aggravating 

7 circumstance Number 2 of Subsection F of that statute 

8 that it was not proven beyond a reasonable doubt. 

9 That is the factor that would pertain to 

10 offense that involved the use or threat of violence, 

11 And the Court is unable to go behind the actu~l 

12 conviction of kidnapping. State versuo Gillies, the 

• 13 l~rizonet Supreme Court ht.ts determined that corwideration 

14 of Logan Nandcl 1 s testimony ie not appropriate, so the 

15 Court c&nnot consider that, The Court's conclusion then 

16 rnuct come strictly from the statute itself and the 

17 elements within it. 

lB Th~rcforc, the Court has found that the use 

19 or threat of violence in that kidnapping statute is not 

20 a nccceuary clement of the offenae, though it may 

21 sometimcf; l>c prcnent. 'J.'hat is why the· Court founc1 that 

22 not to be proven beyond a reasonable doubt. 

23 The third allcg~tion that the State had 

• 24 contended was proven beyond a reasonable doubt was 

25 Subaection 6 of 703CF) pertaining to this offense that 
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• 

• 

• 

l 

2 

was alleged to be especially heinous, cruel or depraved 

in its rnann~r. 

3 The Court has considered all of the 

4 testimony that was admitted at trial and has read 

5 numerous, numerous cases that h~ve given us some 

6 direction ana guidance and information about how one 

7 determines just what ie especially heinous or especially 

8 cruel or depraved. 

9 And the Court has concluded that from all 

10 of that there may be considerable speculation that it 

11 might have been that but that that is not suff iciont, 

12 that is not proof beyond a reasonable doubt. So the 

13 Court has rejected that one also as not proven beyond a 

15 No one contended that any other of the 

16 aggravating factors were applicable here nnd the Courl 

17 finds no other applicable. 

18 As far as the defendant's contention of, l 

19 ~ievc, eleven different circumst~nces that were 

20 s ggestcd to be mitigating, the Court considered thone 

21 nd has discust>cd some in detail and others simply 

22 ·olloctively, suggested that the Court does not find 

23 

24 

th£~warrant ~~~gat.ion even jf _!J1..2X~_r_:__~_:_uc. 
-------- ---

And as a result the Court. has concludC<:r--

25 with again the statutory language that the Court finds 

SUPERIOR COURT PIMA COUNTY 

·--~-·--- -~-·.-· -·-----~-.~ -----·--- --- - - --..___, .. _ - ---- ----- ---- ----- - -

04-FJA012798 

Case: 22-70084, 05/04/2022, ID: 12438984, DktEntry: 1-4, Page 389 of 498



.

28 

1 no mitigating circumstances which arc Euff iciently 

2 ~ubstantial to call for leniency. 

3 As a result of that, Mr. Atwood, as to the 

5 by lethnl 9a_p_!__--=~ ----·------6 This judgment vhall be the authority of 

7 Arizoha Department of Corrections to carry out the 

8 sentence of life imprisonment and to carry out your 

9 CX€:CUtion. 

10 It is also the authoritr for the Sheriff of 

11 Pima County to transport you to the Departt.wnl of 
16 

12 Corrections for purposes of carrying out these 

• 13 r.entcnccs. 

14 Mr. Atwood, you have, of course, the right 

15 to o mandatory Lippeal to the Arizona Supreme Court from 

16 this judgment and sentence and all matters leading up to 

17 it and all rulings previously made. 

18 l presume that Mr. Bloom will be filing the 

19 notice of appeal for you, but I know that he haE been 

20 retained only for purposes of the trictl and retainc:c1 by 

21 your parents. 

22 So Mr. Bloom, unless new arrangements have 

23 been made for your handling the appeal, I am ansumin9 

• 24 that you ~re not. ls that correct? 

25 MR, BLOOM: I'm not going to handle the 
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2 f) 

l 
\ •. 
'<:. 2 

appeal, Your Honor. I do have the notice of appeal 

prepared, And I just need lo fill in the date. And 

3 wilhoul being presumptuous, I did h~ve in there that the 

4 Clef enaarit had hE!en sent(:ncea to deatl1. 

5 So with that, if I CD.n approach the Court. 

6 ~HE COURT: Yes, if you gJve that to the 

7 clerk, it will be shown filed this morning. 

8 Mr. Atwood, I don't need to finish part of 

9 this then. The part of the notice is that you have to 

10 do that within twenty days; it's been done this morning, 

11 E:o the notice of appeal is f ilea t.his morning and that 

12 ~ppeal will commence • 

• 13 Unless your parents have made any other 

14 arrangcrnentB for retaining counsel for the ~ppeal, then 

15 the Court finds thut you are still incliger~~' _as yo~ _h<1ve 
- --- -----~--- - ----

16 
--- ---- ----

Lieei1 ___ .t"hrou9hoi.1t.-, an cl a.n at tor ncy w i 11 be «ppoi ntea to 
- -- - -- ---- - ----·-~-- --- ----- . __ _ -

17 re-p.resent you for purposes of the npperi.1. _______ _ 
-- ---- ·--·-·-------------~----- -~---------~----

18 You understand that you have these rights 

19 . already, and that notice of appeal indicates that. Ana 

20 as a result l don't neea to have you sign the notice of 

21 your rights to appeal, that's obviously understood by 

22 you already. 

23 With that completed then, counsel, the 

• 24 Bpecial verdict being filed with the clerk -- ana I have 

25 already given her the original this morning, you each 
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30 
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l 

2 

have copies. My secretary will have some ~dditional 

copies for the media and U1e press if they arc 

3 intcrcEtcd. 

4 Gcntlcrucn, thank you very much. 

5 ( Re cc s a , l O s 3 5 a • ru • ) 

G 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

• 13 

l. 4 

15 

16 

17 

lEl 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

•.. 

, 

24 

25 

-·~----~~~~~~~~~~~~~~· 
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• 

:n 

l 

2 

3 I a o her c by c e r t i f y th a t , as of f i c i ed. Co u r t 

4 Report~r in the Superior Court of Pima County, Ar:Lzon«, 

5 

6 

I was prc~ent at the trial/hearing of the foregoing 

cnt:it.lcd casc1 that while~ there l took aowil in stC?notypy 

7 nll the orEil testimony adcluccd and/or procccclings had; 

6 t.hat I have transcribed such stenotypy into typcwJ:itin9; 

9 and that the foregoing lypewritten matter co~taine a 

10 full, true and correct tranDcription of my stenotype 

11 notes r;o takc·n by me as aforesaid. 

12 

14 

15 

Hi 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

0i1C> ;/l 
--~~-~~~---· 
Catherine V. Hintzen,. RPR 
Official Court Reporter 
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AITORNEY GENERAL 
2 (FIRM STATE BARNO. 14000) 

3 LACEY STOVER GARD 
CmEF COUNSEL 

4 CAPITAL LITIGATION SECTION 
400 W. CONGRESS, BLDG S-315 

5 TuCSON, ARizONA 85701 
TELEPHONE: (520) 628-6654 
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7 (STATE BAR NUMBER 022714) 

8 
ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFF 

9 IN THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF ARIZONA 

10 IN AND FOR THE COUNTY OF PIMA 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

STATE OF ARIZONA, 

Plaintiff, 

-vs-

17 FRANK JARVIS ATWOOD, 

18 

19 

20 

Defendant. 

Nos. CR-14065 & CR-15397 

RESPONSE TO ATWOOD'S 
THIRD PETITION FOR POST­
CONVICTION RELIEF. 

Hon. Catherine Woods Presiding 

[Capital Case] 

21 Defendant Frank Jarvis Atwood sits on death row for the 1984 abduction and 

22 murder of 8-year-old V.L.H. He has exhausted all of-right appeals and the State 

23 and federal courts have consistently denied relief. Atwood has now filed a third 

24 petition for post-conviction relief in this Court, in which he challenges his death 

25 sentence on three grounds: 

26 

27 1) the sentencing judge's finding of the A.R.S. § 13-703(F)(l) 
(1984) aggravating factor was legally erroneous (Claim 1); 

28 

1 

Case: 22-70084, 05/04/2022, ID: 12438984, DktEntry: 1-4, Page 395 of 498



1 . 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

2) the prior conv1ct10n underlying the (F)(l) was itself 
constitutionally infirm (Claim 2); 

3) mitigating evidence he has developed in the nearly 33 years 
since sentencing is sufficiently substantial to warrant leniency (Claim 
3); and 

4) the "extreme duration" of his incarceration on death row 
(attributable primarily to his relentless pursuit of appellate remedies) 
renders his death sentence unconstitutional (Claim 4). 1 

9 For the reasons discussed in the following memorandum of points and authorities, 

10 this Court should summarily deny Atwood's claims, without an evidentiary 

11 hearing. 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED this 5th day of March 2020. 

Attorneys for Plaintiff 

25 1 Atwood also reserves the "right" to amend his post-conviction petition to raise 

26 
conviction-related claims. Amended Petition ("Am. Pet.") 2 n.2. The State 
similarly reserves the right to argue that Atwood has failed to establish good cause 

27 for any proposed amendment. See Ariz. R. Crim. P. 32.9(d). 

28 
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1 MEMORANDUM OF POINTS AND AUTHORITIES 

2 "In all cases, civil or criminal, there must be an end to litigation." State v. 

3 Carriger, 143 Ariz. 142, 145 (1984). "By requiring that all post-conviction claims 

4 be raised promptly, Rule 32.2(a) not only serves important principles of finality, 

5 but also allows any relief to be issued at a time when the interests of justice, from 

6 the perspectives of the defendant, the State, and the victim, can be best served." 

7 State v. Shrum, 220 Ariz. 115, 118, ~ 12 (2009). Rule 32-especially a successive 

8 proceeding like this one-is intended to apply to "the unusual situation where 

9 justice ran its course and yet went awry." Carriger, 143 Ariz. at 146 (quoting State 

10 v. McFord, 132 Ariz. 132, 133 (App. 1982)). 

11 There is nothing unusual about Atwood's case. Each of the claims he 

12 presents in this third post-conviction proceeding have been available to him for 

13 decades. Claims 1 and 2 challenge the A.R.S. § 13-703(F)(1)2 aggravating factor 

14 on legal grounds that have been available to Atwood since sentencing. They are 

15 precluded and meritless. Claim 3 rests on the inevitable occurrence that Atwood 

16 has developed new mitigating evidence since sentencing, which evidence he 

17 -believes warrants a life sentence. That claim is not cognizable under the newly 

18 revised rules. See Ariz. R. Crim. P. 32.1(h) (2020). Moreover, the evidence 

19 Atwood proffers has already been deemed insufficient to carry his reasonable- -

20 probability burden under Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984), and does 

21 not come close to satisfying the much higher clear-and-convincing evidence 

22 standard Rule 32.1(h) requires. Finally, Claim 4 is based on the perplexing theory 

23 that Atwood has delayed his death sentence so long that carrying it out now would 

24 be cruel and unusual. That claim, too, is precluded and meritless. This Court 

25 
2 Unless otherwise noted, all citations to the sentencing statutes refer to the 

26 
versions in effect in 1984, when Atwood killed V.L.H. For this Court's 

27 convenience, the State has attached a copy of those statutes hereto at Exhibit C. 

28 
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1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

should swiftly deny and dismiss Atwood's most recent post-conviction petition, 

without an evidentiary hearing. 

I. FACTUALAND PROCEDURAL HISTORY. 

There can be no serious argument that Atwood does not rank among the 

worst of the worst offenders for whom the death penalty is reserved. See, e.g., 

Roper v. Simmons, 543 U.S. 551, 568 (2005) ("Capital punishment must be limited 

to those offenders who commit a narrow category of the most serious crimes and 

whose extreme culpability makes them the most deserving of execution.") 

(quotations omitted). Beginning in the mid-1970s, mental-health professionals 

identified Atwood as posing a future danger to children. Atwood proved these 

predictions true by engaging in an escalating pattern of sexual violence against 

children, culminating with V.L.H. 's 1984 murder. 

A. Atwood's history of predatory offenses. 

Atwood's history of sexual attraction to and offenses against children is well 
15 

documented. Atwood v. Ryan (Atwood III), 870 F.3d 1033, 1039-40 (9th Cir. 

14 

16 
2017); State v. Atwood (Atwood I), 171 Ariz. 576, 593 (1992). In 1975, Atwood 

17 
was convicted of engaging in lewd-and-lascivious conduct with a 1 0-year-old 

18 
California girl. Atwood III, 870 F.3d at 1039; Atwood I, 171 Ariz. at 593, 647 n.22. 

19 
Atwood approached the girl on a public street, fondled her genitals, and kissed her 

20 
on the mouth. See Petitioner's Exhibit ("Pet. Ex.") 35. 

21 

4 
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1 
Abe opined that Atwood was a mentally disordered sex offender, "predisposing 

him to be dangerous to the health and safety of minor girls." !d. 

Atwood was placed in Atascadero State Hospital for treatment, where he 

2 

3 

4 
remained until 1978. Atwood III, 870 F.3d at 1039. His admitting diagnosis was 

5 
"[ s ]exual deviation, pedophilia, female." State's Exhibit ("Ex.") L, at 671 3

. 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

Records from Atascadero portray Atwood as an unrepentant pedophile, prone to 

aggressive outbursts and devoid of personal accountability: 

Psychological reports in these records diagnosed Atwood with 
pedophilia. The records contained further details of Atwood's sexual 
offenses against minors. Among other items in the records, a report 
included Atwood's statement that a four-year-old girl that he molested 
"deserved it" because she was the block "tattletail." Atwood also 
stated that he molested the ten-year-old girl because he felt like 
"scaring someone." The records documented Atwood's aggressive 
pre-incarceration behavior, describing an incident in which Atwood 
threatened his mother "with a butcher knife and generally terroriz[ ed] 
the family," and another incident in which Atwood threatened his 
cousin with a knife. While at Atascadero, Atwood was uncooperative 
and deemed "basically unamenable to treatment." A staff report noted 
that Atwood "kn[ ew] the proper words to use in therapy," but did not 
make actual progress. Finally, the records contained details of 
Atwood's threatening and antisocial behavior at the hospital, 
describing multiple incidents in which Atwood verbally and 
physically assaulted patients and staff. 

3 The State's citations to the Atascadero records refer to the Bates number without 
26 

the leading zeros, at the bottom right-hand comer of the document. 
27 

28 
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1 
Atwood III, 870 F.3d at 1060-61; see generally Ex. L.4 Ultimately, Atwood failed 

2 
his inpatient rehabilitative efforts and was discharged to the court system, having 

3 
been deemed unamenable to treatment. See Pet. Ex. 40 & 41. The hospital's 

4 
medical director opined that Atwood "remains a danger to the health and safety of 

5 
others." Pet. Ex. 40 (letter dated 7 118/78). 

6 
After his release, Atwood abducted and sexually abused an 8-year-old boy as 

7 
the boy rode his bicycle. Atwood III, 870 F.3d at 1040; Atwood I, 171 P.2d at 593, 

8 
654-55. Atwood forced the child to perform oral sex on him and warned the boy, 

9 
'"If you scream, I will kill you."' Atwood I, 171 Ariz. at 672. Atwood was 

10 
convicted of guilty to kidnapping, and he was sent back to prison. Atwood III, 870 

11 
F.3d at 1040; Atwood I, 171 Ariz. at 593. 

While incarcerated, Atwood developed a relationship with a pen pal, Ernest 

Bernsienne. Atwood III, 870 F.3d at 1040; Atwood I, 171 Ariz. at 613. Atwood 
14 

unabashedly admitted to Bernsienne his sexual desire for children. In April 1982, 

12 

13 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

Atwood wrote: 

Ya see, it's time for "true confessions." What I mean is, there is a 
fact about me that I am ashamed of. I believe it is considered so 
wrong that I have kept this part of me hidden from you. 

Rather than saying that I am attracted to people between the ages 
of seven and twelve, I feel a more complete explanation is 
necessary. 

Another fear is that I am still attracted to kids but I can't handle 
another arrest! 

4 Both the State and Atwood have attached relevant excerpts of these reports. The 
26 parties are in possession of the entire 451-page file, and the State will submit a 
27 copy on request from this Court. 

28 
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2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

Atwood I, 171 Ariz. at 596, 637-38.5 After Atwood was paroled in 1984, he 

admitted to Bemsienne that he had "considered going out and picking up a child." 

!d. at 596, 638; Atwood III, 870 F. 3d at 1040. Bernsienne advised against this plan, 

pointing out that the child "would certainly go and tell someone." Atwood I, 171 

Ariz. at 597. Atwood informed Bemsienne that "this time he would make sure the 

child wouldn't talk." !d. at 596, 638; Atwood III, 870 F.3d at 1040. 

B. Atwood's murder ofV.L.H. 

Rather than remain in Los Angeles as his parole terms required, Atwood 

traversed the country with his friend Jack McDonald, living out of his black 1975 

Datsun 280Z. Atwood III, 870 F.3d 1040; Atwood I, 171 Ariz. at 593. Atwood and 

McDonald visited Bernsienne in Enid, Oklahoma, in August 1984, and returned to 

California 2 weeks later. Atwood III, 870 F.3d 1040; Atwood I, 171 Ariz. at 593. 

The following month, they traveled to Tucson, where they frequented DeAnza 

Park, a gathering spot for transients and drug users. Atwood III, 870 F.3d 1040; 

Atwood I, 171 Ariz. at 593. 

Atwood spent the first part of September 17, 1984, at DeAnza Park, leaving 

during the mid-afternoon. Atwood III, 870 F.3d 1040; Atwood I, 171 Ariz. at 593. 

Later, Sam Hall, a teacher at Homer Davis Elementary, which V.L.H. attended, 

21 5 A redacted version of this letter was admitted at trial. See Atwood I, 171 Ariz. at 

22 
637-38. The complete version provides even more insight into Atwood's 
character. See Ex. D. He described having molested a 4-year-old girl and admitted 

23 to the charges that led to his Atascadero placement and his subsequent prison 

24 
conviction for kidnapping. Id. Most concerning, he wrote, "I see no reason that 
sex between myself and pre-adolescent kids is not only not allowed but also illegal. 

25 !d. In his opinion, the only reason this activity harms children is because society 

26 
makes them "feel so dirty and abused." !d. A second letter described Atwood's 
desire for "pure and innocent sex with a minor." Id. He wrote, "my love for 

27 innocent young boys is an earthly and physical desire." !d. 

28 
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1 
noticed a dark-colored "Z car" in an alley near the school. Atwood I, 171 Ariz. at 

2 
609. The driver-a medium-framed man with shoulder-length hair, a dark beard, 

3 
and a mustache-behaved suspiciously, shaking his head and making odd gestures. 

4 
Atwood III, 870 F.3d at 1040; Atwood I, 171 Ariz. at 593. The driver was so 

5 
disturbing that he '"caused the hair on the back of [Hall's] head to rise up and [his] 

6 
arm to get goose bumps and [his] adrenaline to start pumping."' Atwood I, 1 71 

7 
Ariz. at 640. Hall wrote down the car's license plate number. !d. at 593; Atwood 

8 
III, 870 F.3d at 1040. 

9 
At approximately 3:30p.m., V.L.H. rode her pink bicycle from her home to 

10 
a neighborhood mailbox to mail a birthday card. Atwood III, 870 F. 3d at 1 040; 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

Atwood I, 171 Ariz. at 592, 594. Two teenage boys, also riding their bicycles, 

encountered the same car and driver Hall had seen, driving very slowly at the 

intersection of Root Lane and Pocito Place. Atwood III, 870 F. 3d at 1 040; Atwood 

I, 171 Ariz. at 593. The intersection is only a few hundred feet from Homer Davis 

and only a few blocks from V.L.H. 's home, on her route to the mailbox. Atwood 

III, 870 F.3d at 1040; Atwood I, 171 Ariz. at 592-93. As the boys rode away from 

the intersection, they passed V.L.H. riding her bicycle the opposite direction, 

toward the dark-colored Z car and its driver. Atwood III, 870 F.3d at 1 040; Atwood 

I, 171 Ariz. at 593. 

V.L.H. did not return home from her errand and her sister went to find her. 

Atwood III, 870 F.3d at 1041; Atwood I, 171 Ariz. at 592. V.L.H.'s sister found 

V.L.H. 's bicycle abandoned in the street near the intersection of Root and Pocito. 

Atwood III, 870 F. 3d at 1041; Atwood I, 171 Ariz. at 592. Around the same time, 

three people saw Atwood driving toward northwest Tucson, with a small child in 

his car's passenger's seat. Atwood I, 171 Ariz. at 594-95. Hall gave officers the 

license plate number he had recorded earlier, and police learned that the car 

8 
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1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

belonged to Atwood. Id. at 592. They also learned of his history of crimes against 

children. !d. 

Atwood returned to De Anza Park approximately 1 hour before sunset. !d. at 

593; Atwood III, 870 F.3d at 1041. McDonald and another acquaintance, Thomas 

Parisien, saw blood on Atwood's hands, clothes, and knife. Atwood III, 870 F.3d at 

1041; Atwood I, 171 Ariz. at 593, 596. Atwood discussed with McDonald and 

Parisien whether he should dispose of his clothes and spoke with Parisien about 

discarding his knife. Atwood I, 171 F.3d at 642. Another man, Brian Hall, 

confronted Atwood about the apparent blood on Atwood's hands. !d. Atwood did 

not deny that the substance was blood, but instead claimed to have stabbed a man 

in a drug transaction earlier that afternoon. Id. at 596, 635-36. Atwood repeated 

this version of events to McDonald and two others, explaining that he had left the 

murdered man's body in the desert near the mountains. Id. at 596. Atwood 

explained that he had been stuck by cacti while depositing the man's body, a claim 

corroborated by cactus needles extruding from his arms and legs. Id. 

Later that night, Atwood and McDonald left Tucson, bound for New 

Orleans. !d. at 593; Atwood III, 870 F.3d at 1041. During the trip, McDonald 

observed Atwood sandpapering the blade of his knife.6 Atwood III, 870 F.3d at 

1041; Atwood I, 171 Ariz. at 596, 642. As Atwood and McDonald traveled, 

Federal Bureau of Investigation (FBI) agents obtained a warrant to arrest Atwood 

on federal kidnapping charges. Atwood III, 870 F.3d at 1041; Atwood I, 171 Ariz. 

at 593. 

6 Atwood had sandpaper and two knives in his possession at the time of his arrest. 
26 

Atwood I, 171 Ariz. at 641. 
27 

28 
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15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

Atwood and McDonald encountered car trouble in Kerrville, Texas, and 

Atwood telephoned his mother for financial assistance, apparently after FBI agents 

had contacted her about his suspected involvement in V.L.H. 's disappearance. 

Atwood III, 870 F.3d at 1041; Atwood I, 171 Ariz. at 593, 596, 636-37. McDonald 

heard Atwood exclaim to his mother, '"Even if I did do it, you have to help me."' 

Atwood III, 870 F.3d at 1041; Atwood I, 171 Ariz. at 596, 636-37. Atwood later 

explained to McDonald that authorities '"were trying to stick something on him 

about a little girl."' Atwood III, 870 F.3d at 1041; Atwood I, 171 Ariz. at 596, 636-

37. Atwood's parents told authorities he was in Kerrville and, on September 20, 

1984, FBI agents arrested him there on the federal warrant and impounded his car.7 

Atwood III, 870 F.3d at 1041; Atwood I, 171 Ariz. at 593-94. 

Authorities soon noticed a smear of pink paint on the front bumper of 

Atwood's car. Atwood III, 870 F.3d at 1041; Atwood I, 171 Ariz. at 595. Accident 

reconstruction expert Paul Larmour subsequently found a '"nearly perfect match 

heightwise between [a] contact area on the backside of the bicycle and the [paint] 

transfer on the bumper.'" Atwood III, 870 F.3d at 1043; Atwood I, 171 Ariz. at 595. 

In addition, Larmour opined that the paint on the bumper visually matched the 

color of the bicycle and that marks on the car's gravel pan were consistent with the 

car having struck the bicycle at low speed, causing the bicycle to lodge beneath the 

car. Atwoodiii, 870F.3dat 1043;Atwoodi, 171 Ariz. at595. 

23 7 In an interview with FBI agents, Atwood claimed to have left De Anza Park 

24 
sometime after noon on September 17 and to have returned around 5:00 p.m. 
Atwood, 832 P.2d at 611. He claimed that, during his absence from the park, he 

25 had met a man in V.L.H.'s neighborhood to purchase marijuana and visited an 

26 
acquaintance at his home. Id. Neither man recalled seeing Atwood that day. Id. 
In a subsequent interview, Atwood altered his story, informing agents that he had 

27 returned to the park much earlier in the day, at 3:30 p.m. I d. 

28 
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FBI criminalist James Corby found additional evidence that the bumper of 

Atwood's car had made contact with V.L.H. 's bicycle: based on various scientific 

tests, he concluded that the pink paint on the bumper either came from the bicycle 

or from an identical source. Atwood III, 870 F.3d at 1043; Atwood I, 171 Ariz. at 

595. He also found nickel particles on the bicycle, and observed that the paint on 

Atwood's bumper was in an area where its chrome coating had flaked off, exposing 

nickel. Atwood I, 171 Ariz. at 595. Corby opined that there was only a remote 

possibility that the cross-transfer of paint and nickel resulted from any means other 

than forcible contact between the bumper and the bicycle. !d. 
10 

V.L.H.'s body remained undiscovered until April 11, 1985, when her skull 

9 

and other small bones were found in the desert northwest of Tucson. Atwood III, 
12 

870 F.3d at 1042; Atwood I, 171 Ariz. at 594, 599. Several medical experts 

11 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

examined the remains but, due to the limited number of bones available, could not 

determine V.L.H.'s cause of death. Atwood III, 870 F.3d at 1042; Atwood I, 171 

Ariz. 594, 599. 

C. Trial and sentencing. 

On September 27, 1984, before V.L.H.'s body was found, a Pima County 

grand jury indicted Atwood for kidnapping. Atwood III, 870 F. 3d at 1041; Atwood 

I, 171 Ariz. at 594. After V.L.H. 's remains were located, a grand jury indicted 

Atwood for first-degree felony murder. Atwood III, 870 F. 3d at 1041; Atwood I, 

171 Ariz. at 594. The charges were consolidated for trial and, 3 years later, based 

on the evidence in § I(B), supra, a jury found Atwood guilty as -charged. Atwood 

III, 870 F.3d at 1042-43; Atwood I, 171 Ariz. at 591, 594. 

Prior to sentencing, the State alleged three capital aggravating factors, see 

A.R.S. § 13-703(F)(1), (F)(2), (F)(6), and Atwood offered several mitigating 

11 
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1 
circumstances.8 Pet. Exs. 3, 7. At the aggravation/mitigation hearing, Atwood's 

2 
father, General John Atwood ("John") testified regarding Atwood's family history, 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

including John's exemplary military service and subsequent career in a 

management position for Hughes Aircraft Company. Ex. P, at 60-65. As a child, 

Atwood was an excellent student and participated enthusiastically in athletic, 

church, music, and family activities. !d. at 66-67. However, when Atwood was 

about 13 years old, the "drug scene" engulfed him, leading to poor academic 

performance and a lack of respect for his parents and other authority figures. !d. at 

67-73. Atwood's "brains just seemed to be scrambled" from his drug use. !d. at 

70-71. Atwood's poor academic performance continued in high school, despite his 

parents' attempts to intervene. !d. at 71-72. 

By the time of his arrest for lewd and lascivious conduct at age 18, Atwood 

had lost all respect for authority. !d. at 72-73. He continued to use drugs during 

his subsequent incarcerations, but, with his IQ of approximately 130, was 

nonetheless able to earn a GED and gain admittance to Santa Monica College. !d. 

at 73-75. Upon his release from prison in 1984, Atwood briefly attempted to 

8 Atwood offered as mitigation: 1) he was convicted of felony, not premeditated, 
20 first-degree murder; 2) he was under the influence of drugs at the time of VL.H. 's 
21 murder, which significantly impaired his ability to appreciate "any wrongfulness of 

22 
criminal conduct," al).d he suffered from "a significant history of mental disease 
ranging from the time he was thirteen years of age"; 3) he behaved well during 

23 trial; 4) his family loved and supported him; 5) the State could not establish 

24 
VL.H. 's cause of death; 6) he was 28 at the time of the murder; 7) residual doubt 
exists about his guilt; 8) he cooperated with authorities when arrested; 9) he 

25 expressed sympathy for VL.H. 's family but could not express remorse because of 

26 
his purported innocence; 1 0) he is intelligent and amenable to rehabilitation; and 
11) he was concerned for his parents' welfare and had positively influenced other 

27 inmates. Pet. Ex. 7. 

28 
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obtain a job, but his opportunities were limited by his refusal to change his 

physical appearance. !d. at 74. 

John opined that Atwood could be rehabilitated and be a productive member 

of society. !d. at 74. He noted that Atwood had, with his parents' assistance, been 

trying to enroll in a program to earn a college degree from prison. !d. John further 

testified that Atwood's relationship with his parents had improved substantially 

during his incarceration, and that Atwood was particularly concerned about his 

trial's impact on his parents' health. !d. at 80-82. 
9 

Atwood also testified and admitted to having used a wide variety of drugs 
10 

since the age of 13. !d. at 87-92. Although he denied killing V.L.H. and professed 
11 

to have sympathy for her family's plight, he claimed that he had been using 
12 

cocaine, codeine, Demerol, and marijuana the day of her murder, which had 
13 

impaired his ability to think clearly. Id. at 92, 95-96. He briefly described his 
14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

institutionalization at Atascadero State Hospital, claiming that he had been 

discharged because of an unspecified "verbal problem"; professed to have changed 

for the better since his arrest; and claimed that he had assisted other inmates by 

teaching them about the dangers of drugs. !d. at 92-101. But he admitted on 

cross-examination that he had failed to complete therapy as required by his parole 

conditions, had violated parole by leaving California without authorization, had 

been disciplined at the jail for various infractions, and had failed to complete a 

single rehabilitative program in his life. !d. at 102-17. He acknowledged that, at 

the end of his stay at Atascadero, he was classified as a mentally-disordered sex 
23 

offender and considered a danger to others. !d. 

22 

24 
In rebuttal, Deputy William Nelson, a correctional officer who had 

supervised Atwood at trial, testified that Atwood berated and threatened him after 
26 

he instructed Atwood to reduce the number of suits he possessed in the holding 

25 

27 

28 
tank. !d. at 122-32. Atwood told the officer, "You don't know who you're talking 

13 
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1 
with .... I can have you wasted. I'll take your gun away from you and blow your 

shit away." Id. at 125. The officer suggested that Atwood compose himself, and 

Atwood responded, "Fuck you. I will take care of you. I will have your shit blown 

away." Id. Atwood further exercised his right to allocution, during which he 

claimed remorse for his prior crimes but denied killing V.L.H., stated his intention 

to give back to society, and asked the court not to impose death. Pet. App. 1, at 

20-21. 

The sentencing judge also received a presentence investigation report, to 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 
which were appended various documents related to Atwood's California criminal 

10 
history. Ex. Q.9 The documents contained additional evidence of Atwood's social 

history, including his failure . to complete high school, behavioral difficulties, 

failure to succeed on juvenile probation, "chaotic" home life (which included his 

conduct in breaking household property, threatening his mother with a butcher 

knife, and "generally terrorizing the family"), lengthy arrest record, polysubstance 

abuse, and experience being molested by an adult male at 14 years of age. I d. The 

documents also revealed the concern of California officials, spanning several years, 

that Atwood was a danger to society who could not be rehabilitated. Id. One 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 
report opined prophetically, "[A] repetition of [the lewd-and-lascivious] offense 

19 
would appear likely." Id. 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

Also appended to the pre-sentence report were disciplinary documents from 

Atwood's pretrial incarceration for V.L.H.'s murder. Id. This material chronicled 

Atwood's pattern of abusive and assaultive behavior toward correctional officers 

and his refusal to adhere to jail rules. Id. 

26 9 Atwood attaches the presentence report but omits the appended material. The 
27 State has attached a complete copy hereto as Ex. Q. 

28 
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In his special verdict, the sentencing judge relied on Atwood's 1975 

California conviction for lewd-and-lascivious conduct to find that he had been 

convicted of a crime for which, under Arizona law, a sentence of death or life 

imprisonment was imposable. See A.R.S. § 13-703(F)(1). The judge found, 

however, that the State had failed to prove the two remaining aggravating factors, 

see A.R.S. § 13-703(F)(2) & (F)(6). Pet. Ex. 4. The judge found Atwood's 

proffered mitigation insufficiently substantial to warrant leniency and sentenced 

him to death for the murder conviction. !d.; see Pet. Ex. 1, at 28. The judge 

sentenced Atwood to a concurrent term of life imprisonment for the kidnapping 

conviction. Atwood!, 171 Ariz. at 591. 

D. Atwood's 5-year direct appeal. 

Atwood appealed his convictions and sentences on numerous grounds, 

generating an Arizona Supreme Court opinion so lengthy it warranted a table of 
14 

contents. Atwood I, 171 Ariz. at 588; see id. at 659 ("Rather than aiding our 

12 

13 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

review of defendant's case by judiciously selecting, fully researching, and 

concisely arguing the colorable issues raised by the trial record, appellate counsel 

has bombarded this Court with a salvo of dubious claims serving little purpose 

other than to detract from those issues having arguable legal merit."). The court 

affirmed Atwood's convictions and, after independently reviewing the aggravating 

and mitigating circumstances, also affirmed his death sentence. !d. at 591-660. 

Atwood unsuccessfully moved for reconsideration, and the United States Supreme 

Court thereafter denied certiorari. Id. at 588; see Atwood v. Arizona, 506 U.S. 1084 

(1993). 

E. Atwood's 5-year first post-conviction petition. 

Following the conclusion of his direct appeal, Atwood initiated a post-

conviction relief proceeding, ultimately filing a lengthy petition raising numerous 

claims of law-enforcement misconduct, counsel's ineffectiveness, and newly-

15 
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1 
discovered mitigation. See PCR Notice, filed 3/18/93; Amended PCR Petition, 

2 
filed 10/16/96. This Court denied both relief and Atwood's subsequent motion for 

3 
rehearing. See M.E., filed 1/28/97; M.R., filed 3/18/97. The Arizona Supreme 

4 
Court denied review, see No. 97-0289-PC, and the United States Supreme Court 

5 
denied certiorari. Atwood v. Arizona, 523 U.S. 1082 (April 20, 1998). 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

F. Atwood's 4-year second Rule 32 proceeding. 

In 2007, Atwood obtained a stay of his then-pending federal habeas 

proceeding and filed a successive post-conviction petition in this Court, seeking to 

exhaust his newly-discovered evidence and actual-innocence claims. See Atwood 

III, 870 F.3d 1045. Those claims alleged that state law-enforcement officers had 

planted paint from V.L.H. 's bicycle on his car's bumper through a complicated 

scheme that required them to travel to Texas, where the FBI had impounded 

Atwood's car; remove the bumper from the car; extract it from FBI custody; 

transport it to Arizona via a commercial aircraft; apply paint from the victim's 
15 

bicycle, at exactly the right height when considering the weight of Atwood's fully 

14 

16 
loaded car; return the bumper to Texas; and reattach it to the car. After more than 4 

17 
years of litigation, and an extensive investigation facilitated by the State, this Court 

found Atwood's claim "grounded in speculation with no link to provable reality" 
19 

and dismissed it. See M.E., filed 9/23/10. The Arizona Supreme Court denied 

18 

20 

21 

22 

23 

review. See No. CR-09-0109. 

G. Atwood's 20-year federal habeas proceeding. 

In 1998, Atwood initiated a federal habeas proceeding. See No. CV-98-

116-TUC-JCC. The district court dismissed several claims on procedural grounds 

in 2005, and ordered merits briefing on the remainder. Atwood III, 870 F.3d at 
25 

1044. In 2007, the court denied relief on all claims except Atwood's allegation of 

24 

26 
law-enforcement misconduct, which, as discussed above, § I(F), the court stayed 

27 
pending state-court exhaustion. !d. at 1045. 

28 
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Shortly after the 4-year state-court proceeding concluded, the Supreme 

Court decided Martinez v. Ryan, 566 U.S. 1 (2012). The district court denied relief 

on the misconduct claim's merits, but permitted Atwood to move to reconsider 

under Martinez an ineffective-assistance-at-sentencing claim it had previously 

dismissed as procedurally defaulted. Atwood III, 870 F.3d at 1046. Atwood, 

claim's procedural default under Martinez; and that the claim failed on the merits. 

Id.; see also Atwood v. Ryan (Atwood II), 2014 WL 289987 (D. Ariz. Jan. 27, 

2014). 

Atwood then appealed to the United States Court of Appeals for the Ninth 

Circuit. Following oral argument, a three-judge panel of that court unanimously 

affirmed the district court's ruling. Atwood III, 870 F.3d at 1065. Atwood failed to 

file a timely petition for writ of certiorari from this decision, and the Supreme 

Court denied his request to file the petition out-of-time. Atwood v. Ryan, 139 S. Ct. 

II. APPLICABLE LAW. 

Arizona Rule of Criminal Procedure 32 governs post-conviction relief 

proceedings. See also A.R.S. §§ 13-4231-4239 (codifying post-conviction relief 

procedure). Rule 32 allows a defendant to "raise issues unknown or unavailable at 

trial" and to '"furnish an evidentiary forum for the establishment of facts 

26 10 The State summarizes the hearing evidence relevant to this proceeding in § 
27 III(C), infra. 

28 
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22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

underlying a claim for relief, when such facts have not previously been established 

of record."' State v. Watton, 164 Ariz. 323, 328 (1990) (quoting State v. Scrivner, 

132 Ariz. 52, 54 (App. 1982)). The Rule's goal is "the elimination of confusion 

and avoidance of repetitious applications for relief while protecting a defendant's 

rights." Watton, 164 Ariz. at 328. It "provides a simple and efficient means of 

inquiry into a defendant's claim that the conviction or sentence was obtained in 

disregard of fundamental fairness, which is essential to our concept of justice." !d. 

Although Rule 32 "is a safeguard in addition to the many others that are part 

of our system," it "may not be abused." Carriger, 143 Ariz. at 146. In particular, 

"[p ]etitioners must strictly comply with Rule 32 or be denied relief." !d. And Rule 

32 is not intended to provide a second appeal or "to unnecessarily delay the 

renditions of justice or add a third day in court when fewer days are sufficient to do 

substantial justice." !d. at 145; see also McFord, 132 Ariz. at 133 ("Rule 32 does 

not destroy the basic principle of finality in criminal proceedings."). Instead, as 

previously stated, it is "'designed to accommodate the unusual situation where 

justice ran its course and yet went awry."' Carriger, 143 Ariz. at 146 (quoting 

McFord, 132 Ariz. at 133). 

are: 

Only limited claims may be raised in a Rule 32 proceeding. Those claims 

(a) the defendant's conviction as obtained, or the sentence was 
imposed, in violation of the United States or Arizona constitutions; 

(b) the court did not have subject matter jurisdiction to render a 
judgment or to impose a sentence on the defendant; 

(c) the sentence as imposed is not authorized by law; 

(d) the defendant continues to be or will continue to be in custody 
after his or her sentence expired; 

18 

Case: 22-70084, 05/04/2022, ID: 12438984, DktEntry: 1-4, Page 412 of 498



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

(e) newly discovered material facts probably exist, and those facts 
probably would have changed the judgment or sentence. Newly 
discovered material facts exist if: 

( 1) the facts were discovered after the trial or sentencing; 

(2) the defendant exercised due diligence in discovering these 
facts; and 

(3) the newly discovered facts are material and not merely 
cumulative or used solely for impeachment, unless the 
impeachment evidence substantially undermines testimony that 
was of such critical significance that the impeachment evidence 
probably would have changed the judgment or sentence. 

(f) the failure to timely file a notice of appeal was not the defendant's 
fault; 

(g) there has been a significant change in the law that, if applicable to 
the defendant's case, would probably overturn the defendant's 
judgment or sentence; or 

(h) the defendant demonstrates by clear and convincing evidence that 
the facts underlying the claim would be sufficient to establish that no 
reasonable fact-finder would find the defendant guilty of the offense 
beyond a reasonable doubt, or that no reasonable fact-finder would 
find the defendant eligible for the death penalty in an aggravation 
phase held pursuant to A.R.S. § 13-752. 

20 Ariz. R. Crim. P. 32.1. 

21 

22 

A. This Court should apply the current procedural rules. 

In 2018, the Chief Justice of the Arizona Supreme Court established a Task 

23 Force to evaluate and propose changes to Rule 32. See Ariz. Sup. Ct. Admin. 

24 Order No. 2018-07, filed 1124/18.11 The Task Force completed its mission in 2019 

25 

26 11 https :/ /www.azcourts. gov /Portals/22/ admorder/Orders 18/20 18-07. pdf. 
27 

28 
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by submitting a comprehensive petition to amend Rule 32 and to create a new Rule 

former rule or procedure applies." !d. 

For the most part, Atwood relies on the new Rules, especially the new 

an injustice in this case compared to others, as this is a successive Rule 32 

proceeding that should be reserved for extraordinary errors. 

25 12 https://www.azcomis.gov/Rules-Forum/aft/949 (Petition, filed 1110119). 

26 13 https://www.azcourts.gov/Pmials/20/20 19%20Rules/R-19-
27 0012%20Final%200rder.pdf?ver=20 19-08-29-150005-550 

28 
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B. Rules regarding timeliness. 
1 r 

2 
The time limits in Rule 32 "are jurisdictional, and an untimely filed notice or 

3 
petition shall be dismissed with prejudice." A.R.S. § 13-4234(G). A defendant 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

must file a post-conviction notice for a claim arising under Rule 32.1(a) within, as 

applicable here, 30 days from the date of the direct-appeal mandate. Ariz. R. Crim. 

P. 32.4(b )(3)(A). If a defendant fails to meet this deadline, his petition may be 

considered timely only if he "adequately explains why the failure to timely file a 

notice was not [his] fault." Ariz. R. Crim. P. 32.4(b)(3)(D). 

Claims arising under Rules 32.1(b) through (h) are exempt from the 

timeliness requirements. See Ariz. R. Crim. P. 32.2(b ). However, a defendant 

must still file those claims "within a reasonable time after discovering the[ir] 
12 

basis," Ariz. R. Crim. P. 32.4(b )(3)(B), and must "provide sufficient reasons" why 

9 

10 

11 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

the claim was not timely raised, Ariz. R. Crim. P. 32.2(b ). 

C. Rules regarding preclusion. 

When evaluating a post-conviction petition, a court should first "identify[] 

all precluded and untimely claims" under Rule 32.2(a). Ariz. R. Crim. P. 32.ll(a). 

Specifically, a defendant "is precluded from relief under Rule 32.1(a) based upon 

any ground:" 

(1) still raisable on direct appeal under Rule 31 or in a post-trial 
motion under Rule 24; 

(2) finally adjudicated on the merits in an appeal or in any 
previous post-conviction proceeding; or 

(3) waived at trial or on appeal, or in any previous post­
conviction proceeding, except when the claim raises a violation 
of a constitutional right that can only be waived knowingly, 
voluntarily, and personally by the defendant. 

21 
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Ariz. R. Crim. P. 32.2(a). The preclusion rule "'prevent[s] endless or nearly 

endless reviews of the same case in the same trial court." Shrum, 220 Ariz. at 118, 

~ 12 (quoting Stewart v. Smith, 202 Ariz. 446, 450, ~ 11 (2002)). "Because the 

general rule of preclusion serves important societal interests, Rule 3 2 recognizes 

few exceptions." Shrum, 220 Ariz. at 118, ~ 13. 

Claims arising under Rules 32.1 (b) through (h) "are not subject to preclusion 

under Rule 32.1(a)(3)." Ariz. R. Crim. P. 32.2(b). However, they are still subject 

to preclusion under Rules 32.2(a)(l) and (a)(2). See id. Further, in addition to 

raising such claims within a reasonable time of discovery for timeliness 

purposes-see Ariz. R. Crim. P. 32.4(b )(3)(B); § II(B), supra-a defendant filing a 

successive Rule 32 must provide "sufficient reasons" why the claim was not raised 

in a prior post-conviction petition. Ariz. R. Crim. P. 32.2(b). 

D. The colorable-claim requirement. 

"[A] petition that fails to state a colorable claim may be dismissed without 

an evidentiary hearing." State v. Kolmann, 239 Ariz. 157, 160, ~ 8 (2016). 

. Accordingly, if, after identifying all precluded claims, a court "determines that no 
17 

remaining claim presents a material issue of fact or law that would entitle the 
18 

defendant to relief under this rule," it should dismiss the petition. Ariz. R. Crim. P. 
19 

32.ll(a). A court should order an evidentiary hearing only if it finds that a 
20 

petitioner has presented a colorable claim, which is a claim which if the allegations 
21 

are true probably would have changed the outcome. Kolmann, 239 Ariz. at 160, ~ 
22 

8 (citing State v. Amaral, 239 Ariz. 220, ~ 11 (2016)). 
23 

Whether a defendant has stated a colorable claim "is, to some extent, a 
24 

discretionary decision" for a court, and when doubt exists a court should order a 
25 

hearing "to allow the defendant to raise the relevant issues, to resolve the matter, 
26 

and to make a record for review." State v. Bowers, 192 Ariz. 419, 422, ~ 10 (App. 
27 

1998) (quotations omitted). But a court should not grant an evidentiary hearing 
28 

22 
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1 . 
"based on mere generalizations and unsubstantiated claims." State v. Borbon, 146 

2 
Ariz. 392, 399 (1985). If a hearing is held, the Arizona Rules of Evidence apply, 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

except that the State may call a defendant to testify, and the defendant bears "the 

burden of proving factual allegations by a preponderance of the evidence." Ariz. 

R. Crim. P. 32.13(b), (c). The State has the burden of proving harmless error if a 

constitutional violation is found. Ariz. R. Crim. P. 32.13(c). 

III. Tms COURT SHOULD DENY RELIEF. 

Atwood has had decades of appellate review, during which he was 

represented by some of the most competent capital defense attorneys in the State.14 

10 
Nonetheless, he has failed at each tum to convince a single judge to grant relief as 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

to his convictions or sentences. Atwood's latest petition should fare no better. His 

claims are untimely, precluded, and meritless, and they warrant summary 

dismissal. 

A. Atwood's challenge to the aggravating factor based on the 
statutory elements test is untimely, precluded, and meritless 
(Claim 1). 

The sentencing judge found one death-qualifying aggravating factor: that 

18 
Atwood "has been convicted of another offense in the United States for which 

19 
14 Specifically, well-known capital appellate attorney Carla Ryan represented 

20 Atwood on direct appeal. She raised every arguable issue and more. See Atwood I, 
21 171 Ariz. at 658-69 (criticizing Ryan's kitchen-sink approach). In his federal 

22 
habeas and second state post-conviction proceedings, Atwood was represented by 
esteemed and highly experienced capital defense attorney Larry Hammond. E.g. 

23 Kayer v. Ryan, 923 F.3d 692, 707 (9th Cir. 2019) (summarizing Mr. Hammond's 

24 
experience and qualifications). Paula Harms of the Arizona Federal Public 
Defender's Office was later appointed to Atwood's case, as co-counsel to Mr. 

25 Hammond. See Washington v. Ryan, 833 F.3d 1087, 1102 (9th Cir. 2016) (Bybee, 

26 
J., dissenting) ("The office of the Arizona Public Defender is well known to this 
court and enjoys an outstanding reputation."). 

27 

28 
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10 
Am. Pet. 2-32. This test requires a foreign prior felony conviction to align 

11 

12 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

perfectly, element-to-element, with Arizona's analogous statute before it can be 

exceptions to preclusion apply. The claim is meritless in any event. 

1. Pertinent facts. 

The sentencing judge found that Atwood's California conviction for lewd- . 

and-lascivious conduct, which involved a 1 0-year-old victim, see § I, infra, 

satisfied the (F)(1) aggravator. Pet. Ex. 4, at 3. This conviction was based on 

California Penal Code § 288 which, in 197 4, provided: 

25 15 Had the offense been committed today, at least three additional aggravating 

26 
factors would apply to Atwood's murder of V.L.H. See A.R.S. §§ 13-751(F)(2) 
(2020) (conviction for kidnapping as contemporaneous serious offense); (F)(S)(a)) 

27 (offense committed while released from confinement); (F)(7) (age ofvictim). 

28 

24 

Case: 22-70084, 05/04/2022, ID: 12438984, DktEntry: 1-4, Page 418 of 498



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

Any person who shall wilfully and lewdly commit any lewd or 
lascivious act including any of the acts constituting other crimes 
provided for in part one of this code upon or with the body, or any part 
or member thereof, of a child under the age of fourteen years, with the 
intent of arousing, appealing to, or gratifying the lust or passions or 
sexual desires of such person or of such child, shall be guilty of a 
felony and shall be imprisoned in the State prison for a term of from 
one year to life. 

7 Ex. A. Arizona's corresponding statute, A.R.S. § 13-652 (1974), provided: 
8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 Ex. B. 

A person who wilfully commits, in any unnatural manner, any 
lewd or lascivious act upon or which the body or any part or member 
thereof of a male or female person, with the intent of arousing, 
appealing to or gratifying the lust, passion or sexual desires of either 
of such persons, is guilty of a felony punishable by imprisonment for 
not less than one nor more than five years. If such person commits 
the act as described in this section upon or with a child under the age 
of fifteen years, such person shall be punished by imprisonment in the 
state prison for not less than five years nor more than life without the 
possibility of parole until the minimum sentence has been served. 

17 On direct appeal, Atwood argued, as he had at sentencing, that his California 

18 conviction could not establish the (F)(l) circumstance because, by the time he was 

19 sentenced for V.L.H s murder, the Arizona Legislature had removed life 

20 imprisonment as an available penalty for lewd-and-lascivious conduct. Atwood I, 

21 171 Ariz. at 646-48. The court rejected this argument and held that the (F)(l) is 

22 established if life was an available punishment in Arizona at the time a defendant 

23 committed the prior offense. !d. Atwood committed the lewd-and-lascivious 

24 offense in June 1974, at which time A.R.S. § 13-652 provided for a 5-year to life 

25 sentence. !d. Atwood's California conviction therefore proved the (F)(l) 

26 circumstance. !d. 

27 

28 
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1 ' 
Separate from resolving the above argument, the Arizona Supreme Court 

2 
recognized its obligation to '"independently review the record to determine the 

3 
absence or existence of both aggravating and mitigating circumstances."' !d. at 

648 (quoting State v. Gillies, 135 Ariz. 500, 511 (1983)); see generally State v. 
5 

Richmond, 114 Ariz. 186, 196 (197 6), abrogated on other grounds by State v. 

4 

6 
Salazar, 173 Ariz. 399 (1992). The court concluded, "We ... affirm the trial 

7 
court's finding of one aggravating circumstance and no mitigating circumstances 

8 
sufficiently substantial to call for leniency, and because we believe that the death 

9 
penalty should be imposed, we affirm defendant's death sentence." !d. (citations 

10 
omitted and emphasis in original). The court also reviewed the record for 

11 
fundamental error, as Arizona statute then required, and found none. !d. at 660; see 

12 
A.R.S. 13-4055 (1984). 

2. Claim 1 is untimely. 

Timeliness under Rule 32.4 and preclusion are separate and independent 

bases for dismissal. See State v. Lopez, 234 Ariz. 513, 515, ~ 8 (App. 2014). As 
16 

discussed previously, Rule 32 requires a defendant to justify his untimely filing: 

13 

14 

15 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

• Rule 32.2(b) requires a defendant filing an untimely or successive 
post-conviction claim to "provide sufficient reasons" why he did 
not raise the claim in a timely and procedurally appropriate 
manner; 

• Rule 32.4(b)(3)(B) requires a defendant to raise a claim arising 
under Rules 32.1(b) through (h) "within a reasonable time after 
discovering the basis of the claim"; and 

• Rule 32.4(b)(3)(D) provides that an untimely claim arising under 
Rule 32.1(a) must be excused if"the defendant adequately explains 
why the failure to timely file a notice was not the defendant's 
fault." Ariz. R. Crim. P. 32.4(b )(3)(D). 

27 See§§ III(B) & (C). 
28 

26 
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1 
Atwood has not satisfied these provisions. First, Atwood's petition is devoid 

2 
of any effort to comply with Rule 32.2(b ). And there can be no "sufficient 

3 
reasons" for not raising this legal, record-based claim decades ago. 

4 
Second, pursuant to Rule 32.4(b )(3)(B), in his Amended Post-Conviction 

5 
Notice (filed on October 3, 2019), Atwood asserted that his Rule 32.1(c), (d), and 

6 
(h) claims are timely because he raised them within a reasonable time of learning 

7 
their basis. But Claim 1 is a pure legal issue that has been available to Atwood 

8 
since he was sentenced. Allowing a defendant to "discover" new legal claims 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

based on long-existing statutes and to raise them in a successive petition within a 

reasonable time after that "discovery" would encourage capital defendants to 

withhold claims and prolong litigation, thereby rendering the preclusion and 

timeliness rules meaningless. 

Third, pursuant to Rule 32.4(b)(3)(D), Atwood announced in his amended 

notice his intent to raise an untimely Rule 32.1(a) claim, and proposed that 

counsel's purported ineffectiveness excused that claim's untimeliness. See Am. 

Notice ofPCR, filed 10/3/2019. The Arizona Court of Appeals, however, has held 

that counsel's ineffectiveness does not exempt a claim from preclusion: 

in an effort to avoid the rule of preclusion, petitioner argues that his 
earlier failure to raise these claims was itself due to ineffective 
assistance of counsel. Petitioner offers no support for this claim. 
Moreover, there is a quality of infinite regression to it. If, with each 
successive claim, a petitioner could avoid preclusion merely by 
asserting that all prior counsel were ineffective, Rule 32.2(a)(3) would 
be stripped of effect. 

25 State v. Curtis, 185 Ariz. 112, 115 (App. 1995), disapproved on other grounds by 

26 Smith, 202 Ariz. at 450, ,-r 10. The same reasoning should apply to timeliness. 

27 Otherwise, defendants-especially capital defendants motivated to delay their 

28 
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1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

cases16--could drag the State and the victims into an infmite loop of litigation, 

each round predicated on the prior attorney's purported ineffectiveness. That result 

. would destroy the finality interest Rule 32 was intended to safeguard and guarantee 

"'endless reviews of the same case in the same trial court."' Shrum, 220 Ariz. at 

118, ~ 112 (quoting Smith, 202 Ariz. 450, ~ 11 ). 

3. Claim 1 was implicitly adjudicated on direct appeal and is 
precluded under Rule 32.2(a)(2). 

As discussed above, pursuant to the procedure it then followed in every case, 

9 the Arizona Supreme Court independently reviewed the aggravating and mitigating 

10 circumstances and searched the record for fundamental error. 17 Atwood I, 171 

11 Ariz. at 645-57. As part of the independent review procedure, the court 

12 necessarily "review[ ed] the entire record and independently consider[ ed] whether a 

13 capital sentence [was] not only legally correct, but also appropriate." State v. 

14 Roseberry, 237 Ariz. 507, 509, ~ 13 (2015) (emphasis added). 

15 In fact, the supreme court's independent-review process specifically 

16 involved a determination whether the aggravation the sentencing judge found was 

17 proven beyond a reasonable doubt: 

18 

19 
16 See Rhines v. Weber, 544 U.S. 269, 277-78 (2005) ("[N]ot all petitioners have an 

20 incentive to obtain federal relief as quickly as possible. In particular, capital 
21 petitioners might deliberately engage in dilatory tactics to prolong their 

22 
incarceration and avoid execution of the sentence of death."). 

23 17 The independent-review procedure was codified in 1994. See A.R.S. § 13-755. 

24 
In 2002, as part of the statutory overhaul in response to Ring v. Arizona, 536 U.S. 
584 (2002), the legislature divested the supreme court of its independent-review 

25 power in cases where the crime was committed on or after August 1, 2002. See 

26 
A.R.S. § 13-756; State v. Morris, 215 Ariz. 324, 340, ~ 72 (2007). In such cases, 
the supreme court may only review death sentences for an abuse of the jury's 

27 discretion. See A.R.S. § 13-756; Morris, 215 Ariz. at 340, ~ 72. 

28 

28 
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1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

the gravity of the death penalty requires that we painstakingly 
examine the record to determine whether it has been erroneously 
imposed. Furthermore, because [our statute] sets out the factors which 
must be found and considered by the sentencing court, we necessarily 
undertake an independent review of the facts that establish the 
presence or absence of aggravating and mitigating circumstances. We 
must determine for ourselves if the latter outweigh the former when 
we find both to be present. 

In performing this review we find it necessary to determine ... 
whether the evidence supports the sentencing courts finding the 
existence of a statutory aggravating circumstance(s) .... " 

Richmond, 114 Ariz. at 196 (emphasis added and citations omitted); see also State 

v. Brewer, 170 Ariz. 486, 494 (1992) (emphasis added) ("The automatic appeal 

mechanism guarantees this court both the opportunity and the vehicle to assess the 

legality of the sentence in each capital case. . .. If the record reveals that the trial 
14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

court, for whatever reason, improperly sentenced a defendant to death, we must 

overturn that sentence."); State v. Walton, 159 Ariz. 571, 586 (1989) (on 

independent review Arizona Supreme Court determines whether facts establish 

presence of aggravating factor and whether factor is proven beyond a reasonable 

doubt); State v. Poland, 144 Ariz. 412, 415 (1985) ("[T]his court will, in all death 

cases, make an independent review of the facts to determine for itself the 

aggravating and mitigating factors."); State v. Watson, 129 Ariz. 60, 63 (1981) ("A 

finding merely that the imposition of the death penalty by the trial court was 

'factually supported' or 'justified by the evidence' is not the separate and 
23 

independent judgment by this court that the death penalty warrants.;'). 
24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

The supreme court conducted its independent review regardless what 

sentencing issues the defendant raised--or whether he raised any issues at all. See 

Brewer, 170 Ariz. at 493 (holding that defendant cannot waive mandatory death-

29 
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1 . 
penalty appeal and stating, "once a defendant files an appeal, which is automatic in 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

capital cases, we are expressly required by statute to review issues affecting both 

judgment and sentencing in our search for fundamental error"). Roseberry 

illustrates this practice. There, appellate counsel failed to challenge a jury 

that unconstitutionally imposed a causal-nexus screening test on 

237 Ariz. at 508, ,-r 4. In his post-conviction petition, Roseberry argued 

that counsel's omission was constitutionally ineffective. !d. The Supreme Court 

instruction 

mitigation. 

found no prejudice, stating that, regardless of the jury instructions, on independent 
9 

review it had "considered all the mitigation evidence presented, without requiring a 

8 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

causal connection to the crimes," and had "comprehensively reviewed the record 

and the sentence." Roseberry, 23 7 Ariz. at 508, 510, ,-r,-r 5, 13. The court 

recognized that "independent review serves as a constitutional means to cure 

sentencing errors."18 !d. at 510, ,-r 14. Counsel's failure to specifically present a 

causal-nexus challenge in the opening brief did not matter: 

In reviewing Roseberry's death sentence on direct appeal, this Court 
was, of course, aware of the Supreme Court's then-recent ruling in 
Tennard [v. Dretke], 542 U.S. [274] 285 [(2004)]. Indeed, just one 
week before we issued the opinion affirming Roseberry's death 
sentence, we issued an opinion explicitly recognizing that "a jury 
cannot be prevented from giving effect to mitigating evidence solely 
because the evidence has no causal 'nexus' to a defendant's crimes." 
State v. Anderson, 210 Ariz. 327, 349 ,-r 93 (2005) (quoting Tennard, 
542 U.S. at 282-87, 124 S.Ct. 2562). Moreover, we reviewed 
Roseberry's amended opening brief, as well as his motion for 
reconsideration of our opinion, both of which addressed the causal 
nexus issue. Thus, although we denied Roseberry permission to 

26 
18 The United States Supreme Court recently reaffirmed this principle. See 
McKinney v. Arizona,_ U.S._, 2020 WL 889190, *2-*5 (Feb. 25, 2020). 

27 

28 
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1 

2 

3 

4 

amend his brief to include the nexus issue, this Court was well aware 
that all mitigation evidence must be considered and that its causal 
relationship to the crimes goes to the weight to be given to the 
evidence, not to its admissibility. See id. 

5 Roseberry, 237 Ariz. at 509, ~ 12 (S. Ct., L.Ed., and P.2d citations omitted).19 

6 Here, the Arizona Supreme Court applied its independent-review procedure 

7 and necessarily determined that the (F)( 1) factor was proven beyond a reasonable 

8 doubt. Atwood I, 171 Ariz. at 645-57. Further, in the course of analyzing the 

9 argument Atwood raised, the court made a threshold legal determination that 

10 A.R.S. § 13-652 was Arizona's equivalent to § 288 of the California Penal Code. 

11 The court had reached the same conclusion more than a decade earlier, finding that 

12 a conviction under the same California statute satisfied the (F)(1) and identifying 

13 A.R.S. § 13-652 as Arizona's analogue to the California offense. State v. Arnett 

14 (Arnett I), 119 Ariz. 38, 40, 47 (1978); see also State v. Arnett (Arnett III), 158 

15 Ariz. 15, 20-21 (1988) (rejecting, on review of post-conviction relief ruling, 

16 argument that trial court impermissibly used California conviction to satisfy both 

17 (F)(1) and (F)(2)); State v. Arnett (Arnett II), 125 Ariz. 201, 203-04 (1983) 

18 (affirming (F)(1) on appeal from resentencing). 

19 

20 

21 19 In the related context of exhaustion of state-court remedies, federal habeas courts 

22 
have determined that the Arizona Supreme Court's independent review impliedly 
exhausts sufficiency-of-the-evidence challenges to aggravating factors. See Apelt 

23 v. Ryan, 2011 WL 1377015, *10 (D. Ariz. April12, 2011); Kayer v. Ryan, 2009 WL 

24 
3352188, *33 (D. Ariz. Oct. 19, 2009). Cf Gerlaugh v. Stewart, 129 F.3d 1027, 
1045 (9th Cir. 1997) (finding, in context of ineffective-assistance claim, that 

25 counsel reasonably declined to raise any issues relating to sentencing in direct-
26 appeal opening brief because "Arizona statutory law required the Arizona Supreme 

Court to make an independent examination of the propriety and legality of the 
27 death penalty"). 

28 
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1 ' 

8 

13 

14 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

Atwood's suggests that the supreme court's failure to specifically apply the 

circumstances established according to the standard it so recently announced .... "). 

Supreme Court, even if that Court were wrong. See, e.g., State v. Healer, 246 Ariz. 

441, 446, ~ 12 (App. 2019). Accordingly, Claim 1 is precluded under Rule 

32.2(a)(2), and that Rule has no exceptions. This Court should summarily deny 

and dismiss Claim 1. 
4. Atwood has waived Claim 1 and it is precluded under Rule 

32.2(a)(3). 

Should this Court disagree with the State's argument that Claim 1 is 

27 precluded under Rule 32.2(a)(2), it should find the claim precluded under Rule 

28 
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1 
32.2(a)(3). As a constitutional challenge to the aggravating factor, Claim 1 arises 

2 
under Rule 32.1(a), and that Rule is subject to preclusion. See Rule 32.2(a). 

3 
Atwood could have raised Claim 1 on direct appeal (or at any time in the 33 years 

4 
since sentencing) but he admits he did not do so. Atwood's argument that his claim 

5 
is cognizable under Rules 32.1(c), 32.1(d), or 32.1(h), and thus exempt from Rule 

6 
32.1(a)(3) preclusion, is unpersuasive, as is his assertion that Claim 1 required a 

7 
personal waiver under Rule 32.2(a)(3). 

8 
As a preliminary matter, the State incorporates its arguments in § III(A)(2), 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

supra, concerning Atwood's failure to state sufficient reasons for omitting this 

claim from earlier direct and collateral proceedings. See Ariz. R. Crim. P. 32.2(b ). 

And from a policy perspective, awarding relief to Atwood based on a legal claim 

that has been available to him for decades would eviscerate the preclusion rules, 

convert Rule 32 into a second direct appeal, and "unnecessarily delay the 
14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

22 

25 

26 

27 

28 

renditions of justice [and] add a third day in court when fewer days are sufficient to 

do substantial justice." See Carriger, 143 i\riz. at 145. This is particularly true 

where, as set forth in detail below, Atwood does not seek application of an existing, 

well-established legal principle. Rather, he asks this Court to extend an existing 

rule to the (F)(l) aggravating factor when that rule did not clearly apply either at 

the time of sentencing or now, and to construe a long-repealed Arizona statute to 

authority applying it. Am. Pet. 21-22. That version of the Rule was much broader, 

providing for relief when "the sentence imposed exceeds the maximum authorized 

by law or is otherwise not in accordance with the sentence authorized by law." 

33 
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3 
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5 

6 

7 

8 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

Ariz. R. Crim. P. 32.1(c) (2019) (emphasis added). Before the 2020 revisions, 

Rule 32.1(c) claims were subject to preclusion. See Ariz. R. Crim. P. 32.2(b) 

(2019). When Rule 32.1(c) was exempted from preclusion, it was 

contemporaneously narrowed by removing the clause permitting relief from a 

sentence "otherwise not in accordance with the sentence authorized by law." 

Atwood cannot benefit both from Rule 32.1 (c)'s current preclusion-exempt status 

and its broad pre-2020 language. As argued in § II(A), supra, this Court should 

apply the current version of Rule 32. But if this Court applies the pre-2020 version 

of the Rule, it should also apply the pre-2020 version of Rule 32.2(b ), which did 

Turning to the merits, Rule 32.1(c) currently provides for relief when a 

defendant's "sentence as imposed is not authorized by law." Atwood has failed to 

state a Rule 32.1(c) claim, for several reasons. 

i. Rule 32.1 (c) does not apply to capital sentences. 

Rule 32.1 (c) applies to non-capital sentences; challenges to death-penalty 

aggravators must be brought on direct appeal or, in appropriate· circumstances, 

under Rules 32.1(a) or (h). Atwood has failed to cite, and the State has not found, 

any authority applying Rule 32.1(c) in the death-penalty context. And construing 

Rule 32.1(c), which does not have a clear-and-convincing evidence burden of 

proof-or, for that matter, any other limiting principle-to death sentences would 

render Rule 32.1(h), with its more restrictive provisions and exacting burden of 

proof, obsolete. Death-sentenced defendants could simply sidestep Rule 32.1(h) 

and bring their claims under Rule 32.1 (c). See Brenda D. v. Dep 't. of Child Safety, 

243 Ariz. 437, 443, ~~ 20-21 (2018) (court "will not interpret statutes or rules in a 

manner that renders portions of their text superfluous" and will harmonize rules 

whenever possible). 

34 
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1 

2 

3 

4 

12 

Nor does the Rule's history support such an interpretation. See id. at 442, ~ 

15 (when Rule's language could be read multiple ways, court looks to history). 

The Task Force proposed amending Rule 32.1(c) and removing it from preclusion 

State v. Gonzalez, 216 Ariz. 11, 13, ~ 8 (App. 2007). The Arizona Supreme Court 
13 

14 

15 

later found that the case recognizing the offense as not DCAC did not apply 

20 At one point, it was proposed that the death-penalty provisions of Rule 32.1 (h) 
16 be excised from that Rule and incorporated in Rule 32.l(c), but that proposal was 
17 defeated. See Task Force Minutes, 11/9/18, at 3-5, available at 

18 
https://www.azcourts.gov/Portals/74/Rule%2032%20TF/Minutes110918R32.pdf?v 
er=2019-03-07-122556-327. That this proposal was defeated reinforces the 

19 conclusion that Rule 32.l(c) was intended to apply to non-capital sentencing errors 

20 
and that death-penalty issues were intended to be raised through Rule 32.1(h). 

21 21 https://www.azcourts.gov/Rules-Forum/aft/949 

22 22https:/ /www.azcourts.gov/Portals/7 4/Rule%203 2%20TF /Minutes083118R32.pdf? 
23 ver=2019-03-07-122556-017 

24 23https://www.azcourts.gov/Portals/74/Rule%2032%20TF/MtgPkt110918R32.pdf? 
25 . ver=2019-03-07-154500-767 

26 24https://www.azcourts.gov/Portals/74/Rule%2032%20TF/MtgPktSUP110918R32. 
27 pdf?ver=2019-03-07-154501-360 

28 

35 

Case: 22-70084, 05/04/2022, ID: 12438984, DktEntry: 1-4, Page 429 of 498



1 , 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

retroactively under Rule 32.1(g). Shrum, 220 Ariz. at 122, ,-r 23. Accordingly, a 

class of defendants were unable to obtain relief for their illegally enhanced 

sentences. 

The Task Force's rule-change petition leaves no doubt that Rule 32.1(c) is 

intended to apply to term-of-years sentences: 

Members also discussed the troubling circumstance of a defendant 
whose sentence exceeds what the trial court intended to impose, or 
what was permitted by law; but who did not become aware of the 
discrepancy in a timely manner, or who had that awareness only after 
he or she has already concluded a post-conviction proceeding. 
Although these defendants might file a Rule 32 petition as soon as they 
become aware of the discrepancy, that is often not until the Department 
of Corrections provided computations of their sentences pending the 
approach of their anticipated release dates. The notice or the petition 
would be subject to summary dismissal on grounds of preclusion or 
untimeliness, leaving the defendant with no remedy. 

Arizona Supreme Court No. R-19-0012, Petition filed 1110/19, at 7-8.25 

Accordingly, to be cognizable under Rule 32, a challenge to a death-penalty 

aggravator must fall within Rule 32.1(a) or (h). Atwood cannot avoid preclusion 
17 

by attempting to refashion his claim into a non-existent, Rule 32.1(c)-based 
18 

challenge to his death-qualifying aggravating factor. 
19 

20 

21 

23 

24 

n. Atwoods sentence was "authorized" by law. 

Even if Rule 32.1(c) applies to death sentences, Arizona law authorized in 

sentenced under the wrong statute or that he received an enhancement inapplicable 

to his conviction; he instead alleges that the sentencing judge erroneously found an 
25 

26 

27 25 https://www.azcourts.gov/Rules-Forum/aft/949 
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1 . 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

aggravating factor, in violation of his constitutional rights. In contrast, in Shrum 

and Gonzalez, the law did not authorize a DCAC enhancement for the crime of 

conviction. See Shrum, 220 Ariz. at 119, ~ 19 (noting that statute "contained no 

language expressly authorizing DCAC enhancement of sentences for attempted 

sexual conduct with a minor under the age of twelve") (citing Gonzalez, 216 Ariz. 

at 13-15, ~~ 5-15). 

111. Rule 32.1 (c) is backward-looking and there 
was no error in the sentence "as imposed. " 

9 Rule 32.1(c) requires a court to assess a sentence's legality at the time it was 

10 imposed. A Rule 32.1(c) claim cannot rest on subsequent changes in or 

11 clarifications to the law. Otherwise, Rule 32.1(c) would enable an end-run around 

12 Rule 32.1 (g), which permits post-conviction relief based on changes in the law and 

13 contains a retroactivity requirement. See Ariz. R. Crim. P. 32.1(g) (providing 

14 ground for relief if change in the law is "applicable to the defendant's case"); State 

15 v. Towery, 204 Ariz. 386, 389, ~~5-6 (2003) (Arizona courts have adopted federal 

16 retroactivity analysis for purposes ofRule 32.1(g)). 

17 Atwood does not allege a stark, undeniable sentencing error that was 

18 apparent from the face of the sentencing statutes and should have been known at 

19 the time of sentencing, as occurred in Gonzalez and Shrum.26 Rather, he seeks to 

20 extend a line of authority relating primarily to the A.R.S. § 13-703(F)(2) 

21 

22 26 Nor does Atwood allege that the sentencing judge actually considered the facts 
23 underlying the California conviction to determine whether it applied in Arizona. 

24 
And had the judge done so, it would have been because Atwood invited this 
outcome. Atwood described that offense's facts and minimized their significance, 

25 depicting the charge as a minor one and proposing that making him death-eligible 

26 
based on such conduct would be unfair. Ex. P, at 33-34. The State, in contrast, 
relied exclusively on the statutes to prove the (F)(l ). !d. at 41-42, 45-46; Pet. Ex. 

27 3, at 2-5. 

28 
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1 . 
aggravator (much of it post-dating sentencing) to the (F)(1) agg~avator. He then 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

asks this Court to compare the Arizona and California lewd-and-lascivious acts 

statutes and determine that his California prior does not satisfy the (F)( 1) because 

California's statute sweeps more broadly than Arizona's. In other words, Atwood 

does not allege that his sentence as imposed was not authorized by law, but asserts 

that legal principles should be recognized and then applied to find his sentence 

1. The sentence "as imposed" was not 
erroneous because the statutory elements 
test had not been applied to the (F)(l) in 
1987. Moreover, it has not been applied 
to the (F)(l) since. 

Both the (F)(1) and the (F)(2) aggravating factors relate to prior convictions. 

16 However, they are distinct: the (F)(l) factor focuses on the severity of the prior 

17 crime as measured by the sentence available, while the (F)(2) focuses on the 

18 conviction's existence and nature. The (F)(2) factor also contained, in 1984, a 

19 crime-of-violence requirement that was absent from the (F)(l). See A.R.S. § 13-

20 703(F)(2) ("The defendant was previously convicted of a felony in the United 

21 States involving the use or threat of violence on another person."27 See also Ex. C. 

22 The purpose of the death-penalty scheme in general is to determine a defendant's 

23 character and propensities. Atwood III, 870 F.3d at 1049 (citing State v. Gretzler, 

24 

25 27 The (F)(2) factor has since been amended to replace the crime-of-violence 

26 
element with a list of enumerated "prior serious offenses." A.R.S. § 13-751(F)(2) 
(2020). 

27 

28 
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18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

135 Ariz. 42, 57 n.2 (1983)). And the (F)(l)'s specific purpose is to provide 

"information about the defendant . . . to the sentencing judge" concerning the 

defendant's willingness to engage in conduct society deems most severe. Arnett I, 

119 Ariz. at 48; see Atwood III, 870 F.3d at 1049 (state court could reasonably 

have found that the (F)(l) "identified an important propensity factor, namely the 

defendant's willingness to engage in criminal behavior that society deemed at the 

time to be the most serious, thereby risking life imprisonment or death"). 

As the sentencing judge recognized, see Pet. Ex. 1, at 26, the Arizona 

Supreme Court had held well before Atwood's sentencing that, for the (F)(2)'s 

crime-of-violence element to be satisfied, "the prior conviction must be for a 

felony which by its statutory definition involves violence or the threat of violence 

on another person." Gillies, 135 Ariz. at 511 (emphasis added). Extrinsic 

evidence, such as testimony from the victim of the prior crime, was not admissible 

to determine whether a crime involved violence and a sentencer could not look to 

the facts of the prior felony to make that determination: 

This reading of the statute guarantees due process to a criminal 
defendant. Evidence of a prior conviction is reliable, the defendant 
having had his trial and exercised his full panoply of rights which 
accompany his conviction. However, to drag in a victim of appellant's 
prior crime to establish the necessary element of violence outside the 
presence of a jury, long after a crime has been committed, violates the 
basic tenets of due process. 

23 Jd. The Arizona Supreme Court also had also held, in the non-capital context, that 

24 foreign prior convictions could be used for enhancement or aggravation if they 

25 included every element that would be required to prove an offense in Arizona. See 

26 State v. Wilson, 152 Ariz. 127, 128-31 (1996); State v. Ault, 157 Ariz. 516, 521 

27 (1988); State v. Phillips, 139 Ariz. 327, 330 (App. 1983). 
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23 
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But the Arizona Supreme Court had never applied any sort of elements test 

to the (F)(1) aggravating factor. In fact, the sentencing judge's special verdict and 

the Arizona Supreme Court's opinion in this very case confirm that the test had not 

been recognized and applied to the (F)(1 ), The sentencing judge (later affirmed by 

the Arizona Supreme Court, see Atwood I, 171 Ariz. at 660) expressly applied the 

elements test to reject the A.R.S. § 13-703(F)(2) factor but not to find the (F)(l ). 

Pet. Exh. 1, at 26. Contrary to Atwood's implication, see Am. Pet. 4 n.4, these 

courts' failure to expressly apply the elements test to the (F)(l ), despite applying it 

to the (F)(2), does not signify an oversight or some kind of "irony." Rather, it 

shows the courts' awareness of the test and provides affirmative evidence that the 

test was limited to the (F)(2) and did not apply to the (F)(1 ). The (F)(l )/(F)(2) 

distinction is not illusory, as the Arizona Supreme Court has applied different rules 

to the factors in other different contexts. See State v. Nordstrom, 230 Ariz. 110, 

117-18, ~~ 32-35 (2012) (noting court's prior holdings that contemporaneous 

convictions could satisfy the (F)(l) but not the (F)(2), which prompted the 

legislature to amend the (F)(2)); State v. Ring, 204 Ariz. 534, 558-59, ~~ 67-68 

(2003) (exempting (F)(1) and post-1993 (F)(2) aggravators from Ring jury trial-

mandate but declining to exempt pre-1993 (F)(2) because the threat-of-violence 

factor constitutes a required "additional finding ... beyond the bare fact that a prior 

conviction exists"). 

Atwood has pointed to no case applying an elements test to the (F)(l ), and 

his attempt to show by inference that the test was firmly in place at the time of 

sentencing falls flat.28 Am. Pet. 9-15. Atwood identifies State v. (Charles) Lee, 

25 28 Atwood relegates one of the more significant cases-Arnett I-to a footnote. 

26 
Am. Pet. 12 n.10. As previously discussed, that case affirmed the use of a 
conviction involving a child under California Penal Code § 288. See § III(A)(3), 

27 supra. 

28 
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1 . 
114 Ariz. 101 (1976), as the test's genesis. Am. Pet. 10. Charles Lee, however, 

2 
did not involve a foreign prior conviction, let alone address the appropriate method 

3 
of using such a conviction to prove the (F)(l ). !d. at 105-06. Further, in Charles 

4 
Lee, the sentencing judge found both the (F)(l) and the (F)(2) and it is unclear 

5 
from the face of the opinion which of the two priors the judge used to find which 

6 
factor.29 !d. at 105. 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

In any event, at issue in Charles Lee was whether the trial court erred by 

taking judicial notice of various documents to find Lee's prior assault conviction. 

!d. at 105-06. The court had also found a prior armed-robbery conviction 

stemming from another case over which the judge had presided. !d. The finding 

of the aggravated-assault conviction, however, appeared to be based on Lee's 

testimony that "he had been to 'the joint' and that he had been convicted of an 

assault," a reference to the assault conviction within the court file for the armed-

robbery case, and information in the presentence report. !d. The supreme court 

held: 

There is insufficient evidence of support [for] the trial court's 
finding [of] a conviction for Assault with a Deadly Weapon. We do 
not approve the procedure of asking the court to take judicial notice of 
a conviction for the purpose of establishing such a conviction as an 
aggravating circumstance. The proper procedure to establish the prior 
conviction is for the state to offer in evidence a certified copy of the 
conviction and establish the defendant as the person to whom the 
document refers. 

!d. at 105-06 (citations omitted). Thus, Charles Lee did not hold that the elements 

test applies to the (F)( 1 ), or give any insight at all into how to prove a foreign 

26 29 The Charles Lee opinion as a whole is, in fact, somewhat unclear. 
27 

28 
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1 . 
pnor; rather, it disapproved of the judicial-notice procedure the court had 

2 
employed and announced the correct one.30 Subsequent cases confirm that Charles 

3 
Lee was concerned with the type and quantum of proof necessary to establish a 

prior. See State v. Hauss, 140 Ariz. 230, 231-32 (1984). 
4 

5 
Atwood next turns to a series of cases in which the Arizona Supreme Court 

6 
found the (F)( 1) proven by foreign prior convictions. Am. Pet. 1 0-11 (citing State 

7 
v. Bracy, 145 Ariz. 520, 536 (1985); State v. Hooper, 145 Ariz. 538, 550 (1985); 

8 
State v. Smith, 125 Ariz. 412 (1980)). These decisions do not show the adoption or 

9 
application of an elements test to the (F)(1). In Smith, the defendant had been 

convicted of a murder in Texas in 1968, but the sentencing judge had judicially 
10 

11 
noticed a 1973 Texas statute in assessing the (F)(l). 125 Ariz. at 516. The 

12 
supreme court found no reversible error, itself taking judicial notice of the correct 

13 
statute and confirming the offense carried a life penalty. !d. at 416-17. And the 

court reviewed the judgment of conviction to confirm that Smith was convicted of 

murder with malice, a crime that in Arizona carried a life sentence. !d. at 417. The 

court did not conduct an element-to-element comparison or suggest one was 

required. !d. Likewise, the court did not hold in Bracy or Hooper that an elements 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 
test was required, or assess in any way the quantum of proof required for the 

19 
(F)(1). It merely found that the evidence, which consisted in each case of extra-

20 

21 

22 

23 

jurisdictional judgments of conviction for murder, was sufficient to support the 

(F)(l). See Bracy, 145 Ariz. at 536; Hooper, 145 Ariz. at 550. 

24 30 The Arizona Supreme Court also found that Lee's armed-robbery conviction, 
25 which formed the basis for "one of the aggravating circumstances," had been 

26 
reversed, and therefore set aside Lee's death sentence. Charles Lee, 116 Ariz. at 
661-62. 

27 
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State v. Harding, 141 Ariz. 492, 500 (1984), which Atwood also cites, 

involved Arizona priors. Am. Pet. 11. And in State v. Watson, 120 Ariz. 441, 448 

(1978), the court concluded that the (F)(l) applies if the defendant could have 

received a life sentence, regardless of the sentence actually imposed: "It is the 

nature of the prior conviction and the sentence possible that is the aggravating 

circumstance" under both (F)(l) and (F)(2). Watson does not discuss the issue of 

proving foreign priors. !d. 

Nor did State v. Greenawalt, 128 Ariz. 150 (1981), require the statutory 
9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

elements test for the (F)(1). Am. Pet. 11. There, the (F)(2)-not the (F)(l)-was 

at issue. !d. at 171. The defendant invoked Charles Lee for the rule that a 

sentencing judge could not receive "any evidence other than certified copies of 

prior convictions." The court clarified Charles Lee as being concerned only with 

the introduction of prior convictions for the (F)( 1 ). !d. "We did not hold that other 

forms of evidence were not relevant and admissible to the other aggravating 

circumstances specified in the statute." !d. The court then determined that the trial 

court had appropriately heard extrinsic evidence on the (F)(2). !d. Greenawalt, 

like Charles Lee, did not require application of the statutory elements test to the 

(F)(l). !d. And Greenawalt was itself subsequently clarified in Gillies, which 
19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

adopted the statutory elements test for the (F)(2) (but not for the (F)(1)): 

Greenawalt allows consideration of evidence of the circumstances 
surrounding defendant's prior criminal conduct for the purpose of 
determining the weight to be given a prior conviction. We cannot 
allow what is, in effect, a second trial on defendant's prior conviction 
to establish the existence of an A.R.S. § 13-703(F)(2) aggravating 
circumstance. 

26 Gillies, 135 Ariz. at 511; see also State v. Ysea, 191 Ariz. 372, 374-76, ~~5-9 

27 (1998) (in context of ineffective-assistance claim, finding that the law was well-

28 
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established in 1986 that the (F)(2)'s crime-of-violence element could not rest on 

. . "d ) 31 extnns1c ev1 ence . 

Atwood has also failed to identify any authority applying the elements test to 

the (F)(1) after his sentencing. Atwood's cited authority on this point concerns the 

(F)(2)'s crime-of-violence factor. See State v. Schackart, 190 Ariz. 238, 246-48 

(1997); State v. Kemp, 185 Ariz. 52, 64 (1996); State v. McKinney, 185 Ariz. 567, 

581-83 (1996); State v. (Darrel) Lee, 185 Ariz. 549, 557 (1996); State v. Williams, 

183 Ariz. 368, 382-83 (1995); State v. Bible, 175 Ariz. 549, 604 (1993); State v. 

Kiles, 175 Ariz. 358, 369-70 (1993); State v. Hill, 174 Ariz. 313, 327-28 (1993); 

State v. Hinchey, 165 Ariz. 432, 437 (1990); State v. Serna, 163 Ariz. 260, 269 

(1990); State v. Lopez, 163 Ariz. 108, 114 (1990); State v. Romanosky, 162 Ariz. 

217, 227-28 (1989).32 

In fact, in only five of Atwood's cited cases was the (F)(l) even found. See 

State v. (Chad) Lee, 189 Ariz. 608, 613, 618, 620 (1997); State v. Walden, 183 

Ariz. 595, 615-18 (1995); State v. Richmond, 180 Ariz. 573, 578-79 (1994); State 

v. Spencer, 176 Ariz. 36, 42--44 (1993); State v. Schaaf, 169 Ariz. 323, 326, 333-

34 (1991). And in three of those cases the factor was not discussed in any 

31 State v. Evans, 147 Ariz. 57, 58 (1985), which Atwood also cites, concerns only 
20 the (F)(2). 
21 

32 State v. Roque, 213 Ariz. 193, 215, ,-r,-r 78-84 (2006), and State v. van Adams, 194 
22 Ariz. 408, 419-20, ,-r 43 (1999), involved the post-1993 statute and the question 
23 whether a prior qualified as a "serious offense" under the statutory definition. See 

Am. Pet. 17-18. Roque applied the elements test from the former (F)(2) to the 
24 revised (F)(2). 213 Ariz. at 215, ,-r,-r 78-84. And State v. Murdaugh, 209 Ariz. 19, 
25 30-31, ,-r,-r 53-55 (2004), is a Ring harmless-error review recognizing that the 

26 
(F)(l) and (F)(2) generally fall outside Ring's mandate; that case is of little 
significance here. 

27 

28 
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1 
meaningful fashion. See Chad Lee, 189 Ariz. at 613, 620; Richmond, 180 Ariz. at 

2 
580; Shaaf, 169 Ariz. at 326. The other two, Spencer and Walden, do not help 

3 
Atwood, for the reasons discussed infra. 

4 

manner inconsistent with the (F)(2)' s elements test. The most significant of these 
7 

cases is State v. Schad, 163 Ariz. 411, 418-19 (1989). There, Schad had been 
8 

convicted of second-degree felony murder in Utah, which had occurred during 
9 

mutual acts of sodomy, and the State had alleged that conviction for purposes of 
10 

the (F)(1). Id. Schad argued that the (F)(l) was inappropriate because Arizona 
11 

lacked a crime of second-degree felony murder and because, in Arizona, sodomy 
12 

had been reduced to a misdemeanor. Id. 

The Arizona Supreme Court examined m detail the facts of the Utah 
14 

conviction to reject Schad's claim. Id. The court specifically concluded that 

13 

15 
Schad had mischaracterized "the nature of [his] Utah conviction," which did not 

16 
merely involve sodomy but auto-erotic asphyxiation-a dangerous act. !d. 

17 
Accordingly, the court continued, the second-degree felony murder conviction was 

18 
not based only on an act of sodomy but on the dangerous conditions under which 

19 
the sodomy was conducted. Id. Under similar circumstances, the court concluded, 

20 
Schad would be guilty of second-degree murder in Arizona, which at the time 

21 
carried a life sentence. Id.; see also Schadv. Schriro, 454 F. Supp. 2d 897,924 (D. 

22 
Ariz. 2006) (habeas decision noting that on direct appeal the Arizona Supreme 

23 
Court "explain[ ed] that the facts surrounding the 1986 offense brought it into 

24 
accord with Arizona's definition of second-degree murder") (emphasis added). 

25 
Similarly, in Spencer, 176 Ariz. at 42-44, Spencer was serving a life 

26 
sentence on an armed robbery conviction only because the sentence was enhanced. 

27 
Spencer argued that the (F)(l) was not established because, without the 

28 
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enhancement, his crime of conviction did not carry a life sentence. Id. at 43. He 

also argued that the analysis required the court to look beyond the four comers of 

the relevant statute to the nature of the offense. !d. The court found that the 

enhanced sentence qualified for the (F)(1 ), and specifically declined to reach 

Spencer's argument concerning the nature of the offense because he had actually 

received a life sentence. Id.; see also Walden, 183 Ariz. at 616 (applying Spencer). 

Finally, Atwood's reliance on non-capital sentencing authority is unavailing. 

As Atwood admits, see id. at 21 n.19, the statutory elements test is obsolete in non-

capital sentencing because the legislature has amended the enhancement and 

aggravation statutes. See State v. Johnson, 240 Ariz. 402, 405, ,-r 17 (App. 2016). 

Regardless, non-capital aggravators or enhancements are not comparable to capital 

aggravating factors because the capital statute is not recidivist in nature. See 

Walden, 183 Ariz. at 615-16.33 

Accordingly, Atwood has failed to identify a single case applying the 

"statutory elements test" to the (F)(1) factor, either at the time of sentencing or 

since, and the State has likewise not found any such case. Atwood dramatically 

overstates his position's strength when he claims that the same elements test has 

routinely been applied to both the (F)(l) and the (F)(2). And as stated previously, 

awarding Atwood relief on a new legal theory in the case's present posture-at the 

end of Atwood's 33-year appellate odyssey, and nearly 36 years after V.L.H. 's 

murder-would afford him a substantial and unjustified windfall and amount to an 

end-run around the preclusion rules. This Court should deny relief. 

25 33 However, the supreme court did look to capital sentencing when applying the 

26 
elements test to noncapital sentencing enhancements. See State v. Crawford, 214 
Ariz. 129, 131-32, ,-r,-r 8-9 (2007). Notably, the court cited the test as applying to 

27 the (F)(2), and did not mention the (F)(l). Id. 
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2. The sentence "as imposed" was not 
unauthorized because the Arizona and 
California statutes are coterminous. 

Arizona's statute, like California's, covers all forms of sexual contact. See 

1 

2 

3 

4 
Hon. Rudolph Gerber, Lawyer's Language: Sentences Measurable Only by 

5 
Carpenters, 21 JUL-Ariz. B.J. 23-24 (June/July 1986) ("The 'lewd or lascivious' 

6 
umbrella covers all sexual contact."); see also People v. Greer, 184 P.2d 512, 519-

7 
21 (Ca. 1947), overruled on other grounds by People v. Fields, 914 P.2d 832 

(1996) (summarizing history of statute). Atwood, however, contends that 

Arizona's statute contains an element California's does not: that the sexual act be 

8 

9 

10 
committed in an "unnatural manner." Am. Pet. 4-9; compare A.R.S. § 13-652 

11 
(Ex. B) with Cal. Pen. Code § 288 (Ex. A). Because published opinions applying 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

Arizona's statute involve cunnilingus, fellatio, or homosexual conduct, Atwood 

reasons that a sexual act can only be "unnatural" if it falls within those categories, 

thereby apparently excluding from Arizona's statute (but not California's) 

heterosexual intercourse between a child and an adult. Id. 

In other words, Atwood asks this Court to interpret § 13-652 to reach the 

absurd result that, under certain circumstances, adult-child sexual contact is not 

"unnatural." See State ex. Ref. Montgomery v. Harris, 237 Ariz. 98, 101, ,-r 13 

(20 14) ("Statutes should be construed sensibly to avoid reaching an absurd 

conclusion."). This Court should decline to do so. 

Absurd results aside, the definition of "unnatural manner" is not as 

restrictive--or as clear-as Atwood suggests. The statute itself did not define the 

term. See A.R.S. § 13-652 (Ex. B); Gerber, supra, at 23-24 (noting that statute 

"penalizes conduct without defining its chief feature, its 'unnaturalness"'). Nor did 
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1 
any appellate court ever concretely define it.34 Atwood's cited authority neither 

2 
expressly defines the term "unnatural" nor limits it to cunnilingus, fellatio, and 

3 
homosexual conduct. Rather, it establishes only that those types of sexual conduct 

4 

5 

6 

7 

were included in the definition of unnatural. 35 See State v. Bateman, 25 Ariz. App. 

1, 3 (1975), vacated on other grounds, 113 Ariz. 107 (1976) ("A.R.S. s 13-652 

34 In State v. Mortimer, 105 Ariz. 472, 473 (1970), the Arizona Supreme Court 
8 remarked, "Through the ages sexuality for purposes other than having children has 
9 been called unnatural or sinful. Although to many the foregoing ... may smack of 

victorian morality, and represent a standard n'ot a keeping with the times, this is a 
10 problem for the legislative process rather than the courts." (quotations omitted). 
11 The court further found no "difficulty with the meaning of the words of the 

statute." !d. Though Mortimer's discussion appears to the State to be dicta, the 
12 Arizona Court of Appeals seemed to treat it as a construction of the meaning of 
13 "unnatural," while simultaneously expressing concern that the term still had no 

concrete, common-law meaning. State v. Valdez, 23 Ariz. App. 518, 522 (1975) 
14 (citing Jellum v. Cupp, 475 P.2d 829 (9th Cir. 1973)); see also State v. Pickett, 121 
15 Ariz. 142, 145-46 (1978) (observing that "[e]ven thoughA.R.S. § 13-652 may not 

be a model of clarity, especially the phrase in question," fellatio is undoubtedly 
16 included). 
17 

35 See State v. Jerousek, 121 Ariz. 420, 423 (1979); Pickett, 121 Ariz. at 145; State 
18 v. Williams, 111 Ariz. 511, 513-15 (1978); State v. King, 110 Ariz. 36, 38 (1973); 
19 State v. Taylor, 109 Ariz. 481, 482 (1973); Mortimer, 105 Ariz. at 472-73; State v. 

20 
Zakbar, 105 Ariz. 31, 31 (1969); State v. Hill, 104 Ariz. 238, 238 (1969); State v. 
Phillips, 102 Ariz. 377, 381 (1967); State v. Howard, 97 Ariz. 339, 341 (1965); 

21 State v. Sheldon, 91 Ariz. 73, 74-75 (1962); Lovelace v. Clark, 83 Ariz. 27, 27-28 

22 
(1957); State v. Thomas, 79 Ariz. 355, 357-58 (1955); State ex rei. Jones v. 
Superior Court, 78 Ariz. 367, 373-74 (1955); State v. Farmer, 61 Ariz. 266, 267-

23 68 (1944); Dutzler v. State, 41 Ariz. 436, 436 (1933); State v. Bridges, 123 Ariz. 

24 
452, 452 (App. 1979); State v. Morris, 26 Ariz. App. 342, 343 (1976); State v. 
Baker, 26 Ariz. App. 255, 256-57 (1976); State v. Natzke, 25 Ariz. App. 520, 523 

25 (1976); State v. Smallwood, 7 Ariz. App. 266, 267 (1968); Faber v. State, 62 Ariz. 

26 
16, 18-20 (1944); State v. Snyder, 25 Ariz. App. 406, 409 (1976); State v. Bateman, 
25 Ariz. App. 1, 2-3 (1975); State v. Callaway, 25 Ariz. App. 267, 268 (1975). 

27 

28 
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2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

prohibiting 'lewd and lascivious acts' has been interpreted to mean, among other 

things a prohibition against fellatio and cunnilingus (oral copulation).") (emphasis 

added). 

In reality, child-adult sexual contact is inherently unnatural under any 

definition of the word. See, e.g., State v. Mahaney, 193 Ariz. 566, 568, ~ 12 (App. 

1999) ("Unless the legislature clearly expresses an intent to give a term a special 

meaning, we give the words used in statutes their plain and ordinary meaning. In 

determining the ordinary meaning of a word, we may refer to an established and 
9 

widely used dictionary."); see Merriam-Webster Online Dictionary,36 (defining 
10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

unnatural as "1 : not being in accordance with nature or consistent with a normal 

course of events; 2a: not being in accordance with normal human feelings or 

behavior; b: lacking ease and naturalness; c: inconsistent with what is reasonable 

or expected") (synonyms and examples deleted). The Arizona Supreme Court has 

recognized this fact in other contexts. See State v. McFarlin, 110 Ariz. 225, 228 

(1973) (aberrant sexual propensity). Accordingly, a sexual offense committed 
16 

against a child under§ 288 would qualify as "unnatural" under Arizona law. 37 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

Atwood argues incorrectly that the statute's history supports his 

construction. Am. Pet. 6, 7-8. He contends that the California statute was 

specifically intended to protect children and the Arizona statute was not. However, 

36 https://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/unnatural?src=search-dict-hed 
22 (last accessed February 27, 2020). 
23 

37 Atwood's reliance on Valdez to demonstrate the scope of the unnatural manner 
24 

element does not undermine the State's argument above. Am. Pet. 8. That case 
25 involved an adult woman. As the state has shown above, any type of sexual act 

26 
involving a child is unnatural, thus making any offense under § 288 likewise 
criminal under§ 13-652. 

27 
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this statute initially applied only to children and was substantially the same as 
1 

2 
California's statute. See May v. Ryan, 245 F. Supp. 3d 1145, 1153-54 & n. 4 (D. 

3 
Ariz. 2017), vacated in part on other grounds by May v. Ryan, 766 Fed. Appx. 505 

4 
(9th Cir. Mar. 26, 2019) (citing Rev. Stat. of Ariz. (Penal Code)§ 282 (1913)). In 

5 
1917, the Legislature added a separate statute applying to adults, which tracked § 

6 
13-652 and contained the "unnatural manner" provision. May, 245 F. Supp. 3d at 

1153-54 & n.4 (citing 1917 Ariz. Sess. Laws, ch. 2 § 1). The child-specific 
7 

8 
statute, however, remained. See May, 245 F. Supp. 3d at 1153-54 & n. 4; see also 

9 
Bacchi v. State, 25 Ariz. 37, 39--46 (1923) (discussing both statutes). In 1928, the 

child-specific statute was removed but the more general provision remained, likely 
11 

because it was "assum[ed] [the general] law also covered child molestation." May, 

10 

245 F. Supp. 3d at 1153-54 & n. 4 (citing Rev. Code of Ariz.§ 4651 (1928)). 

In 1965, the Legislature amended the statute, then codified at § 13-652, to 

add its concluding sentence, proscribing harsher penalties for committing lewd and 

lascivious acts against a child. May, 245 F. Supp. 3d at 1153-54 & n. 4; see also 

Snyder, 21 Ariz. App. at 409. The Legislature simultaneously added several other 
17 

criminal offenses regulating sexual activity with children, and the enactment's title 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

18 
related exclusively to child-related crimes.38 !d. at 409 & n.2; see also Ex. B; see 

19 
generally Harris, 237 Ariz. at 102, ,-r 13 ("[A]lthough statutory title headings are 

not part of the law, they can aid in its interpretation."). Thus, the statute, and in 
21 

particular the 1965 amendments, in fact, intended to protect children. For the 

20 

22 

23 

24 

25 

reasons set forth above, Atwood's claim does not fit within Rule 32.1(c). 

38 Those acts included child molestation and child sodomy. Snyder, 25 Ariz. App. 
26 

at 208 n. 2. 
27 

28 
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b. Atwood cannot evade preclusion under Rule 32.1(d). 

Rule 32.1(d) provides for relief when a defendant "continues to be or will 

continue to be in custody after his or her sentence expired." Atwood reasons that, 

without a valid aggravating factor, he must receive a parole-eligible life sentence, 

and he is overdue for a parole hearing. See A.R.S. § 13-703(A) (Ex. C); Am. Pet. 

22-24. Atwood's reliance on Rule 32.1(d) is unavailing, for two reasons. 

First, Claim 1 falls outside Rule 32.1(d)'s scope. The Rule was intended to 

provide a remedy for erroneous time computations by the Arizona Department of 

Corrections, Rehabilitation, and Reentry (ADCRR). See 2020 Cmt., Ariz. R. Crim. 

P. 32.1 (d) ("This provision is intended to include claims such as miscalculation of 

sentence or computation of sentence credits that result in the defendant remaining 

in custody when he or she should be free. It is not intended to include challenges to 
13 

the conditions of imprisonment or correctional practices.").39 A life sentence does 
14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

not expire when a defendant becomes parole-eligible. Nor does it expire even if a 

defendant successfully receives parole because that defendant is still serving his 

sentence while on parole. And parole is discretionary with the parole board in any 

20 39 State v. Davis, 148 Ariz. 62, 63 (App. 1985), which Atwood cites, is not to the 
21 contrary. Davis dealt with miscalculated good-time credits. Am. Pet. 23. Under 

22 
the pre-2020 version of Rule 32.1(d), such a claim was not ripe until the inmate's 
sentence expired and he was being held overtime. !d. at 64. The court, however, 

23 nonetheless ordered relief after construing the inmate's petition as one seeking 

24 
special-action, rather than post-conviction, relief. !d. at 65-66. The two 
unpublished opinions Atwood cites are not helpful because the court of appeals in 

25 each case assumed without deciding that 32.1 (d) applied to parole eligibility 

26 
determinations. See State v. Ybarra, 2018 WL 6434779, *2, ,-r 6 (Ariz. App. Dec. 7, 
2018); State v. Ross, 2017 WL 6371339, *2, ,-r 8 n.2 (Ariz. App. Dec. 13, 2017). 

27 

28 

51 

Case: 22-70084, 05/04/2022, ID: 12438984, DktEntry: 1-4, Page 445 of 498



1 

2 

3 

4 

event.40 See A.R.S. § 13--412(A); Cooper v. Arizona Bd. of Pardons and Paroles, 

149 Ariz. 182, 185 (1986). 

Second, any Rule 32.1(d) claim is not ripe. Atwood has not been improperly 

denied a parole hearing because he has been serving a valid death sentence. This 
5 

Court has not invalidated (and should not invalidate) the aggravating factor and, 
6 

even if it does, resentencing-not a life sentence-is the remedy. See § 

III(a)(4)(e), infra, Accordingly, any Rule 32.1(d) claim would not become ripe 
7 

8 
unless and until: 1) this Court sets aside the (F)(1), 2) a jury does not impose death 

9 
at resentencing, 3) Atwood receives a life sentence, and 4) Atwood is improperly 

denied a parole hearing. Rule 32.1(d) does not provide an independent basis for 
11 

relief from the aggravating factor or somehow serve as a vehicle to exempt 

10 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

Atwood's constitutional claim from preclusion. The Rule simply does not apply 

here. 

c. Atwood cannot evade preclusion under Rule 32.1(h). 

Atwood next argues that Claim 1 is exempt from preclusion under Rule 

32.1(h). Am. Pet. 35. Under that Rule, a defendant is entitled to relief if he shows 

that "the facts underlying his claim" establish that no reasonable fact-finder would 

have found the defendant eligible for the death penalty (i.e. that no reasonable 
19 

sentencer would have found an aggravating factor).41 Ariz. R. Crim. P. 32.1(h) 
20 

21 40 It would be foolish indeed to grant parole to Atwood, given that he was on parole 

22 
when he absconded from California without authorization and killed V.L.H. See, § 
I, infra; Cooper, 149 Ariz. at 185 (parole board must consider offender's entire 

23 record, including gravity of offense and age of victim). 

24 41 Atwood again cites the pre-2020 Rule, without explanation. Am. Pet. 25. In this 
25 instance, however, this error is not material because the State agrees that both rules 

26 
permit relief upon a factual showing that an aggravating factor is invalid. See § 
III(C), infra. But as discussed above, the State maintains that Atwood has not 

27 alleged, let alone proven, a factual error. 

28 
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21 

(emphasis added). Rule 32.1(h) therefore expressly applies to fact-based claims, 

not to legal ones like Atwood's. And at its core, Rule 32.1(h) is an actual­

innocence rule, and '"actual innocence' means factual innocence, not mere legal 

Atwood's claim alleges legal insufficiency, not factual innocence. Atwood 

specifically does not challenge the (F)(l)'s factual component (that he was the 

person convicted in California). See Am. Pet. 25. Instead, he alleges error in the 

could have been raised decades earlier but was overlooked would, as previously 

explained, frustrate the preclusion rules and unfairly advantage Atwood. 

Finally, for the reasons discussed in § III( A)( 4)(a), supra, and incorporated 

here, Atwood cannot show by clear-and-convincing evidence that no reasonable 

sentencer would have found the (F)(l ). And since Atwood can still be retried on 

d. Claim 1 did not require a personal waiver and is not 
exempt from preclusion under Rule 32.1(a). 

22 Finally, Atwood alleges that, if his claim arises under Rule 32.1 (a) such that 
23 it is subject to preclusion, it involves a right that "can only be waived knowingly, 
24 voluntarily, and personally by the defendant." Ariz. R. Crim. P. 32.2(a)(3). 
25 

26 42 . 
The current verswn of Rule 32.1(h) was modeled after Sawyer. See § III(C), 

27 infra. 

28 
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Atwood is incorrect. "The question whether an asserted ground is of sufficient 
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constitutional magnitude to require a knowing, voluntary, and intelligent waiver for 

purposes of Rule 32.2(a)(3) ... does not depend upon the merits of the particular 

ground for relief. It depends merely "upon the particular right alleged to have been 

violated." Smith, 202 Ariz. at 450, ,-r 10 (quotations omitted). These rights include 

the right to counsel and the right to a jury trial. See State v. Swoopes, 216 Ariz. 

390, 399, ~ 28 (App. 2007). 

Atwood, however, alleges due-process and Eighth Amendment errors. His 

due-process claim does not qualify as one for which a personal waiver is required. 

See id., 216 Ariz. at 399, ,-r 27 ("[A]ny error, including trial error, could be 

characterized as affecting a defendant's right to a fair trial. If that were sufficient to 

bring the error under the umbrella of sufficient constitutional magnitude for 

purposes of Rule 32.2, all error could be so characterized, and arguably, no claim 

could be precluded without a personal waiver."). Atwood's Eighth Amendment 

claim does not qualify for the same reason. See id. 

Finally, Atwood discusses at length various standards of appellate review. 
17 

Am. Pet. 27-30. However, the question whether a claim involves a right that is of 

13 

14 

15 

16 

sufficient constitutional magnitude to require a personal waiver is distinct from 
19 

whether the claim alleges fundamental or structural error. See Swoopes, 216 Ariz. 

18 

at 403, ,-r~ 41-42 (finding no fundamental-error exception to preclusion and 

recognizing that such an exception "that does not implicate a personal, 

constitutional right would swallow the rule"). Regardless, no error at all-let 
23 

alone fundamental or structural error-occurred for the reasons stated in § 

20 

21 

22 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

III(A)(4)(a), supra. This Court should enforce the preclusion rules and deny 

Atwood's claim. 
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e. If this Court strikes the (F)(l) factor, resentencing-not a 
life sentence--is the remedy. 

Atwood argues he is entitled to a life sentence because, without the (F)( 1 ), 

4 there is no valid death-qualifying aggravating factor. Am. Pet. 22-23. Atwood 

5 overlooks that the State also alleged the A.R.S. § 13-703(F)(6) (1984) cruel, 

6 heinous, or depraved factor. Pet. Ex. 3, at 2. The State cross-appealed from the 

7 sentencing judge's failure to find this factor. Atwood I, 171 Ariz. at 660. The 

8 Arizona Supreme Court declined to address the cross-appeal because it affirmed 

9 the death sentence on other grounds. Id. However, Justice Corcoran stated that he 

10 "did 'not believe that the trial court's refusal to find the especially heinous, cruel, 

11 or depraved aggravating circumstance would, as defendant argues, bar it on double 

12 jeopardy grounds from making such a finding on the event defendant is 

13 resentenced for any reason in the future." Atwood I, 171 Ariz. at 660 n.30, 672 

14 (citing Poland v. Arizona, 476 U.S. 147, 156-57 (1986)). 

15 Justice Corcoran was correct. In Poland, 476 U.S. at 155-56, the Supreme 

16 Court clarified that the double-jeopardy test governing death-penalty retrials is not 

17 whether the State has failed to prove a particular aggravator but whether it has 

18 failed to prove its case "that the death penalty is appropriate." Accordingly, if a 

19 defendant successfully shows that the evidence is insufficient to support an 

20 aggravating factor, a reviewing court need not "ignore evidence in the record 

21 supporting another aggravating circumstance which the sentencer has erroneously 

22 rejected." Id. at 56-57. Rather, a defendant may be retried on that circumstance. 

23 !d.; see also State v. Lehr, 227 Ariz. 140, 148, ~ 26 (20 11 ). 

24 Here, the appellate briefing focused on physical cruelty, and whether it could 

25 be shown by an informant's testimony recounting Atwood's statements. See 

26 

27 

28 
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Atwood I, 171 Ariz. at 660.43 The State also alleged facts sufficient to prove 

cruelty based on mental anguish. Pet. Ex. 3, at 10-11; see, e.g., Gillies, 135 Ariz. 

at 513 ("Cruelty involves the mental and physical distress suffered by a victim .... 

Evidence of the mental anguish of a victim, resulting from such factors as being 

held captive for an extended period, uncertain as to his ultimate fate, is also 

relevant to establish cruelty.") (quotations and citations omitted). The evidence 

aside the (F)( 1 ), it should order a resentencing rather than impose a life sentence as 

Atwood requests. 

B. Atwood's claim that his California prior was supported by an 
inadequate factual basis is untimely, precluded, and meritless 
(Claim 2). 

Atwood argues that the California prior conviction that underlies the (F)( 1) 

16 
factor is constitutionally infirm because the California court failed to elicit a 

17 
factual basis. Am. Pet. 31-32. Like Claim 1, this record-based claim-which has 

been available to Atwood for decades-is untimely and precluded. Alternatively, it 
18 

19 
fails on the merits because Atwood's California prior has not been set aside by the 

20 
California courts, and he cannot collaterally attack that conviction through this 

21 
proceeding. Finally, the record establishes a factual basis for the prior conviction 

22 
and any error in the plea colloquy was technical and does not warrant relief. 

23 

24 

25 43 The court did not reach the issue whether the informant's testimony was 

26 
admissible. Atwood I, 171 Ariz. at 559-60. The State has attached the informant's 
deposition transcript hereto at Exhibit R. The transcript proves physical cruelty 

27 beyond a reasonable doubt. 

28 
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1. Claim 2 is untimely. 
1 

2 
The State incorporates herein the arguments on timeliness set forth in § 

3 
III(A)(2), supra. For these reasons, this Court should deny and dismiss Claim 2 as 

4 

5 

6 

7 

untimely. 

2. Claim 2 is precluded under Rule 32.2(a)(3) and no 
exception to preclusion applies. 

Atwood could have raised Claim 2 at sentencing and then on direct appeal 

8 but did not. His failure to do so results in the claim's waiver and preclusion under 

9 Rule 32.2(a)(3). Claim 2 is not exempt from preclusion under Rules 32.1(c), (d), 
10 or (h). To show his perceived entitlement to relief under these sections, Atwood 

11 incorporates his arguments on Claim 1. Am. Pet. 32. The State accordingly 

12 incorporates herein its responses to those arguments, as set forth in § III( A)( 4), 

13 supra. 
14 

15 
3. Claim 2 fails on the merits. 

If this Court reaches the merits of Atwood's claim, it should deny relief. 

16 First, a defendant may not collaterally attack the validity of a death-qualifying 

17 prior conviction through appellate proceedings in his death penalty case. Rather, 
18 

19 

20 

21 

28 

he must attack the conviction's validity through the appropriate procedures before 

the court that entered the relevant judgment (here, the California courts). See State 

v. Gunches, 240 Ariz. 198, 205-06, ,-r,-r 24-32 (2016); Nordstrom, 230 Ariz. at 117, 
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McCann, 200 Ariz. 28 (2001)). Atwood provides no evidence that his California 

conviction has been set aside. 

Second, Atwood's plea was supported by a factual basis. A technical failure 

to comply with aspects of the Boykin44 colloquy does not invalidate a plea. See 
5 

6 
State v. Superior Court in and for Pima County (Gretzler), 128 Ariz. 583, 585 

7 
(1981) ("The United States Supreme Court has held that a judgment of guilt based 

8 
upon a plea of guilty is not void for technical violations and is not subject to 

9 collateral attack.") (citing United States v. Timmreck, 441 U.S. 780 (1979)). 

10 "[E]ven when a factual basis is not set forth in the record of the change of plea 

11 hearing, such a deficiency in the record is technical not reversible error when the 

12 extended record establishes a factual basis for a guilty plea." State v. Johnson, 181 

13 Ariz. 346, 349 (App. 1995). The "'factual basis may be ascertained from the 

14 record including pre-sentence reports, preliminary hearing reports, admissions of 

15 the defendant, and from other sources."' !d. (quoting State v. Varela, 120 Ariz. 

16 596, 598 (1978)) (emphasis deleted). Here, the presentence report contained a 

17 more-than-sufficient factual basis for the guilty plea. See Ex. Q, at attached 

18 California report dated 2/3/75. This Court should deny relief on Claim 2. 

19 C. Atwood's claim that no reasonable sentencer would have 

20 imposed death based on his enhanced mitigation profile is 
untimely and precluded, is not cognizable under Rule 32.1(h), 

21 and fails on the merits (Claim 3). 

22 Atwood contends that mitigation discovered after sentencing shows that no 

23 reasonable sentencer would have imposed the death penalty. Am. Pet. 32-63. This 

24 claim is untimely and precluded. Further, for the reasons discussed below and in § 

25 II(A), supra, this Court should apply the current version of Rule 32.1(h), which 

26 

27 44 Boykin v. Alabama, 395 U.S. 238 (1969). 

28 
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excludes mitigation-based claims like this one. Alternatively, even under the 

former Rule 32.1(h), Atwood is not entitled to relief. Atwood has already 

unsuccessfully attempted, under a much lower burden of proof, to persuade the 

federal courts that the identical mitigation warrants leniency. He cannot carry his 

much higher clear-and-convincing burden under Rule 32.1(h). 

1. Claim 3 is untimely and precluded. 

As a threshold matter, as discussed in § III(A)(2), supra, a defendant raising 

a claim under Rule 32.1(h) in a successive or untimely post-conviction petition 

must 1) "provide sufficient reasons" why the claim was not raised in a timely 

manner, Ariz. R. Crim. P. 32.2(b ); and 2) raise the claim within a reasonable time 

after discovering its basis, Ariz. R. Crim. P. 32.4(b )(3)(B). Atwood has not met 

these obligations, warranting summary dismissal. 

First, Atwood has, of course, known of his childhood-related evidence his 

entire life, and he has been in possession of his new expert opinion since 2012. 

See Pet. Ex. 32 (noting first evaluation in 2012). Instead of raising a Rule 32.1(h) 
16 claim in his 200945 post-conviction proceeding, which the federal court had stayed 
17 the habeas case to accommodate, see § I(G), supra, Atwood chose to instead raise 
18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

an ineffective-assistance claim in federal court and, when that claim failed, to 

repackage his evidence into a state-court Rule 32.1(h) claim. Atwood's litigation 

strategy is not a "sufficient reason" to excuse his failure to raise this claim in state 

court earlier. 

Second, along the same lines, Atwood failed to rmse Claim 3 within a 

reasonable time after learning its basis. Atwood has known of his claim's factual 

45 A Rule 32.1(h) claim was unavailable at the time of Atwood's first post-
26 conviction petition because the ground for relief was added in 2000. See State v. 
27 Miles, 243 Ariz. 511, 517, ~ 27 (2018) (Pelander, J., concurring) 

28 
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basis since, at the very latest, 2012, when Dr. Schwartz-Watts conducted her first 

evaluation. Pet. Ex. 32, at 1. Yet Atwood waited until 2020 to bring his Rule 

32.1(h) claim. Nothing prevented Atwood from initiating his state-court 

proceeding while his federal proceeding was pending. 

Finally, because Atwood's claim does not qualify as a true Rule 32.1(h) 

claim, see § III(C)(2), infra, and because Atwood failed to raise it in his 2009 

petition, the claim is waived and precluded under Rule 32.2(a)(3). As previously 

explained, Atwood does not articulate sufficient reasons for not raising the claim 

earlier. See Ariz. R. Crim. P. 32.2(b ). This Court should summarily deny and 

dismiss Atwood's petition. 

2. The new version of Rule 32.l(h) applies and Atwood's 
mitigation-based claim is not cognizable under that 
verswn. 

Rule 32.1 (h), as amended effective January 1, 2020, provides a ground for 

15 
relief where: 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

the defendant demonstrates by clear and convincing evidence that the 
facts underlying the claim would be sufficient to establish that no 
reasonable fact-finder would find the defendant guilty of the offense 
beyond a reasonable doubt, or that no reasonable fact-finder would 
find the defendant eligible for the death penalty in an aggravation 
phase held pursuant to A.R.S. § 13-752. 

21 
(Emphasis added). Atwood's claim does not include a factual challenge to the 

22 
aggravating factor, see§ III(A)(4)(c), supra; it is based entirely on new mitigation. 

23 
Accordingly, the claim is not cognizable under Rule 32.1(h) and this Court should 

24 dismiss it. 

25 

26 

27 

28 
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Atwood, however, asks this Court to apply the Rule's pre-2020 version, 

which he interprets to permit mitigation-based claims.46 Am. Pet. 33 n.29. But as 

discussed in § II(A), supra, the Arizona Supreme Court's order adopting the new 

rule presumptively applies to all pending post-conviction actions. See Ariz. Sup. 

Ct. No. R-19-0012, Order filed 8/29119.47 A court may apply the Rule's former 

version only if applying the revised Rule would "be infeasible or work an 

injustice." Jd. Here, it is feasible and just to apply the current Rule 32.1(h). 

Atwood's arguments to the contrary fail. 

Atwood contends that applying the new Rule "would deny [him] an avenue 

for challenging his sentence and foreclose consideration of important evidence 

never previously presented to this Court." Am. Pet. 33 n.9. But under Atwood's 

logic, the new version of Rule 32.1(h) could never be applied to a mitigation-based 

claim because it would always deny a defendant an avenue to challenge his 

sentence based on new mitigation evidence. Precluding such claims does not work 

an injustice-it instead furthers justice by safeguarding finality and the Victims' 

Bill of Rights. Ariz. Const. art. II, § 2.1(10) (affording right "[t]o a speedy trial or 

disposition and prompt and final conclusion of the case after the conviction and 

sentence"). 

To the extent Atwood attacks the Rule itself as unjust, rather than its specific 

application here, that argument, too, is unpersuasive. The federal courts have been 

enforcing a similar rule for years to restrict the availability of federal habeas relief 

See Sawyer, 505 U.S. at 342-43 (prisoner may only show innocence of the death 

24 46 Atwood's view of the former Rule 32.1(h) IS erroneous, as discussed in § 
25 III(C)(3)(a), infra. 

26 47 https://www.azcourts.gov/Portals/20/20 19%20Rules/R-19-
27 0012%20Final%200rder.pdf?ver=2019-08-29-150005-550 
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penalty, to excuse successive, abusive, or defaulted federal claim, by showing that 

defendant is not eligible for the death penalty). Likewise, several states apply 

comparable rules. See Cal. Penal Code § 1509( d); N.C. Gen. Stat. Ann. § 15A-

1415(c); Ohio Rev Code Ann. § 2953.21(A)(l)(a)(b); Lisle v. State, 351 P.3d 725, 

730-34 (Nev. 2015); Ex Parte Blue, 230 S.W.3d 151, 160-62 (Tex. Ct. Crim. App. 

2007); Knight v. State, 923 So. 2d 387, 411-23 (Fla. 2005); Bowling v. Com, 163 

S.W.3d 361, 372-73 (Ky. 2005); Clay v. Dormire, 37 S.W.3d 214, 218 & n.l (Mo. 

2000). And the Supreme Court has not recognized a constitutional right to bring a 

post-conviction actual-innocence claim in the first place. Herrera v. Collins, 506 

U.S. 390 (1993). 

Moreover, while Atwood is correct that his mitigation has not been presented 

to this Court, it has been heard, considered, and rejected by no fewer than four 

federal judges, in the context of a Strickland claim. See Atwood III, 870 F.3d 

1058-65 (three-judge panel unanimously denying denial of relief); Atwood II, 2014 

WL 289987, at *32-33 (district-court judge denying relief). The mitigation 

Atwood proffers in this Court is taken directly from the record of his federal 
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burden, eliminating any possible injustice in refusing to hear the same evidence 

under a higher burden of proof. 

Atwood also argues that "[r]etroactive application of a rule which eliminates 

without replacement a remedy is impermissible." Am. Pet. 33 n.29. But the 

revisions to Rule 32.1(h) did not eliminate any remedy. To the contrary, it was at 

best unclear before the revisions whether Rule 32.1(h) permitted a mitigation-

based claim. In fact, the 2020 revisions are most reasonably viewed as a 

clarification of the prior rule and an answer to the question left open in Miles. See 

§ III(C)(3)(a), infra.48 

Aside from the foregoing, Atwood proffers no reason why applying the 

current Rule 32.1(h) would lead to an injustice. Atwood had more than 4 months' 

notice in advance of his petition that Rule 32.1(h) would be changing, so he cannot 

reasonably argue that the Rules were changed midstream. See Ariz. Sup. Ct. No. 

R-19-0012, Order filed 8/29/19. As previously discussed, Rule 32.1(h)'s current 

version tracks the federal rule. And Atwood's mitigation has been considered and 

found lacking by several judges, under a lower burden of proof. For these reasons, 

it would not be "infeasible or work an injustice" to apply the Rule's current 

version. See id. 

48 Atwood's citation to Town of Chino Valley v. State Land Dept., 119 Ariz. 243, 
22 247 (1978), which involved a separation-of-powers issue, is not helpful. Am. Pet. 
23 33 n.29. There, the Arizona Supreme Court stated, "Parties have no vested right in 

24 
a particular remedy or mode of procedure and the Legislature may change existing 
remedies or prescribe new modes of relief provided an efficacious remedy 

25 remains." !d. at 247-48. Here, Atwood's remedy has not changed. As an aside, 

26 
Atwood does not argue that Rule 32.1(h) violates separation of powers, despite it 
not being listed as a ground for relief in Rule 32's enacting legislation. See A.R.S. 

27 § 13-4231. 

28 
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3. Even under the former version of Rule 32.1 (h), Atwood is 
not entitled to relief. 

Atwood's claim fails even under the former version of Rule 32.1 (h). First, 

4 this Court should construe the Rule's former version to also exclude mitigation­

S based claims like Atwood's. Second, even if Atwood's claim is cognizable under 

6 Rule 32.1 (h), it fails on the merits. The evidence Atwood proffers is profoundly 

7 double-edged. In fact, Atwood's evidence shows that he is "dangerous and simply 

8 beyond rehabilitation." Sully v. Ayers, 725 F.3d 1057, 1069 (9th Cir. 2013) 

9 (quotations deleted). The record confirms this. As a result, Atwood cannot show 

10 that no reasonable factfinder would have sentenced him to death. 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

a. This Court should construe the former version of 
Rule 32.1(h) as limited to factual, aggravation­
based claims. 

Prior to the 2020 amendments, Rule 32.1 (h) provided for relief when: 

the defendant demonstrates by clear and convincing evidence that the 
facts underlying the claim would be sufficient to establish that no 
reasonable fact-finder would find the defendant guilty beyond a 
reasonable doubt, or that the death penalty would not have been 
imposed. 

Ariz. R. Crim. P. 32.1(h) (2019). 

As Atwood acknowledges, the Arizona Supreme Court interpreted the pre-

2020 Rule as stating an objective standard, and directed post-conviction courts to 

assess Rule 32.1 (h) claims from the perspective of a reasonable sentencer. See 

Miles, 243 Ariz. at 514, ~ 11. However, the Arizona Supreme Court never resolved 

whether the Rule's previous version was, like the new version, limited to 

circumstances in which a defendant is ineligible for death, or whether it permitted 

relief based on newly proffered mitigation. See id. at 513-14, ~~ 9-10 (noting 

State's request that Rule 32.1(h) should be construed consistent with Sawyer but 
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11 
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15 
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19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

declining to interpret Rule because lower court's ruling was correct regardless of 

Rule's interpretation). 

As discussed previously, § III(A)(4)(c), Rule 32.1(h) requires a showing of 

factual innocence. But the determination whether a defendant's mitigation is 

sufficient to warrant a life sentence is not a factual question-the process is instead 

"'inherently subjective' and not the equivalent of a 'mathematical formula."' State 

v. Glassel, 211 Ariz. 33, 46, ~ 40 (2005) (quoting State v. Hoskins, 199 Ariz. 127, 

154, ~ 123 (2000)); see State ex rel. Thomas v. Granville (Baldwin), 211 Ariz. 468, 

473, ~ 21 (2005) ("[T]he determination whether mitigation is sufficiently 

substantial to warrant leniency is not a fact question to be decided based on the 

weight of the evidence, but rather is a sentencing decision to be made by each juror 

based upon the juror's assessment of the quality and significance of the mitigating 

evidence."). This subjectivity is the reason the Supreme Court in Sawyer defined 

"innocence of the death penalty," for purposes of excusing a successive, abusive, 

or defaulted federal-habeas claim, as ineligibility for the death penalty. See 

Sawyer, 505 U.S. at 342-43 ("once eligibility for the death penalty has been 

established to the satisfaction of the jury, its deliberations assume a different tenor" 

and, rather than focus on concrete, objectively-defined aggravators, the jury makes 

a highly-subjective, discretionary, individualized determination whether death is 

appropriate). 

Since the standard is inherently subjective, it is nearly impossible to assess at 

all-let alone prove by clear-and-convincing evidence-how a sentencer "would 

have reacted to additional showings of mitigating factors, particularly considering 

the breadth of those factors that a jury ... must be allowed to consider." !d. at 346. 

For these reasons, it is unreasonable to construe the prior version of Rule 32.1 (h) 

as permitting relief based on subjective, non-factual mitigation claims. And as a · 
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12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

practical matter, it is impossible for a defendant to prove-under Rule 32.1 (h)'s 

objective, clear-and-convincing evidence standard-that mitigation warrants relief. 

When the Arizona Supreme Court adopted the amended Rule 32.1(h) in 

August 2019, it rejected the recommendation of the Rule 32 Task Force that the 

court modify the Rule in a way that would leave open the interpretive dispute the 

Court declined to resolve in Miles. See Ariz. Sup. Ct. No. R-19-0012, Petition, 

filed 1110/19, at 8-11 49 (proposing modification to Rule 32.1(h) to read, "the 

defendant demonstrates by clear and convincing evidence that the facts underlying 

the claim would be sufficient to establish that no reasonable fact-finder would find 

the defendant guilty of the offense beyond a reasonable doubt, or that no 

reasonable fact-finder would have imposed the death penalty"). The court instead 

adopted the current Rule, which had been proposed and supported by a minority of 

the Task Force. See id., Rule 32.1(h) position paper. Because the court selected 

Rule 32.1(h)'s current version over an alternative that would have retained the 

status quo from Miles, the modification to Rule 32.1(h) should be read as a 

clarification of the prior Rule and an answer to the question Miles left open. 

Accordingly, even if this Court applies the prior Rule, it should construe it to 

exclude mitigation-based claims like Atwood's and dismiss Atwood's claim. 

b. Atwood cannot show that no reasonable sentencer 
would have imposed the death penalty based on 
the double-edged, non-explanatory mitigation he 
now proffers. 

As discussed above, this Court should view Atwood's claim from the 

perspective of a reasonable sentencer. See Miles, 243 Ariz. at 514, ~ 11. The 
24 

inquiry thus is whether Atwood has shown by clear and convincing evidence that a 
25 

26 

27 49 https://www.azcourts.gov/Rules-ForurnJaft/949 

28 
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2 

3 

4 

5 

reasonable sentencer would not have imposed the death penalty had it heard his 

additional mitigation evidence. Atwood has not carried his burden. 

i. Summary of Atwood s new mitigation and the 
federal court hearing. 

Atwood presents several social-history documents, as well as a report from 

6 Dr. Donna Schwartz-Watts opining that he suffers from PTSD. As mentioned in § 

7 I, the federal district court conducted a multi-day evidentiary hearing on an 

8 ineffective-assistance claim Atwood raised based on this identical evidence--even 

9 Dr. Schwartz-Watt's report is the same.50 Dr. Schwartz-Watts testified at that 

10 hearing, and was subject to cross-examination. She testified as follows. 51 

11 Dr. Schwartz-Watts first evaluated Atwood in October 2012 and authored a 

12 report which-consistent with her express instructions from Atwood's then-

13 counsel-focused only on identifying mitigating factors and was not a complete 

14 mental-health evaluation. Ex. K, at 116, 165-66; see Pet. Ex. 32. After the district 

15 court ordered an evidentiary hearing, Dr. Schwartz-Watts evaluated Atwood again 

16 

17 50 The majority of the hearing concerned Strickland's deficient -performance prong, 

18 
which is not at issue here. With respect to prejudice, the State presented rebuttal 
testimony from Dr. Erin Nelson. However, the district court entered a protective 

19 order covering statements Atwood made about the crime to Dr. Nelson during the 

20 
evaluation, which order prohibits the use of those statements in state court. 
Respondents accordingly have not attached Dr. Nelson's report, as it appends and 

21 refers to a transcript that includes those statements. In an abundance of caution, 

22 
Respondents have likewise redacted Dr. Schwartz-Watts's minimal references 
during testimony to Atwood's statements to Dr. Nelson. See Ex. K. On request 

23 from this Court, or if this Court orders an evidentiary hearing, Respondents will 

24 
ask the district court to modify or vacate the protective order so that the report may 
be provided. However, as shown above, Atwood cannot carry his burden, even 

25 without Dr. Nelson's rebuttal opinions. 

26 51 Atwood has submitted excerpts of Dr. Schwartz-Watts' testimony. The State has 
27 attached her testimony in its entirety as Exhibit K. 

28 
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1 ' 

2 

3 

4 

5 

to complete a comprehensive mental-health evaluation. Ex. K, at 116, 165-57. 

During the time between the two evaluations, Atwood had reviewed both Dr. 

Schwartz-Watts' initial report and the State's expert's report, and had recalled 

additional instances of sexual victimization. !d. at 166-68. 

In her supplemental report, Dr. Schwartz-Watts not only diagnosed PTSD, 

avoidant personality disorder, and various substance-abuse disorders, but also 
7 

diagnosed "by history" pedophilia and antisocial personality disorder. Pet. Ex. 32. 

6 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

Dr. Schwartz-Watts opined that Atwood's experience being molested at age 14, and 

purportedly being sexually abused thereafter at a juvenile detention facility, on a 

family vacation in Aspen, and at Atascadero, qualified as triggering events for 

PTSD and pointed to certain portions of the Atascadero records in which Atwood 

exhibited avoidant, aggressive, explosive or other behavior she found consistent 

with that disorder. Ex. K, at 20-21. Dr. Schwartz-Watts attributed Atwood's drug 

use to his experience being molested. !d. at 30-31. She also testified regarding 

her conversations with a mental-health professional who had treated Atwood and 

his mother almost 50 years earlier, and with a woman who knew Atwood's family. 

!d. at 72-90, 132-38. These conversations had led Dr. Schwartz-Watts to believe 

_that Atwood's family was chaotic and dysfunctional and that Atwood's parents had 

psychological issues, which could have predisposed Atwood to mental problems. 
20 

!d. Dr. Schwartz-Watts also noted that Atwood had been institutionalized at two 

19 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

mental hospitals as a teenager. !d. 

Dr. Schwartz-Watts, however, admitted that the records she had reviewed 

(including those from Atascadero and the California Department of Corrections 

and Rehabilitation) document a pattern of manipulative behavior consistent with 

antisocial personality disorder. !d. at 151-29. She admitted that Atwood's 

substance abuse preceded his molestation. !d. at 108. And most critically, she 

could not identify when Atwood developed PTSD and acknowledged that he may 
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have developed it in response to traumatic events he suffered in prison after 
1 

2 
V.L.H. 's murder. Id. at 100-01, 107-08, 121-27, 171-72. She also acknowledged 

3 
that Atwood's PTSD bore no direct relationship to V.L.H. 's murder and did not 

cause him to commit that offense. !d. at 172-73. 

The district court also admitted into evidence 451 pages of records from 

4 

5 

6 
Atwood's treatment at Atascadero. Atwood's admitting diagnosis was sexual 

7 
deviation, pedophilia, female. Ex. C, at 671.52 His stay at Atascadero was marked 

by numerous instances of disruptive and antisocial behavior, noncompliance, and 
9 

substance abuse. For example, a staff member noted that Atwood was "very adept 

8 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

in his manipulations of others." Id. at 495. Other notes refer to Atwood's failure to 

follow rules and continued belief that molesting children was not wrong. Id. at 

273, 282-83. Atwood stole drugs from the hospital's medication room, was 

suspected of dealing drugs within the facility, engaged in inappropriate sexual 

activities, behaved belligerently, and was identified as a danger to society. Id. at 

257-58,262-63,309,322,334-37. 

The district court also admitted into evidence several mental-health reports 

generated during Atwood's various contacts with the criminal-justice system. Dr. 

Coodley's and Dr. Abe's reports were summarized in§ I, infra. In addition: 

• In December 1978, Dr. E. Rivlin diagnosed Atwood with 
20 "inadequate" personality disorder and "sexual deviation, female 

21 pedophilia, by history." Ex. G. He attributed Atwood's criminal 
behavior to his conflict with his parents and inability to fulfill their 

22 expectations. ld. 

23 • In November 1979, Dr. Robert Orling opined that Atwood was 

24 "predisposed to alcohol and sexual deviation," had poor impulse 
·control, would likely continue being a drug user, and was 

25 "expected to be a recidivist." Ex. E. He opined that a person with 

26 

27 52 See n.3, supra. 

28 
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1 · Atwood's psychological profile "generally ha[ s] a very poor 
2 prognosis" and is "usually unpredictable in action and thought." 

!d. 
3 

• In February 1981, Dr. R. Rose opined that Atwood had an 
4 immature personality disorder and male pedophilic tendencies. Ex. 

5 H. He stated that Atwood had "no real intentions of giving up his 
privileged status to do whatever he likes, whenever he likes," and 

6 noted that Atwood preferred sexual relationships with males, "the 
7 younger the better." !d. 

8 The district court also admitted two post-conviction reports. First, in October 

9 1988, psychologist Dr. Richard Hinton offered several opinions in connection with 

10 a civil lawsuit VL.H. 's family had filed. Ex. I. Dr. Hinton reviewed records from 

11 Atwood's prior convictions; police reports regarding other offenses for which he 

12 had been arrested; his correspondence with Bernsienne; and "pages and pages" of 

13 sexually-explicit letters, photographs and other material, much of it pedophilic in 

14 nature, which appeared to have been seized from Atwood's home by his parole 

15 officer 3 days before Atwood killed V.L.H. ld. Dr. Hinton observed that Atwood 

16 had engaged in a "highly consistent" pattern of behavior involving six child 

17 victims with "an increase in the force, threat, and intimidation used with each 

18 successive victim." !d. He also noted Atwood's drug abuse, resistance to 

19 treatment, and pattern of controlling his parents through "his use of threat and 

20 intimidation." ld. Dr. Hinton opined that, in 1984, "[i]t was ... reasonable to 

21 anticipate that ... Atwood would molest another child because in virtually every 

22 way, the factors which raised the likelihood of another molest were operating." !d. 

23 Second, in July 1995, prison psychologists Walt Walton and Dr. Ronald 

24 Sheldon diagnosed Atwood with sexual dysfunction not otherwise specified, 

25 polysubstance dependence, and antisocial personality disorder. Ex. J. The 

26 psychologists noted Atwood's "pervasive and long standing pattern of antisocial 

27 behavior," and his traits of irritability, impulsivity, aggressiveness, recklessness, 

28 
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1 
and untruthfulness. Id. The report notes that Atwood "takes no responsibility for 

2 
his actions." Id. In addition, the district court admitted various ADCRR 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

11 

15 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

disciplinary reports, including one in which Atwood, in 1995, had been caught 

attempting to sponsor a child and requesting the organization to send photographs 

of the child. Ex. F. 

Following the hearing, the district court judge found, as relevant here, that 

As noted above, nothing in the Atascadero records indicated that 
Atwood suffered trauma-related symptoms, and Atwood's own expert 
admitted that she could not determine when Atwood might have 
developed his alleged trauma-related impairment. Speculation that 
Atwood may have some type of brain dysfunction or disorder "is not 
sufficient to establish prejudice." Bible v. Ryan, 571 F.3d 860, 871 
(9th Cir. 2009). Moreover, even if such evidence could have been 
presented, it may well have opened the door to the damaging rebuttal 
evidence described above. Therefore, taking into account "the totality 
of the evidence," we hold that Atwood failed to establish "a 
reasonable probability that, but for [sentencing] counsel's 
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1 

2 

unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been 
different." Strickland, 466 U.S. at 694-95, 104 S.Ct. 2052. 

3 Atwood III, 870 F.3d at 1064. 

4 

5 

6 

11. A reasonable sentencer could find that 
Atwood s mitigation is double-edged and 
entitled to minimal weight. 

Atwood's mitigation shows, at most, that he had a somewhat dysfunctional 
7 home life; that he may have been molested as a teenager; that he developed PTSD 
8 at some point in time, perhaps as a result of the molestation or perhaps in response 
9 to events in prison; and that he had a drug problem (which the sentencing judge 

10 knew, see§ I, infra). A reasonable sentencer could have-and likely would have­

n given this mitigation minimal weight. Atwood has not shown by clear and 
12 convincing evidence that this mitigation would have gained a life sentence. 
13 First, in general, a difficult family history receives minimal weight. See 
14 State v. Pandeli, 215 Ariz. 514, 532, ,-r 72 (2007). This is particularly true where 
15 the offender is an older adult at the time of the offense, as Atwood was (28 years of 
16 age), and is far removed from his childhood circumstances. See State v. McCray, 
17 218 Ariz. 252, 250, ,-r 36 (2008) (recognizing that "a difficult childhood is given 
18 less weight when the defendant is older" and giving defendant's "less-than-ideal" 
19 childhood minimal mitigating weight because defendant was 28 at the time of the 
20 offense and had not causally connected it to his childhood). Prior to V.L.H. 's 
21 murder, Atwood had spent significant time institutionalized and thus removed from 
22 any negative influence his family carried. Although he resided with-and was 
23 financially dependent on-his parents when not incarcerated, he lived an adult 
24 lifestyle and traveled cross-country more than once. See Atwood, 171 Ariz. at 652-

25 53 (noting that 28 "is not a young or immature age" and that "defendant had 
26 experienced a great deal in his 28 years.") Under these circumstances, Atwood's 
27 family background-even assuming it was difficult-is entitled to little weight in 
28 
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7 

8 

100-01, 107-08, 122-27, 171-92. 

Third, even if Atwood suffered from PTSD, that fact would have carried 

minimal weight in the sentencing equation. Dr. Schwartz-Watts admitted that 
9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

Atwood's PTSD, if it existed at the time of the offense, did not explain Atwood's 

actions in killing V.L.H. Ex. K, at 172-73. She also opined that Atwood could 

control his actions, regardless of any mental illness. Under Arizona law, mitigation 

that does not explain a defendant's behavior in committing an offense is entitled to 

minimal weight in the sentencing calculus. See, e.g., State v. Newell, 212 Ariz. 

389, 405, ~ 82 (2006). 

Fourth, Atwood's evidence is double-edged and equally proves that he does 

not deserve leniency. Atwood's Atascadero records, standing alone, are more 

damaging than mitigating. See Cullen v. Pinholster, 562 U.S. 170, 201 (2011) 

(observing that omitted evidence was "by no means clearly mitigating, as the jury 

might have concluded that [the defendant] was simply beyond rehabilitation"). Dr. 

Schwartz-Watts relied on those records and they are an integral part of the analysis. 

In addition to these records, Dr. Schwartz-Watts reviewed and relied on highly 

prejudicial information relating to Atwood's prior antisocial behavior, myriad 

offenses against children, and deviant views of adult-child sex, as described above. 

Dr. Schwartz-Watts conceded that diagnoses of pedophilia and antisocial 

personality disorder were appropriate. In light of the double-edged nature of 

Atwood's mitigation, he cannot show that no reasonable juror would have imposed 

a death sentence. 
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1 ~ · 

2 

3 

4 

111. The facts and circumstances of the crime, as 
well as Atwood s propensities and record as an 
offender, rebut Atwood s mitigation and militate 
against leniency. 

As shown throughout this brief, and as the district court found, see Atwood 

5 II, 2014 WL 289987, at *32-*33, the evidence supports the conclusion that 

6 Atwood is a remorseless predator. His danger to the community has been known 

7 since the 1970s. See §I, supra. Atwood's California criminal history alone could 

8 have led a reasonable sentencer to conclude that death is appropriate regardless of 

9 his purported PTSD and other issues. 

10 A probation report prepared for Atwood's February 3, 1975, sentencing on 

11 his lewd-and-lascivious acts conviction, documented the following: Atwood's 

12 failure to complete high school; behavioral difficulties; failure to succeed on 

13 juvenile probation; "bizarre behavior" and "chaotic" home life (which included his 

14 conduct in breaking household property, threatening his mother with a butcher 

15 knife, and "generally terrorizing the family"); lengthy arrest record; and 

16 polysubstance abuse. Ex. Q, at attached 2/3/75 California Probation Report, pp. 1-

17 5, 7-8. The report recommended that the court classify Atwood as a mentally-

18 disordered sex offender and commit him to Atascadero State Hospital for inpatient 

19 treatment. !d. at 10. The report further noted that Atwood's "self-destructive 

20 behavior has become a matter of public concern," and observed that he had failed 

21 to make "a sincere and genuine effort to overcome [his] drug problem." !d. at 9-

22 10. The Atascadero records, as summarized in § I, show Atwood's unwillingness 

23 to attempt to modify his behavior. 

24 On August 8, 1978, the court conducted a hearing on Atascadero's request to 

25 resume criminal proceedings against Atwood. Ex. Q, at attached 8/8/78 California 

26 Probation Report. A probation officer summarized Atwood's failure to cooperate 

27 with his treatment program; noted that, in addition to remaining a mentally-

28 
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opinion of Atascadero's staff that Atwood is "unamenable to treatment" and 
5 

represents a continuing danger to the community; and recommended that he be 
6 

sentenced to prison. Id. at pp. 1-3. 
7 

Shortly thereafter, Atwood left a residential drug treatment program, in 
8 

which he had been placed after Atascadero, without approval. Ex. Q, at 8/25/78 
9 

California Probation Report, pp. 1-6. The next day, Atwood returned and sought 
10 

readmission; his request was denied after he was found in possession of drugs and 
11 

admitted previously using marijuana in the facility. !d. Atwood subsequently left a 
12 

second residential treatment program without authorization, and was thereafter 
13 

arrested for possessing marijuana and cocaine and committing a property-related 
14 

offense. Id. at 1111178 California Probation Report, pp. 1-4. 
15 

In January 1981, Atwood was sentenced for kidnapping, two counts of oral 
16 

copulation, and child molestation. Ex. Q, at 1/20/81 California Probation Report. 
17 

The kidnapping victim's grand-jury testimony-which, although inadmissible to 
18 

prove the (F)(2), see Pet. App. 1, at 26-is admissible to determine the weight of 
19 

Atwood's mitigation and whether leniency is appropriate. See Pandeli, 215 Ariz. 
20 

at 571-72, ~~ 51-53. The kidnapping offense was extraordinarily violent-
21 

Atwood even threatened to kill the child-and is strikingly similar to the offense 
22 

against V.L.H. See Ex. L. And the probation report for this offense further 
23 

summarized Atwood's lengthy criminal history, which included arrests for 
24 

burglary, drug possession, possession of deadly weapons, and grand theft auto. Id. 
25 

at 6-9. A psychiatric report prepared approximately 1 month before the hearing 
26 

described Atwood as of "bright normal or higher" intelligence and described him 
27 

as "a basically passive aggressive, emotionally immature, homosexual young man 
28 
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1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

11 

12 

16 

17 

with a significant anti-social component in his personality."53 !d. at 13. The 

psychiatrist expressed doubt that Atwood could successfully complete out-patient 

therapy without relapsing and endangering others, and recommended that he 

instead receive psychiatric treatment in a correctional facility. !d. at 13-14. 

While incarcerated for the kidnapping this offense, Atwood wrote letters to 

Finally, the facts and circumstances of V.L.H. 's murder also militate against 

a life sentence. Although the current A.R.S.§ 13-751(F)(7) age-of-victim 

53 This report is unavailable; its reference in the probation report is the only record 
18 of which the State is aware. 
19 

54 Atwood's current claim alleges the capital-sentencing equivalent of actual 
20 innocence. Accordingly, an examination of all relevant evidence is appropriate. 
21 Further, although Bowen's statements were excluded from trial and the aggravation 

22 
phase on Sixth Amendment grounds, they arguably are admissible to rebut 
mitigation at sentencing. See Atwood, 171 Ariz. 669-71 (Corcoran, J., specially 

23 concurring). In an exercise of restraint, the prosecutor did not offer Bowen's 

24 
testimony at the aggravation/mitigation hearing, and filed the deposition transcript 
at sentencing as an offer of proof on the A.R.S. § 13-703(F)(6) factor and as 

25 rebuttal to Atwood's residual-doubt mitigation, which the trial court had deemed 

26 
irrelevant. Ex. P, at 101; Pet. Ex. 1, at 21-22. But the prosecutor could have 
offered the transcript to show the facts and circumstance of the crime, which are 

27 inherently relevant to the sentencing decision. See A.R.S. § 13-703(G). 

28 
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3 

4 
parole. Although this fact did not establish a capital aggravating factor in 1984, 

compare A.R.S. § 13-703(F)(7) (1984) (establishing as an aggravating factor that 
5 

6 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

defendant is in custody of correctional institution) with A.R.S. § 13-751(F)(7) 

first degree murder while incarcerated have failed to make even minimal efforts to 

comply with societal norms and thus warrant particularly serious treatment.") 

iv. A reasonable sentencer could conclude, on 
balance, that a life sentence is inappropriate. 

Weighed against Atwood's mitigation ofPTSD (which may not have existed 

15 at the time of the offense and, in any event, does not explain his behavior during 

16 the murder), drug use, molestation, and family problems, is an aggravating factor 

17 that is entitled to significant weight because it is based on Atwood's conviction for 

18 victimizing another child. See A.R.S. § 13-703(F)(l). Conversely, the double-

19 edged mitigation does not humanize Atwood but, instead, leads to the conclusion 

20 that he is "dangerous and simply beyond rehabilitation" and that death is 

21 appropriate. Sully, 725 F.3d at 1068-69. This Court should deny relief. 

22 

23 

24 

v. An evidentiary hearing would duplicate the 
federal proceedings and is unwarranted. 

Finally, Atwood seeks an evidentiary hearing on his claim. "The purpose of 

25 an evidentiary hearing in the Rule 32 context is to allow the court to receive · 

26 evidence, make factual determinations, and resolve material issues of fact." State 

27 v. Gutierrez, 229 Ariz. 573, 579, ~ 31 (2012). A hearing would be inappropriate 

28 
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7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

material facts, the superior court need not hold an evidentiary hearing."). This 

Court should summarily dismiss Atwood's claim. 55 

D. Atwood's claim that his death sentence is unconstitutional 
because he has spent 33 years appealing is untimely and 
precluded. Alternatively, it fails on the merits. (Claim 4.) 

Oblivious to the inconsistency of arguing that his death sentence is both 

13 
inappropriate and carried out too slowly, and to the hypocrisy inherent in the fact 

14 
that his own actions are primarily to blame for the delay in his execution, Atwood 

15 
contends that the "extreme duration" of his incarceration violates the Eighth 

16 
Amendment and the Arizona constitution (hereinafter referred to as a ."Lackey 

17 
claim"). Am. Pet. 61-68. This claim is precluded and, alternatively, meritless. 

18 

19 

1. The claim is untimely and precluded under Rule 32.2(a)(3). 

Although it is unclear at precisely what point Atwood believes his 

incarceration became "extended" and exceeded constitutional limits, at a 
20 

21 
minimum, Atwood could have raised this claim in his second Rule 32 petition, 

22 
which he filed in 2009. By that point, he had spent 25 years incarcerated. Even by 

23 
the time of his first petition-in 1996, Atwood had been imprisoned for 

24 
approximately 12 years. See Allen v. Ornoski, 435 F.3d 946, 957-58 (9th Cir. 

25 
2006) (finding that defendant could have raised Lackey claim in first habeas 

26 55 Should this Court grant relief, the appropriate remedy is resentencing, not 
27 imposition of a life sentence. See§ III(A)(4)(e), supra. 
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1 
petition, "when he had already been on death row for six years"). Accordingly, the 

2 
claim is untimely under Rule 32.4. It is also precluded under Rule 32.2(a)(3). 

3 
Atwood has failed to proffer explanations for his failure to raise his claim in a 

4 
procedurally appropriate and timely manner. See§ III(A)(2), supra. 

Atwood's argument that the claim was not ripe until now and is therefore not 
6 

waived fails. 56 Am. Pet. 67; see Allen, 435 F.3d at 958 ("Unlike a Ford claim of 

5 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

incompetence, a Lackey claim does not become ripe only after a certain number of 

years or as the final hour of execution nears. There is no fluctuation or rapid 

change at the heart of a Lackey claim, but rather just the steady and predictable 

passage of time."). As previously discussed, at a minimum, Atwood could have 

brought this claim in 2009, after 25 years of incarceration. His time spent confined 

is no more harmful now than it was then. 

Atwood also argues that Claim 3 reqmres a knowing, intelligent, and 

voluntary waiver. Am. Pet. 67 (citing Am. Pet. § III(A)(3)( d)). He is incorrect. As 

stated in§ III(A)(4)(d), supra, this is not the type of right that requires a knowing 

and voluntary waiver. 

Atwood proposes that his "extreme sentence constitutes a newly discovered 

material fact that would change his sentence" and thus is exempt from preclusion 

under Rule 32.1(e). Am. Pet. 67. While the duration of Atwood's incarceration 

may be a fact, it is not a "newly discovered" one. For one thing, it did not exist at 

the time of trial, precluding a Rule 32.1 (e) claim. See State v. Amaral, 239 Ariz. 

217, 219, -o 9 (2016). Instead, the duration of Atwood's incarceration is a newly 

developed fact and a natural consequence of the passage of time, which could arise 

26 56 Alternatively, if the claim was not ripe before now, it is not ripe now, either, and 
27 will not ripen until an execution warrant issues. 

28 
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14 

m any case. Finally, for the reasons stated above, Atwood could have raised this 

claim years ago. He therefore fails Rule 32.1(e)(2)'s diligence requirement. 

Finally, Atwood seeks to extend Rule 32.1 (c) to this circumstance, arguing 

that his execution "would be unconstitutional and therefore unauthorized by law" 

under Rule 32.1(c). Am. Pet. 67. But as discussed in§ III(A)(4)(a)(i), supra, Rule 

3 2.1 (c) applies to term-of-years sentences. Setting that limitation aside, the Rule 

applies to sentences which, "as imposed," are not authorized. Id. Here, Atwood's 

sentence, "as imposed" was lawful: death was, and still is, a permissible 

punishment for first-degree murder. See A.R.S. 13-703(A) (Ex. C). The sentence 

did not somehow become unauthorized once a certain amount of time had passed. 

Holding otherwise would encourage petitioners to prolong their appellate 

proceedings only to then use the self-imposed delay to invalidate their death 

sentences. This Court should not permit such a result. 

2. This Court should not allow Atwood to profit from delay 
15 that he has caused. 

16 As discussed in § I, supra, Atwood has spent decades appealing his 

17 convictions and sentences. His federal habeas proceeding alone spanned 20 years. 

18 The present post-conviction proceeding is his third, and has so far stretched nearly 

19 11 months. Atwood now asks this Court to reward him for this delay by doing 

20 what no court did during his automatic appeals: releasing him from his death 

21 sentence. This Court should decline Atwood's invitation. 

22 Atwood proposes that his death sentence became unconstitutional, under 

23 both the Arizona and federal constitutions, at some unspecified point in the 33 

24 years since it was imposed. He laments his conditions of confinement, 57 claims to 

25 
57 Under Atwood's logic, it would be more cruel and unusual to commute an 26 
offender's sentence to life, rather than to actually carry that sentence out. See 

27 Glossip v. Gross, 135 S. Ct. 2726, 2748 (2015) (Scalia, J. concurring) ("Life 
(continued ... ) 
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1 .. 
be "enfeebled and confined to a wheelchair," and asserts that his execution under 

2 
these circumstances serves no legitimate penological purpose. !d. This argument 

3 
arises from a 25-year old memorandum by Justice Stevens, respecting the denial of 

certiorari in Lackey v. Texas, 514 U.S. 1045, 1046 (1995). Since Lackey, Justice 
4 

5 
Breyer has raised similar concerns. See Bucklew v. Precythe, 139 S. Ct. 1112, 1144 

6 
(2019) (Breyer, J., dissenting); Reynolds v. Florida, 139 S. Ct. 27, 28 (2018) 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

(Breyer, J., statement respecting denial of certiorari); Glossip, 135 S. Ct. at 2764-

67 (Breyer, J., dissenting); Valle v. Florida, 132 S. Ct. 1 (2011) (Breyer, J., 

dissenting from denial of stay); Knight v. Florida, 120 S. Ct. 459, 461-65 (1999) 

(Breyer, J., dissenting from denial of certiorari). 

The views expressed by Justice Breyer and Justice Stevens do not command 

a majority of the Court. Just last year, a majority of the United States Supreme 

Court responded to Justice Breyer's observations as follows: 

Even the principal dissent acknowledges that "the long delays that 
now typically occur between the time an offender is sentenced to 
death and his execution" are "excessive." Post, at 1144. The answer is 
not, as the dissent incongruously suggests, to reward those who 
interpose delay with a decree ending capital punishment by judicial 
fiat. Post, at 1145. Under our Constitution, the question of capital 
punishment belongs to the people and their representatives, not the 
courts, to resolve. 

21 Bucklew, 139 S. Ct. at 1134; see also Knight, 120 S. Ct. at 459 (Thomas, J., 

22 concurring in denial of certiorari) ("I write only to point out that I am unaware of 

23 any support in the American constitutional tradition or in this Court's precedent for 

24 the proposition that a defendant can avail himself of the panoply of appellate and 

25 ( ... continued) 

26 
without parole is an even lengthier period than the wait on death row; and if the 
objection is that death row is a more confining environment, the solution should be 

27 modifying the environment rather than abolishing the death penalty."). 

28 
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20 

collateral procedures and then complain when his execution is delayed. . . . It is 

incongruous to arm capital defendants with an arsenal of 'constitutional' claims 

with which they may delay their executions, and simultaneously to complain when 

executions are inevitably delayed."). Numerous federal appellate and district 

courts have likewise rejected these so-called "Lackey claims." See Allen, 435 F.3d 

at 958-59 (collecting cases). In McKenzie v. Day, 57 F.3d 1461, 1466 (9th Cir. 

1995), the Ninth Circuit captured the unfairness inherent in such claims: 

A defendant must not be penalized for pursuing his constitutional 
rights, but he also should not be able to benefit from the ultimately 
unsuccessful pursuit of those rights. It would indeed be a mockery of 
justice if the delay incurred during the prosecution of claims that fail 
on the merits could itself accrue into a substantive claim to the very 
relief that had been sought and properly denied in the first place. If 
that were the law, death-row inmates would be able to avoid their 
sentences simply by delaying proceedings beyond some threshold 
amount of time, while other death-row inmates-less successful in 
their attempts to delay-would be forced to face their sentences. Such 
differential treatment would be far more "arbitrary and unfair" and 
"cruel and unusual" than the current system of fulfilling sentences 
when the last in the line of appeals fails on the merits. We thus decline 
to recognize [a defendant's] lengthy incarceration on death row during 
the pendency of his appeals as substantively and independently 
violative of the Constitution. 

21 (quoting Richmond v. Lewis, 948 F.2d 948, 1491-92 (9th Cir. 1995)).58 

22 

23 58 Atwood's reliance on the Arizona Supreme Court's subsequent decision in State 

24 
v. Richmond, 180 Ariz. 573, 577 (1994), is especially unavailing. Am. Pet. 66-67. 
The court observed that additional delay would potentially impede the Victims' Bill 

25 of Rights, and noted Richmond's argument that his delayed execution would 

26 
violate the state and federal constitutions. !d. Ultimately, the court declined to 
reach these issues because the case's history was a "legal m"aze" that made it 

27 "troublesome for (the court] to reaffirm [Richmond's] death sentence in a sensible 
(continued ... ) 
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Finally, granting Atwood relief on this claim would frustrate the Victims' 
1 

2 
Bill of Rights (VBR), which gives crime victims the right to a prompt and final 

3 
resolution of a criminal case. See Ariz. Const. art. II, § 2.1(10). Atwood has 

successfully delayed his execution for decades, which itself impedes the VBR. 

Granting relief as to his sentence, after he has completed the appellate process and 

his sentence has been finally affirmed, would not only reward him for that delay, 

4 

5 

6 

7 
but also deny the victims the resolution to which they are entitled and render the 

8 
last three decades of appellate proceedings meaningless. This Court should refuse 

9 
to relieve Atwood of his death sentence based on delay generated by his decision to 

challenge it. See McKenzie, 57 F.3d at 1467 ("We cannot conclude that delays 
11 

caused by satisfying the Eighth Amendment themselves violate it."). This Court 

10 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

should summarily dismiss Claim 4.59 

IV. CONCLUSION. 

For the reasons set forth above, this Court should deny Atwood's most recent 

petition for post-conviction relief. 

23 ( ... continued) 

24 
and nonarbitrary manner." Id. at 578. Because of this concern, as well as 
Richmond's substantial mitigation, the court reduced his sentence to life. !d. at 

25 578-82. 

26 59 For the reasons stated in § III(A)(4)(e), resentencing, not imposition of a life 
27 sentence, is appropriate if this Court grants relief. 
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2 

QUESTIONS PRESENTED IN SUPPLEMENTAL BRIEFING ORDER 

1. Assuming that out-of-state convictions can serve as predicate felonies for the 
purpose of sentencing enhancement under A.R.S. §§ 13–705(I) & (Q)(2), does 
Arizona law require that the out-of-state felony be punishable as an Arizona felony 
to qualify as a predicate felony? 

2. Assuming Mora’s Texas convictions must be punishable as Arizona felonies 
to qualify as “sexual offenses” under A.R.S. § 13–705(Q)(2), must there be “strict 
conformity” between the elements of Tex. Penal Code Ann. § 21.11(a)(1) and the 
elements of an Arizona statute?   

a. If strict conformity is required, should this determination be made by the 
superior court in the first instance, or is it a pure question of law that this 
Court may properly consider as part of Mora’s appeal?   

b. May the underlying facts of Mora’s Texas convictions be considered 
when making this determination? 

c. Does strict conformity exist between the elements of Texas statute and an 
analogous Arizona statute? 
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6 

STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

On November 10, 2020, this Court ordered supplemental briefing directing 

the parties to file briefs addressing:  (1) whether Arizona law requires that out-of-

state felonies be punishable as an Arizona felony to qualify as a predicate felony 

for sentencing enhancement purposes under A.R.S. § 13–705; and (2) whether 

there must be “strict conformity” between the elements of Mora’s Texas 

convictions and the elements of an Arizona statute and, assuming strict conformity 

is required, whether it exists here.   

As discussed below, an out-of-state felony must strictly conform to an 

Arizona felony for sentencing purposes under § 13–705, but Mora’s Texas 

convictions do not satisfy that requirement here.1 

ARGUMENTS 

I. Arizona Law Requires That Out-of-State Felonies Be Punishable as an 

Arizona Felony to Qualify as a Predicate Felony Under A.R.S. § 13–705. 

Section 13–705(Q)(2) states, in relevant part, that a “[p]redicate felony” is 

“any felony involving … a sexual offense[.]”2  In turn, Arizona law defines 

_______________ 

1  This Court, of course, is not bound by the State’s concession of error.  See State 

v. Solis, 236 Ariz. 242, 249, ¶ 23 (App. 2014).  
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“[f]elony” as “an offense for which a sentence to a term of imprisonment in the 

custody of the state department of corrections is authorized by any law of this 

state.”  A.R.S. § 13–105(18).  And “[o]ffense” is defined in relevant part as an act 

that “occurred in a state other than this state” that would be “punishable under the 

laws, regulations or ordinances of this state or of a political subdivision of this state 

if the act had occurred in this state.”  A.R.S. § 13–105(27).  Accordingly, the plain 

language of A.R.S. § 13–705(Q)(2) requires Arizona courts to first determine 

whether an out-of-state conviction involving a sexual offense would be punishable 

as a felony under Arizona law if the act had occurred here to decide whether the 

out-of-state conviction qualifies as a “predicate felony.” 

The Court’s supplemental briefing order indicates this is an issue of first 

impression regarding the application of A.R.S. § 13–705.  Arizona courts have 

held in analogous cases that before an out-of-state conviction can be used for 

sentencing enhancement purposes, the sentencing court “must first conclude that 

the foreign conviction includes every element that would be required to prove an 

__________________ 

( ... continued) 
2  The State cites to the current version of all applicable Arizona statutes because 
there is no material difference between the current versions of the statutes and 
those in effect at the time Mora committed his offenses.  See R.O.A. 1 (listing date 
range of offenses). On January 1, 2009, former A.R.S. § 13–604.01 was 
renumbered A.R.S. § 13–705.  See 2008 Ariz. Legis. Serv. Ch. 301 (H.B. 2207) 
(WEST). 
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enumerated Arizona offense.”  State v. Crawford, 214 Ariz. 129, 131, ¶ 7 (2007); 

see also State v. Large, 234 Ariz. 274, 281, ¶¶ 21–22 (App. 2014) (concluding that, 

in order “to impose a flat-time, presumptive sentence based upon a defendant’s 

parole status from an out-of-state conviction, the foreign offense for which the 

defendant is on parole must have been punishable as a felony in Arizona.”).  

Although Crawford specifically addressed the application of A.R.S. § 13–703, see 

214 Ariz. at 131, ¶ 7; see also Large, 234 Ariz. at 281, ¶ 22, n. 7 (noting that 

A.R.S. § 13–703 was numbered A.R.S. § 13–604 at the time Crawford was 

decided), its holding is not limited to A.R.S. § 13–703.3 See Large, 234 Ariz. at 

281–82, ¶¶ 24, 26 (recognizing “that Crawford remained applicable in other 

contexts not affected by the [2012] amendments” to A.R.S. § 13–703, and that this 

Court has “applied a Crawford-type analysis equally to prior conviction 

enhancements and release status enhancements”); see also State v. Moran, 232 

Ariz. 528, 533–34, ¶¶ 15–16 (App. 2013) (noting this Court applies the Crawford 

test to determine if out-of-state DUI convictions qualify as prior DUI convictions 

for purposes of aggravated DUI charge).   

_______________ 

3  Section 13–703 was amended in 2012 and now, in relevant part, provides: “A 
person who has been convicted in any court outside the jurisdiction of this state of 
an offense that was punishable by that jurisdiction as a felony is subject to this 
section.”  A.R.S. § 13–703(M); see also 2012 Ariz. Legis. Serv. Ch. 190 (S.B. 
1151) (WEST).  This amendment, however, has no application in the present case. 
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Given the plain language of A.R.S. § 13–705, and because Crawford applies 

to sentence enhancements beyond A.R.S. § 13–703, Arizona law requires that out-

of-state convictions must be punishable as an Arizona felony in order to qualify as 

predicate felonies under A.R.S. § 13–705. 

II. There Must Be “Strict Conformity” Between the Elements of an Out-of-

State Conviction and the Elements of an Arizona Statute. 

Consistent with Crawford, there must be “strict conformity” between the 

elements of an out-of-state conviction and an Arizona statute before the out-of-

state conviction can be considered a predicate felony under A.R.S. §§ 13–705(I) & 

(Q)(2).  See Large, 234 Ariz. at 282, ¶ 27 (stating that courts determine if an out-

of-state conviction has “an analog under Arizona law” by “comparing the elements 

of the foreign offense with those in the relevant Arizona statute,” and that there 

“must be strict conformity between the elements of the foreign offense and an 

Arizona felony”).  As discussed below, this is a purely legal question that this 

Court can address for the first time on appeal which does not take into account the 

underlying facts of the out-of-state conviction.  Strict conformity, however, does 

not exist between Mora’s Texas convictions and an applicable Arizona statute. 

A. Whether there is “strict conformity” is a question of law. 

In Crawford, the Arizona Supreme Court stated that sentencing courts are to 

focus “solely on the elements of the foreign statute under which the defendant was 

convicted, a purely legal issue,” in determining whether an out-of-state conviction 
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constitutes a prior felony for sentencing enhancement purposes.  214 Ariz. at 131–

31, ¶¶ 6–9 (emphasis added); see also State v. Smith, 219 Ariz. 132, 136, ¶¶ 20–22 

(2008) (holding that a claim that a sentence was illegally enhanced by a prior 

foreign felony can be raised for the first time on appeal).  Whether there is “strict 

conformity” thus presents a legal issue this Court can properly consider for the first 

time on appeal. 

B. The facts of the underlying conviction may not be considered in 

determining whether there is strict conformity. 

“[O]nly the statutory definition of the prior crime, and not its specific factual 

basis can be considered in determining whether a foreign conviction” qualifies as a 

predicate felony.  Crawford, 214 Ariz. at 131, ¶ 8.  Although courts may not 

consider the facts underlying an out-of-state conviction to determine if there is 

strict conformity, they may consider other information—such as charging or 

sentencing documents—to determine which subsection of the foreign statute 

underpins the conviction.  See id. at 132, ¶ 11 (stating courts may use “a charging 

document only to narrow the foreign conviction to a particular subsection of the 

statute that served as the basis of the foreign conviction”) (internal quotation marks 

omitted); see also Moran, 232 Ariz. at 534, ¶ 16 (“A charging document or 

judgment of conviction may be used only to narrow the statutory basis of the 

foreign conviction, not establish the conduct underlying it.”); State v. Thompson, 

186 Ariz. 529, 532–33 (App. 1996) (affirming a defendant’s enhanced sentence 
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based upon information contained in sentencing documents which “narrowed the 

frame of reference” of the statute underlying the out-of-state conviction); cf. State 

v. Joyner, 215 Ariz. 134, 141–43, ¶¶ 21–25 (App. 2007) (discussing whether courts 

may consider “evidence of the conviction,” such as jury instructions, plea 

agreements and plea colloquies, to determine the facts necessarily found in 

reaching a verdict to further narrow the statute underlying a conviction under 

certain circumstances) (internal quotation marks omitted, citing collected 

authorities).  This Court may thus refer to Mora’s sentencing documents to 

“narrow the frame of reference” and determine the subsection of the Texas statute 

under which he was convicted. 

C. Strict conformity does not exist between Texas Penal Code             

§ 21.11(a)(1) and a comparable Arizona statute. 

The State concedes there is not strict conformity between Texas Penal Code 

§ 21.11(a)(1) and an Arizona statute because a conviction under the Texas statute 

will not necessarily support a conviction under a comparable Arizona offense.4 

_______________ 

4  The State argued in its answering brief that it was “impossible to commit a 
violation of the Texas statute without committing a sexual felony offense in 
Arizona.”  A.B., at 18–20.  The State’s concession here represents its position 
regarding whether strict conformity exists going forward with respect to this case; 
however, the State does not abandon the remaining arguments in its answering 
brief—that A.R.S. § 13–705 applies to out-of-state convictions and that the jury 
need not find that a predicate felony is a sexual offense—by this concession. 
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Strict conformity exists between two criminal statutes if the fact finder in the 

out-of-state case would be required to “actually [find] beyond a reasonable doubt 

that the defendant had committed every element that would be required to prove 

the Arizona offense.”  State v. Clough, 171 Ariz. 217, 219–20 (App. 1992); see 

also State v. Ault, 157 Ariz. 516, 521 (1988) (“In order to say that the California 

convictions would constitute one of the felonies enumerated in [the statute at 

issue], we must be sure that the juries in the prior cases actually found beyond a 

reasonable doubt every element that would be required to prove an enumerated 

Arizona offense.”) (internal quotation marks omitted).  “If under any scenario it 

would have been legally possible for the defendant to have been convicted of the 

foreign offense but not the Arizona offense, then the foreign offense fails the 

comparative elements test,” and there is not strict conformity.  State v. Dunbar, 

249 Ariz. 37, 465 P.3d 527, 540, ¶ 37 (App. 2020). 

On March 15, 2010, Mora was convicted in Texas for two counts of 

“Indecency With a Child–Contact.”  Exh. 31.  Both of his convictions were 

classified as “Second Degree” offenses under Texas law.  Id.  Because his 

convictions were classified as second-degree offenses, he was convicted under 

Texas Penal Code § 21.11(a)(1).  See Texas Penal Code § 21.11(d) (defining a 

conviction pursuant to § 21.11(a)(1) as “a felony in the second degree”). 
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A person commits indecency with a child in Texas “if, with a child younger 

than 17 years of age, whether the child is of the same or opposite sex …, the 

person… engages in sexual contact with the child or causes the child to engage in 

sexual contact[.]”  Texas Penal Code § 21.11(a)(1).5  “Sexual contact” is defined as  

the following acts, if committed with the intent to arouse or gratify the 
sexual desire of any person:  

(1) any touching by a person, including touching through clothing, of 
the anus, breast, or any part of the genitals of a child; or  

(2) any touching of any part of the body of a child, including touching 
through clothing, with the anus, breast, or any part of the genitals of a 
person.   

Texas Penal Code § 21.11(c).  As discussed below, there is not strict conformity 

between the Texas statutes and similar Arizona statutes. 

In Arizona, “[a] person commits molestation of a child by intentionally or 

knowingly engaging in or causing a person to engage in sexual contact, except 

contact with the female breast, with a child who is under [15] years of age.”  

A.R.S. § 13–1410(A).  “A person commits sexual abuse by intentionally or 

_______________ 

5  In 2017, the Texas legislature amended § 21.11(a) to provide that a “person 
commits an offense if, with a child younger than 17 years of age, whether the child 
is of the same or opposite sex and regardless of whether the person knows the age 

of the child at the time of the offense[.]”  2017 Tex. Sess. Law Serv. Ch. 685 (H.B. 
29) (VERNON’S) (emphasis indicated differently in original).  Because this change 
to the statute from the version in effect at the time of Mora’s conviction does not 
affect the State’s analysis, the State cites to the current version of the statute. 
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knowingly engaging in sexual contact with any person who is [15] or more years 

of age without consent of that person or with any person who is under [15] years of 

age if the sexual contact involves only the female breast.”  A.R.S. § 13–1404(A) 

(emphasis added).  “Sexual contact” is defined as “any direct or indirect touching, 

fondling or manipulating of any part of the genitals, anus or female breast by any 

part of the body or by any object or causing a person to engage in such conduct.”  

A.R.S. § 13–1401(3)(a).  Conduct is without consent if the victim:  “is coerced by 

the immediate use or threatened use of force;” “is incapable of consent by reason 

of mental disorder, mental defect, drugs, alcohol, sleep or any other similar 

impairment of cognition;” “is intentionally deceived as to the nature of the act[;]” 

or “is intentionally deceived to erroneously believe that the person is the victim’s 

spouse.”  A.R.S. § 13–1401(7). 

A conviction under Texas Penal Code § 21.11(a)(1) will not necessarily 

support a conviction under either A.R.S. § 13–1410 or § 13–1404 despite there 

being some similarity between the offenses. Although the sexual contact 

proscribed by Texas Penal Code § 21.11(c) is substantively identical to the sexual 

contact proscribed by A.R.S. § 13–1401(3)(a), the differences between                   

§ 21.11(a)(1) and the Arizona statutes preclude a finding of strict conformity. 

The Texas statute includes a different age range than A.R.S. § 13–1410(A).  

The Texas statute applies to children younger than 17, Texas Penal Code                
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§ 21.11(a), whereas A.R.S. § 13–1410(A) generally applies to children younger 

than 15.6  A.R.S. § 13–1410(A).  A conviction under Texas Penal Code § 21.11(a) 

thus will not necessarily support a conviction under A.R.S. § 13–1410(A) because 

a defendant in Texas can be convicted of engaging in sexual conduct with a 16 

year-old, while an Arizona defendant could not under § 13–1410(A). 

Similarly, the “without consent” language of A.R.S. § 13–1404(A) also 

precludes a finding of strict conformity.  While A.R.S. § 13–1404(A) also prohibits 

sexual conduct, it requires the sexual conduct be “without consent.”  A.R.S. § 13–

1404(A).  The Texas statute, however, does not require that the sexual conduct be 

without consent.7  See Texas Penal Code § 21.11(a).  A Texas defendant could 

accordingly be convicted of engaging in consensual sexual conduct with a 16 year-

old, whereas an Arizona defendant could not. 

Moreover, whether conduct is “without consent” is specifically defined 

under Arizona law.  A.R.S. § 13–1401(7).  Although “a child cannot consent to 

sexual contact or intercourse” under Texas law, Smallwood v. State, 471 S.W.3d 

_______________ 

6  Section 13–1404(A) also applies where a defendant touches the breast of a 
female younger than 15.   
 
7  The Texas statute does provide for an affirmative defense where the defendant 
“was not more than three years older than the victim,” and “did not use duress, 
force, or a threat against the victim at the time of the offense[.]”  Texas Penal Code 
§ 21.11(b). 
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601, 607 (Tex. App. 2015), this lack of consent under Texas law is not the same as 

“without consent” under Arizona law.  As such, a conviction under the Texas 

statute would not necessarily support a conviction under A.R.S. § 13–1404(A) 

because the conduct could be consensual under A.R.S. § 13–1401(7). 

Nor would a conviction under Texas Penal Code § 21.11(a)(1) necessarily 

support a conviction under Arizona’s sexual-conduct-with-a-minor statute.  “A 

person commits sexual conduct with a minor by intentionally or knowingly 

engaging in sexual intercourse or oral sexual contact with any person who is under 

[18] years of age.”  A.R.S. § 13–1405(A).  While a conviction under the Texas 

statute would necessarily cover the same age range, and sexual contact as defined 

in Texas Penal Code § 21.11(c) would necessarily include sexual intercourse or 

oral sexual contact, the Texas statute also covers more conduct than is criminalized 

under A.R.S. § 13–1405(A).8  As such, a conviction under the Texas statute will 

not necessarily support a conviction under A.R.S. § 13–1405(A). 

Finally, there could not be strict conformity between the Texas statute and 

Arizona by looking at all three statutes in conjunction with each other.  Under 

_______________ 

8  “‘Oral sexual contact’ means oral contact with the penis, vulva or anus,” while 
“‘[s]exual intercourse’ means penetration into the penis, vulva or anus by any part 
of the body or by any object or masturbatory contact with the penis or vulva.”  
A.R.S. §§ 13–1401(1), (4). 
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Texas Penal Code § 21.11(a)(1), a defendant could be convicted of engaging in 

consensual sexual contact short of intercourse or oral sexual contact with a 16 

year-old.  A conviction under this scenario would not support a conviction under 

any of the Arizona statutes discussed above. 

Accordingly, there is not strict conformity between Texas Penal Code          

§ 21.11(a)(1) and a comparable Arizona statute.  Mora’s prior Texas convictions 

therefore do not qualify as predicate felonies pursuant to A.R.S. § 13–705. 

CONCLUSION 

For these reasons, the State respectfully requests that this Court affirm 

Mora’s convictions, but concedes that the case should be remanded for 

resentencing.   

Respectfully submitted, 
 
Mark Brnovich 
Attorney General 
  
Linley Wilson 
Deputy Solicitor General/ 
Chief Counsel 
 
 
/s/     
Joshua C. Smith 
Assistant Attorney General 
 
Attorneys for Appellee 
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